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SENATOR WYNONA M. LIPMAN (Chair): Since we sat down 

here, everybody got quiet out there. Isn't that nice? So, I 

guess we can open this hearing. Can you all here me? You seem 

so far away. 

I welcome you all today for the first of two public 

hearings to be held by the Conunission on Sex Discrimination in 

the Statutes. Over the years, the Conuniss ion has heard from 

the public on a variety of issues that affect the relative 

legal position of women and men. But today we are faced with 

an awesome public awareness of the issue we are to examine, 

combined with a difficult political configuration in the State, 

and an even more difficult economy. We are here today to try 

to avoid the disaster for women that is almost certainly the 

result of this combination of events. 

In hard times, violence against women becomes more 

frequent and more extreme. We are already hearing from the 

fringes that welfare mothers and minimum wage earners -- many 

of whom are women -- are the source of our economic problems. 

This is patently ridiculous, and thinking, feeling human beings 

know it. An easy fix that blames women is acceptable to some, 

however, precisely because it feeds their _need to blame the 

victims and trust the established powers that be. Our new 

domestic violence law is encouraging this horrible crime's 

victims to come forward, and the courts are becoming crowded. 

There are actually rumblings in the Legislature that the 

solution to this sad state of affairs is to change the law to 

withhold relief from the victims. We are here to look for more 

creative ways to solve problems than to ignore them. 

Economic violence, domestic violence, sexual 

violence: all are phenomena that could have as their victims 

both men and women. But the people who overwhelmingly bear the 

burdens of these injustices are women. We are here to talk 

about why that happens and what ~his government can do about 

it. I thank you for coming, beg for your continued attention, 
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and will seek your support for the work of this Corrunission as 

it goes forward with this very important task. 

All right. So now we will call Ms. Ruth Ann Koenick, 

Director of Sex Assault Services, Rutgers University. Are you 

going to testify with Ms. Jill Greenbaum? 

R U T H A N N K 0 E N I C K: Jill and I are going to split 

the half hour, so, yes. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Okay. All right. Very good. 

MS. KOENICK: Let me begin by thanking you for your 

kind invitation to offer testimony about violence against 

women. I'm honored to share with you a small piece of what I 

have learned in the over 21 years that I have worked with 

victims of sexual assault. What I• m going to talk about this 

afternoon are really only two areas that look at violence 

against women. 

In 1971, there were a series of sexual assaults at the 

University of Maryland in College Park, where I was then a 

graduate student. The victims abducted from the same parking 

lot were left to deal with the system that was, at times, 

overwhelming, abusive, and frightening. The University chose 

to ignore these crimes until forced to ack~owledge their 

existence when it hit the front page of the local newspaper, 

The Washington Post. Let me say that this was not unusual as 

our knowledge about sexual assault was limited, the literature 

was scant, and our attitudes and laws archaic, at best. I, 

along with other residence hall staff, with the support of the 

Division of Student Affairs, responded to the needs of the 

victims and the campus community by developing what was the 

first rape crisis center on a college campus. Since that time, 

colleges and universities with varying levels of interest and 

corrunitment have grappled with the issue of sexual violence. 

This testimony which I present to you this afternoon 

will provide you with some information about sexual violence, 
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primarily, acquaintance rape, and propose a set of 

recommendations. 

Some will charge that sexual violence is a fantasy of 

feminists and that acquaintance rape is an oxymoron, but I'm 

here to tell you that the consistent and often rewarded sexual 

violence against women on our college campuses is neither 

fantasy nor contradictory, but what I consider to be a national 

tragedy causing thousands of women each year to be denied the 

opportunity of an education free from fear. It denies them the 

right to 1 i ve, love, or learn in an environment that festers 

personal rights, development of boundaries, and respect for 

human dignity. 

Current research conducted by Mary Koss, involving 

6000 college women and men on 32 different campuses, indicates 

that one in four college-age women have been the victim of a 

completed or attempted sexual assault. What is even more 

surprising to many, is that it also said that one in twelve men 

acknowledge committing an act of sexual violence. Confirmed by 

other studies, over 80 percent of these assaults occur between 

people who know each other. Although the surveys consistently 

support the numbers, there is a large discr.epancy between the 

incidence of the crime, the reporting to police, 

administrators, and health or counseling center clinicians. 

The Koss research suggests that a full 42 percent of the 

victims told no one, ever, and only 5 percent reported the 

crime to the police. Another 5 percent sought assistance from 

a rape crisis center. What happened to the other so percent? 

This is the epitome of a safe victim, for who is safer 

to be terrorized than the person who tells no one? There are 

many reasons why women choose not to report a crime of sexual 

violence. Some aren't sure how to define the act, knowing 

something awful happened to them, knowing that they feel 

different, that they hurt both inside and outside, but not 

3 



quite sure of its legality or illegality. Or, perhaps they 

aren't aware of how to report. Perhaps they have a belief 

system that is self-blaming and often project that belief onto 

others. Perhaps they have an intense sense of fear, the sense 

of shame and humiliation prohibits seeking help. Or as with 

many colleges and universities who emulate our society as a 

whole, women are discouraged, whether overtly or covertly from 

reporting this crime. 

There is another type of violence, almost always 

sexually based, that permeates our universities. 

primarily verbal, yet focusing on the body, is 

This assault, 

beginning to 

receive some attention in the literature. Primarily written by 

Dr. Bernice Sandler of the Center for Women Policy Studies, it 

is the crime of peer harassment. Similar in nature to sexual 

harassment, it is often dismissed as a normal part of our 

culture, a kind of boys wi 11 be boys, or they' re just having 

fun, what's the matter, don't you have a sense of humor? Let 

me illustrate this crime for you: There are places on our 

campuses that women avoid walking because they know gangs of 

men will be hanging out of windows, sitting on steps, blocking 

sidewalks, commenting on the women's sexual attributes or 

desirability, or perhaps, just visually harassing. Some women 

report that they avoid certain dining facilities, as men will 

congregate at a particular table and scope that's the 

current word for this; scoping -- the women as they wait in 

line, sometimes holding up numbers to judge their physical 

appearance, such as breast size. 

The list can go on, but I think each one of you, and 

al 1 the other women in this room, can think of instances in 

your own history where you have made changes based on your need 

for safety, security, and desire to be free from harassment. 

Let me just say that when a name is given to a behavior, a name 

such as scoping or acquaintance rape, or gang rape, it not only 

allows us to study that behavior but it suggests, at least to 
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me, that there is a tremendous occurrence in order to warrant a 

title. 

Time limits me from providing you with the many 

examples of the violence against women that occur on a daily, 

hourly, or even minute-by-minute basis on our campuses. I'm 

providing you with some literature that will give you some 

further information on both sexual violence and other forms of 

violence against women, and the impact that it has on the 

students. 

Prior to coming here today I wrote to many colleagues, 

including students at Rutgers, and so what I'm about to 

recommend is a compilation of their comments as well as some of 

the suggestions made by some of the 1 i terature. I would also 

encourage you to obtain a recent opinion by the Honorable John 

E. Bachman, a Judge in the Superior Court, Middlesex County, 

regarding a specific case that he just decided. He discusses 

some of the difficulties universities have in assuring the 

safety of their students, as well as some of the things that 

Rutgers did that were within his view of good practice. I'm 

also providing you with the Rutgers University Acquaintance 

Rape Task Force Report accepted by President Lawrence last 

spring and currently being implemented by my office, The Office 

of Sexual Assault Services. 

Let me list a couple of recommendations for you and 

give you a little bit of information about them: I feel it is 

extremely important that we adopt a policy condemning sexual 

violence; that each and every college and university in this 

State have such a policy. It must be distributed to every 

student and parent, informing them that this behavior will not 

be tolerated; that there are consequences to this behavior, and 

that those of us who send our daughters as victims and our sons 

as assailants must understand those consequences; that there is 

disciplinary action against those who offend. This policy also 

needs to state that the university will pursue, to 
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the full extent of its power, discipline when this occurs. 

This policy needs to be distributed to faculty and staff as 

well, and should outline the legal definition as well as the 

manner in which it is addressed in the student conduct code. 

It should also include information on the causes of sexual 

violence with the particular emphasis on how alcohol use 

precedes most acquaintance rapes, 

reporting, crisis intervention. 

services must be included. 

specific 

Medical 

information on 

and counseling 

Just an aside from something here, as probably most of 

the people in the room know, Rutgers has had a rough time of it 

in the last two or three weeks, and many of our students who 

have been sexually assaulted are continuing to experience a 

tremendous amount of pain. Some people have suggested that the 

college and the university will suffer some pain as well. I'm 

under the belief that the university will survive and 

hopefully, that the women who have been assaulted, and the 

impact it's had on their families, will survive as well. One 

of the suggestions was that we send a policy statement to 

parents of students -- of incoming first-year students, and I 

think this needs to be considered as well. . 
The Acquaintance Rape Task Force Report as wel 1 as 

most people in this field believe there should be a specific 

provision that prohibits sexual violence in the code of 

conduct. Schools are not eager to do this because many people 

believe that by acknowledging the crime, it says that we have 

the problem. I'd like believe by acknowledging the crime, we 

are seeking to reduce the incidence of it. So, I think that to 

include a specific notation in the conduct of code, the code 

conduct would be a move in the right direction. 

This also needs to include procedures which protect 

the rights of victims during hearing procedures. This is 

outlined in one of the resources that I provided for you. But, 

for example, the victim should have the right to be free of 
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harassment from her assailant's peers prior to, during, and 

after the hearing. Additionally, she should have access to the 

decision reached by the hearing officer or board. 

What has often happened is that in many of the 

procedures the assailant, the defendant, has the right to say 

whether it will be a closed or open hearing. That is the way 

the procedure at Rutgers is right now and is in the process of 

being changed. What I would like to see happen with this is 

that the victim also has the right to say it can be a closed 

hearing. In the past, particularly when the assailant has been 

a member of a large male organization, he has sought to bring 

his friends in to pack the hearing to intimidate, for no other 

reason than to intimidate and harass the victim. So, I believe 

that she should have the right to have the hearing closed, as 

well. 

Establishment of a comprehensive sexual assaults 

services program that provides crisis intervention, counseling, 

educational programming all in a confidential manner, is a 

necessity. Establishment of this office must include adequate 

funding and support services. This cannot be someone's-- I 

guess the best way to put it is, this cannot-be someone's other 

assigned duties. It has to be a specific office with staff to 

support this effort. 

Additionally, this person -- or the office -- must 

have access to and be included in the administrative structure 

which makes decisions regarding sexual violence. 

should also review all administrative policies 

regarding sexual violence. 

This person 

and protoco 1 

Comprehensive educational programming is another area 

of concern. It's not enough to say that sexual violence wil 1 

not be tolerated. It's much more complex than just saying, 

"just say no," or, "no means no." Students come to college 

with a well-developed sense of general stereotypes and 

consequent behaviors. This, as well as specific information 
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about sexual violence needs to be discussed in a variety of 

methods. We all learn differently and we need to teach people 

in different ways, including the development of literature, 

brochures, articles in school newspapers, and mandatory 

attendance at rape awareness programs. 

I can't begin to tell you how many calls I get from 

schools across the country asking me how we're doing at 

Rutgers, and as we begin to talk, many of them say, 11 I can't 

get anything in the school newspaper. You have to pay to have 

an ad in it. You can't get reporters to report on this because 

it's their belief that this is not an important issue. 11 We 

need to assure that this is an important issue on our college 

campuses. 

The data tells us that the most vulnerable time to be 

sexually assaulted is the summer after high school and the 

first year of college. It is important that this issue be 

addressed from the time that students state their intentions to 

attend a particular university. Mandatory programming at 

orientation sessions for all incoming students need to occur. 

We have often focused our energy on first-year women, or only 

our first-year students, both men and women, but colleges and 

universities have a tremendous amount of transfer students and 

we must educate them as well. 

The research also tells us that there's a higher 

propensity for the occurrence of rape, and in particular, gang 

rape, in all male housing units such as fraternities and -in 

particular when alcohol is present. Some would suggest that 

the behavior in these residences is predatory in nature. 

Therefore, I'm suggesting that a mandatory program is a must 

for these groups. All Greek organizations need to be included 

as there's often a tremendous amount of pressure put on 

sorority members not to report a rape by a fraternity member. 

These programs must include information on the strong 

correlation between alcohol and sexual violence and how it 

contributes to 
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becoming victim as well as victimizer. This demands that 

prograrruning be provided for both men and women. Additionally, 

the topic and issues involved in sexual violence should be 

included in the curriculum, for example, in introductory 

writing courses so that students continue to learn from a 

variety of sources and gain an understanding of the level of 

importance the university places on this issue. 

Training for faculty and staff on how to assist a 

person who's been sexually assaulted is also very important. 

Often the residence hall staff are the first people or persons 

the victim discloses the crime to, and they need to be trained 

on this subject. Training must also be provided for pol ice. 

This type of prograrruning needs to be on an annual basis and 

must be supported by the administrative structure. Al though 

the literature states that only 16 percent of the rapes on 

college campuses happen between strangers, priority has to be 

given to this issue. The safety and security of students 

cannot be compromised. Lighting, shuttle buses, escorts all 

need to be reviewed whenever a crime occurs. 

I have been extremely brief in my corrunents, but hope 

that this gives you a sense of some of the jssues and some of 

the difficulties that people in my field have been facing for a 

number of years in trying to get colleges and universities to 

respond to the need of victims who have been sexually assaulted. 

Since coming to Rutgers over a year ago, there has 

been a consistent amount of comments on the location of my 

office. Located on Douglas Campus, almost everyone, including 

my 14 year-old son, have commented that it's an appropriate 

place because, surely more rapes occur on Douglas since it's a 

women's college and that we all know that rape is a women's 

issue. I want to clarify that misperception, in closing. 

Sexual violence is not a women's issue. Sexual 

violence is a cultural issue and needs to be addressed in that 

context. No longer can we focus our attention on telling women 
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how to feel safe, warning women to stay inside and providing 

self-defense courses. Timothy Beneke, in his book states, "It 

is men who rape and men who collectively have the power to end 

rape." I believe that you and I have the power to make them 

listen and respond. 

Thank you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you, Ms. Koenick. Does anybody 

have a question? 

MS. FRANCIS: I guess I have one, Ruth Ann. Rutgers 

has, within the last year, right, hired you into this 

position. Do you know how many other campuses, if any, have a 

full time person working on the issue? 

MS. KOENICK: Princeton. 

MS. FRANCIS: It's the only other one in the State? 

MS. KOENICK: It's the only other one that I know of 

that has a full time office. I know that Kean does not. It's 

other assigned duties at Kean. And most of the other colleges 

don't have the kind of support office that provides this. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: How large is your staff? 

MS. KOENICK: You're looking at it. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Oh, my. 

MS. KOENICK: I do Camden and Newark, too. Thus, you 

understand the comment I made about the financial support and 

support staff that's needed. I'm part of the Department of 

Health Education so I do have some support staff, and there are 

other people who I work with, but the responsibility for this 

program is mine. We do a lot of-- We use students a lot 

because my program is primarily funded by student fees. We 

have a commitment to turn money back to students and hire them 

to do some of the work. So, I do have students as peer 

counselors and peer educators that do some of the programming, 

but that's a very small proportion of it and weeks like this 

week, when they' re on spring break or during other breaks in 

the summer, it's primarily me alone. 
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MS. VAN JONES: Are you tied in with the Rape Crisis 

Center, Ruth? 

MS. KOENICK: Which one? 

MS. VAN JONES: 56. 

MS. KOENICK: I do training for 56 Place. They are 

generally kind of a comprehensive hotline rather than a rape 

crisis center. The Womens' Resource and Support Center focuses 

more of their energies on violence against women and other 

issues about women. They recently had-- They have, I think, 

an ongoing dialogue on "living with your mother" or something 

like that. I'm not quite sure what it is, but it's on issues 

of interest to women, and I do training for them as well. One 

of the problems is that none of the help 1 ines -- whether 

they' re at any of the campuses -- are more than a couple of 

hours a day, and they do not go 24 hours. we·re in the process 

also, of putting together-- The Advisory Board in my office is 

in the process of putting together a backup support network of 

professional staff that will assist at least during the crisis 

kinds of times we•ve had the last couple of weeks. 

MS. FRANCIS: I• ve just got one other short question 

in connection with the recorrunendations you might make to State 

government as to what role we could play. Would you see any 

role in the Department of Higher Education? Is there any 

coordinating function they perform that would help encourage 

the other campuses to follow through on your good suggestions? 

MS. KOENICK: Not that I know of. I don•t know. 

MS. VAN JONES: You seem like you have a large, large 

responsibility, you know, trying to implement this kind of 

thing on the campus both with the Camden and the Newark 

campus. What is the prognosis for the future and longevity, is 

there going to be more staff support, faculty support? Since 

President Lawrence-- You mentioned a report of some sort that 

President Lawrence had issued. Wh~t is the longevity, what is 

the prognosis? Is it because of--
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MS. KOENICK: I'm not--

MS. VAN JONES: --the recent things that happened, you 

know? 

MS. KOENICK: I'm really not sure, Viola, what the 

prognosis for this type of work is. At this point in time it 

is a hot issue, so the prognosis is good at least in the 

irrunediate future. 

I would really like to see some mandating that there 

be offices like this on each campus. And, although I travel 

back and forth to Newark fairly regularly -- I go at least once 

a week to see students for counseling -- I do not go to Camden 

very often, and they really need some assistance there. But I 

would like to see offices such as mine mandated on all colleges 

and universities in the State, that they have a support system 

in place, that they develop the policies. And then I think 

that if it's precedent, there's more of it, that the prognosis 

is better, particularly if it· s legislatively mandated. With 

some money and staff-- (laughter) 

MS. VAN JONES: Seems like you have a 24-hour job. 

MS. KOENICK: I do. 

MS. VAN JONES: I conunend you. 

MS KOENICK: Thank you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you. 

Ms. Jill Greenbaum, Director of Bergen County Rape 

Crisis Center. 

JILL GREENBAUM, Ed.D.: Good afternoon. I have 

prepared a variety of materials for you, which Riki Jacobs has 

passed out. Not that you need to look at it now because I' 11 

be going over al 1 of it and there's things that you can take 

with you. It's a heavy stack. 

At any rate I am here today, not only as the Director 

of the Bergen County Rape Crisis Center, but also as 

Vice-President of the New Jersey Coalition Against Sexual 

Assault. So I hope that I'm representing the viewpoint of many 
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different groups. I'm also Chair of the Bergen County 

Coalition Against Rape. 

So, I am very pleased to be here also, to be a part of 

these hearings to discuss the many interrelated issues which 

passively and actively contribute to the victimization and 

revictimization of women. While broad philosophical questions 

which underly our day-to-day interactions must be addressed, 

the practical realities of living with our present laws and 

systems must be examined. In my direct service work on behalf 

of survivors, as a leader and active participant in various 

coalitions, and as a presenter at local, national and 

international conferences, I have addressed a variety of topics. 

The following areas are all fragments of the whole 

picture which is violence against women: 

With regard to factors and issues influencing our 

psychological environment and the formulation of society's 

members opinions of violence against women, please refer to 

attachment A -- not right now, I used to be a teacher so I 

know, never read while someone else is talking -- which briefly 

delineates many of the issues surrounding sexual 

victimization. 

Attachment B outlines the position of the New Jersey 

Coalition Against Sexual Assault regarding the "naming" or 

victim survivors of rape, a practice commonly used by some 

newspapers in New Jersey, fortunately not within my own county, 

but in surrounding counties; 

Lack of commitment on the part of the State of New 

Jersey, both philosophically and fiscally, to the needs of 

survivors of violence, specifically with regard to rape care 

programs; 

The inability to find an appropriate place within 

governmental departments or divisions -- in other words, the 

rape care programs are part of the Department of Health, 

Division of Family Health Services, and my reason behind, or my 
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difficulties with that particular placement are outlined in 

attachment C; 

Deliberate nonprioritizing or inattention to the needs 

of information and services for other than english-speaking 

populations. In other words, materials developed by the 

Department of Health, for example, for dissemination through 

the rape care programs, are available only in english. 

Fourth, lack of coordinated examination of the present 

levels of functioning of the law enforcement criminal justice 

systems, and the impact of the judicial process upon victims 

and their families. Attachment D; 

Lack of training for local law enforcement personnel 

regarding sex offenses, the needs of victims' survivors, and 

the role of rape crisis center staffs, the often politically 

motivated assignment of investigators to sex crimes units, 

without regard to professional capabilities -- and then with no 

further training; 

The cessation of advanced training opportunities for 

law enforcement and criminal justice personnel regarding sex 

offenses and the proper disposition of such cases; 

Lack of prosecution of husbands or partners who 

sexually assault their wives and inadequate recognition of in 

response to stalking as the prelude to a crime. 

Fifth, difficulty in securing funds through the 

Violent Crimes Compensation Board, for example: for counseling 

for adequate lengths of time for victims and covictims of 

sexual abuse. 

Sixth, a delineation of the anticipated breakdown of 

funds to be generated by passage of Public Law 1991, Chapter 

327 -- which was a recently passed law just this year. 

Seventh, no enforcement of Public Law 1987, the law 

which requires that both local police departments and hospitals 

inform victims of the local rape crisis centers. See 

attachment E-1; 
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The need for development and routine utilization of 

standard operating procedures regarding sexual assault victim 
, 

survivors in their interaction with other systems, such as 

hospitals, local police, or sex crimes unit investigators; 

The development and use of a 11 standardized kit" for 

evidence collection across State, consistent medical 

prophylactic treatment for rape survivors regarding sexually 

transmitted diseases and pregnancy; 

The education for service providers and law 

enforcement and criminal justice personnel regarding sexual 

assault and the transmission of HIV, attachment E-2. 

Eighth, insufficient understanding of, attention to, 

and funding for programs for both adult and adolescent sex 

offenders, attachment F; 

Recognition of, and treatment programs for, female sex 

offenders; 

The development of appropriate treatment programs 

within prison probation and parole programs with treatment 

components and available and affordable after care and therapy 

for sex offenders for the remainder of their lives. 

Ninth, the initiation and ongoing ~raining of judges, 

with regard to issues of sexual victimization. 

Tenth, the ability of school systems and colleges and 

universities to "overlook" the problem of sexual victimization, 

such as no development of state sanctioned relationships across 

systems such as rape care programs with high schools, colleges, 

law enforcement, criminal justice systems and hospitals. 

Eleventh, the purely monetary concerns of New Jersey 

Bell regarding the Caller I. D. service in New Jersey over the 

objections of rape care program and domestic violence 

personnel, attachment G. 

Twelfth, finally, I have included in the packet of 

information, a letter written to The New York Times detailing 
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what I would consider adequate coverage of the topic of sexual 

victimization, attachment H. 

I have given you a whole lot of material. This is 

really my-- I saw this when I was talking with Riki as my 

opportunity to just raise a lot of issues. Over the past few 

years I've written a number of position pieces for the 

coalitions that I work with and for my particular office. So 

I've included those because that will be a more full 

understanding 

I've raised. 

approach it. 

(laughter) 

and, you know, 

I thought that 

I'm not sure 

delineation of the topics that 

would be the easiest way to 

you see it that way, but--

SENATOR LIPMAN: All right. Can we look now? 

(laughter) 

DR. GREENBAUM: Absolutely. Absolutely. 

MS. FRANCIS: That's a great shorthand way to do it, 

Jill. I think it's wonderful and in fact, all of this will go 

into the hearing record, and so on. But if you would pick out, 

maybe, your top three initiatives that you think should be 

worked on first, could you do that for us? 

DR. GREENBAUM: Sure. I guess I woul?- say the need 

for coordination of services across various systems and that 

would encompass a lot, for instance, rape care programs working 

with hospitals and law enforcement. There is clearly no 

overlap in terms of what we do. We all have distinct jobs. 

However, we need to work together for those survivors who want 

to use those systems. And there is a public law in place that 

says that hospitals and law enforcement must inform the victim 

of the local rape crisis center. Well, invariably, it is not 

done, or if it is done it's done as a person is walking out of 

the off ice, rather than when a person arrives at someone's 

office. So, I'm very concerned about coordination of systems. 

I would also like to see the laws actually utilized. 

I mean in my county, Bergen County, you know as well as I do 
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there's never been a case where the Prosecutor's off ice has 

brought forward a man who's been charged with sexually 

assaulting his wife. Now, I know they have such cases because 

I have ref erred them there. They have met with the woman. 

They have said, "Clearly what happened to you is against the 

law, but we're virtually unable to bring this to a jury because 

the jury is not going to come back with a convict ion. " And, 

one of my concerns as a rape crisis center person is, if you 

wait unti 1 the juries are ready to hear this kind of thing, 

we're going to be waiting an awful long time. We need to do a 

lot of things to get those juries ready to come back with a 

conviction. 

But also, I guess, training is really important to 

me. Ruth Ann and I both had worked with the State Pol ice 

Training Bureau out of Sea Girt, and we had worked on a 

three-day program that was aimed at law enforcement and 

criminal justice personnel so that they could come in, learn 

the skills necessary to work effectively in their jobs -- not 

as rape crisis counselors --- with victims of rape. And, after 

approximately two years, the program ceased because it was 

found to be too time-consuming and costly. And this was on the 

part -- from what I heard from my sources, however accurate 

they may be -- part of the Attorney General• s Off ice. It was 

found to be too costly. And my concern is: To whom? We had a 

great program going and, in fact, I'm going to try and get some 

of that information out at the Federal level through the 

National Victim Center, but that's a grave concern of mine. 

MS. FRANCIS: No, that's good, all three. In fact, 

just to follow up. For instance, the coordination of services 

across the systems from right here: hospitals, employees. 

Would you see that done best on a county basis? In other words 

the County Prosecutor's office would play some roll, and the 

hospitals in the county, and so on. What roll would you see at 

the State level relative to doing it county-wise? 
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DR. GREENBAUM: I think at the State level it could be 

mandated that this has to be done. I'm concerned about the 

fact that in Bergen County we have a certain evidence 

collection 

completely 

kit and in 

different. 

Middlesex 

I think 

County 

there 

they 

has 

do something 

got to be 

standardization, perhaps a standard operating procedure at the 

State level as to how things should happen and then 

relationships worked out on the county level. Because I think 

the way things are at the county level now, it's too easy to 

just not make things work because there's no accountabi 1 i ty. 

You know, there is no accountability. 

When I approached the 70 towns in my county-- We put 

out letters and follow-up phone calls to every single police 

department in our county several years ago, gave them the law 

that you've got in your packet, about they've got to inform 

that victim of the local rape crisis center. We were allowed 

into three police departments to talk with them because the 

rest of them told us either number one, it doesn't happen in 

their town literally, one chief said that -- to another who 

said, "I'd have to bring in too many people on overtime to make 

this worthwhile. We don't get enough cases." 

You know, I understand economic constraints, but I go 

into hospitals all kinds of crazy times to meet with their 

shifts of nurses and doctors, so it's not that we're not 

flexible; it's that they didn't perceive it to be a priority. 

And you know the way the law works. People are supposed to 

report to the local P.D. before it gets kicked over to the sex 

crimes unit. If that person isn't believed at that first 

level, it doesn't get any further unless they call us and we 

refer them on, you know, to the sex crimes unit. There's no 

guarantee at that point either because those people do not have 

adequate training. 

MS. FRANCIS: I have one more follow-up on the marital 

rape issue. Who, if anyone in the State, has statistics on 

whether other counties are prosecuting any of those cases? 
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DR. GREENBAUM: I don't know, but it's certainly 

something that I can put out through the coalition and get back 

to you, because I love developing materials as you can tell. 

(laughter) And I'd be happy to do that research and get it to 

you within a fairly short period of time. 

MS. FRANCIS: I assume the Chair would be interested 

in finding out about that? 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Oh, yes, we would. 

DR. GREENBAUM: Okay, I'll do it. 

MS. SEHAM: As far as there being a law that looks 

good but simply isn't enforced, that's not unusual. That 

happens a lot, particularly where women are concerned, I think. 

DR. GREENBAUM: Right. 

MS. SEHAM: I'm just wondering, when you're trying to 

accomplish these things through contact with police stations-­

I just have the feeling that there has to be a part of the 

public that's aware of it, and that lobbying and mal{ing noise 

and writing to the newspapers and having whatever meetings, and 

so on, that that would help make this a priority, at least in 

the minds of governmental people, people who care about public 

opinion. And I know that before the Berge~ County Commission 

on Women wrote its report on crimes of violence against women 

in 1977, no hospital in Bergen County had any protocol for 

dealing with rape cases. They do now, of course, so we made 

some progress. We need to go on making progress. What was 

progress from 1977 is no longer adequate. 

But I'm just wondering about the possibility of 

getting together, or having some sort of public forum, and 

airing some of these facts to women's organizations in the 

county, or in any county, who may not know what the law is, who 

may not know what a woman's rights are in a situation. If the 
q 

public were more aware of it, it might help. '~ 

DR. GREENBAUM: You're absolutely right. It's 

certainly an avenue that we have considered in the past and 
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will continue to consider because it is so important. But, I 

can tell you in my-- We also went through-- Every year we try 

something different. You know, we try a couple of things every 

year. One year we reached out to every single library in the 

county to come and do a public speaking engagement there for 

residents of the town. Certain towns told us, "Forget it. 

That doesn't happen in my town." 

not the Police Chief. (laughter) 

This was from the librarian, 

Seriously, the problem was 

in my home town -- which is Teaneck -- which, at that time, had 

40,000 people in it. We did publicity, press releases, public 

service announcements, flyers, the whole thing; one person 

came. Okay? One person. So I wrote a letter to the editor, 

which, of course, got published because it was the town 

throw-away paper, and it was my outrage over how can this be. 

Okay, the 10, 000 kids in the town or the 15, ooo -- they 

didn't need to come because it's not appropriate for them, 

blah, blah, blah. But, all these other people. How could this 

be? Because the paper carries stories all the time of what's 

happening in our area. And so, I was completely disgusted and 

we had similarly low turnouts in the few towns that would have 

us in. 

That doesn't mean we stop trying. What I've started 

to do instead is to write letters to the editor and, in 

general, if it's around a pertinent topic they'll print it. 

You know, like I got into The New York Times and did the caller 

I.D. thing, then New Jersey Bell paid attention to us. And I 

worked out a special relationship with rape care programs and 

domestic violence if they wanted it, but it wasn't until that 

letter was in the Times and they came into the public eye. So 

what you' re saying is very true. It's just they are a tough 

nut to crack because nobody believes -- the public, this is -­

that it's going to happen to them, ~\or it happens to other 

people, it happens to girls that go to the county compound, it 

happens to girls that do this, this and this. It's not them, 

20 



it's not 

something 

their 

that 

f am i 1 i es . I f 

affects them, 

they don· t 

they· re not 
perceive it to be 

going to come out 

around it. It doesn't mean we won't try but it's been really 

discouraging. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: How does your center hear about rapes 

if the referral is so slipshod from the police or from the 

hospital? How do you get the information? 

DR. GREENBAUM: We are very active in the high schools 

in our particular county. We're in approximately half of them 

which you would say is kind of low, but it's better than most 

of the other agencies in the county in that we are aggressive 

every year and we offer things to teachers. We'll come in and 

do the unit, this is the kind of materials we can offer you 

when we come in, follow-up tapes, books, you know, the whole 

nine yards. So we get referrals in that way because teenagers 

will call us up after seeing us speak. We have press releases 

in the newspaper almost every month. We have public service 

announcements on cable TV, and I write these letters to the 

editor and I sign my name and my affiliations, so people find 

out about us in that way. In addition we're listed, in our 

particular county, in the crisis and abuse .hotline square, or 

rectangle, in the phone book. Telephone operators know about 

us. They• re a big source of referral because our program has 

been around since the late 1970s, and so when someone in 

Passaic, Hudson or Bergen calls the 911 or the operator, they 

refer them to . us because we've been around consistently for a 
very long period of time. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: I see. 

MS. VAN JONES: And a large percentage of the 

operators are females. 

DR. GREENBAUM: 

SENATOR LIPMAN: 

DR. 

(laughter) 

GREENBAUM: 

Absolutely. 

Very good. Thank you very much. 

You're welcome. Happy reading. 
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SENATOR LIPMAN: Dr. Marsha Kleinman, the New Jersey 

Psychological Association. 

M A R S H A K L E I N M A N, Psy.D.: Good afternoon. My 

name is Dr. Marsha Kleinman and I'm a licensed practicing 

psychologist at the Center for Behavior Therapy in New 

Brunswick. Today, I am before you as a representative of the 

New Jersey Psychological Association to discuss the issue of 

domestic violence. 

I'm, perhaps, better equipped to talk about the 

problems that I encounter daily with battered women and the 

judicial system than to put forth solutions, although I've 

managed to come up with about 14 recorrunendations. I worked on 

it. However, I hope today to be able to able to translate my 

experiences and my concerns with battered women and the 

judicial process into suggestions that will enable you to bring 

about needed changes in our laws. And some of the suggestions, 

I'm not sure the law is the right place, but I share them with 

you anyway. 

Al though we all know there are laws on the books to 

protect battered women -- and I believe all would agree there 

are battered in this society in need of proteption -- there 

seems to be a serious problem that the courts have in 

identifying a particular woman who fits that assessment. The 

public at-large, mental health professionals and judges still 

hold many myths about battered women and seem to believe 

they' 11 be able to identify these women and their abusers by 

sight. In my experience, nothing could be further from the 

truth. Battered women and their abusers present in different 

ways than one might expect, and without knowledge and expertise 

in the area, in their assessment many go unrecognized and 

doubly victimized by our court system. 

The issues that I've raised are sometimes subtle 

issues with battered women and maybe_ difficult to legislate. 

However, I believe it is imperative that we try. Further, it 
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may be necessary to put women attorneys on the bench who 

themselves have been formerly battered women. We may need to 

do something with the whole system to bring about some change. 

The issue is so important to me that perhaps judges may need to 

be screened or specially trained in the area of battered women, 

not just given courses afterwards. This may need to be a 

requirement. Battered women need to be recognized as a special 

subgroup who come before judges, their concerns and those of 

their children are that serious. 

Some of the problems with battered women and their 

presentations before judges is that they often change attorneys 

many times during the course of the matrimonial or custody 

act ion. Judges view their having changed attorneys as 

reflecting something wrong with these women. Let me add that 

my bugaboo currently is custody with battered women because I 

have been involved with cases and this is really where I'm 

coming from today, is talking about battered women in the court 

system and not getting the protection they need, specifically 

in cases where there is custody action or a divorce action. 

The truth is that this behavior -- the women changing 

attorneys -- more accurately reflects the qifficul ty battered 

women have in finding good and appropriate advocates and having 

the resources to pay for them. The nature of abuse, the fear 

instilled by an abusive partner in his female victim will often 

inhibit a battered woman from taking the appropriate legal 

steps necessary which will identify her to the courts as a 

battered women. She may get a temporary restraining order, but 

then not follow through with a permanent order, as you all 

know. She may behave in ways which appear contradictory, such 

as getting a temporary restraining order and then allowing her 

abuser back in the home. She may al low an abusive husband to 

share custody, making the decision while she was still in 

danger and then away from, able to reflect clearly, realized 

that her children are in danger and go back into court to 
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change custody. This behavior on her part is viewed as being 

"addictive and wanting retribution." These behaviors which 

appear contradictory create confusion in the minds of the 

judges. and in my experience tend to reflect badly on the 

battered women when judicial decisions are made. Al 1 these 

behaviors and others equally aberrant and strange make her 

appear to be a "flake" and thus she is doubly victimized at a 

time when she needs the system to protect her. 

Another problem often seen is that women coming out of 

relationships in which there was psychological abuse and 

perhaps intimidation without serious physical battering often 

have not yet labeled themselves as "battered women" al though 

they are every bit as battered as another woman who ends up in 

the emergency room. Therefore, no agreement should be made 

until they have been referred for treatment. Attorneys often 

do not put forth the battering and do not utilize this 

information in court papers thereby not giving the court the 

benefit of all the information or the client the benefit of the 

court's consideration of her as a battered. 

When the issue of custody or visitation arises and the 

attorney first presents it or when the woman cha~ges to another 

attorney who understands and takes battering seriously, this 

information is then viewed suspiciously by the court and ends 

up hurting her, and I could go on. 

But let me go to my suggestions. Some may be my "wish 

list" and hopefully, some will able to be addressed: 

1) There should be a presumption that when a woman 

has obtained a temporary restraining order at some time during 

a relationship, even if she does not follow through with a 

permanent restraining order, that there is reason to believe 

she was in danger and that perhaps she'll be in more danger if 

she attempts a hearing for a permanent restraining order. She 

should thus not be penalized for not having obtained a 

permanent order, although it has to be recognized that no files 
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of abuse have been made. Perhaps women need something like the 

Witness Protection Program to encourage them to come forward 

without fear. 

2) The law should reflect that any woman who alleges 

to have been abused in any way should be counseled by an expert 

in battered women before a judge accepts any matrimonial or 

custodial agreement. This would prevent women who go along out 

of fear from reprisal from an abusive mate from making any 

agreements while they believe they are in danger. It further 

gives battered women time to get themselves psychologically 

together so they can make reasoned and educated decisions. 

3) The law should acknowledge that the psychological 

state battered women are in, immediately corning out of an 

emotionally or physically abusive relationship, reflects the 

effects of battering and does not necessarily indicate her 

general overall functioning or ability to care for herself and 

for her children. In fact, often her emotional state reflects 

the effects of the continued abuse and harassment and the 

frustration of not being able to effectively influence the 

court to understand her experience as a battered woman or to 

protect her and her children. 

4) Al though the law states that there should be a 

presumption that when there has been abuse the children should 

reside with the nonabusive parent, that is not enough from my 

point of view. Joint custody should never be granted where 

there's the possibi 1 i ty that there has been abuse. Further, 

divorce mediation should not be al lowed where there has been 

psychological and/or physical abuse. Mediation is only 

appropriate in an equal relationship and since marital 

relationships are often not equal -- one person has control 

either through money or through using intimidation -- mediation 

is often not appropriate. Our law should reflect that men who 

are abusers generally fight for custody as a way to continue to 

exert their control and dominance over their mates rather than 
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out of the normal parental feelings of love and concern. And I 

can't tell you how strongly I feel that the court's judges need 

to know this is normal so that they don't look askance when 

they hear this, often for the first time. 

The law should also perhaps reflect certain 

personality characteristics of batterers so that they would 

more likely be recognized by judges even when they come into 

court wearing a three-piece suit. For example: it should be 

acknowledged that abusers tend to defy court orders, twist the 

facts to be in their favor, not pay child support although they 

want custody and allegedly care for their children, make 

visitation difficult in an attempt to blame their spouse for 

difficulties, lie in court papers, etc. Perhaps a 

psychological profile placed in the legislative findings would 

be helpful to the judges. 

5) The law should reflect that battered women are 

most likely to be abused or even killed after having left their 

batterers. This is the most dangerous time and it is this 

threat which keeps women in abusive relationships long after 

they want to go. What happens, I 've seen, when women are in 

court, judges say, "The marriage is over, why_ is this going 

on? Why do you keep coming back?" So, the woman, again, is 

viewed and victimized again that there's something wrong with 

her. Abusive men of ten threaten that he wi 11 take custody of 

the children, a threat which he's often able to implement by 

way of having the resources to do so. The courts may need to 

recognize that families of abuse victims are often themselves 

threatened and in danger and that they need to be protected as 

well. While judges often believe that battering is part of a 

matrimonial part of the marriage, and that once the marriage is 

dissolved the battering is over, the facts from the FBI 

statistics indicate otherwise; that is, that 75 percent of all 

battered women have the greatest chance of being most severely 

harmed or even killed after they leave the abuser, and perhaps 
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if judges understood that, they would understand why it's so 

hard for women to leave. Therefore, custody actions, continued 

harassment -- however subtle nonpayment of support, all 

represent continued harassment and abuse of the battered woman 

and need to be viewed and understood in this context. 

6) Judges need to recognize that abuse can lead to 

death for battered women, and often does, and need to take her 

danger seriously. Battered women, therefore, need to have 

their fears and concerns taken seriously by police and judges. 

A judge should not be able to use any discretion if there is a 

finding of abuse such as saying, "The man has a problem with 

alcohol, etc. , and that the abuse is therefore related to 

alcohol, and let's get him help and then we' 11 give you a 

permanent restraining order if he's still abusive" -- which I 

have recently heard about. 

7) Judges should be required to view abuse as though 

there was an assault on one person to another as though they 

were strangers. This would give the clear message that women 

do not provoke a person to violence. Nonviolent men will not 

be provoked. Battered women are victims no different than the 

victim of a car theft, house robbery, etc .. and yet the myths 

about battered women and women in general, prevail in our court 

system. 

Therefore, once the marriage is dissolved, the judge 

needs to understand that particular abusive man is still a 

violent individual, that he has seen a sample of his behavior 

and his battering represents who he is, not a reflection of the 

marriage, and that his children are also at risk for being 

abused. Judges have a tendency, in my experience, to separate, 

"Well, he beat her, doesn't mean he's a problem for the 

children." It should be mandatory that judges obtain a full 

documentation on a man who's been alleged to be abusive, if he 

wants custody. They should get his work history, his school 

history, going back forever, police records, speeding tickets, 
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mental health history, etc. before disposing of custody cases. 

Judges should be required to view the abuse as part of the 

man's character and not in the context of a couple who cannot 

get along. 

8) The Legislature needs to recognize that men who 

abuse their wives often sexually abuse daughters and 

psycho logically and/or physically abuse their sons. There· s a 

real problem in that women who finally get out of these 

marriages then when they go to file papers will allege that the 

husband has been abusive to a child and at that moment, neither 

her attorneys believe her and the courts are not believing. 

She is viewed as being now vindictive; she is saying this to 

get back at him. And this is very serious because as soon as 

she does that the judges-- There seems to be a favor towards 

the man because you now have an evil, vindictive woman in the 

courts. This has really been my repeated awful experience. 

Judges need to know this is usual that there's abuse to 

children, sex abuse in these families is where it's normal and 

abuse of male sons and females -- this is normal. This is not 

the rare case. This is why these are the circumstance in which 

children are abused. Therefore, women claim;ng that their 

abusive husbands have been sexually inappropriate with their 

daughters need to be taken seriously and, again, not viewed as 

suspect because there is an ongoing custody dispute. 

Judges need to know that women leave husbands because 

of this behavior. Further, Judges again need to know something 

about the profile of someone who would sexually abuse a child 

and abuse a wife. 

9) Judges should not have discretion in custody 

decisions where there is a suspicion of abuse -- men who abuse 

and do so in front of their children -- they should know that 

just having abused the mother is enough to take control and 

dominate a child. This is abuse. You never have to hit 

someone who is physically intimidated by you to get control. 
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You can go like this. (raises fist) You can watch someone 

throw something or have a temper tantrum, therefore, it's 

enough just to see a parent be violent to gain control and 

dominance. In these situations, fathers should be given 

supervised visitation and not in the home or the presence of 

any member of his family. Judges should be directed to grant 

supervised visitation when there have been allegations of abuse 

-- and they don't unless it's so obvious to them, they rarely 

do. 

10) And perhaps most important, although not last, I 

think the Legislature needs to establish a fund for battered 

women because the most important thing they need that they 

don't have are the resources to fight in the courts. And, 

unfortunately, what happens in custody decisions, and I have 

watched battered women lose custody of their children time and 

time again, and children who are sexually abused be given to 

their fathers. I have been cal led a whore and a hired gun by 

judges. I had a woman who, when a child ran away after telling 

the court appointed expert that she would run away, when she 

did and ran back to the mother, the mother called me and said, 

"What do I do?" I said, "I don't know how tq tell a mother not 

to fight." Because what happened was the judge brought her in 

court and said, "If your child runs away again you will be in 

jail." I said to the mother, "You tell the child to complain 

to her school." She was in a Catholic school. "You tell her 

to complain." She did, she ran away to the convent, DYFS was 

involved, the convent got custody for the weekend, another· 

psychologist evaluated and the judge said, "Stays with the 

father. This is an evil woman brainwashing this kid." 

This is why I'm here today, because-- You're looking 

shocked. I get phone calls, and I won't do custody cases 

anymore because I don't have the stomach for them. I'm 

involved in one currently because I couldn't turn it down, but 

I will just assume I'll be another hired gun because I'm rushed 
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in there at the end, how come no one said this before? And 

this is very serious and I think the judges need-- It has to 

be mandated, some of these things. 

So, they need a fund. They cannot win. They do not 

have the money and the resources to fight for custody, and 

you're talking about the next generation of abusers. 

11) Judges should have the benefit of an expert 

consultant to the bench to help them assess cases in which 

there are allegations of violence. Perhaps they need someone 

right there with them going through these cases and teaching 

them how to pick out the fact from the fiction, how to pick out 

the holes because the abusers are the best con artists in the 

world. The best in the world. I had a woman recently who 

killed, who ended up killing, and I'm involved in a murder case 

with her -- for her -- and as she said, the man schemed his way 

into her life. It's a wonderful phrase, and indeed, he did. 

And when judges and people ask me, "How come she didn't know 

he was a batterer? 11 and I say to them, "You know, I don't find 

judges know it either. What's wrong with them?" You know, 

something's wrong with them, also. 

12) There's a problem with our system of court 

appointed experts -- and I hate to criticize my colleagues, but 

I do. They don't know, and they do these evaluations and then 

when I get called in, or someone else who really is an expert 

on battered women, the judges then dismiss us. And I know 

apparently there is something in the Legislature that says that 

a not a court appointed expert should have the same weight, 

al though the judge can then dismiss you as a hired gun or a 

whore; and that shouldn't be allowed to happen. I think judges 

really need a lot more information before they should be 

allowed to do this work. 

There also was a debacle in Ocean County which a court 

appointed expert -- who has since lost his license and had the 

largest fine against him of any psychologist who lost his 
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license -- gave all of the abusive, or known to be abusive 

fathers, custody of their children some are still fighting, 

some women gave up, and one woman got her child back -- even 

though. there had been evidence of sexual abuse, physical 

evidence. This is going on every single day. 

13) No one should be considered an expert in the 

custody case where there have been allegations of abuse who 

does not recognize the battered women syndrome. There's a 

court appointed expert in New Jersey, a psychologist who is 

used frequently, who does not recognize the battered women 

syndrome and yet it's recognized in the courts of New Jersey in 

State vs. Kelly. So, I don't know that that person should be 

accepted and recognized as an expert. I'm not singling this 

person out, but it's the concept. 

14) Therefore, the system by which experts are chosen 

and appointed by the courts needs to be looked into carefully. 

Many times experts want to say what the judges want to hear. I 

shared a brief part of a joke that I remember which is: a 

husband and wife are having an argument and there's a house 

guest, and during the argument one turns to the house guest and 

says, "What do you think?" and the house . guest says, "I'm 

staying two more weeks." And many of these court appointed 

experts are staying two more weeks. 

15) I believe we could be doing if there's 

funding, and I've been designing this in my head some 

longitudinal studies to follow up on custody decisions that 

have been made where allegations of abuse were made, and where 

the judge dismissed them and had not taken them seriously, and 

in my opinion, made decisions that were not made in the best 

interests of the woman or the child. Perhaps if we do 

longitudinal studies and show them what happens to these 

children, and then go back and train them with the papers that 

were presented in court, they can learn from these mistakes 

because there's a tremendous correlation. Judges are not aware 

of what they're doing, I'm sure. 
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That is what I had to say. Now that I've given you 

the suggestions, I don't have to worry anymore. 

Any questions, or-- I wish that were true, that I 

didn't have to worry anymore. To me, it's heartbreaking 

because it's an opportunity for prevention, and that's really 

what we should all be about, in my opinion. 

MS. SEHAM: I could add to your list. Yes, these men 

are con artists. They tend to be extremely personable. I can 

remember-- I don't do matrimonial work anymore, for part of 

the reason that you don't do custody anymore, but I can 

remember a husband and wife being evaluated at the county 

hospital and they said about the husband, "He's very upset 

about the divorce." And they said about the wife, "It's hard 

to believe the story she tells." So I think there's a basic 

lack of credibility that women have in the courts at bottom and 

which causes a lot of these problems. And too many attorneys 

and too many judges just don't believe the allegations and 

battering to begin with. They believe that it's being said in 

order to gain an advantage in the divorce, that there's no 

basis to it at all. Now a lot of your premises start out with 

some sort of recognition that this is a battere~ woman and yet 

-- and yet, she's denied this and she's denied that. But I 

think that part of it is that the battering just isn't taken 

seriously or isn't believed to begin with. 

So going to your statement, "This is usual. This is 

the profile, these are the things that happen," I was going to 

ask you whether there are any studies. You're saying this is 

usual, but I think where judges are concerned, they really do 

believe that they' re being impartial. They really do think 

that they know, so you really have to give them statistics. 

DR. KLEINMAN: No, that's why you-- What happens in 

my experience is I will stand there and say before a judge, and 

they would dismiss that he's lying, that lies are found, that 

the attorney is able to-- They dismiss that. I say, "Wel 1 
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you· re going to choose a parent--" He's a liar. The guy lies 

to the court. They dismiss that. 

Are there studies as to the impact of these decisions, 

or studies as to the correlation between abusive children and 

abusive women? 

MS. SEHAM: Well, those I know exist, but the profile 

of the abuser, the correlation between abusive women and 

abusive children, that kind of thing--

DR. KLEINMAN: Yes, that exists. 

MS. SEHAM: I don't mean just in court, but in the 

training of judges, I think some of these have to be used. 

DR.KLEINMAN: Absolutely. 

MS. SEHAM: I think judges need an awful lot of 

training. 

DR. KLEINMAN: And some judges shouldn't be, frankly, 

on the bench, because in my opinion I'm not sure you can train 

a good gut. You may be able to if someone is really open to 

it, really doesn't have a point of view, but if they already 

believe that these are vengeful creatures, these dangerous 

women here, I don't know that you' re going to be successful. 

But there was a study done by Harvard Law S~hool, done in the 

Boston juvenile court system, that found a 90 percent 

correlation between those children who showed up in the 

juvenile court system and those children coming from abusive 

families. 

The problem that happens is when I get into court and 

the judge says, "Why didn't this come up before?" And I'm 

already starting from scratch and saying, "I don't know, your 

Honor, the attorney--" I don't know. I can't criticize the 

attorney. And I say, "Well, battered women don't always--" 

"Well, what do you mean she--" So the whole thing is lousy, 

but I think what I have been thinking about writing in my spare 

time is really a manual for judges, and if there's some 

funding-- What has to be is I could write for them the court 
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papers that abusive men write. I've seen them. I could write 

their own papers and I could tel 1 them-- I spoke with the 

Judicial College this past fall, and what I think we need to do 

is put out there how battered women present in the courtroom. 

What do they look like? They do look flaky. They sometimes 

say this and they sometimes say that. Because they could be 

trying battered women at the stage that they're coming into the 

system -- they're not coming in cool, calm, and collected -­

they are frightened, and they know how powerful and how able 

this guy is able to convince other people. And that gives him 

the power and when he can convince the court system--

So I think that they need training, they need to know 

how they present, they need to know something about their 

papers, they need to have their own cases presented back in 

their faces, the decisions they made with some follow up. I 

think they need all this and I think there perhaps needs to be 

something in the legislative -- in the findings, perhaps 

which makes these things normal so when someone finally points 

to it, they can take it seriously. They do not, even though I 

tell the lawyer-- I always say to the attorneys, "Point out 

that it says there's a correlation between child abuse--" "But 

not in this case," judges say, "Yeah, they're battered women, 

and yeah but she's not one, and just because he hit her doesn't 

mean he's a bad father, does it?" And I want to-- I'm not 

sure what I want to do, but I know that it's very frustrating. 

I also know that I personally feel endangered with 

many of these men. And Lenore Walker, who you probably know, 

is the woman who worked with the battered women syndrome in 

State vs. Kelly was as the result of her testimony in the New 

Jersey court system-- She and I spoke a few years ago at a 

meeting and I said I can't stand them. I'm not doing them. I 

do the criminal cases because in my experience in the criminal 

cases in New Jersey, women who have killed in self defense in 
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all but one case -- she didn't kill, it was a little different 

-- they've been acquitted or given probation. So I feel very 

good about my work in the criminal system. And she said she 

stopped doing them when an attorney she was with was shot by an 

abusive guy and paralyzed. And I often fear; I don't want them 

near my office. I don't want to be the target and I don't 

think judges understand. We know the Mafia's dangerous; we put 

people in the Witness Protection Plan. But they don't 

understand we're dealing with often this kind of a mentality in 

a three-piece suit, and he's a doctor, or a lawyer, or a 

legislator, or store clerk, or judge. He's many judges. So I 

have a lot of frustrations and I was trying to put them into 

suggestions. I don't know how viable they are. You have to 

determine that. 

MS. SEHAM: I think your manual is a good idea. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: For the judges. 

DR. KLEINMAN: Yes, well I'm trying to see if we can 

get some funding together so that I could take the time to 

write, because I think that's what has to happen. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: I would like to ask another of the 

panel-- Bobbi? 

MS. FRANCIS: Well I just-- I wanted to ask again, 

this is opening up a whole huge issue and I don't look for an 

in-depth answer, but my sense is if you start doing 

psychological profiles and putting some findings together and 

that sort of thing, wouldn't -- this sounds 1 ike a leading 

question, but don't you believe we would be beginning to get at 

the bigger issue of just violence in our society, that a lot of 

the answers that might be uncovered as we do 

spouse abuse or family violence--

DR. KLEINMAN: In terms of rape and--

MS. FRANCIS: In terms of-- I 

that for people who think 

this relative to 

guess what 

they may not 

I'm 

be picturing is 

particularly interested in domestic violence or the violence 
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against women issue, but are in interested in crime prevention 

and a violent society kind of challenge, we hold a piece of the 

answer, don't you believe, and if we started looking more 

closely at these profiles we might be able to address that 

bigger violent society issue? 

DR. KLEINMAN: Well, I think that, yes. Because I 

think that raising children in violent homes raises more 

violent people and I think as complicated and simple as that 

is, I would ask the question that I always ask when no one's 

listening and that is: How come when I go into the criminal 

court system I'm treated respectfully by the judges, they take 

it seriously, they understand it, and the very principle that 

they base their decisions on is somehow missing in the family 

court system. And that is, and psychologists know this better 

than anything else -- it's a thing we can bank on -- past 

behavior is the best predictor of future behavior. Criminal 

courts know you' re getting probation or you' re going to j ai I 

this time. Have you done this before? The sentence is 

different. How come it doesn't happen in Family Court? 

I would tell you that I think judges identify with the 

men, they identify with fathers. I have seen male attorneys in 

custody cases where I had an attorney who was identifying with 

the adversary. I mean I was-- I kept saying to him, "You' re 

not an abuser. Don't worry. What I'm saying doesn't 

pertain--" So I could get him detached, so he could do the 

job. So the answer is yes. But I would wonder whether perhaps 

custody cases should be jury trials. Perhaps they should be 

juries because I think that perhaps the public would be a lot 

more sympathetic and understand because they have these 

experiences with neighbors, with friends. I always wonder, 

"Don't judges watch TV?" Watch Hard Copy. Watch the news. 

Don't they see it happens? They only think it happens on TV 

land? I mean, I'm always-- I see this and I say, "Oh God, 

he'll probably have watched this. He'll understand it." And 
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they don't, because there is this-- You know, one of the 

things that I've said laughingly and perhaps I should raise it 

here as a serious suggestion, there should be a uniform for men 

and women coming into custody decisions because as soon as a 

man puts on a three-piece suit or a suit, he's respectable. 

There is no such outfit for women, you know? Because then it 

depends on what color, whether it's too tight, too short, too 

long, too masculine, too feminine, too sexy, too this. Men 

don't have that problem and if we came in perhaps because I 

think judges believe that an abuser they would know one. 

He'd have three horns, six arms, you know, warts right here. 

They would know. And when he comes in and he says, "Oh, Your 

Honor--" And he wears his-- It's not even a polyester suit. 

He wears a suit and the judges can't deal with the 

contradiction between the way he presents and who he really 

is. And they wonder how the women get fooled. 

MS. FRANCIS: Could I just ask if the Harvard or the 

Boston study, was it Harvard Medical School, you said did that? 

DR. KLEINMAN: It was Harvard Law School. 

MS. FRANCIS: Oh, okay. Is that provided or could you 

provide that for us? 

DR. KLEINMAN: I wi 11 see if I could get you the 

reference. I'd be happy to try. 

MS. FRANCIS: Okay, very good. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Bobbi, the Division on Women, I know 

you have been encouraging training and identifying and 

identification and all that. Did you ever train judges? 

MS. FRANCIS: Well, we at the Division are involved in 

a big initiative the last few months of last year with people 

from the Administrative Office of the Courts and Coalition for 

Battered Women and a bunch of other groups in training court 
1 

personnel on the new law. But that was a very concentrated,'( 

gee, I forget, nine or so sessions around the State and in 

terms of ongoing training I know the Judicial College-- People 
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are looking at doing it, but it's not at all institutionalized 

as well as it should be. 

DR. KLEINMAN: But they don't get it. 

MS. FRANCIS: Is that the right answer for all 

concerned? 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Yes. 

DR. KLEINMAN: And I think perhaps they need the kind 

of training, when police are trained to be sensitized so they 

can feel what it feels like to someone else, judges need the 

same kind of training. They really need to get off the bench 

and perhaps they need to spend-- This is another idea. I 

forgot this as I was typing. Perhaps they need to spend some 

time in a battered woman's home before they, or experience with 

a battered woman, before they're allowed on the bench, as part 

of their training. They need to live with a family. Let them 

meet-- Well, I know. I said it's my wish list. It's my wish 

list. 

MS. SEHAM: It's not going to happen. 

DR. V'AN JONES : 

how they are. 

They' re so sophisticated. You know 

DR. KLEINMAN: They think they are. T~ey don't know. 

And women, too, it's not just male judges it's, unfortunately, 

women judges, too. I was on a panel with a variety of some 

women judges recently. I asked them if they' re tougher on 

women and they said, yes, they think that they probably are 

tougher, because women are still fighting for their own place 

-- to be taken seriously by their male colleagues -- and so 

they come down harder on women, too. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: I know that's true. 

DR. VAN JONES: There's a middle road. 

MS. FRANCIS: Well, I was just going to say, in the 
·i, 

new law-- Thank you, Senator Lipman, and everyone el set. It 

requires ongoing training and every two years, I think, a 

reevaluation of the curriculum for judicial training. So, I 

38 



think legislatively, if I'm not mistaken, we have what we need 

in place. 

DR. KLEINMAN: Two hours at a judicial college is not 

enough._ 

MS. FRANCIS: Well, no, what I'm saying is, the 

mechanism is there but we have to make sure, just as Jill 

Greenbaum was saying, laws can be on the books and to 

reiterate, they can be there but not enforced well. Perhaps 

what we need to look at is really implementing what's behind 

the new law. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Yes, we could. 

MS. SEHAM: One of the things that I think causes a 

problem, or it's part of the problem, is that family court is 

very low prestige and when you get a judge who gets good, that 

judge gets rotated out to a more prestigious assignment. 

DR. KLEINMAN: Right, that's what I've heard. 

MS. SEHAM: It's not highly thought of, and it's too 

bad because some judges are good at it. 

DR. KLEINMAN: It's the most important job. 

MS. SEHAM: Of course it is, and they should be 

rewarded rather than being considered at the pottom of the heap. 

DR. KLEINMAN: Absolutely, and if I told you some of 

the decisions that I've heard that have come down, it's mind 

boggling and I can't believe-- It seems to me someone with 

common sense-- You don't need to even have a law degree 

sometimes to understand this and--

MS. SEHAM: I don't think having a law degree helps at 

all. 

DR. KLEINMAN: No, I don't think it does. 

think it does. 

I don't 

DR. VAN JONES: A degree in psychology. That may not 

even help. 

DR. KLEINMAN: Well, not always every psychologist 

either. I think you have to have some experience with living, 
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seeing what this is really about. I think sometimes you need 

to have special training, psychologists who are interested, who 

care, who are trained, but then you have to also have some life 

experience, perhaps be in the trenches in some capacity 

Thank you very much. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you. Thank you, Dr. Kleinman. 

Ms. Vicki Gaudreau, and is Ms. Bonnie Garner coming 

with you? (affirmative response) Very good. 

DR. B 0 N N I E G A R N E R: I just wanted to say, 

speaking of being in the trenches, having been in the 

trenches-- Both of us are survivors of incest and child sexual 

abuse, and we' re here today to raise some issues to hopefully 

clarify some of the needs that women and children have in order 

to be protected, and to protect the other people in our culture. 

VI CK I GAUDREAU: I'm Vicki Gaudreau and I'm going 

to briefly discuss two issues, and I use the pronoun she, but, 

I do want to say that sexual abuse happens to boys, too. 

I was physically and sexually abused and raped as a 

child. I have a list of between 18 and 25 perpetrators -­

dependent upon my state of denial -- who violated me between 

the ages of 7 and 17. One of my perpetrators .was my father, 

two were police officers. It's not uncommon for a child who 

has been molested to have multiple perpetrators. Offenders 

seem to have a kind of radar for children who are vulnerable to 

victimization. 

I grew up believing there was nothing I could do about 

this because I though everyone knew it was happening and that 

maybe it was my fault because sometimes it even f e 1 t good. 

When I was 10 years old, one perpetrator said, "I won't do 

anything you don't want me to do. Doesn't it feel good." I 

was 10 years old. He was kind and gentle and I was starved for 

love and affection. Of course it felt good. No matter what 

age, it's a body's natural response to feel pleasure when 

stroked or touched in a gentle way. If a child strips naked, 

it's an adult's responsibility not to touch that child. 
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As far as I knew, there was no help available because 

there was no choice -- this is what adults do to children, at 

least to me. I was taught that I had no rights. If an adult 

wanted to do something with me or to me, I had to allow it. 

What I would have given to have had someone stand up 

at an assembly or in a class during Junior High or High School 

and say, "I'm a survivor of sexual abuse. If it's happening to 

you, you're not alone and it's not your fault. It's not 

supposed to happen. There is help available." 

PARENTS UNITED statistics show that at least one in 

four girls and one in five boys are sexually molested by the 

time they reach age 18. I and other concerned professionals 

have begun presenting an educational and preventative forum at 

high schools and colleges in Monmouth County. The response has 

been tremendous. We believe funding needs to be made available 

so that a f orurn of this nature can be presented at schools 

throughout the state. Children need to know that they have a 

right to tell and to stop any abuse that may happen and the 

resources that are available if they are being molested. 

I don't know if I can convey to you the damage that is 

done when a child is violated by someone they trust and love. 

Her ability to trust and to have healthy relationships is 

affected. Most often, there is little or no self-esteem, 

resulting in continued victimization. Sometimes the pain is so 

excruciating that survivors inflict physical pain upon 

themselves because it's easier to feel than the emotional 

anguish. 

As a survivor now aware of how having been sexually 

molested has affected my life, I have no recourse for criminal 

or civil sanctions against those who have committed these 

horrendous crimes. I spend thousands of dollars a year for 

therapy and because of the statute of limitations, I can 

receive no compensation from those who are guilty of violating 

me. Even with delayed discovery, it is not realistic to expect 

someone who has been sexually abused as a child to have the 
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ability to seek recourse until they have undergone therapy -­

usually several years. I was in therapy for three years before 

I was aware of the ramifications the abuse had had on me, and 

was strong enough to confront my abusers. There is no statute 

of limitations for murder, and sexual abuse is the murder of a 

child's soul. 

Sexual abuse is conducted and thrives in secrecy which 

results in a child being engulfed in a tremendous sense of 

aloneness and isolation from the rest of humanity, isolation 

which continues until the survivor is emotionally safe enough 

to deal with the reality and most often overwhelming emotions 

of her childhood. There are survivors in their SO's, 60's, 

70 's, even 80 's, just getting in touch with what happened to 

them as children. Some never do. Some commit suicide or end 

up in mental hospitals. The horrifying effects of sexual abuse 

are all around us. All we have to do is open our eyes. 

The sexual abuse of children is a difficult topic to 

discuss. Who wants to think of a child having her innocence 

and dignity stripped away. But it must be discussed and more 

needs to be done to prevent it. If we can give our children 

the opportunity to be aware of their rights al}d empower them 

with the needed resources, and make those who perpetuate these 

crimes responsible for the damage they have done, maybe we can 

at least lower the statistics. 

Thank you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you. 

Okay, go ahead. 

DR. GARNER: My name is Bonnie Garner. I've had the 

opportunity to work with about 500 sui;vivors of incest and 

sexual abuse through my private practice and also in volunteer 

work, as wel 1 as go through and very long arduous process of 

recovery myself. 

One of the concerns that rel?eatedly comes up between 

my clients and I that we share over and over again is, due to 

42 



the fact that the memory comes back so late it is so traumatic, 

it is so scary that the kinds of triggers are often that a 

woman has her own child or a man has a child that's around the 

same age, so it can take 10, 15, 20 years, as Vicki was saying, 

sometimes 30. Due to that fact, the perpetrators are-­

They' re not held accountable for this crime, but there's also 

no way to find out if they hurt other children, and we know 

statistically that they have. We know that it's very rare that 

someone sexually abuses one time one child. And as Vicki was 

saying, too, it's more common for children to have more than 

one perpetrator. I also am the victim of more than one 

perpetrator. And there's no profile for the child. I was the 

homecoming queen, you know, I was the cheerleader, homecoming 

queen, happy looking kid, straight A student, and being 

sexually abused for 10 years. So there just-- The crime is so 

vicious, it is so-- When the psychologist before said how you 

can threaten someone with your hand and you don't have to hit 

them, the nature of this kind of abuse forces someone to either 

split or separate or repress the memory in order to survive. 

And those that aren't able to do that are often the ones that 

we meet later on who are alcoholic or a drug addict or in some 

way acting out hurting themselves or hurting others and then if 

they're fortunate to get sober and get clean, then they have to 

deal with these kinds of memories that begin to surface. 

So, I really would hope that we could find some way to 

insure some safety that somebody -- not to have· a statute of 

limitations would be able to go back and explore the 

perpetrator and to be able to investigate what other 

possibilities there are, whether or not they've hurt other 

children. If for anything-- I think it's important to have 

civil suits; therapy costs thousands and thousands of dollars. 

I could own another house if I hadn't had this to deal with, 

but also for the peace_ of mind, the peace of mind of the 

person. You know, most of my clients over a period of time are 
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able to go back to their perpetrator, and not everyone chooses 

to do that. I don't think it's the responsibility of the 

victim, actually. I wish there was a system that they could 

report to and it could be investigated, again, for the safety 

of the other children, for the grandchildren, for the nieces 

and nephews, for the children in the neighborhood who this 

person has access to. 

I also think it would be so helpful if a judge did 

have available to him, or her, someone who was a specialist in 

this field, who didn't interview the people; didn't interview 

the mother or father. When the allegations come out in 

divorce, as stated before, there's a real tendency to assume 

that this is a vicious, vindictive thing that's being said to 

insure the custody of the children, and to hurt the husband, 

and blah, blah, blah. Usually it's when the child begins to 

feel safe enough, the thought that maybe the perpetrator is not 

going to be around gives them an opportunity -- it's a little 

opening, and they will sometimes then tell, where before they 

never would. So I think it would be helpful if there was 

someone who sat next to the judge, someone who had facts and 

information and who wasn't involved with the 12eople, because 

there is a great deal of con-- The person who would batter a 

wife has a similar-- And the person who would sexually abuse a 

child-- It's both done in secrecy. So the capacity to keep a 

secret like that creates a great ability to be a con and child 

abusers are cons also. 

And child abusers are men and women. This is not an 

issue of gender. Unfortunately it isn't. It would be a little 

bit easier if we could say everybody with, you know, blue hair, 

well we know what you are. It's not that easy. We're finding 

out more and more that there are many, many women who sexually 

abuse as well as there are many, many men and it happens pretty 

much now equally between boys and girls. 
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There was another-- I like that wish list. I wish, I 

wish, I wish the children could be safe, and that there was 

more information in the colleges -- the judicial college -- and 

that there would be groups of people like Vicki and myself, and 

men and women -- and that they would be equal men and women -­

going into the college and spending a half of a day or a day 

with future judges, and letting them talk about what it was 

like because, while there's similarities, each story has a 

uniqueness about it that if they were exposed to it, I believe, 

over and over again, it might break that fog -- whatever that 

fog is that people get so scared when they hear about incest or 

sexual abuse, or they don't want to really believe that it 

happened. They don't want to believe it happens in nice homes, 

and it does. It happens everywhere. 

MS. GAUDREAU: Through the forums that we've been 

presenting at the high schools and colleges, we've gotten a lot 

of real positive response as far as wanting to continue, 

repeating the forum, and we get a lot of kids that come up and 

say, "It's happened to me. What can I do." It's a lot easier 

for a child or a young adult to identify with somebody who 

says, "It happened to me. You' re not the only one and there's 

resources available," than for some authority figure to come up 

and say, "Well, you know, sexual abuse does happen. Here's 

where you can go." 

DR. VAN JONES : What happens to that child when the 

child does tell you in a situation like that -- in a school 

setting and afraid to return home after talking to you that 

this has happened to them? What do they do? 

MS. GAUDREAU: We've been not going into elementary 

schools, but into high schools and colleges, and what we do is 

set up the safe room so they can speak to somebody anonymously 

or not anonymously, in private, and then referrals are made. 

DR. GARNER: And that is the problem, the system, that 

once somebody-- My big bugaboo is I've watched and worked with 
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families where the children were able to finally come forward 

and say this was happening, whether they said it at the school, 

it was reported. The State stepped in to protect the children 

and the husband got sent to jail. And it's not a happy ending; 

the mother then lost the house. It's not a happy ending. I 

don't know, I really don't know what an alternative is but 

certainly if someone is a perpetrator, that they earn money to 

help pay for the care of these children as they grow up, and 

their therapy. Because sitting in jail for four or five years 

is a reprieve and they go back out on the streets, as you all 

know, I mean, we all know that. One person can do tremendous 

harm and it costs us; it costs our culture tremendously. We 

pay and pay and pay. 

MS. FRANCIS: I have two different questions. One 

would be with relationship to the law right now, Senator 

Cafiero and others have a bill in that would allow the clock to 

start ticking is it two years after a reasonable 

discovery of, you know--

MS. GAUDREAU: I think it's two years. It's still 

somewhat limited but it's better--

MS. FRANCIS: That's what I was going_ to ask. 

your comments both of you would favor no limitation on-­

MS. GAUDREAU: That would be--

DR. GARNER: The ideal. 

From 

MS. GAUDREAU: --the ideal situation. I read through 

the bill that has been presented and while it's better than 

what's available now, it's very limiting. 

DR. GARNER: Also, the State of Virginia had one year 

which if anyone was sexually abused in that state, they could 

bring this to trial. Criminal--

DR. VAN JONES: No matter how long ago the incident 

occurred. Like turning in all your guns and--

DR. GARNER: A little bit like that. 
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MS. FRANCIS: And yet that's arbitrary. Why would it 

be only one year? Why, for someone who, on the 366th day--

DR. GARNER: It was a start, though, in the change of 

the law. 

MS. FRANCIS: Right. Yes, certainly. 

My other quest ion goes to what you had said about 

fairly equal numbers of both victims and perpetrators of either 

sex. Is that what you said? 

DR. GARNER: There's more and more awareness of-- We 

say there's fairly equal numbers of perpetrators being men and 

women, now. Although my own experience is that we probably 

will discover in the next 10 or 20 years that this is not a 

gender issue. It's an abuse of power and women abuse power as 

much as men abuse power, and that's what it has to do with. 

MS. FRANCIS: Well I wanted to ask if anybody's looked 

one step behind that to look for abuse of those perpetrators 

when they were children? And do you know if, perhaps, both 

those adult men and women had been equally victims of abuse 

when they were young, or do you believe that we might find -­

I'm not presuming a conclusion here -- perhaps many of the 

women perpetrators had undergone abuse? Oy; perhaps it would 

come out fairly neutral in terms of gender. 

DR. GARNER: Well, so far what the studies do indicate 

is that most who are sexually abusing children have been 

sexually abused themselves. But there are many people that 

I've worked with in my practice that were sexually abused, who 

don't sexually abuse children. So I think we need to be 

careful with that one and certainly we can see where it 

strongly influences someone who doesn't get recovery. But 

there are many, many people who are abused who do not do this. 

MS. FRANCIS: I guess I wasn't looking for the 

correlation if you were abused you might more likely abuse, but 

whether there was some differential in male and female 

perpetrators having been abused as children. In other words, 
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perhaps more of the women perpetrators might have been victims 

of abuse. 

DR. GARNER: No, because most.of the men were. So, no. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: If you had no limitation on when you 

could report, would you be afraid to report your perpetrators 

now? 

DR. GARNER: Some people would be. 

MS. GAUDREAU: Some people would. 

DR. GARNER: Yes, it's not the best solution either, 

but it allows the opportunity-- Yes, some people would be very 

afraid for a number of reasons and that's when Vicki said that-­

SENATOR LIPMAN: Just like the battered women. 

DR. GARNER: Right. That's when Vicki said, too, that 

the whole notion of someone having some amount of time in 

recovery and healing is important. 

MS. GAUDREAU: A real difficult aspect of it, even if 

the ability to report it is there, is the fact that it happens 

in secrecy. 

I initiated an investigation with the sheriff's 

department of the two officers who molested me and they wanted 

to know if I had any proof. I was 15 years old .. 

DR. GARNER: The burden of proof is a difficult one 

and it's a he said/she said often, and that's what you would 

find when people get all their-- Except that you might be able 

to have lot more situations like in Colorado where the sisters 

all were able to tell the same story. They all got into 

therapy and recovery, and they were able to try the case as a 

result of that. 

In my particular case, a couple of my perpetrators are 

dead, but at the time I recalled, I did write to one of them 

and it was terrifying. I had a friend deliver the letter; I 

was afraid to put it in the mail. And this was a man who now 

is probably 78, 80 years old and had a heart attack. What was 

there to be scared of? And I wanted a friend of mine who was a 

48 



fourth-degree black belt in karate to come with me. First I 

thought I was going to confront him in person and I said, well 

actually, this is to make sure that I don't commit any crime 

when I talk to this guy. (laughter) So nobody could stop me-­

But it brings up the same terror that you felt as a child. 

That's what gets activated. 

MS . GAUDREAU : When I contacted the sheriff's 

department it's in another state -- I got a post off ice 

box. I had my phone number unlisted. I contacted the postal 

inspector -- the post master -- and said, "Look, if a police 

officer contacts you, can you guarantee me that my home address 

won't be released?" "Well, I don't know." I said, "This is 

why. " And they did; they put a note on my post off ice box. 

And it was because of my fear of the power that that man had. 

He's a police officer and now he's head of internal affairs. 

It's scary. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Oh, my goodness. 

DR. GARNER: It is scary. The other thing I'd like to 

add, too, is that if you can get a sense by hearing it and by 

feeling it with us, how scary it is as adults to report, it's 

so much more so for children to report. And·I think the judges 

need to know this, the trauma, and to be allowed to have the 

video tapes go in the court room and to make it as gentle and 

as easy as possible for the child because it's an enormous 

amount of power. This person literally has power over your 

body and over your mind. They tel 1 you how to think. They 

tel 1 you this doesn't hurt. They tel 1 you there's nothing 

wrong with it. And they tel 1 you not to tel 1. And it's an 

enormous amount of power. 

MS. FRANCIS: May I ask, in psychological theory we've 

really laid to rest Freud's thought that this is all fantasy? 

DR. GARNER: Freud was a fraud. (laughter) 

MS. FRANCIS: But I mean it's generally accepted not 

only by feminists purists, but by the community in general. 
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DR. GARNER: Yes. Well, more and more it's 

becoming-- Except that there was a publication that talked 

about-- There's a book written that addresses that whole 

issue, that when he first put this forward, that it in fact 

happened, he received a lot of problems. People didn't like 

it, as you know, and then he changed his tune. But, 

unfortunately, there's some institutions that don't really 

believe that. I met a candidate at the Institute for 

Self-Psychology it's an analytic school -- and fortunately 

they do believe that sexual abuse occurs but we get a lot of 

contact with other professors and there's still a hesitancy 

around it. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you very much. 

DR. GARNER: Thanks. Thanks for listening. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Ms. Sandy Clark, New Jersey Coalition 

for Battered Woman, Domestic Violence. 

S AND Y C LARK: Melanie's distributing my testimony and 

you can feel free to refer to it while I'm speaking. 

(laughter) I was never a teacher. 

MS. FRANCIS: That's not right, Sandy. We learn a lot 

from you. 

MS. CLARK: On the first page of the testimony I've 

summarized the specific recommendations that I've made. I 

would first, however, like to underscore the remarks of Marsha 

Kleinman, earlier, particularly with the issue of women -- who 

are battered women usually -- who are alleging child sexual in 

civil court cases. The situation is absolutely horrendous. If 

they do that they' re taking a very big chance of possibly 

losing custody themselves, and in some cases, losing the right 

to unsupervised visitation. 

I believe Joan Pennington will be testifying? And I 

think she'll be more extensively addressing this specific area, 

so I chose not to talk about it a whole lot, today. And I 

think she'll have very specific legislative recommendations. 
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This is an area that we really haven't gotten into 

legislatively in the way that we might, and that there are many 

things that could be done. 

I have limited my testimony to five specific areas 

where I think there are some legislative initiatives that could 

be taken. So, I'm going to read at you for a little while. 

As you know, last year the New Jersey Legislature 

passed a revised and improved version of the Prevention of 

Domestic Violence Act. The Coalition concurs with those who 

consider the Act the strongest, most comprehensive Domestic 

Violence Law in the country. For this, New Jersey can be very 

proud. Essentially the new law does not so much change the 

original law as it adds new provisions to the Act designed to 

address those response areas which were f ai 1 ing to provide 

maximum protection and relief available to victims. 

Consequently, the revised law is demanding more from those of 

us whose work involves protection of victims. Since no 

appropriation was attached to the law, there are no additional 

resources to assist with the implementation of the new 

provisions. 

Obviously, this is not an ideal ?Cenario. Already 

only four months into the new law, we are hearing discontent 

about the situations, primarily from the courts and, probably 

less so, from law enforcement. Probably the most important 

concern the Coalition wants to express to the Commission 

regarding the Act, is our concern that the Legislature might 

consider diluting the law, and thereby compromising protection 

to victims, due to a premature assessment of the situation 

and/or an unwillingness to provide the necessary resource.s 

First, we would like to point out that the original 

Act we also passed without an appropriation and posed a strain 

on the system of a far greater magnitude than the revised Act. 

It took some time, but eventually the new law was learned and 

incorporated into the system with as much efficiency as 
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possible. In many cases 

challenge the law posed. 

resources were found to meet the 

Much of what some courts and pol ice 

are experiencing today will settle with time. To assess the 

situation at this early stage is far too premature. 

Second, we would point out that the passage of the new 

Act coincided with the issuance by the Supreme Court and the 

Attorney General's Off ice of the Domestic Violence Procedures 

Manual. The Manual is an excellent document which reflects a 

corrunitment to the proper implementation of both the old and new 

provisions of the law. It also is an attempt to achieve 

uniformity of implementation across the State. There is no 

question that the Procedures Manual entails some additional 

work for some counties and is doubtless the source of some of 

the current discontent. However, diluting the new provisions 

of the law will not serve to significantly reduce the impact of 

the standards set by the Manual. 

Finally, we stress that domestic violence is far too 

important and issue to deny additional resources needed to both 

protect victims and prevent the incidence of this violence. 

The Coalition urges the Corrunission to oppose any legislative 

effort to di lute the Act and to support efforts to increase 

resources for implementing the law. 

Although the Coalition thinks it best to refrain from 

any further amendments to the Prevention of Domestic Violence 

Act at this time, I have been asked to address areas which 

might have been overlooked when the revised law was drafted, or 

new areas which have developed since that time. 

Do you mind if I stop reading and start talking? 

SENATOR LIPMAN: No. We like that. 

MS. CLARK: First of all, if we were to redo the Act, 

there are two things that I think that we could have added that 

we didn't add because, perhaps, we thought the situation was 

under control. First is that we would prohibit the use of 

mediation in court actions whenever domestic violence is 
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involved. The Supreme Court has by and large prohibited 

mediation of domestic violence cases, however, there's 

currently a recommendation which would allow and even encourage 

mediation of custody and visitation cases where domestic 

violence, child sexual abuse and child physical abuse are 

involved. We're very concerned about this. We don't know how 

far it will go. So we will feel a lot more comfortable if the 

law just said, no mediation of domestic violence in any court 

case or no mediation where domestic violence is involved. 

The second thing that the law might have prohibited 

and does not at this point is the issuance of mutual 

restraints and that refers to the situation where an individual 

signs a complaint and when they leave the court they wind up 

with an order that not only restrains the batterer from 

themselves, but also restrains them from the batterer and 

places them in the same kind of jeopardy of having criminal 

sanctions placed against them should there be any contact 

between the two parties. 

Now recently the Supreme Court issued what amounts to 

directives which would prohibit mutual restraints unless both 

parties have signed complaints and both par~ies were found to 

have committed an act of domestic violence. However, because 

mutual restraints are just so popular very, very recently, it's 

another area I think it would be better if they were just 

prohibited in the law, period, because I think there will be 

some way where they'll have a comeback. 

The new provisions of the law extend who can be 

protected under the law and the biggest category there are 

former and current household members, including people of the 

same sex who are not related by blood. However, there's one 

area that we just weren't able to satisfactorily capture when 

the revisions of the law happened and that's the whole area of 

people who have never resided toge~her, who do not have a child 

in common and who are not married. You' re basically talking 

53 



about dating relationships and this is an area of concern 

because you have people who are very real victims of domestic 

violence who have never resided with the abuser, and they are 

not entitled under the law to the 24-hour civil protection that 

the law provides. And what happened is that when the many 

people who were involved with the new provisions of the law 

were talking about it, no one could come up with a way to 

define that kind of relationship that could be easily 

interpreted and verified, especially by law enforcement people 

trying to enforce the law. Because of that, it sort of 

remained out of the Act, but I think it's an area that we need 

to look at again and perhaps come up with some terminology that 

would be acceptable to the parties involved. 

I• 11 also just briefly mention the problem of teen 

violence. The law doesn't cover teen violence. It doesn't 

cover it first of all because it doesn't cover dating violence, 

secondly because the Act does not protect people under 18 years 

of age. Jeanie Brahm, I believe, will be here to testify about 

teen dating violence, therefore I· m not going to say too much 

more about that at this time. We think, however, that this is 

an important area to look at and perhaps an a-rea that needs 

some legislative efforts. 

Regarding new developments since the law passed, we're 

happy about a new bill, S-25-- I have 6 here. Is it 6 or 7? 

It's 6, S-256, and that is the stalking bi 11. That would 

create the new crime of stalking, and stalking is-- It would 

make it a crime of the fourth degree if a person purposely and 

repeatedly follows or harasses another person and makes a 

credible threat intended to place that person in reasonable 

fear of death or serious bodily harm. We think this is an 

excellent new crime. We think that is a crime which is 

directed primarily towards women and, therefore, is good in and 

of itself. And we would also not only like to see that passed 

into law as a crime, but eventually see it incorporated in the 
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Prevention of Domestic Violence Act as an act of domestic 

violence. That would be the next step. 

Okay, I'm going to shift gears and talk about New 

Jersey's interference with custody law. There were amendments 

to the interference with custody law that went into effect in 

November of 1990, and the major thing I suppose that the law 

did was it increased the penalty or the crime of interference 

of custody from a fourth degree crime to a third degree crime. 

If the children are taken out of the country, it would then be 

a second degree crime. We think this increase in the severity 

of the crime is appropriate, however, we have two very serious 

problems with some of the rest of the language and provisions 

of the law. 

First of all, another very significant thing that the 

new amendments did was that it equated interference with 

custody to interference with visitation. There's absolutely no 

distinction in the law between those two crimes. It doesn't 

define what interference with custody is or what interference 

with visitation is. 

Subsequently, I have the following horrible story to 

tell you. In this situation there was a battered woman and she 

agreed to change the scheduled visitation at the request of the 

noncustodial parent. I think it was scheduled for Wednesday 

and he asked if he could have the children over the weekend, 

and she agreed. So, when the Wednesday came along and the kids 

did not appear -- or whatever they' re supposed to do -- for a 

visit, he signed an interference with custody charge against 

her because it was interference with visitation. She was 

charged with that crime. Bail was set at $10,000. She didn't 

have the 10 percent to get out of jail. She spent 10 weeks in 

jail before she got out. She lost her apartment. She lost her 
~ t 

job and she lost custody while she was in jail. And this was 

because of one missed visit. Now, I know this is an extreme 

situation, and I can hardly believe, myself, that it happened; 
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but it did happen. I think one of the reasons why it happened 

is because the law does not define what interference with 

visitation is, but it's certainly nothing like interference 

with custody. It just shouldn't exist that one missed visit 

could equate into a third degree crime. 

The second problem we have with interference law is 

that although it does provide an affirmative defense if a 

parent is fleeing an abusive situation either for the 

protection of themselves or for the protection of the children 

that affirmative defense is contingent upon her or him 

notifying specified agencies or initiating a custody action. 

We don't believe that that's quite good enough because the 

person who's fleeing in that kind of crisis situation, the 

average person is not going to be aware of the fact that if 

they don't take these certain steps they are, technically, 

relinquishing their affirmative defense in this situation. So 

we believe that this particular affirmative defense should be 

based solely on the fact that the individual was abused and 

that that's something that will need to be shown in court and 

not upon these specific contingencies. So those are two 

reconunendations we have for amending the int~rference with 

custody law. 

I've mentioned our concern with child sexual abuse and 

protective parents. And we believe that we have an incredibly 

far way to go in terms of correcting this situation, in our 

courts in the civil actions. We are aware of dozens of 

situations where women who have made these allegations have, 

indeed, lost custody of the children based on nothing else 

except that they made the allegations, and we really need to do 

something about this. But I'll let Joan talk to you more about 

that. 

' The next areat I want to mention is domestic violence 

resource centers. There's currently some draft legislation 

which isn't quite complete which would create a pi lot project 
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which would establish three county domestic violence resource 

centers in the State. The centers would be responsible for 

assessing court-referred persons found to have committed an act 

of domestic violence. It would assess the nature and severity 

of the violence and screen for substance abuse, mental health 

problems and other factors which act to exasperate the 

violence. They would submit recommendations to the court 

regarding an individualized intervention plan for people who 

batter. If a person is court-ordered to participate in the 

intervention plan then the centers would be responsible for 

monitoring the attendance of that person and submitting 

progress reports to the courts. They would also reach out to 

victims to insure that the victims are aware of available 

services. 

The legislation includes a $750, 000 appropriation for 

start-up costs. The only thing holding back introduction of 

this legislation and I tnink I mentioned there's a copy of 

it in your packet is that we have not yet located a 

governmental agency that has expressed willingness to oversee 

this project. I wish Bobbi were here because we have spoken to 

her about it and really have not yet received.a reply. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: She'll be back. 

MS. CLARK: I want to add that this concept -- and if 

you have questions, let me know because I didn't go into al 1 

the details-- The concept for this and the legislation itself 

was developed jointly by representatives of the Coalition, the 

Network for the Treatment of Spouse Abusers, and the Division 

of Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and Addiction Services. 

The Coalition for Battered Women has expressed some 

concerns regarding the centers. They revolve around the fact 

that: 1) no one has shown that this type of intervention -­

violence intervention treatment for individuals who batter --

is effective for reducing the violence. 

concern. 
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The second concern is that al though the centers are 

planned to become self-sufficient the Coalition has some 

concerns they wi 11 not be and that they eventually would be 

competing for very scarce domestic violence resources. 

However, my Coalition supports the idea of this pilot project, 

a start-up appropriation, and give it a try. Because we' re 

putting-- We could use many, many resources just for dealing 

with battered women and their needs, but we do believe that we 

need to start paying -- in addition to criminal sanctions 

some more attention to working with individuals who batter. 

Regarding funding of battered women services, there 

has not been an increase in State appropriation for expansion 

of domestic violence services since 1986 and right now, the 

State's share-- Right now there's $6.6 million of governmental 

moneys going for battered women services, of this, the State's 

share is $2.6 million. We estimate that we need $15 million to 

provide just a basic standard of priority domestic violence 

services in every county. The programs have been able to come 

up with significant amounts of private sector money, however, 

that money tends to be nonrecurring money; it's not stable 

money. People from the programs have to eve~y year, every 

month, continue to go after ~hat money, draining resources from 

the programs just to survive. We need $15 million. We get 

$2.6 from the State, $4 million from federal programs, some of 

which are not stable programs either -- will not be recurring 

programs. 

That leads me into the infamous marriage license fee 

bill which we've been trying to get passed for at least five 

years now; we've gone through two whole sessions of the 

Legislature. What happens is that if you purchase a marriage 

1 icense today -- if you' re not familiar with this -- you wi 11 

pay $8. Five of those dollars will go into a State fund or 

into the State treasury and then be distributed for domestic 

violence services in the State. What the amendment to that 
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bill would do would be to raise that $5 surcharge to $25 

surcharge. Now this is not unreasonable. Not only is the $25 

fee for a license -- think about other licenses -- incredibly 

reasonable in terms of the surcharge itself it's also 

reasonable. Right now, 25 other states have surcharges for 

domestic violence attached to the marriage license. They range 

from $5 to $33 with an average of $16, and New Jersey has the 

very lowest one in the country. Most of them started out low 

and then were amended and increased. 

If we could get this passed -- and Senator Caf iero is 

sponsoring it in the Senate and as March 16 Assemblyman 

Lance is sponsoring it in the Assembly. We would generate an 

additional $1.2 million for domestic violence services which is 

nearly half of what the State is providing right now. 

We encourage the Corrunission. We know the Corrunission's 

force is felt. We encourage you not only to continue your 

support but to really push, to make it a priority because as 

each year goes by, programs are more desperate for an increase 

in stable funding. 

Finally, I just want to mention the federal Violence 

Against Women Act which you're probably familiar with. Senator 

Joseph Biden from Delaware and House Representative Barbara 

Boxer from California are sponsoring this Act in their 

respective Houses of Congress. This is a very comprehensive 

piece of legislation that deals with areas of domestic 

violence, sexual assault and sexual harassment. It's awaiting 

a vote in the Senate right now, so the Senate version looks 

pretty good. The House version, however, is just beginning a 

journey through five House cornrni t tees and in some of those 

corruni ttees and subcorruni ttees. Right now, nearly half of the 

Representatives in this country are cosponsoring that bill, but 

we're being told that there needs to be more cosponsors on the 

House version to insure that it's going to move. 
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So, what New Jersey can do is to reintroduce-­

Senator Lipman had introduced last year, a resolution that 

would urge Congress by the New Jersey Legislature to prioritize 

the Act and to pass it in Congress. So I think that would 

really help if we had that resolution pass, if we send it to 

remaining Representatives that are not sponsoring it. I think 

that would be at least a help. 

So we would recommend, Senator Lipman, that you 

reintroduce that and maybe we can also find an assembly person 

willing to do it in the Assembly. 

So, those are the areas we chose to cover today. I 

want to thank you for providing this hearing. Do you have any 

questions? 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Yes. Would you tel 1 Bobbi what you 

wanted to a little while ago, while she was out? 

MS. FRANCIS: I'm sorry. 

MS. CLARK: That's okay. Bobbi, I spoke about the 

domestic violence resource centers and the draft legislation 

which we have provided. And I mentioned that the reason why we 

haven't been able to introduce it at this point is because we 

have not yet located a governmental agency that. has said that 

they'd be willing to oversee the project. So, that's what 

Senator Lipman is referring to. I did also mention that we 

spoke with you about it. 

MS. FRANCIS: I was going to say we had some 

discussion about this and obviously think the premise is 

excel lent. It also obviously hooks into the need for more 

resources to underwrite this and other components of the 

issue. But I think that just as our topic at these hearings is 

violence against women, as you know, and others know, we've 

talked about broadening the Division's mission in whatever 

we're doing, to be not only domestic violence, but violence 

against women issues. If we could, under that premise -- or 

under that initiative get some more resources into the 
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Division, perhaps, then that might be grounds for moving ahead 

with that. I certainly would be very receptive to looking at 

this as a piece of what an enlarged mission for the Division's 

program might incorporate. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: And this will be a pilot program of 

three or do you intend to cover all counties? 

MS. CLARK: No, it would be a pilot program involving 

three counties -- only three counties. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Three counties only? And finally, do 

you intend to try to have one in each county? 

MS. CLARK: Well, if we found that this, indeed, 

worked; if it was a good idea and if it had good results in 

terms of increasing protection for battered women, and in terms 

of reducing the violence among violent individuals; and if we 

found that these centers could actually remain self-sufficient 

-- which is the hope, so that it wouldn't need to require large 

amounts of funding from other places -~ then I think people 

would be willing to say, "Yes, let's do this thing statewide." 

But that's going to need, you know, a little bit of time to set 

up and do, and just see how it goes. 

DR. VAN JONES: There are other domestic violence 

resource centers in the United States. Did you mention a 

couple of others in other States? 

MS. CLARK: No, I didn't mention that, but this 

concept was built on a few other programs that are happening in 

other places in the country. They may not be exactly like this 

one but the principle is the same. One of them actually is in 

Duluth, Minnesota -- that's where Duluth is, right? -- which 

is much more manageable because you' re just talking about a 

city and I think there are other cities that have this kind of 

program. I don't know if another state has it. 

DR. VAN JONES: How are they funded? How are they 

funded in the city? 
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MS. CLARK: Frankly, I don't know, or I don't remember 

offhand, but the idea is really to get the people who are court 

referred to be carrying the cost of the programs. So, if they 

were referred to it there would be an initial fee for the 

evaluation and assessment. Then, if they were ordered into a 

treatment program, they would also be responsible to pay for 

that treatment. So, the idea is to put the burden on the 

person who's perpetrating the violence, instead of on the 

victim or the government. 

MS. FRANCIS: It might have come out in what you said 

before, but it's modeled, in fact, on our alcohol--

MS. CLARK: That thought just entered my head, yes. 

We started working on this like five years ago; it's been so 

long. But yes, we somewhat borrowed from the IDRC model -­

Intoxicated Drivers Resource Center model -- and there is one 

in every county in the state, here. They attempt very hard to 

be self-sufficient in that the offender pays for that 

treatment, and they're making out pretty well in that area 

being self-sufficient. Not entirely, but--

MS. FRANCIS: The model is there, in other words, even 

if it's not on the domestic violence issue. The model is there 

with the Intoxicated--

I apologize that I wasn't here but I know that a 

number of these issues we have talked through and also, I 

corrunend you because as always the Coalition has pulled together 

a lot of really germane thoughts that I would hope we could put . 

into actions. So, thanks a lot. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you very much, Sandy. 

I think I have, is it Milon? Juanita Milon? Is she 

here? 

J U A N I T A LYNNE M I L 0 N: I wanted to speak to 

you, today, about the bill S-157 that addresses survivor's 

rights to sue. 

I'll give you a little, brief introduction about me, 

who I am. My name is Juanita Milon. I'm 31. I'm a married 
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mother of three boys. I have a B. A. degree in public heal th 

administration and I am applying for graduate admission into 

Rutgers for an M.S.W. concurrently and A.C.S.W. 

I currently have a civil case pending against my 

adopted father for sexually abusing me from the ages of four, 

until I was 22 years-old. 

I began therapy about a year-and-a-half ago. I have 

attended therapy twice a week for well over a year-and-a-half, 

both individually and in group. 

I guess, basically, what I want to say to you first of 

all, is I want to give you a little bit of statistical 

background, some that you may have; some that you may not 

have. Current statistics indicate that 38 percent of women and 

27 percent of men will be sexually abused before they reach the 

age of 18. Further, 2 percent to 6 percent of that abuse will 

be reported. I think that the next statistic is the one that I 

find the most important piece and that is that out of the 2 

percent to 6 percent that is actually reported, 26 percent is a 

purposeful disclosure and 74 percent is accidental. Which 

means that, when this happens to children, the tendency is not 

to report the abuse. Usually the abuse is tound out through, 

maybe, behavior in a classroom. They might slip and say 

something to another adult, and that's how the abuse is 

discovered. That has really nothing to do directly with this 

bill except that that also shows you what population is left -­

where the abuse is never addressed in terms of within their 

childhood. 

There are a lot of things that happen with the memory 

of what has happened to people who have been sexually abused. 

There is some discussion about how people are splitting and 

having multiple personalities. There's a great population in 

terms of mental illness. They might suffer from a variance of 

dysfunctions. 
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I was looking at a TV program the other night and they 

said that 90 percent of the prostitutes that they interviewed 

in a study disclosed that they were sexually abused within 

their childhood, and that's a very high number. I think that 

if you look into your AA's and your MA's you will find that 

there is a dramatic amount of that population that will also 

talk about sexual abuse as a child. 

The reason why I point all of this out is because I 

think that in terms of healing some of our societal problems if 

we look at the amount of people that are being sexually abused 

and what the ramifications are for these people when they 

attain adulthood, you look at the need for actually addressing 

it if it reaches adulthood without being addressed. And the 

last population of people who suffer from sexual abuse many 

times end up as your teenage suicides, your suicides that 

happen in the early 20's and 30's, because they can no longer 

sustain the lifestyle or what has happened to them as a result 

of the abuse. 

This bill recognizes repression as one of the coping 

behaviors that comes out of sexual abuse and I think that 

that's very important. And what the bill basically is saying 

to survivors is, "We understand that when abuse happens, it is 

likely that you can repress this memory. And when the memories 

come back to you, we are going to give you the same legal 

rights you had, had you kept the memory of what happened to 

you, sustained it throughout the years that you actually 

repressed it." 

As my case stands, we have sued under five or six 

other civil actions, and none of them directly say incest. I 

think that being able to sue people and say, "We' re suing you 

because this is what you did. You perpetrated the crime of 

incest" -- versus breaking fiduciary rights and all the other 

things they tend to sue under now would be a very important 

thing, especially in terms of the survivor. So, this still 

does address that. 

64 



The other thing that I think is important in this bill 

is that it has the rape shield clause. What the rape shield 

piece says is the behavior that you might have had prior to you 

suing your perpetrator has nothing to do in this legal action. 

You' 11 find that a lot like I said, 90 percent of the 

prostitutes that were sexually abused, this would not be able 

to be used against them. Any behavior that they had resulting 

from the abuse-- A lot of people who are survivors will 

discuss their promiscuity through therapy. They' 11 tell you 

that they had an amount of years where they were acting out 

sexually and it makes perfect sense in that at a very young age 

they were told that the only thing that they were useful for 

and the only reason that they had, so to speak, was their body 

and their sex. So using that acting out in that way is a very 

normal or natural thing to come out of abuse and I think it's 

important that this bi 11 says that that behavior wi 11 not be 

used against them. 

Many times when you watch a rape case, the woman 

becomes actually the person who was attacked and everything 

that she has done, the way or what she wears or whatever all, 

becomes an issue. This keeps that issue under control and I 

think that that's a very important piece of this bill. 

I think the other thing that is important in terms of 

this bill is that it speaks to the nonoffending parent, the 

person who might stay and acquiesce while the abuse is 

occurring. I think understanding the nonoffending parental 

role is a very hard thing to do because of the subtle nature of 

what that parent is doing. I don't know legally how they're 

going to address that and how they' re going to get to being 

able to say that, "Yes, in fact, this person acquiesced or knew 

that the abuse was going on and didn't do anything." I think 

that's going to be very difficult, however that the bill 

recognizes it is a step. People are starting to understand the 

very important issues that come about in terms of sexual 

abuse. 
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One of the things that I always take time to tell 

people is that I don't believe sexual abuse is a crime that is 

between a perpetrator and the victim. I think that incest 

could not exist in a healthy environment. I think if you had a 

functioning family, the incest could not exist, especially for 

an extensive amount of years. I look at it as a family 

dysfunction and it a very holistic view that I take of it, and 

I think the nonoffending parent has a piece of it and I think 

the other siblings in the house also, whether they know or 

don't know about the abuse, are part of the dysfunction in that 

whole family. And for the survivor to look back and say that, 

"Yes, I can address both the of fending parent and the 

nonoffending parent,•• is going to be important. 

The other thing that doesn't really stick out about 

that is that many times, if these people have remained married 

and you go to sue twenty years later, and they're still 

married, legally you cannot attach anything that is just of 

that offending parent which gives you very, very limited 

resources, if the house is in both names, if the car is in both 

names, if the bank accounts are in both names. That gives the 

survivor absolutely nothing to go after because Y.OU can't touch 

that nonoffending party. 

I know in my own case, it is exactly that. My parents 

are still married, everything that they own they own jointly. 

The only thing that I could legally attach is what my father 

brings in separately which is a social security check and a 

very limited pension. 

So I think that including that nonoffending parent is 

not only just recognizing their role in it but is also giving 

the survivor something to go after in terms seeking some kind 

of financial remedy. 

I also would like to speak to you about-- I know that 

since I made the dee is ion to sue I 've been asked many, many, 

many times, "Why do people sue their parents?" This is a basic 
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relationship; you don't sue your mother and father. It's just 

something that you don't do." And I oftentimes say to people 

that the suing process-- To make the decision to sue is not an 

easy decision to make but it recognizes for me what was wrong 

and who was wrong in it. People who have survived sexual abuse 

usually carry a lot of guilt. They carry the responsibility of 

what has happened. Many times the perpetrator has told them 

they were responsible for what happened. And being able to say 

to this person, "You were responsible. The law says that I can 

sue you because you did something wrong," is very important, 

especially therapeutically. 

The other thing that I often tell people is that in 

making this decision to sue, I have lost my entire support 

system as I have known it up until now. I have lost mother, 

father, cousins, aunts, uncles. People do not look at this and 

say, "Yes, she was the wounded person and she was the victim 

and we will support her." What often happens is that they stay 

right within the family realm, and the whole system turns 

against you. So not only are you recovering from something as 

dramatic as sexual abuse, you• re also recovering without the 

support system that you've known all of your. life. So people, 

I don't think, make this decision on a whim. 

I know when I spoke to one of the Senators about the 

bill one of the things that was said was, you know, what keeps 

the child 30 years from now from saying, "I don't like my 

parents. They made me mad. I think I• 11 sue them for sexual 

abuse." I don• t think that that is, in fact, going to be the 

case, as I have known it. I think that, as with any c i vi 1 

suit, you're going to have those who are going to take 

advantage of it, but I don't think that in this case, people 

are going to accuse their parents of sexual abuse to get back 

at them. 

I think that the other reason that you make in terms 

of the suing processes is that the average length of recovery 
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for a victim is five years; that's the average length. I don't 

think I'll ever come to a point in my life where I say I'm no 

longer a survivor. I think that I will always be a survivor of 

incest. The flashbacks get less. The depression is lessened 

over time, however I don't think there wi 11 be a point in my 

life that I'll look back at this and say, "Well, I don't have 

flashbacks anymore and I don't have memories anymore and this 

is all better for me." It doesn't heal and it doesn't go away, 

so you' re talking about something you' re going to sustain for 

the rest of your life. 

I often draw an analogy that helps people understand, 

and what I say to them is, "f you left this room today and you 

got into your car and you hit somebody with that car, that 

person will be able to take you to court and say, "Okay, now 

you must pay me for the damages that I've incurred, the lost 

wages, pain and suffering," so on and so forth. This is what 

the law gives us. This law is giving the person who is 

recovering from sexual abuse the same thing. It's giving them 

some attention in terms of their therapy bills. 

My therapy bill averages $65 a week. It has done that 

for a year-and-a-half. My family and I have had to incur this 

loss with me unable to work because of depression and many of 

the other things that I've suffered from. So, you're talking 

about an enormous therapeutic bill. You're talking about loss 

of wages as you would in a car accident. You're talking about 

pain and suffering to some extent. 

However, I don't think there' s enough money in the 

world to repay a person to look back on their childhood and see 

everything that they have missed. And that is exactly what an 

incest survivor must do. They did not play with dolls. They 

lost a lot of things that can never be regained. So I don't 

think there's a sufficient amount of money to give back to this 

person and say, "This will make you whole again." But I do 

think we can at least give them some opportunity to refocus and 
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regain some perspective in their life, to give them some 

therapeutic help. And I think that if you give these people 

the help that they would be asking for, what you're going to do 

is a couple of things: The first thing you're going to do is 

you· re going to give these people a chance to have a proper 

perspective in terms of their parenting rules, their 

relationships. You find many sexually abused children picking 

a physically abusive husband or a drunkard husband and 

reexperiencing that abuse again through their adulthood. If 

they were able to get some kind of therapeutic redress I think 

that those decisions would be different. 

I had a horrible time parenting my children. It was 

very, very hard for me. When you look at your four-year-old 

child and you start seeing the abuse that you sustained at 

four-years-old and not understanding that you' re pushing that 

child away, it's a very hard thing to work through and I think 

that there is some therapeutic redress for that. Once again, 

the financial piece would help that. 

I also think-- I also strongly believe that there is 

a repetition in terms of generations. What happened in my 

family was that my father sexually abused me.and then he turned 

around and sexually abused two of my children, so it does not 

stop. It goes on and it goes on and it goes on. And as one 

survivor per family stands up and stops this abuse what you 

will see is that now they can become health _aqd their children 

can become healthy and so on and so on. 

I think that the statistics that I• ve quoted to you 

are this large because of this regenerational process. I think 

that as each one of us stop the abuse in our own family and get 

the kind of support that we need to stop the abuse, you'll see 

some reduction in terms of what's going on in a societal kind 

of aspect. 

So, that was kind of the things that I wanted to say 

to you and I would be very open for any questions that you 

might have. 
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SENATOR LIPMAN: Yes. I was going to ask about your 

case -- the case of your suit. Some other people today have 

testified that it's very difficult, they ask for the statute of 

limitations to be taken off so they could go back and get their 

perpetrators, but it would be very di ff icul t to prove. You 

have gone the extra step, right? And you are in the act of 

suing? 

MS. MILON: Yes, I am. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Okay. I was going to ask how wer0 

you going to prove it since it was so long ago. But you just 

answered your own question. You said he abused you, your 

father, and he abused two of your children. So, it has 

continued. 

MS. MILON: Also my father has admitted to the abuse 

of me in order to dissuade from the prosecutor's off ice from 

prosecuting him for my children. See he realized that 

criminally he could still be prosecuted for abusing my children 

and I guess out of stupidity, ignorance, or whatever you might 

want to call it, he admitted to sexually abusing me and then 

said, "No, I did not do it to the children," and I guess that 

that made it a little bit more believable. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: I see. 

MS. MILON: So I actually have admissions to base on 

my suit. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: You do. 

MS. FRANCIS: On what grounds-- You were saying it's 

only the new law that would enable you to truly do it on the 

basis of the incest. 

MS. MILON: In terms of incest, yes. 

MS. FRANCIS: You are doing it on what grounds at this 

point? 

MS. MILON: The breaking of the fiduciary 

relationship, diminished childhood. . My lawyer could give the 

six counts that he kind of listed off in terms of addressing it 

but there are six other civil actions that I can go with. 
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MS. FRANCIS: 

we 

I know the 

have talked 

issue 

about 

of the nonoffending 

and, in fact, the parent is one 

original bill 

that 

left liability wider open for the nonoffending 

parent and we have worked to have an affirmative defense -- is 

that the right phrase? -- be that the nonoffending parent is 

herself -- I will use that generically -- abused. That, in 

fact, - if she's an abused spouse, perhaps the dynamic there has 

kept her from intervening as much as she should have relative 

to the abuse of the child. Do you have any perspective on that 

in terms of liability? 

MS. MILON: It's a very difficult thing because I 

think that people can say, "Well, you know, I was sexually 

abused and I didn't know what to do when this started occurring 

with my children," and it might be very true, however, there is 

a responsibility that you must take for your children, and I 

personally responsible the same way in terms of a nonoffending 

parent. I mean, I was there when my father was perpetrating 

against my children. And yes, I do feel 1 ike I should have 

been more responsible. The reason why I don't think I could be 

held legaily responsible before is because I was not aware of 

my own abuse. I was not aware enough in ter~s of what had gone 

one. I :iave suffered this course of repression and I think 

that my abuse began to unfold for me when my children 

themselves were abused. And at that point, I did everything 

under God's earth to protect my children. I have cut my 

children completely. off from my parents. So I think that when 

the abuse is there and you can see it and identify it, if we 

don't do anything there is no excuse for that. There just 

isn't. 

One of the reasons why I take the time to come and 

speak to people is because I think that everyone must take the 

responsibility when they see this kind of abuse to 

understand the symptoms, to look at it. The child cannot tell 

you, you know, and people think that educating children about 
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bad touching/good touching is going to be helpful. For some 

children it's going to be, but I think the greater majority of 

children that are going to be abused is going to take an 

adult's perspective looking at that abuse to identify it and to 

work on it. 

So that nonoffending piece, yeah, there is a 

liability. And if someone came to me and said, "You know, you 

al lowed your father to abuse your children. " It did happen. 

You know, I can't go back and make it not happen, but I do know 

that I did everything that was possible when I found out that 

it did happen, to stop it. 

MS. FRANCIS: I was just going to say to follow up. 

It makes me think of what Marsha Kleinman testified to about 

the need for expert support for judges' decision-making. This 

is extremely complex and it's just another example of why need 

the most in-depth understanding on the part of the judiciary of 

all this very complicated dynamic. 

MS. MILON: I know it must be very hard. I think it's 

hard for us as survivors to work through it and I think it's 

even harder to gain perspective from and outside, you know, 

kind of view. 

I know that one of the things that was particularly 

disarming to people was when I said that I was abused until I 

was 22, and people don't understand how the abuse continues 

past the age of what you would think from a knowing. And what 

I say to them is that when you start abusing a child at 

four-years-old and when you get up every day and you eat every 

day and you get dressed every day and your father molests you 

every day, it's part of the normal life and you don't think of 

it as being as anything but what everyone else does. Wel 1 

everybody's daddy must do this. And when you get to the point 

and you have some perspective and you think, "Oh there's 

something wrong with this," and I'd like to question this, you 

have the parent's who threaten their children. Because I was 
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an adoptive child in the home, my father said to me, "You're 

going to break up this family. Your mother's going to leave 

you. I'm going to leave. They're going to say you did 

it. They' re going to put you in a foster home again." I knew 

the experience of a foster home. I didn't want to go back 

there. 

There are 1 ike a mi 11 ion ways to silence a child. I 

have heard of perpetrators threatening dolls, and cats, and 

their other siblings, and there's such a variety of things that 

these adults use against a child. And you do have to use the 

child's framework and the mind set in terms of understanding 

the impact of the abuse. 

So, you know, I tried to give you as much information 

as I possibly can. 

MS. FRANCIS: And that's been very helpful. Thanks. 

DR. VAN JONES: I wanted to ask you something about 

dysfunctional families and the causes of all of that, and to 

have a kind of a holistic approach, and we' re also talking 

about the nonoffending parent. Your mother -- that was your 

stepmother? 

MS. MILON: That was my adoptive mother. 

DR. VAN JONES: Yes, adoptive mother, rather. She 

wasn't aware of this from four to 22? 

MS. MILON: I had a real hard time with that, too. 

And up until now she has stayed very-- Now stepped forward, 

"No, I did not know this was going on." I've talked to her 

about different behaviors that I, now, can remember that I 

exhibited. I was very promiscuous as a teenager. Why was 

there never a question? And, for whatever reason, she didn't 

want to look at it. Does that make her less responsible? I 

don't think so. 

DR. VAN JONES: No, because the 
q ,, 

whole clause 

nonoffending parent and the other .parent, then the environment, 

you have a dysfunctional family, it just seems to me that that 

parent is part of that, especially with that legally--
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MS. MILON: That is exactly what I say to people. It 

has to be part of it. It really does because 1 ike I said I 

think that incest can't survive in a healthy family. I think 

that if my mother were the type of mother who let me know that 

it was okay to talk about things to her, to come to her and 

say, you know, "If you have a problem you can discuss this me" 

I think I would have gone to her. But I, as a child, knew that 

she was not going to be supportive and I didn't take that 

avenue. So, yes, she does have a very important piece in it. 

And I think all nonoffending parents do because I think that, 

to an extent as a mother, you say, "I should know what's going 

on with my child." I mean, that's part of my responsibi 1 i ty 

and when I see something that's out of the ordinary, when they 

behave differently, when they have nightmares--

One of the things that blew this whole thing up for us 

was that our two sons went over to my parents' house for a 

weekend visit, and when they came back my two-year-old went 

from a child who enjoyed baths to when I put him in the bathtub 

he crawled up to the back of the tub and started shrieking. He 

had nightmares; he had loss of appetite. It causes you to ask 

questions, and that's what we did. We asked .our therapist, 

"What do you think this is?" Because I still wasn't aware of 

what had happened to me, and he said, "Do you know this seems 

like classic, that something went on, you know, with some kind 

of trauma at your parents' house. What do you think it was?" 

And we went to speak to him -- and my father still denies ever 

touching that child -- but something happened to change that 

child's behavior. And it is up to the parent to say, "What 

caused this? What happened that made this child behave this 

way?" And I think that if you' re watching your children, most 

of the time you' 11 see a difference in behavior, something 

'· that's going to clue you in that something' s different about 

this child and maybe something has gone on. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Anybody else? 
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MS. FRANCIS: I have no more questions, but thank you 

very much. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you very much for coming. 

MS. MILON: Thank you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Donna Paluka, President of the 

National Organization of Women. 

MS. FRANCIS: Could you just announce that the bill is 

going to be heard Monday in session? 

SENATOR LIPMAN: S-257 by Senator Caf iero will be 

heard by the full Senate on Monday. 

MS. FRANCIS: Is it 157? 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Two-fifty-seven. She corrects me. 

MS. FRANCIS: This is the stalking bill? 

MS. GRIFFIN: It· s the extension of the statute of 

limitations for the child sexual abuse. 

MS. FRANCIS: The bill we were just talking about. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Donna, how are you? 

DONN A PALUK A: Thank you. I'm the President of the 

National Organization for Women of New Jersey. I wanted to 

start by just reiterating again something that Sandy Clark had 

presented to you as an idea, and that 's the importance of 

promoting the Violence Against Women Act as much as possible, 

as you can as a Commission. 

I'm sure you' re aware of the shockingly high 

likelihood that women in this country face of being a victim of 

a violent crime just because of her gender. So, anything that 

this Commission can do to promote the passage of that Federal 

legislation, as well as promoting anything statewide that would 

create safer environments for women in college campuses 

higher security in dormitories and in residence halls for 

women, in apartments that are inhabited by women, would be very 

helpful as well as promoting the addition of gender to the Hate 
I 

Crime statute which is something that the Senator has been 

pushing for awhile. 
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SENATOR LIPMAN: Yes, that's right. 

MS. PALUKA: The other thing that I'd just like to 

take a few minutes to-- A few things that I'd like to take a 

few minutes to talk about: It is NOW' s belief that the term 

"violence against women" really needs to be a term that's 

broadly defined and to include other than just physical forms 

of abuse and attack. 

We think that oppression through discrimination and 

exclusion is still very prevalent today and we consider that a 

form of violence against women, especially we think in the 

business world. And we also believe that we're seeing 

excessive manifestations of violence against women in a 

political and legislative sense in New Jersey lately. And I 

have a few examples of this: 1) There's been an inability on 

the part of any administration to implement a study that's 

probably seven years old -- maybe even longer -- on pay equity 

regarding State employees. And, if our own State government 

can't set an example what kind of progress do we expect the 

business community is going to make. 2) There's been a 

consistently understaffed department in the Division of Youth 

and Family Services and you know, the people who are working 

there are committed and trying to protect the women and 

children of the State and they' re just literally unable to 

because of workload and just, you know, the number of hours and 

their inability to manage their caseloads. That also happens, 

we think, in the Division on Civil Rights which is the agency 

that's supposed to investigate claims of discrimination and 

sexual harassment in the workplace. 

And again, New Jersey has really very terrific laws in 

those areas and it's difficult to implement them because we're 

looking at women who are coming to the Division on Civil Rights 

and they' re taking, you know, four and five years to work 

through a system, and that's sending a message back to 

employers who are doing the harassing and discrimination, as 

76 



well as the women who are working with them. You know, "What 

am I up against if I bring these claims?" and "I'm up against 

an impossible system." 

We also have seen a continuous attack throughout the 

country -- and also here in New Jersey -- on abortion rights 

through restrictive legislation. And this legislation, in our 

opinion, is specifically designed to stop abortion among 

specific groups -- certain groups of individuals. We've seen 

parental notification and consent which we believe is a way to 

control young women and then endanger their lives when they 

seek alternate means for abortion. We haven't seen this in New 

Jersey yet, but around the country we've seen waiting periods 

which, again, hurt young women and poor women who have to make 

double trips to clinics or doctors' off ices, and that could 

possibly delay them into having abortions which are unsafe or 

just not having them at all. 

We've seen, federally, the possible denial of funding 

for abortion centers which is a way of controlling the poor 

women again and making them unable to have abortions, and then 

relegating them into tasks of just completely having babies 

over and over again, and probably keeping th~m poor, if they're 

unable to just decide for themselves when they want to have 

their families. 

And, specifically in New Jersey, we've seen the 

inability to pass legislation to keep clinics open -- any kind 

of clinic access bi 11. So we've, again, seen the attack on 

mostly young and poor women who are going to clinics. 

A fifth thing I'd like-- Well, again, the Commission 

always does look at this. We've had an inability in New Jersey 

to pass a gender balance legislation or actually even get 

sponsors for it. But again, this cuts out women from a 

political process statewide. So, again, we think that this 

violence. 
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And finally, just recently we've seen the passage of a 

welfare reform bill which has a provision to deny funding to 

f ami 1 ies if they have a child while they' re on AFDC -- wel 1, 

they're AFDC dependents -- and again, we think this an attempt 

to control the reproductive rights of poor women. It's being 

promoted really based on the myth that that's what poor women 

do for money; it promotes stereotypes, and we think that's 

appalling. 

Those are just some of the areas that we hope the 

Commission will be able to look at over the next session. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: All right. Any questions for Donna? 

(negative response) 

The gender bill has been reintroduced. 

MS. PALUKA: Yes, I did know that. One of your first 

groups, I think, wasn't it? 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Yes' the first ten bill. Like you 

say, in the last session I think we went before the Assembly 

Judiciary Committee, not on this subject but on another 

subject. Remember this Melanie? One of the legislators really 

let me have it because I had sponsored that bill. We didn't 

even discuss the subject of the bill before the Committee. I 

was condemned because I had the idea there should be a gender 

balance. 

MS. PALUKA: Well, good for you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: How could I do this? (laughter) 

MS. PALUKA: Some people just don't get it, Senator, 

and probably won't. (laughter) But we thank you for all that 

work. 

MS. SEHAM: I think you could add to your list, Donna, 

the noncollection of child support which is another example of 

high caseload, low pay--

MS. PALUKA: I think that you're right. 

MS. SEHAM: --and it's very pervasive and has an 

effect on an awful lot of people. 
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MS. PALUKA: Actually, I think that, very generally, 

divorce laws-- I can't speak articulately on this subject, 

unfortunately, but I do think that, generally, divorce laws in 

the State have some problems, too, with the distribution 

equitably of funds, which is something to look into. 

MS. FRANCIS: I don't know, Donna. I'd love to spend 

a lot of time discussing it because I have, as I said before, 

tried to broaden our Division's Domestic Violence Prevention 

Program to be dealing with violence against women, and it 

really is where both public policy is moving and you know, sort 

of theoretical academic analysis of the issues and so on, to, 

say, do this more holistically. I agree with the 

discrimination component of everything you say here and it's 

role in oppression of women, but where can we strike a balance 

between using the term violence related to all of it so that we 

don't dilute the concept of violence against women -- physical 

and psychologica:i -- so that we would end up using the term 

violence against women for every instance of discrimination? 

We don't want to go too far overboard in using the word 

violence for all of it. And you know, you and I are both on 

the same wavelength about all the issues, but I just think it's 

a balance that we all need to strike somehow so that we're not 

losing a little edge to our arguments. So, I don't know where 

you--

MS. PALOKA: Yes, I understand that. I don't know 

where you draw that line either.· I guess that maybe some of 

this is just systematic oppression. That might translate 

better under that very general term. 

MS. FRANCIS: And violence is certainly not just 

physical. There's no question. And the psychological harm, 

the harm to the human spirit that's done by oppression is--

MS. PALUKA: Is violent. 

MS. FRANCIS: --it's own form of violence. I guess 

I'm just always concerned that we don't, as I say, lose an edge 
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to our argument on all the issues by making it easy for people 

to say, "Well, what do you mean noncollection of child support 

is violence against women?" You know, I can just see people 

thinking they're one up on us by saying that. 

MS. PALUKA: Right. I don't know. I guess we could 

get into semantic arguments about that, but it really is, 

though, violence. It is violence against, if not women, 

certainly that child. 

MS. FRANCIS: It can translate into physical or real 

deprivation. 

MS. PALUKA: Right because the denial of clothing and 

just basic needs of that child is very violent. 

MS. FRANCIS: You know the Biden bill which we all 

obviously support -- and would love to see happen yesterday 

that is a much more strictly physical violence definition, so 

in a sense--

MS. PALUKA: Doesn 1 t it apply for counseling, though? 

MS. FRANCIS: Yes, I guess, but I mean it's more what 

would be obvious to most people as violence against women. So, 

in one sense I'd almost say it might be more productive for us 

to use that term more narrowly first, and then ~nee we get the 

Biden bill and some other things under belts be talking more 

broadly. I'm not admonishing you at all. You know I'm 

completely tuned in, but--

MS. PALUKA: Oh, I know. I know, and you know that 

this is my job, too. (laughter) 

MS. FRANCIS: Oh, absolutely. No, it's almost that 

I'm sort of asking you to help, you know, organize my thoughts 

about it, too. 

MS. PALUKA: Right. I understand. 

MS. FRANCIS: No, I think it's great and as I say, you 

know, the Division on Women really is trying to move in the 

direction of doing violence against women holistically. 

MS. PALUKA: That's right. 
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SENATOR LIPMAN: This is a sidebar discussion. 

MS. PALUKA: I'm sorry? 

MS. FRANCIS: We're defining power. 

MS. PALUKA: Right. And, obviously, violence does 

have a lot to do with power. I mean, this is a web of terms 

that really do cross at various points in their definitions. 

In the very strictest sense we could define violence as, you 

know, the emotional and the physical, but I think in a very 

broad sense we can incorporate all of these things under 

violence. 

MS. FRANCIS: In fact, we were trying to articulate 

within the Division -- you know, policy discussions -- what we 

would include in that term; why we would include certain things 

and not others, and the corrunon denominator of the elements like 

sexual harassment, you know, which may or may not look 

physical. We felt that the corrunon thread the corrunon 

denominator was the issue of power and control of one 

individual over another based on sex. When you get into 

talking about violence against women, it's that systematic 

oppression or power or control of one over the other, and that 

analysis could be carried through into things like child 

support or divorce laws. So you could, as we develop public 

awareness of this, certainly carry the analysis through. 

MS. PALUKA: I would agree with that. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Anyone else? (negative response) 

Thank you, Donna. Thank you very much. 

MS. PALUKA: Thank you for your time. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Call Ms. Peggy Newman, the AIDS 

Coalition of Southern New Jersey. Is she here? (no response) 

She's not here yet. Okay. Ms. Courtney Esposito, is she 

here? Hello. 

COURTNEY E S P O S I T 0: Hello. Good afternoon. I 

did bring some copies of my testimony but I'm not going to give 

them to you until I'm done because I want all your attention. 
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Good afternoon. My name is Courtney Esposito. I'm a 

domestic violence consultant and educator. I've worked in the 

field of domestic violence prevention since -- what seems like 

100 years ago -- 1978. I'm a survivor of abuse and I serve on 

the Boards of WomanSpace, here in Mercer County, and the 

National Women Abuse Prevention Center in Washington, D. C., 

and also on the New Jersey Advisory Council on Domestic 

Violence. 

I'd like to begin my testimony with an excerpt from a 

letter to editor of Ms. Magazine which did a survey to their 

national readership about violence against women. 

of the letter is Mary Bryant of Fulton, Missouri. 

The writer 

11 The fear is always there -- on the street, in the 

workplace and at home. 

motel and hotel rooms. 

We avert our eyes, refuse ground floor 

We lock doors and windows. We stand to 

one side and act as if we're waiting for someone rather than 

get on an elevator with a man. We walk quickly through dim 

parking garages with keys gripped in one hand and a mace 

cartridge in the other. Sometimes we ridicule ourselves for 

being paranoid. Then we read the morning paper. 11 

A broad definition of violence -- and this relates to 

the conversation said from the last conversation of the last 

witness into this -- or of abuse, would be any behavior which 

treats a person like a thing. More specifically, violent or 

abusive behavior is behavior which physically harms, like 

battering, rape or incest; that's the kind of abuse that most 

people think of, when they thing of battered women. It's the 

kind of abuse that physicians are beginning to learn to look 

for although it obviously goes far beyond that. Abuse is also 

behavior which arouses fear, like threats of physical harm or 

threats to kidnap or kill the children, sexual harassment on 

the street, on the job, in a bar or in an elevator. It is also 

behavior which prevents a woman from doing what she wishes, 

1 ike not al lowing her to wear a certain color, to see her 
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family or friends, to go to school, to properly feed and 

adequately clothe her children or herself, to apply for a 

certain job or run for public office, to have the right to 

choose to have an abort ion, to preach a sermon, or lead a 

congregation. It is also behavior which forces a woman to 

behave in ways she does not want to, like making her only wear 

a certain color, making her have sex with her husband's friends 

every Friday night in front of a video camera, or making her 

return to live with an abusive husband because he can afford a 

good lawyer but she cannot access those funds, or because 

there's no decent affordable housing available for her or her 

children to move into. 

There's a prominent comedian -- who• s name I won't 

mention because I don't want to give him further publicity -­

who jokes that it's okay for men to have sex with their 

daughters because they pay for their tuition and boasts on 

video that he'll burn a woman with a cigarette if she doesn't 

screw him with enough enthusiasm. The is violence against 

women. 

In 1980, while ~ommenting on pending marital rape 

legislation, State Senator Bob Wilson of California asked -- on 

the record, because he didn't know there was anything wrong 

with doing this -- "If you can't rape your own wife, who can 

you rape?" And this is violence against women. 

Heavy metal and rap musicians harmonize to the world 

and to our children about raping a woman with a flashlight, 

suggesting. that a woman be smoked with an Uzi submachine gun, 

and brag "I used to love her, but I had to kill her -- and now 

I'm happier this way." And this is violence against women. 

There's a video game called "Custer's Revenge" which 

shows a naked General Custer raping an Indian woman tied to a 

post. And this is violence against women. 

Congresswoman Pat Schroed~r maintains that most women 

are one man away from poverty. And I believe that this is also 

violence against women. 
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Twenty-five percent of college women in one survey 

experienced rape or attempted rape. Fifteen percent of the 

college men in another survey admitted they had forced a woman 

to have sex. Fifty-one percent of college men in a third 

survey said that they would rape if they were certain they 

would get away with it. And this is violence against women. 

Dr. Gloria Bachman of Robert Wood Johnson Medical 

Center found that one in four women she surveyed -- and she was 

not prepared for these survey results, 

denial were sexually abused as 

represents the women who remembered 

against women. 

she was, as we say, in 

children. This only 

it. And this violence 

Thirty-one percent of all female homicide victims in 

1988 were killed by their husbands or boyfriends, and 25 

percent of all pregnant women -- of all pregnant women -- are 

being abused. In pregnant battered women the dominant targets 

of assault are breasts, abdomen and genitalia. That means that 

it's purposeful, and it's not a loss of control. And this 

violence against women. 

In 1987, approximately 375,000 women and children 

sought refuge in over 1200 shelters and safe homes across the 

country. But nearly 40 percent of women seeking immediate 

shelter were turned away because of the lack of space. The 

same dilenuna is faced daily by New Jersey's domestic violence 

programs. And I believe that this violence against women. 

I could go on and on with alarming statistics and 

horr'ifying examples of violence perpetrated against women in 

our society. Instead, I'll leave you with some handouts and 

you can look them up for yourselves. I'm sure you've heard 

lots of them already. 

So, I'm leaving with you, Violence Against Women which 

is the Ms. Magazine Report on Life in Our Times; the January 6, 

1992 edition of American Medical News which focuses on "Seeing 

the Pain -- America's Physicians Confront Family Violence," the 
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AMA' s Report on Violence Against Wome·n, which is one of the 

best compendia of data and survey reports that I have ever 

seen. So, if you' re trying to figure out who said that or 

where it came from, you could probably find it -- of all places 

-- the AMA's Report on Violence Against Women, and their Policy 

and Planning Report for a National Campaign Against Family 

Violence. 

I would like to, instead, focus on per son a 1 , 

professional and institutional minimization, avoidance and 

denial of the systematic violence against women. I would like 

to begin with victim-blaming as our national pastime. 

Most often, exhortations to women concerning their 

personal safety are based on a "blame the victim" mentality. 

We are told not to go out alone at night -- a clear predicament 

if you happen to be female and work the 3:00 to 11:00 shift at 

the hospital. We're told not to wear attractive clothing, not 

to be friendly on the street or to make eye contact ever with 

any stranger. The underlying assumption is that what we do is 

decisive -- our demeanor, our wardrobe, our carelessness, the 

visibility of our curves or the mere existence of our body 

parts -- these invite violence and allow it. to happen. From 

the flawed prer:lise that being a woman must necessarily equal 

being victimized comes the conclusion that it is up to us, by 

changing our behavior, to prevent our own victimization. Truth 

be told, what we do does not decrease the incidence of men's 

attempt at violent acts against women. As one battered woman 

said of her husband's violence, "I may be his excuse, but I 

have never been his reason." 

Men must stop committing violence against women, take 

away permission from each other to commit it, stop condoning it 

in others and stop blaming women for it. When Israeli 

legislators proposed a curfew on women in order to lower the 

incidence on rape, Golda Meir -- bless her heart -- protested, 

"But it is the men who are attacking women. If there's to be a 

curfew, let the men stay home." 
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SENATOR LIPMAN: That's great. 

MS. ESPOSITO: I submit also for your consideration 

another handout, a summary sheet of myths that support violence 

against women and contaminate our abi 1 i ty to help the victims 

of violence. By assigning fault to the victim -- which we 

almost do automatically -- even those of us who are learned on 

this issue, who have experienced violence in our lives, we 

distance ourselves from the issue. The victim, and not the 

violence, becomes the problem. It's a problem that we wi 11 

never solve should we accept this falsehood. As a pattern of 

power and coercive control, violence works very well, thank 

you. And it 

choice to it 

works particularly well when our 

is to neglect, stigmatize and even 

response of 

punish it's 

victims. Violent behavior against women and children, as you 

very well know, both within the family and within the fabric of 

society, has historically been accepted and tolerated as a 

natural and inevitable dynamic. It has thus been legitimated 

by the community and by our social and legal institutions. I 

believe it's time for a major change, and we are the ones that 

have to make it, and that if we allow them to mess around with 

words and undercut our attempts by using semantics against us, 

I think we just need to not accept those arguments and go 

beyond them. 

The process of change can only begin if we recognize 

violence against women as pervasive, and redefine it as 

illegitimate and intolerable and then provide safety and 

support for the victims. This is going to cost money, folks. 

Don't think for a moment that it isn't costing us more to not 

address violence and it's prevention; and the key word here is 

prevention. Family violence researchers, alone, just those 

looking into violence in the family, including the American 

Medical Association and the Centers for Disease Control, 

believe that domestic violence may, in fact, be the primary 

fiscal drain on the American economy. By denying that violence 
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against women exists and minimizing the extent to which it 

occurs, avoiding the real fact that it can and has happened to 

any one of us who is female, we might be able to feel 

untouched, safe and healthy for a short period of time. This 

self-protective technique, which plays itself out on both 

individual and institutional levels, initiates and perpetuates 

a dynamic which increases the isolation of every single victim 

and ultimately and inevitably leads to her entrapment 

whether that entrapment be physical, social, legal or financial. 

I 'd 1 ike to give your Susan Schecter' s definition of 

entrapment: Entrapment is repeated and consistent trauma, the 

abuser does that, the rapist does that, the abusive husband, 

the incest perpetrator, but it's also coupled with outside 

negative treatment; we do that when we don't pass laws, when we 

don't hand out appropriations, when a doctor turns his or her 

back because they don't know what to say or how to say it, when 

a police officer was called and could not respond appropriately 

because we didn't have laws to protect them inside homes. What 

I'm saying is that you don't have entrapment of a victim if you 

only have the abuser. Entrapment is pulled off by negative 

outside treatment and we do have power and .control over them. 

When we refuse to recognize, hear or help women victimized by 

any and all forms of violence, we insure that their lot will 

never change. 

I'd like to give you two major national examples of 

Denial with a capital D: The first, despite the fact that 

we've known for a decade that as many as half the women 

murdered in this country and the statistics change depending 

on the year; it's gone from something 1 ike 24 percent to 29 

percent, to in the 30' s to 40 percent to close to a half -­

each year are killed by a male partner or ex-partner. And 

despite the fact that we've known for a decade now, the 

battering is the single major cause of injuries to women. The 

original draft of the U.S. Department of Health and Human 
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Services document from which we derive our State Health Plan 

which is called "Promoting Health/Preventing Disease: Year 

2000 Objectives for the Nation" omitted four words: domestic 

violence and battered women. Although violence and abusive 

behavior was discussed, women as its primary victims were never 

even mentioned. How did they miss that? And how can we let 

them get away with it? 

And the Hate Crimes Statistics Act, signed by 

President Bush, directs the U.S. Department of Justice to 

collect statistics on crimes motivated by a victim's race, 

religion, ethnicity, or sexual orientation. The Act 

purposefully ignored gender-biased crimes. Women as lightning 

rods for male abuse were once again officially rendered 

invisible. 

As my mother used to say, there is simply no excuse 

for this. This is just not good enough. The costs to our 

society, to this state, to individual women and their families, 

of this very far-from-benign neglect are inestimable. It is 

time to talk prevention, to follow that talk with action, and 

to include dollar signs in the action. Survivors of violence 

against women want the beginnings -- just the beginnings -- of 

their fair share in the fiscal scheme of things. 

I implore you to move and to shake the powers ~hat be 

in this State to do better by women: 

* Advocate for every effort that proposes to assist 

victims and educate and sensitize the general public and 

helping professionals about the prevalence and effects and 

prevention of violence against women. 

The governing bodies of this State and can and should, 

holistically and in a coordinated fashion, formulate and create 

policies and programs around the issue of violence against 

women, not freeze them, not decimate them, but formulate them 

and create them. The New Jersey Advisory Council on Domestic 

Violence, on which I sit, has not had one penny allocated to 
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its voluminous and crucial work over the past five years. The 

Division on Women in 1984 had $350,000 from the Governor's 

budget to conduct a public awareness campaign and to train 

health care professionals, educators, and the clergy on 

domestic violence awareness and intervention. That dollar 

figure in this year's budget is zero. I challenge the specious 

reasoning that our State cannot afford stationery, - let alone 

staff, to deal effectively with this issue. I think if women 

ran the State, that would not be the case. 

* Move and approve every law that you can that will 

in any way ease the physical, emotional and financial 

devastation of women. 

The newly amended Prevention of Domestic Violence Act 

is one of the best of its kind in the nation. Victims of 

family violence are being assisted greatly by the expanded 

provisions of this statute. Yet, as some of you know from very 

close up, it was not easy to pass. 

The Marriage License Surcharge Bill -- I say surcharge 

because we cannot say tax -- never came to a vote. Domestic 

Violence Programs are forced to serve more and more clients at 

frozen funding levels. Additional resources that could be 

provided by this legislation are desperately needed in every 

county in the State. 

* Encourage every study and stimulate every research 

effort that you can that will bring this problem out of the 

shadows of the alleys or behind closed doors and expose it to 

the light of public scrutiny. 

* Initiate and support every appropriation possible 

to empower women and their children to live lives free from 

fear and violence. 

I can assure you that all of us who work to prevent 

violence against women, including yourselves, will continue to 

bring opportunities to safeguard our clients to your 

attention. I appreciate the opportunity to speak before you 

today. 
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SENATOR LIPMAN: And you did very well. 

MS. ESPOSITO: Thank you. 

MS. FRANCIS: No more than we expect though, but 

excel lent. Let me ask, Courtney-- We've talked about this 

before, but when we talk about looking for new resources to 

support this and people say there's no money we've 

discussed the fact that we don't begin to have a handle on what 

it is costing society to be neglecting the issue and I know we 

can't even find very much hard data on, for instance, the 

medical costs of even just the domestic violence piece, let 

alone the larger sexual assault, and the others. Has the AMA 

begun to get a handle on that, just for the medical, for 

instance, or other areas? 

MS. ESPOSITO: Well the AMA really now -- and thank 

goodness is focusing on trying to get their member 

physicians and agencies to begin assessing for violence in 

female patients. One of the articles in this newspaper~ which 

is a good newspaper, but I must, I must-- I have to tell you. 

There's a picture on the front -- and I've been talking about 

myths and stereotypes and victim-blaming -- well you can t see 

it from where you are, but I see it in my dream~, and it has a 

family, one child and a male and female parent sitting around a 

table. The man's holding a knife and the woman is nagging him, 

a perpetuation of the myth that women get stabbed because they 

won't shut their mouths soon enough. 

Anyway, that wasn't your question was it? The Centers 

for Disease Control and the AMA are looking into this, and will 

they get around to doing more than that? I don't know. There 

was a hospital in Chicago that had a domestic violence program 

within its ER and it counted up the number of acute care only 

patients that were identified as domestic violence victims that 

looked at only their acute care services that's not 

counseling; that's not long-term care_; that's not who's taking 

care of the children and how many days of work they missed --
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and found that in one year 708 patients ran up charges of over 

$1 million; one million, one-hundred thousand and change. 

MS. FRANCIS: And that was one hospital in one city? 

MS. ESPOSITO: Right. So, if we can do prevention, 

and people can end up not being hurt or being able to leave and 

have places to go to, and services and housing and medical 

care, and the appropriate kind of counseling instead of getting 

blamed when they talk to a physician about this, if we can 

train people to do that and I believe that we can-- I know 

that they listen. Not all of them will listen, but enough of 

them to make a difference in hundreds of lives; you're talking 

about hundreds of lives. It's going to be cheaper. And, Dr. 

Gellis, Richard Gellis estimates $5 billion to $10 billion, but 

he's talking about social costs of the problem more broadly 

than just health care. And if you look at foster care alone -­

children removed from homes -- he thinks consumes an additional 

$5 to $10 billion. So violence is a rather crucial issue in 

our country's economy and people are going to end up having to 

look at that and do something about it as opposed to, "Why does 

some people do these things?" as if they don't know any of 

them, because they do. 

MS. FRANCIS: Well, in that context, I wish we were 

speaking to a room not only of, certainly, all women who are 

concerned about this as a violence against women issue, but we 

should be speaking to a room of people whose primary concern is 

keeping a lid on health care costs; a roomful of people whose 

concern is criminal justice costs and better enforcement of 

criminal justice laws; people who care about homelessness 

because, as we understand it, the primary cause of homelessness 

for women with children is escaping an abusive home situation. 

I'm preaching to the choir but I think it needs to go on record 
1 

that this 'is an issue for people who don't think it's their 

issue. 
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MS. ESPOSITO: An I believe that that's the way that 

we'll get them; through money, through explaining, through 

giving some kind of proof that perhaps we're not so 

accustomed to doing -- that it's more cost effective to do 

prevention and to put money into that than to do what the U.S. 

Department of Health and Human Services did, which is bury the 

issue. 

MS. FRANCIS: 

that not right? 

You did raise their consciousness. Is 

MS. ESPOSITO: I did, yes. It made it into the final 

plan. They found those four words. 

MS. FRANCIS: Thank you. 

MS. ESPOSITO: Thank you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you very much. 

Call Marion Banzhaf? 

R I K I E. JACOBS, ESQ.: She's not here yet. She's 

not scheduled until 5:15. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Oh, okay. Is Joan Pennington here? 

MS. JACOBS: She's not here yet, either. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Oh, thanks. Is there anybody else 

here who would like to give us some testimony? (~o response) 

We' re going to listen to Marion Banzhaf of the Women 

and AIDS Network. 

M A R I 0 N B A N z H A F: Yes. Good afternoon. Good 

evening -- almost evening. Thank you for having these hearings 

and thank you also for defining violence broadly. My remarks 

are going to focus on the fact that the untimely deaths of 

women due to AIDS is violence against women, and the lack of 

inappropriate health care services is violence against women. 

AIDS is the leading cause of death for New Jersey 

African-American women and the second leading cause of death 
q' 

among' all New Jersey women between the ages of 18 and 44. I 

don't use the term "reproductive age -- childbearing years" 

because if you don't have children, what age are you? But, if 
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women were diagnosed with HIV disease earlier and had access to 

health care, women would have longer lives and a higher quality 

of life following an HIV diagnoses. Discrimination against 

women in the AIDS epidemic has resulted in undercount ing of 

AIDS cases among women, misdiagnosis of AIDS in women, and 

exclusion from potentially life saving treatments by virtue of 

having a uterus and/or by lack of access to primary health care. 

The New Jersey Women and AIDS Network was founded in 

May, 1988 to advocate for the needs of women in the AIDS 

epidemic. The New Jersey Women and AIDS Network is a 

statewide, independent membership organization representing 350 

agencies and individuals concerned with increasing women's 

visibility in the AIDS crisis and with advocating for 

appropriate public policies specific to women. We have worked 

to educate health care providers, state officials, and the 

general public about AIDS prevention for women and care and 

treatment issues specific to women. In June, 1990, NJWAN 

published "Me First: Medical Manifestations of HIV in Women." 

The only document of its kind in the country and since then we 

have distributed over 23,000 brochures and pamphlets to people 

across the country. The demand for information about women and 

AIDS is quite high. 

New Jersey has the highest percentage of AIDS cases 

among women in the country: we're at 23 percent compared to 11 

percent nationally. In Essex County, women are 35 percent of 

all AIDS cases. Nationally, as many women were diagnosed with 

AIDS in the last two years as in the first eight years of the 

epidemic, so we're going to see a sky-rocketing increase in the 

number of women with HIV, and the State is not prepared to meet 

their needs. 

The Department of Heal th estimates that approximately 

25, 000 women in New Jersey may be infected with HIV. This 

number could very well be low, however, since women have been 

under counted by being excluded from the AIDS case definition. 
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The Centers for Disease Control continues to discriminate 

against women by refusing to add women-specific opportunistic 

infections and cancers to the AIDS case definition. The 

male-based AIDS case definition results in lack of education to 

health care providers about women-specific presentations of HIV 

and contributes to the untimely deaths of women. HIV disease 

in women usually presents itself first through a chronic 

vaginal yeast infect ion. Similarly, women with HIV have very 

high rates of cervical cancer and may die from cervical cancer 

without ever being counted as having died of AIDS, even though 

they have HIV infection. 

In New Jersey, 62 percent of the women with AIDS were 

infected through unsafe injection drug use, however, I should 

say that the-- We don't really know whether or not those women 

were infected through injection drug use or through 

heterosexual contact. The State uses a hierarchical form and 

if you have ever used IV drugs, even once, that's how you are 

listed as being infected. So even if you've had 100 sexual 

partners and you only used IV drugs twice or once, you'd still 

be listed as an IV drug user. Thirty-two percent are defined 

as contracting the disease through unprotected sexual behaviors 

and heterosexual transmission which is rapidly on the rise. In 

fact, heterosexual transmission is equal to transmission by 

injection drug use in women in Essex County and already 

accounts for over half of the cases among Hispanic women. 

Women of color and low income women have been 

disproportionately affected by the AIDS crisis: 68 percent of 

women with AIDS in New Jersey are African-American, 21 percent 

are white, and 11 percent are latina. The majority of women 

with HIV have little access to the sparse network of available 

AIDS-related education and health programs. There are only two 

AIDS clinics for women in the entire State and although support 

groups for women have expanded, no support groups exist in many 

areas of the State. It's not unusual for a woman to have to 
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travel five hours to get to a support group in some areas. 

Institutionalized racism and sexism, as well as the gross 

inadequacy of heal th care services for low income people, are 

significant contributing factors to the incidence of AIDS and 

HIV infection in women. 

Several factors have impeded effective action on HIV 

disease in women. These include, but aren't limited to: 

* Women are grossly underrepresented in cohort 

studies and clinical drug trials. Women are excluded from 

experimental clinical trials based on pharmaceutical liability 

fears due to the potential risk to women's reproduction. 

However, the same standard is not applied to fear of an adverse 

reaction to sperm and men's reproductive capacity. And we know 

that these drugs can affect sperm as well as they can affect 

ovaries. 

* The emphasis on women has been as vectors of 

transmission, especially to their infants, rather than as women 

needing care themselves. 

* Women are generally held responsible for infection 

prevention during sexual encounters even if they do not have 

power in their relationships. 

* Many women are isolated in their homes or are in 

other ways outside the mainstream of currently direction 

prevention efforts. 

* Women are the primary caretakers of infected men 

and children, often postponing their own heal th. Even if no 

one else in a woman's family is infected, she is still the 

primary caretaker. 

* There is a paucity of research on the progress ion 

of HIV infection in women, and that which does exist is 

discounted because it is smaller than the body of research on 

men -- the classic catch-22. 

While AIDS services are beginning to address the needs 

of women and AIDS, most concern women only as potential 
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transmitters of HIV infection and bearers of infected 

children. Services are needed for all women, regardless of 

their reproductive capacity or intent. Due to continued 

emphasis on risk groups instead of risk behaviors, most women 

do not consider themselves at risk for HIV infection. 

Conducting nonjudgmental, thorough risk assessments are 

necessary if women are to be diagnosed early, therefore 

increasing their life expectancy. Services for women must 

include comprehensive medical and psychosocial care, as well as 

the protection of their legal and human rights. 

I have about five recommendations. 

1) Medical Services: Medical programs which address 

the HIV-related needs of all women, regardless of childbearing 

status, must be established. Most family planning, sexually 

transmitted disease, and prenatal clinics now include some HIV 

risk assessment in their services. However, the elimination of 

anonymous testing in those sites restricts women's choices in 

getting anonymously tested and pr9vides a coercive intent to 

have them test confidentially. Anonymous testing should be 

reinstated at all locations. These programs should include 

staff who are knowledgeable about the medical manjfestations of 

HIV in women and who have been specifically trained to counsel 

and assist women. 

Ideally, we should develop comprehensive care centers 

which offer medical, psychosocial, legal and mental health 

services to HIV infected women, all in the same spot. These 

facilities would provide direct care, in addition to being a 

resource for women's centers throughout the State. One model 

for this is the Children's Hospital AIDS Program which offers 

direct care for children and then ancillary support services 

for the rest of their family. At the same time, all treatment 

and assessment programs should establish women's clinics so 

that women with HIV have access to gynecologic care. 

Currently, only one treatment assessment program has a 
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gynecological clinic. The gynecological clinic is the Newark 

Women's AID clinic out of UMDNJ. And additionally, slated to 

start is a treatment assessment program at the Atlantic City 

Medical Center which will have a gynecological clinic, but it 

doesn't exist yet. The other problem is that gynecologists and 

infectious disease doctors have to talk to each other. When 

desired by the woman, all efforts should be made to schedule 

pediatric visits and mothers' visits at the same time so that 

childcare and transportation are lesser barriers to women's 

access to health care. 

The next recommendation concerns education and 

prevention. Culturally sensitive prevention and education, 

counseling, and voluntary HIV screening programs for women must 

be expanded. These programs need to reach poor, minority, and 

drug using women, particularly women who are uninfected but at 

risk. Education and counseling aimed at altering risky 

behaviors, such as the sharing of needles for injection drug 

use and unprotected sex, are critical. Drug treatment programs 

must expand to be accessible to women, including pregnant 

women, and to allow women flexibility in maintaining family 

relations. Threatened with losing their cjlildren, women may 

not seek out the treatment they need. Policies must reflect 

support of the family unit, and not be punitive against a 

mother. 

Programs also must be expanded to target teenage 

girls, college students, divorcees, women whose husbands engage 

in risky behaviors, and lesbians and bisexual women. Outreach 

efforts should be conducted in places women go: beauty 

parlors, nail salons, aerobic and fitness centers, bars, 

laundromats, and malls. 

Can't you just see it? HIV booth in a mall? 

Quakerbridge. (laughter) 

The next recommendation is about health care workers: 

restrictions on health care workers, as well as calls for 
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mandatory testing of health care workers, disproportionately 

affect women as the majority of all health care workers. 

Mandatory testing for any population must be opposed as counter 

to the_ public health interest. Mandatory testing only drives 

people away from being tested. Instead, the enforcement of 

universal precautions would take care of people's concerns 

about health care workers. 

Al 1 heal th care providers in the State should become 

familiar with HIV disease because of the continually expanding 

population of men, women, and children infected with HIV. 

Training for gynecologists is particularly essential. A 

protocol for the treatment of women with HIV disease should be 

developed. Currently, only protocols for treating HIV-positive 

men, pregnant women, and children have been developed by the 

State Department of Health. Training and education in HIV 

disease must be mandated for all health care providers. This 

education should be culturally sensitive and gender-specific. 

My final recommendation concerns reproductive rights. 

The current policy of the Centers for Disease Control and the 

New Jersey State Department of Health is for HIV-positive women 

to postpone and avoid pregnancy. This poli~y results in 

limiting women's choices. HIV-positive women have the same 

rights to bear children as do all other women. At the same 

time, HIV-positive women's access to abortion services are 

limited and/or denied based on hysteria and fear by some 

abortion providers. 

New Jersey's AIDS epidemic is a harbinger of things to 

come for the nation. We have the opportunity to lead the 

country in providing humane, compassionate and comprehensive 

care to women. The New Jersey Women and AIDS Network is 

committed to advocating for such leadership. We hope you will 

join in our efforts. Thank you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you. Can you te 11 me if the 

new appropriation from the New Jersey Department of Health is 

going to do any of these things that you recommend? 
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MS . BANZHAF : It's woefully inadequate. For example, 

although they did ask for expanded funds for treatment 

assessment programs, they did not ask for funds to include 

gynecologic care. We think that's essential. Treatment 

assessment programs need to be expanded but women cannot be 

expected to have to go twice to a heal th care provider. So, 

they're woefully inadequate. 

Additionally, the development of the Ryan White Care 

funds and that federal influx of money, I think, has 

contributed to the fact that the State Department of Health has 

not fought for more funds, thinking that the federal dollars 

can help pick up the tab. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Funds will replace State dollars. 

Right. 

MS. BANZHAF: Right. However, the Ryan White Care Act 

does not include money for education and prevention which is, 

of course, the most cost-effective way to spend dollars. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: And you say that all anonymous 

testing has been now cut out? 

MS. BANZHAF: No. Anonymous testing has been 

restricted to 17 sites around the State that are run by the 

Department of Health. Previously, to January '91, any place 

that provided HIV testing could offer someone either anonymous 

or confidential testing. However, now, only anonymous testing 

is offered at those State Department of Heal th sites. So, if 

you go to your normal family planning clinic for your annual 

checkup and you decide that you want to get HIV tested, unless 

you decide to make an additional trip, you're stuck with 

confidential testing. That move coincided with the State 

Department of Health requiring reporting of names and addresses 

of all cases of HIV infection that were revealed through a 

confidential test. So, it's sort of, you know-- It's a 

self-serving mechanism. They wanted to have people be reported 

so they eliminated anonymous testing. 
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MS. FRANCIS: 

MS. BANZHAF: 

MS. FRANCIS: 

MS. BANZHAF: 

To 17 places you said? 

Yes, 17 places. 

Fairly well distributed geographically? 

Yes. It's most counties, I guess, up in 

the northwest, who have to travel. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Has there been any real concerted 

action by any governmental agency to try to prevent women with 

HIV from having babies? They are, you said, recommended that 

they do not have babies. 

MS. BANZHAF: Right. Unfortunately, the reports are 

anecdotal rather than documented. Women will report being 

counseled in such things as: "You don't want to ki 11 your 

baby, do you?" I mean, it's the exact opposite of sort of the 

pro-choice message, by passing on HIV infection that would be 

the irresponsible thing to do. At the same time, because New 

Jersey has-- But we don't have hard data on coercion to get 

abortions. We have more the soft data, the pressures, the 

judgments. HIV-positive women who are pregnant mainly find out 

about their HIV positive status when they' re about three to 

four months pregnant, so imagine being hit with that al 1 at 

once. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: But doesn't the child have a 

fifty-fifty chance of not having it? 

MS. BANZHAF: No. It's gone down, actually, to 

anywhere from 7 percent to 40 percent; the average is about 30 

percent. 

MS. FRANCIS: Are not HIV positive? 

MS. BANZHAF: Are HIV positive. So 70 percent are not 

HIV positive. 

MS. FRANCIS: Oh, oh, okay. I read it the other way. 

MS. BANZHAF: However, we don't know a lot about when 

maternal-fetal transmission occurs, but we do know that if a 

woman has been very recently infected or if she is at very late 

stages of her HIV disease and has actual AIDS or a T cell count 
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of under 200, that she has a greater 1 ikel ihood of passing on 

the infection. But for an HIV-positive asymptomatic woman 

who's healthy, herself, it seems as though she has a very low 

risk of transmitting HIV to her baby. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: What kind of count was that you 

said? AT cell? 

MS . BANZHAF : It ' s a T c e 11 count . It's one of the 

markers of the immune system and you could get a laboratory 

test done to determine what your count is. The normal count is 

about 1200 and the AIDS case definition may be revised to 

include everyone with a T cell count under 200. If that 

happens, not only does it not include women specific 

opportunistic infections and cancers, but it also would explode 

the numbers of people who have AIDS. But it still wouldn't 

necessarily capture women in that diagnoses, in that definition. 

MS. FRANCIS: Could you recap? I started to write 

down that of the women in New Jersey, is it HIV-positive women 

or women with AIDS, or do we sometimes use that interchangably? 

MS. BANZHAF: The actual percentages, for example, of 

populations? 

MS. FRANCIS: Yes. You had said 68 percent were-­

MS. BANZHAF: Those are AIDS cases. 

MS. FRANCIS: AIDS, okay. 

MS. BANZHAF: Right. 

MS. FRANCIS: What were the numbers again? 

Sixty-eight percent African-American--

latina. 

MS. BANZHAF: Twenty-one percent white and 11 percent 

SENATOR LIPMAN: How much African-American? 

MS. BANZHAF: Sixty-eight percent. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: That's what I thought you said. 

MS. BANZHAF: Yes. In Essex County it's 91 percent 

African-American. I didn't even talk about orphans, you know, 

and the potential stresses and concerns that the entire State 
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wi 11 have from the untimely deaths of women due to HIV and 

AIDS. I mean, if we' re talking about 25, 000 women infected 

with HIV, potentially we could be talking about 50, 000 

children, at minimum. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: There was a large article recently in 

the newspaper about grandmothers who were very resentful about 

having to take care of their grandchildren. They had finished 

all the day care, and so forth, and now that their children 

have died and left children, they' re now being pressed into 

service. 

MS . BANZHAF : Yes. I was raised by my grandmother, 

myself, so I know how hard it is on them. At the same time, we 

don't hear the stories about how the grandmothers continue to 

give and give and give and give. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: And give. Right. 

MS. FRANCIS: Could I ask you to amplify a little on 

the fact that you said the CDC hasn't yet added the 

gynecological manifestations as part of the -- whatever the 

technical term is--

MS. BANZHAF: AIDS case definitions. 

MS. FRANCIS: AIDS case definitions. I know that 

there's been a lot more awareness about that. Are they just 

working it through their process to do it or are they resisting 

doing it? 

MS. BANZHAF: They're completely resisting doing it 

and it's really a case of-- I can't figure it out. It seems 

like nothing more than sexist discrimination in that they say, 

"Well women in the general population who don't have HIV 

infection get chronic vaginal candidiasis so we don't want to 

alarm those women." Well, why not alarm them? 

MS. FRANCIS: Because- a percentage of them will be HIV 

positive. 

MS. BANZHAF: Exactly. Exactly. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: May be. They may be HIV positive. 
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MS. BANZHAF: Similarly, they have herpes on the list 

of AIDS case defining illnesses and it's qualified; it's herpes 

lesions that last longer than a month. Well, so we can qualify 

vaginal candidiasis. We can say three cases of vaginal 

candidiasis occurring within six months, something like that. 

Additionally, the cervical cancer concern is ve~y real and 

women who have HIV infection and human papilloma virus -- or 

HPV have very rapidly progressing cervical cancer, like 

cervical cancer that can go from Class III to full cancer in a 

period of two months. And cervical cancer is a completely 

preventable kind of cancer. I mean, albeit it might take 

surgery, but if you catch it earlier enough it doesn't have to 

spread to other parts of the body. That has been well 

documented but it is a standard catch-22, because the CDC 

didn't start a natural history study of women five years ago or 

ten years ago, even with smaller numbers they say, "Oh, we 

don't have the research." Then we say, "But these things are 

happening," and they say, "Oh, but, you've got to have more 

research." 

MS. FRANCIS: Let me hook that to what you said about 

our Department of Health having protocols fo~ the treatment of 

pregnant women-- Recap what you said, for males, for pregnant 

women and for children, but not for non pregnant women. 

MS. BANZHAF: Exactly. 

MS. FRANCIS: Is that something that's being resisted 

developing that protocol or is it something that's in the works? 

MS. BANZHAF: It is supposed to be in the works. It's 

that pregnant women have taken priority. I should say that the 

State Department of Health is conducting a data base study to 

determine whether or not women with HIV have died from cervical 

cancer in this State as grist for continuing to pressure the 

CDC to acknowledge cervical cancer and other women-specific 

diseases. That was one of the th~ngs that was recommended out 

of the State AIDS Plan. It hasn't been finished yet, though, 

and it got started about a year after it was proposed. 
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MS. FRANCIS: Do you have a sense-- Well, the 

National Institute of Health is now headed by a woman who seems 

fairly aware of such issues. Is that something that helps? 

MS. BANZHAF: She is fairly aware and progress is 

being made. There are a number of natural history studies that 

are due to start on women. And, in fact, the Newark Women's 

AIDS clinic and Dr. Pat Closer there is heading up a women's 

research consortia to compete for the federal funds for those 

large-scale natural history studies. We feel very strongly 

that one of those natural history studies should take place in 

New Jersey. Her clinic sees 500 women and they have--

SENATOR LIPMAN: It should take place in Essex. 

MS. BANZHAF: Right. Yes. 

MS. FRANCIS: Excuse me, I didn't mean to interrupt. 

If it doesn't take place in Essex County, sombody' s missing a 

major point. 

MS. BANZHAF: That's right. Exactly. I mean, when 35 

percent of AIDS cases in Essex County are women, we ought to 

wake up and smell the coffee. 

Similarly, it is projected by the National Institute 

of Health that AIDS in men and women will be e~al by the year 

2000. 

MS. FRANCIS: Nationally? 

MS. BANZHAF: Nationally. So, we aren't prepared, but 

we can get there if we stop looking at women as vectors of 

transmission and if we stop focusing on only pregnancy. I'm 

not saying stop focusing on pregnancy, but don't make that be 

our only focus, which by and large it has been. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: All right. Does anybody else--

We've been monopolizing this conversation. 

Well, thank you very much. 

MS. BANZHAF: Thank you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: I look forward to discussing HIV and 

tuberculosis with you. 
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MS. BANZHAF: I'd be happy to. Thanks. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: All right, Ms. Joan Pennington. 

She's from the National Center for Protective Parents in Civil 

Child Sexual Abuse Cases. Ms. Pennington. 

H. J 0 AN PENN ING T 0 N, ESQ.: Senator, members of 

the panel, I'd like to thank you for this opportunity to 

contribute information and recommendations for new or revised 

legislation which would help to overcome existing obstacles to 

the legal equality of the sexes in the context of violence 

directed primarily towards women. As defined by the 

Commission, these acts of violence include the crime of 

incest. This most heinous of crimes is often the first, but 

rarely the last act of violence directed primarily towards 

women as young girls, as children, and yes, even as babies. 

Child sexual abuse is a sexual act imposed upon a 

child. Children lack the emotional, maturational and cognitive 

development to consent to such acts. Sexual abuse is defined 

in most states as any non-consensual sexual 

most states a child less than 17 years old 

incapable of consent to such an act. 

contact, and in 

is held to be 

Statistics indicate that one in four females is likely 

to be sexually victimized before she is 18 years old. Reported 

cases of all types of child abuse increased from 416,000 in 

1976 to 1.7 million in 1984. The percentage of child sexual 

abuse cases increased from 3 percent of al 1 child abuse to 13 

percent in 1984. Thus, the number of reported child sexual 

child abuse cases rose from 12,480 cases in 1976 to 220,000 in 

1984. At least 90 percent of the abusers are male. Fifty 

percent of the sexual abuse perpetrators in the 1984 sample 

were natural parents, and 31 percent were either step-parents, 

foster-parents or adopted parents. Therefore, 82 percent of 

child sexual abuse is committed by parents, or parent-figures 

in the child• s 1 if e. A large number of child sexual abuse 

cases are never reported to information gathering organizations 
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that produce statistics, such as the American Humane 

Association and the National Center for Child Abuse and 

Neglect, and the u~reported incidents may compose the majority 

of all of the cases. 

Any act of alleged intrafamily sexual abuse is viewed 

in our society as inherently unbelievable because it is 

difficult to believe that any parent would seek sexual 

gratification by exploiting their own child. This choice not 

to believe is reinforced by deeply rooted taboos against 

incest. Most cases of child sexual abuse are processed through 

the criminal justice system, initiated by criminal complaints, 

or through the juvenile justice system, initiated by abuse and 

neglect petitions. The majority of these cases can never be 

proven because there are no witnesses other than the child and 

the abuser. The truth is hard to determine as wel 1 when the 

allegations are raised in the context of civil cases, such as 

divorce, custody and visitation disputes. 

A child who is sexually abused by a parent may be the 

most vulnerable of all victims. Most children are dependent 

upon their parents for virtually all physical and emotional 

nurturance. In addition, they are subject to _their parent's 

authority and control. A child is ill-equipped to defend 

herself from a parent's sexual abuse, therefore, the society 

and the legal system must provide adequate protection. The 

reported cases of child sexual abuse increased by the 

thousands, indicating recognition of the problem, and 

indicating that those who become aware of the problem are 

turning to the legal system for relief. However, the rate at 

which the courts are making findings of sexual abuse is 

disproportionately low to the actual incidence. 

When al legations of sexual abuse are raised during a 

divorce, custody or visitation dispute, the burden proof is on 

the accuser. Since these allegations are so difficult to prove 

many such allegations are found to be unsubstantiated. This 
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does not mean that the allegations are untrue, or fabricated, 

merely that there's not enough evidence to overcome the burden 

of evidentiary proof. The final result, then, is that the 

final finding is a finding of no abuse. 

As stated above, 90 percent of child sexual abuse is 

perpetrated by males, therefore, when allegations of child 

sexual abuse arise, they are nearly always raised by the 

mother. In these instances equal justice is denied to females 

as child victims, and as mothers of the victims seeking to 

protect them through the courts. Generally, these allegations 

are not believed by the courts. Even though there is not 

enough evidence to substantiate the allegations the abuse, in 

fact, may well have occurred. In the ensuing custody or 

visitation litigation the child's right to be free from abuse 

is subsumed in the process. Sending a child who has actually 

been abused into a dangerous environment may merely be 

incidental to a court order, instead of the child's interest 

being the primary focus of the court's decision. 

Mothers who otherwise would be awarded custody because 

they have been the primary care givers of the children before 

the separation, generally lose custod~ if they raise 

allegations of sexual abuse. These mothers bring their case to 

the legal system first, but the legal system does not believe 

them and orders them to turn the children over to the alleged 

abuser. Out of sheer frustration and desperation, some mothers 

place the children in hiding, or go underground with them. In 

these situations everyone loses. The protecting parent and the 

child become fugitives. The other parent, who might even be 

innocent, loses all contact with the child, and the legal 

system is viewed by all as a failure. 

Judge Charles B. Schudson, a Wisconsin Circuit Court 

judge, is a member of the faculties of the National Council of 

Juvenile and Family Court Judges and the National Judicial 

College, and is considered the nation's foremost expert on new 
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laws and techniques that affect children in the courtroom. In 

a book he recently co-authored with Billie Wright Dziech, 

entitled "On Trial: America's Courts and their Treatment of 

Sexually Abused Children," he advocates for legislative 

reform. He states that the best defense against false 

allegations of sexual abuse is implementation of procedures 

that will increase childrens' participation in the legal 

system. To those who claim that innocent defendants are being 

prosecuted because of malicious stories from devious children, 

Judge Schudson points out that one must first allow the 

children to tell their stories, even if it means telling that 

story while seated in the lap of the other parent in the 

courtroom, using puppets in the courtroom, or television 

cameras, it is better than no testimony at all, because the 

child has frozen up at the sight of a crowded courtroom, the 

presence of her rapist, or this man towering over her in a 

black robe. 

"There is no validity to the claim by VOCAL" -- this 

Judge Schudson, a quote from his book -- "and other opponents 

of legal reform that attention to child victim's rights somehow 

threatens the constitutional rights of the defendants. Child 

advocates have not argued that American courts should abandon 

traditional protections for defendants. Responsible 

professionals have not advocated rejecting the constitutional 

principle that the accused is innocent until proven guilty. 

They have not maintained that defendants be denied the right to 

confront their accusers. They have argued only that sometimes 

in order to facilitate discovery of truth, confrontation of a 

child must occur in ways not usually employed in courtrooms. 

Child advocates have not maintained that the admittance of 

hearsay evidence should be the rule in sexual abuse trials. 

They have argued only that in special instances, certain 

hearsay statements by children should be considered under the 

long-accepted category of exceptions to the hearsay rule. 
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Respect for the rights of child victims does not limit the 

rights of defendants; it helps balance the scales of justice so 

that the system can foster the quest for the truth." 

A comprehensive review of the rules of evidence and 

court rules and procedures should take place with an eye toward 

reforms which could be implemented to augment the "quest for 

truth," and indeed better balance 'the scales of justice." 

Other reforms should require an immediate halt to a custody or 

visitation proceeding when allegations of sexual abuse are 

raised, and investigation initiated by the court. If a child 

alleges that a parent has abused her, the child should remain 

in the custody of the nonabusive parent during the 

investigation. We must stop punishing children for disclosing 

sexual abuse of a parent by tearing them from the only safe 

relationship they may have. Obviously, in weighing the 

conflicting harms, it is far more equitable that a parent visit 

with the child in a supervised setting during the investigation 

than that a child who has in fact been raped be forced to 

submit to the control of her rapist. Custody or visitation 

should never be decided until the investigation has been 

conducted and a report submitted. 

In every child abuse sexual abuse case an attorney 

should be appointed to represent the interests of the child as 

opposed to the interest of both or either of the parents. This 

appointment, however, should not be made as a meaningless 

gesture as it is in most cases today. Standards must be 

implemented in order that these Guardians Ad Litem know what is 

expected of them, who they are accountable to, and the 

standards to which they are to be held. Judges must be 

encouraged to appoint qualified, neutral attorneys and must 

enforce standards requ1r1ng ~.ggressive representation of the 
'~ 

interests of the child. It is imperative that these standards 

or guidelines be applicable throughout the State of New Jersey 

and that they be enforced just as uniformly. 
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Equal treatment of women in the courts, fair and 

unbiased investigation of allegations of child sexual abuse and 

procedural reforms in the way in which these cases are tried, 

would make parental abduction in civil child sexual abuse cases 

unnecessary. 

Other concerns exist in the area of gender bias in the 

courts. New Jersey was the first State to appoint a task force 

to study the issue and is still the forerunner in evaluating 

and making recommendations to alleviate the problem. 

It was not only determined that gender bias did exist 

in the judicial system, but that it had a particular negative 

impact on women who were victims of domestic violence and women 

who were victims of rape. The study did not address civil 

child sexual abuse cases, but it does not take a large leap in 

logic to determine that women 

and foremost, they are women. 

are not believed because first 

It would help to remedy many 

problems in these cases if a study was undertaken to discover 

exactly how, and in what context gender bias in the courts has 

a negative impact on this type of case. As concluded in the 

evaluation, recommendations and implications of the task force 

study: 
11 Some judges appear to be 1 i eve that once they 

eliminate gender bias in matters such as forms of address and 

appointments to fee-generating cases, they have eliminated 

gender bias in the courts. They are reluctant to move beyond 

court interaction to the complexities of gender bias in 

substantive decision-making. Although reducing gender bias in 

the court environment creates conditions favorable to its 

reduction in the more difficult areas of case outcome, and 

understanding of one aspect of the problem does not necessarily 

lead to an understanding of the other. 
q 

"A second problem is that many judicial acts and 

omissions that are manifestations of gender bias are not 

understood as such. A primary duty of a task force is to 
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explain why indifference to spouse abuse in custody awards, 

f ai 1 ure to enforce child support and de minimus to the family 

of a homemaker in a wrongful death suit, to cite three 

examples, constitute gender bias, and why gender bias is 

inimical to fundamental fairness." 

Thus, equal justice cannot be achieved for victims of 

child sexual abuse cases until the impact of gender bias is 

addressed as an integral part of the outcome of these cases. 

Our Center has just begun to analyze each of the components of 

civil child sexual abuse cases, and to set our own objectives 

so that we may better serve our clients. We are interested in 

any reforms that will improve the current failures in the 

system. 

In closing, I would like to quote Judge Schudson one 

more time, and he says, "At the very heart of the American 

experience lies the conviction that when laws and traditions 

are unjust, they must be changed. That theme dominates our 

legal traditions from the Declaration of Independence to the 

Constitutional Convention to countless Supreme Court decisions 

and reminds -- indeed, requires us -- to re-examine our laws to 

assure that they provide justice for all. We cannot forsake 

that history; if in our passion to protect one individual's 

rights, we ignore those of another, especially those of a 

child, we cannot claim to be a just society." 

Thank you. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Thank you. We're going to ask you 

back. 

MS. FRANCIS: I had actually two different quest ions. 

Toward the end when you were talking about-­

SENATOR LIPMAN: Gender bias. 

MS. FRANCIS: Gender bias not understood as such, and 

you mentioned the wrongful death. 

wrongful death doesn't get the--

For instance, homemakers 

MS. PENNINGTON: The amounts of money. 
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MS. FRANCIS: The compensatory award that wrongful 

death of a wage earner would get. 

MS. PENNINGTON: An accountant. 

MS. FRANCIS: Right. You gave a few other examples 

that I think I missed. 

MS. PENNINGTON: The other one was the importance of 

spousal abuse to be considered in award of custody. The thing 

is that gender bias is so pervasive and it hits in so many 

different ways, it's hard sometimes to point out to judges 

themselves how they• ve even been gender biased. And I think 

this is what the next step is. Okay, we've said gender bias 

exists. It exists if you· re a judge, women judges against 

women attorneys and against women litigants. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Really? 

MS. PENNINGTON: Oh yes, yes. That was what the 

report had said. But the main thrust of it was, because they 

focused, they knew that the big problem areas at court were 

domestic violence cases. I must point out that for 

six-and-a-half years I was a staff attorney with Legal Services 

here in Trenton, and I represented battered women, and I 

represented in custody and visitation cases. I. can tell you 

that the court systems are absolutely and totally biased 

against women. I had custody cases that were involving 

suspicions of child sexual abuse and actual child sexual abuse 

and nobody wanted to believe it. And I• ve had attorneys tel 1 

me that they have advised clients, 11 If you go and raise these 

allegations that your child has been sexually abused, you're 

going to lose custody, 11 and have advised these women not to 

raise this issue. Now that•s a pretty serious thing. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Yes, very deep bias. 

MS. FRANCIS: That issue has been raised in a context 

I work in which is representing our Department on the 

Governor's Task Force on Child Abuse and Neglect and it's been 

discussed from the child protection direction, not from our 
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women's right direction, and I'm interested in whether you see 

that as one wedge into that issue? 

MS. PENNINGTON: Well, the problems I've seen-- When 

child sexual abuse is raised in the context of an abuse and 

neglect proceeding it gets the serious focus that it deserves, 

and when it's raised in the context of a er iminal complaint. 

The problem areas, and there have been many articles and I cite 

some of them in my end notes, there are studies that just 

totally disbelieve allegations merely because they're raised in 

the context of a divorce or a custody proceeding. This is why 

we are focusing particularly on those cases. Those are the 

cases where mothers had to go underground because nobody 

believed them. They went through the court system. Many of 

these cases have been going on for years. 

There was one case that's still in the courts that the 

mother caught the father sexually abusing the child when she 

was a year-and-a-half old. She left him and she divorced him. 

She could not get the court to accept evidence medical 

evidence that the child had been abused -- by three different 

doctors, one of which was a children's hospital in New Orleans 

that had expertise in diagnosing child sexua_l abuse, had found 

scarring tissue, had found permanent damage that was caused by 

constant and continual sexual abuse of this child. The child 

is now nine years old; the case is still not over. When the 

mother first tried to take her into hiding, the mother died of 

a brain aneurysm. The child turned up in a court represented 

by the Legal Services for children in San Francisco. Because 

of the interstate custody laws, the judge in California 

notified the authorities in Mississippi where the child came 

from. The father and the father's attorney and the District 

Attorney from Mississippi came up and the court turned the 

child over to them with conditions that when they took her back 

they would appoint a guardian. They would see that she was 

placed in a neutral setting; all of these conditions. They 
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went back to Mississippi and the conditions were either not 

complied with at all or were just sham proceedings that 

pretended to do what they had promised to do. And this child 

still lives in the home of her father's parents where he has 

actual and total access to her. And right after she went there 

it hit the newspapers that the child had recanted and said her 

father never did anything to her. 

MS. FRANCIS: Now in 25 words or less, if a woman 

believes her male partner is abusing a child, if she stays with 

the partner and has someone else bring a child welfare claim, 

it's more likely to be believed. If she essentially takes more 

control of the situation, chooses to ask for a divorce, or you 

know, seek a divorce, she's less likely to have the chilc 

sexual abuse claim dealt with. So, it's again a case of women 

taking control and generating negative reaction. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: Right. 

MS. PENNINGTON: Yes, and you have to understand, too, 

that when a judge tells a woman, "I don't believe you. You're 

trying this man from having his rightful visitation. And so 

you either turn the child over to him for visitation or I'm 

going to change custody, and he' 11 get custody .and you won't 

even have visitation." So, that's when they run. They know 

that this father has sexually abused the child. They can't 

prove it. I mean, this mother that went underground and died 

of a brain aneurysm, she saw with her own eyes, but it was her 

word against his. But she could not bring herself to do what 

the court had said. Once you disobey a court order, you· re 

dead meat, because judges are very angry about it. 

That was the whole issue in the Elizabeth Morgan 

case. The judge was outraged because she refused to comply 

with his orders. And that's when women run, and it's a 

terrible life to have to go underground. And yet the 

underground sprang up because of other people who had sympathy 

for these women who were willing to risk law suits, willing to 
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risk going to jail themselves for aiding and abetting in a 

felony. Because if a felony warrant is issued and the FBI goes 

after somebody, which is very, very common in these cases, 

anyone who helps them can be held for aiding and abetting the 

obstruction of justice. 

MS. FRANCIS: I just had a kind of reaction that what 

you said about the underground going up, and I don't know as 

much of the history of the battered woman shelter movement as 

others here, but it seems as though that movement sprang up as 

sort of an underground of safe houses and so on. And this 

issue seems to be where that issue was, what, 15 years ago? 

MS. PENNINGTON: Except for one difference. It wasn't 

against the law to help a battered woman. I mean, you could be 

in trouble with the batterer; he might come after you as wel 1 

as the woman. However, under these situations it's against the 

law, and it is an illegal practice. I equate it more with the 

underground railroad during the Civil War, or the people who 

were evading the draft who went to Canada, and the people that 

helped them on the way there. 

But you see, what always happens is when a great 

injustice occurs, people will not just accept it. That's what 

this country's about; that's what Judge Schudson was talking 

about. When something's wrong with our laws, we have to change 

them. And if we don't do it, the people will do it through 

acts of ci vi 1 disobedience. So the consequences of these acts 

of civil disobedience-- I mean, you have to accept the 

consequences of what you do. 

But all of this could be avoided if women and children 

would be given a fair chance to present their case in court. 

It's as simple as that. That's the way to stop child 

abductions and the _whole underground movement. Just listen to 

what they have to say. Give them a little bit of credibility 

and investigate what they say. Help children learn how to 

testify in court. If they need to tell their stories sitting 

115 



on their mothers lap, let them. And as Judge Schudson also 

said, "We· re not saying to deny the defendant their right to 

their constitutional heritage." 

MS. FRANCIS: To change the subject: You said 90 

percent of child sexual abusers are male, when the previous 

witnesses, Vicki Gaudreau and Bonnie Garner talked -- I was 

asking some questions because their testimony -- they said that 

essentially the perpetrators of child sexual abuse are fairly 

evenly distributed between men and women. I'm really puzzled 

by the great discrepancy there. Without trying to presume an 

answer, my sense is that the way we are socialized would lead 

me to believe that the power and control -- the acting out of 

that -- would be more male against female, and yet I'm not 

looking for that to have to be the answer. But there's a real 

big discrepancy between 50 percent and 90 percent. 

MS. PENNINGTON: The figures that I got were taken 

from David Finkelhor, who is I guess probably the best known 

researcher in child sexual abuse cases, and the American Humane 

Association which is pretty much recognized. 

MS. FRANCIS: I• m sorry, could you repeat the two 

sources there? 

MS. PENNINGTON: David Finkelhor, who is at the 

University of New Hampshire, is recognized as the country's 

leading researcher on child sexual abuse. And these figures 

were taken from two of his articles and the American Humane 

Association. 

MS. SEHAM: Bobbi, I think that was more of a theory 

of hers rather than figures. 

MS. PENNINGTON: Now, we· re not denying that females 

do commit child sexual abuse, and a lot of the discrepancy is 

when you say reported cases. See the greatest number of 

cases-- If you think domestic violence cases are under 

reported, these are even more so, whether it's more of the male 
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perpetrators that are corning to view-- And you're also adding 

in pedophiles, and boys that are being targets of child sexual 

abuse as well. 

One article I read does say there are many statistics 

out there and the only one you can absolutely and truly rely on 

is that it's the most under reported crime that there is. 

SENATOR LIPMAN: If there are no more questions? 

Thank you very much. 

(HEARING CONCLUDED) 

117 





APPENDIX 





I WELCOME YOU ALL HERE TODAY FOR THE FIRST OF TWO PUBLIC HEARINGS ,, 
TO BE HELD BY THE COMMISSION ON SEX DISCRIMINATION IN THE STATUTES. OVER 

THE YEARS THE COMMISSION HAS HEARD FROM THE PUBLIC ON A VARIETY OF 

ISSUES THAT AFFECT THE RELATIVE LEGAL POSITION OF WOMEN AND MEN, BUT 

TODAY WE ARE FACED WITH AN AWESOME PUBLIC AWARENESS OF THE ISSUE WE ARE 

TO EXAMINE, COMBINED WITH A DIFFICULT POLITICAL CONFIGURATION IN THE 

STATE AND AN EVEN MORE DIFFICULT ECONOMY. WE ARE HERE TODAY TO TRY TO 

AVOID THE DISASTER FOR WOMEN THAT IS ALMOST CERTAINLY THE RESULT OF THIS 

COMBINATION OF EVENTS. 

IN HARD TIMES, VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN BECOl\IES MORE FREQUENT AND 

MORE EXTREME. WE ARE ALREADY HEARING FROM THE FRINGES THAT WELFARE 

MOTHERS AND MINIMUM WAGE EARNERS (MANY OF WHOM ARE WOMEN) ARE THE 

SOURCE OF OUR ECONOMIC PROBLEMS. THIS IS PATENTLY RIDICULOUS AND 

THINKING, FEELING HUMAN BEINGS KNOW IT. AN EASY FIX THAT BLAMES WOMEN IS 

ACCEPTABLE TO SOME, HOWEVER, PRECISELY BECAUSE IT FEEDS THEIR NEED TO 1: 

BLAME THE VICTIMS AND TRUST THE ESTABLISHED POWERS THAT BE. OUR NEW 
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dumn I THE I'4"EXT FEW WEEKS 

_ You have just been through an experience which may have been 
very frightening. You may have experienced something that you thought 
would never happen to you or which only happens to other people. How­
ever, you used to think about sexual assault, your recent experience may 
change your thoughts and feelings. During the next few days or weeks. 
you may experience some feelings that are unfamiliar or different than 
you normally feel. Although this may be difficult to accept, understand 
that these feelings are normal for someone who has experienced a crisis 
and they will diminish with time. You may feel confused about what you 
are experiencing and that too, is normal. 

Some of the feelings others have experienced which you may too 
include: anger, feeling isolated as if no one understands, unclean and 
dirty, different from your friends, frightened of your assailant, or fearful 
of being alone. You may experience difficulty in sleeping and eating. You 
may have "aches and pains" throughout your body and feel as though you 
have no energy. At times, you may feel out of control of your emotions. 

It is important that during this time of extra stress you take extra 
care of yourself. Some people feel that if they ignore the symptoms and 
pretend nothing happened, they will feel better faster. Although this may 
work for some, many people need to acknowledge what happened and talk 
about their feelings. During the immediate aftermath, you may want to 
lessen your responsibilities so that you can rest physically and mentally, 
then return to your regular routine at your own pace. Let people know 
how they can help you during this time. 

Sometimes, talking about the assault will help you feel more in 
control and you may need to talk to a relative or friend, or with someone 
who has experience helping people who have been sexually assaulted. 
You can contact the Sexual Assault Services office at Rutgers University, 
located in 210 Willets Health Center on Douglass Campus. The phone 
number is (908) 932-1181. If no one is there when you call, consider 
leaving a message with the receptionist or on the answering machine and 
it will be returned as soon as possible. Although an appointment is not 
necessary, there are ti.mes during the day when the coordinator is on 
other parts of the campus and unavailable. 

All services are confidential. 

OFFICE OF SEXUAL ASSAULT SERVICES (908) 932-1181 
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In 1971, there were a series of sexual assaults at the 
University of Maryland in College Park, Maryland. The victims, 
abducted from the same parking lot, were left to deal with a system 
that was at times overwhelming, abusive and frightening. The 
university chose to ignore these crimes until forced to acknowledge 
their existence by the local press. Let me say that this was not 
unusual, as our knowledge about sexual assault was limited, the 
literature was scat, and our attitudes and laws archaic at best. 
I, along with other residence hall staff, with the support of the 
division of student affairs, responded to the needs of the victims 
and the campus community by developing the first rape crisis center 
on a college campus. Since that time, colleges and universities, 
with varying levels of interest, have grappled with the issue of 
sexual violence. 

This testimony which I present to you this afternoon, will 
provide you with information about sexual violence, primarily 
acquaintance rape, and propose a set of recommendations. Much of 
what I have to say is not new nor terribly profound. Some would 
charge that sexual violence is a fantasy of feminists and 
acquaintance rape and oxymoron. But I am here to tell you that the 
consistent, and often rewarded sexual violence against women on 
college campuses is neither fantasy nor contradictory but rather a 
national tragedy causing thousands of women each year to be denied 
the opportunity of an education free from fear •• it denies them the 
right to live, love or learn in an environment that fosters 
personal rights, development of boundaries and respect for human 
dignity. 

current research conducted by Mary Koss involving 6, oo college 
women and men on 32 different campuses, indicates that one in four 
college age women have been the victim of a completed or attempted 
sexual assault. It also indicates that 1 in 12 men acknowledge 
committing an act of sexual violence. Confirmed by other studies, 
over 80% of these assaults happened between people who knew each 
other. Although the surveys consistently support the numbers, 
there is a large discrepancy between the incidence of the crime and 
the reporting to police, administrators, and health or counseling 
center clinicians. The Koss research suggests that a full 42% of 
the victims told no one, ever, with only 5% reporting the crime to 
the police and another 5% reporting the incident to a rape crisis 
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center~ This is the epitome of a safe victim for who is safer to be 
terrorized than the person who tells no one. There are many 
reasons why women chose not to report a crime of sexual 
violence ..• they aren't sure how to define the act, knowing 
something awful happened but unsure of its illegality, or, they 
aren't aware of how to report, perhaps they have a belief system 
that is self-blaming and often project that belief onto others as 
well, they have an intense sense of fear, the sense of shame and 
humiliation prohibits seeking help, or, as with many colleges and 
universities who emulate our society as a whole, women are 
discouraged, whether overtly or covertly, from reporting this 
crime. 

There is another type of violence, almost always sexually 
based. that permeates our universities. This assault, primarily 
verbal yet focusing on the body, is beginning to receive some 
attention in the literature. Primarily written by Dr. Bernice 
Sandler of the Center for Women Policy Studies, it is the "crime" 
of peer harassment. Similar in nature to sexual harassment, it is 
often dismissed as a normal part of our culture ... a kind of boys 
will be boys or they are just having fun ... don't you have a sense 
of humor .•• attitude. Let me illustrate this crime for you. There 
are places on our campuses that women avoid walking because they 
know gangs of men will be hanging out of windows, sitting on steps, 
blocking sidewalks etc •.• commenting on the women's sexual 
attributes or desirability, or perhaps just visually harassing. 
Some women report that they avoid certain dining facilities as men 
will congregate at a particular table and "scope" the women as they 
wait in line •• sometimes holding up numbers to judge their physical 
appearance such as breast size. The list can go on but I think 
each one of you can think of instances in your own history where 
you have made changes based on your safety, security and desire to 
be free from harassment. Let 111e just say that when a name is given 
to a behavior, a name such as scopinq, acquaintance rape or gang 
rape, it not only allows us to study that behavior, but it 
suggests, at least to me, that there is a tremendous occurrence in 
order to warrant a title. 

Time limits me from providing you with the many examples of 
violence against women that occurs on a daily, hourly, or even 
minute by minute basis on our campuses. I am providing you with 
some literature and resources on this topic. So, let me move on to 
some recommendations. Prior to coming here today, I wrote to my 
colleagues, including students, at Rutgers University. What I am 
about to recommend is a compilation of their comments as well as 
suggestions made by some of the literature. I would also encourage 
you to obtain a recent opinion by the Honorable .John E. Bachman, 
J.s.c. on January 10, 1992 regarding the case of Christine 
Coverdale vs. Rutgers University, et al, where he discusses some of 
the difficulties universities have in assuring the safety of their 
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students- as well as some of the things that Rutgers did that were 
within his view as good practice. I am also providing you with 
the Rutgers University Acquaintance Rape Task Force Report, 
accepted by President Lawrence in May 1991 and currently being 
implemented by the Office of Sexual Assault Services. 

1. Adopt a written policy condemning sexual violence. Distribute 
this policy to every student and parent informing them that this 
behavior will not be tolerated, that there are consequences to this 
behavior, and that the university will pursue, to the full extent 
of its power, disciplinary action against those who offend. This 
policy needs to be distributed to faculty and staff as well and 
should outline the legal definition as well as the manner in which 
it is addressed in the student conduct code. Also, it should 
include information on the causes of sexual violence, with a 
particular emphasis on how alcohol use precedes most acquaintance 
rapes. Specific information on reporting, crisis intervention, 
medical and counseling services should be included. 

2. The Acquaintance Rape Task Force Report as well as most people 
in this field believe there should be a specific provision that 
prohibits sexual violence in the code of conduct. This also needs 
to include procedures which protect the rights of victims during 
hearing procedures (outlined in a resource I have provided). 
For example, the victim should have the right to be free of 
harassment from her assailant's peers prior to, during, and after 
the hearing. Additionally, she should have access to the decision 
reached by the hearing officer or board. 

3. Establishment of a comprehensive sexual assault services 
program that provides crisis intervention, counseling, educational 
programming all in a confidential manner. Establishment of this 
office must include adequate funding and support services. 
Additionally, this person/office must have access to, and be 
included in the administrative structure which makes decisions 
regarding sexual violence. This person should also review all 
administrative policies and protocol regarding sexual violence. 

4. Comprehensive educational programming. It is not enough to say 
that sexual violence will not be tolerated. Students come to 
college with a well developed sense of gender role stereotypes and 
consequent behaviors. These, as well as specific information about 
sexual violence need to be discussed in a variety of methods 
including literature, brochures, articles in the school newspaper, 
and mandatory attendance at rape awareness programs. The data 
tells us that the most vulnerable time to be sexu~lly assaulted is 
the summer after high school and the first year of college. It is 
important that this issue is addressed from the time that students 
state their intentions to attend a particular universi~y. 
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Mandatory programming at orientations sessions for all incoming 
students needs to occur. The data also tells us that there is a 
higher propensity for the occurrence of rape, and in particular 
gang rape, in all male housing units such as fraternities ... and in 
particular, when alcohol is present. Some would suggest that the 
behavior in these residences is predatory in nature. Mandatory 
programming is a must for these groups. All greek organizations 
need to be included as there is often lot of pressure put on 
sorority members not to report a rape by a fraternity member. 
These programs must include information on the strong correlation 
between alcohol and sexual violence and how it contributes to 
becoming victim as well as victimizer. This demands that 
programming be provided for both men and women. Additionally, the 
topic and issues involved in sexual violence should be included in 
the curriculum, for example in introductory writing courses, so 
that students continue to learn from a variety of sources and gain 
an understanding of the level of importance the university places 
on this issue. 

5. Training for faculty and staff on how to assist a person who 
has been sexually assaulted is very important. Often the residence 
hall staff are the first people/person the victim discloses the 
crime to and they need to be trained on this subject. Training 
must also be provided for police. This type of proqramming needs 
to be on an annual basis and must be supported by the 
administrative structure. 

6. Although the literature states that only 16% of rapes on a 
college campus happen between strangers, some priority has to be 
given to this issue. The safety and security of students can't be 
compromised. Lighting, shuttle buses, escorts, etc. all need to be 
reviewed whenever a crime occurs. 

I have been extremely brief in my comments but hope that this 
gives you a sense of some of the issues. Since coming to Rutgers 
over a year ago, there have · been consistent comments on the 
location of my office. Located on Douglass campus, almost 
everyone, including my 14 year old son, have commented that it is 
appropriate since more rapes surely occur there then anywhere else . 
and that rape and its reduction are women's issues. I want to 
clarify that misperception. Sexual violence is no more a woman's 
issue than being a lawyer is a man's job. Sexual violence is a 
cultural issue and needs to be addressed in that context. No 
longer can we focus our attention .on telling women how to feel 
safe, warning women to stay inside, and providing self defense 
courses. Timothy Beneke in his book states, "It is men who rape 
and men who collectively have the power to end rape." You and I 
have the power to make them listen and respond. 
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INTRODUCTION 

The fall 1989 and spring 1990 semesters were times of tension and 
controversy for the University. Students confronted 
administrators on a number of issues ranging from tuition 
increases to acquaintance rape. · 

Because of questions raised concerning the University's manner of 
dealing with acquaintance rape, President Blaustein asked that 
the Acquaintance Rape Task Force assess how the University 
currently handles acquaintance rape and recommend improvements, 
if needed. As a result, the existing Task Force, composed of 
staff and students, was expanded, and Dean Mary Hartman and 
Assistant Vice President David Burns were named as co-chairs. 
The widest and most inclusive representation of interests was 
sought on the Task Force. 

Subcommittees were formed to study education/prevention, student 
concerns, police/discipline, and counseling/health services. 
Three of the subcommittees completed their assessments and 
recommendations at the conclusion of the spring 1990 semester. 
Their reports are highlighted in this document and the complete 
reports are appended. Due to logistical and other problems the 
counseling/health services subcommittee has not yet concluded its 
work. It is anticipated that this subcommittee will reconvene 
over the spring 1991 semester. 

TASK FORCE REPORT 

Acquaintance rape, like the alcohol abuse that so frequently 
accompanies it, most often takes place in locations and at times 
when administrative attention is least available. Thus, under 
the best of circumstances, institutions can have only a limited 
impact on acquaintance rape: students themselves, particularly 
male students, must prevent acquaintance rape by altering their 
behavior and attitudes. However, this in no way minimizes the 
responsibilities that institutions do have for educating the 
community about acquaintance rape, for providing support services 
for victims/survivors, and for pursuing disciplinary action 
against assailants when acquaintance rapes occur. 

The Task Force found current services available to the community 
to be good, especially notinq the large number of knowledgeable 
and committed staff members and students working on the issue of 
acquaintance rape. The University has been dealinq with 
acquaintance rape directly at least since 1984 when the first 
Acquaintance Rape Task Force, composed of representatives of 
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counseling, health services, University police, deans of 
students, residence life, and student life policy offices, first 
came together to study the issue and to coordinate the efforts of 
the different offices. 

The Task Force found that the University currently has ~he 
following in place: 

1.) A written policy-on acquaintance rape printed in 
brochure form. The policy defines acquaintance rape, discusses 
the contexts in which it may occur, and lists resources and 
options (including disciplinary and criminal) available to 
victims/survivors. Rutgers also distributes two other brochures 
of a more general nature. 

2.) Programs which educate students about acquaintance rape 
and its incidence. There are a large number of programs offered 
to students through a number of different offices including 
Health Education, University Police, Counseling, and Deans of 
Students. Some of these programs involve peer educators. 

3.) Programs to educate staff members. A number of in­
service training programs have been held since 1985 aimed at 
sensitizing key personnel to the issue of acquaintance rape. 

4.) Comprehensive medical and counseling support services. 

5.) Mechanisms to pursue charges against assailants 
internally and to report charges to external authorities. The 
Task Force found both police and disciplinary per~onnel to be 
knowledgeable about acquaintance rape and supportive of 
victims/survivors. The Task Force noted that while the 
University can and does provide victims/survivors with 
information on their options, both internal and external, it 
cannot, and should not be in a position to guarantee outcomes of 
hearings; the facts of individual cases must be decided by 
appropriate hearing bodies. · 

There are, however, specific reforms which the 
subcommittee on police/discipline have put forward which should 
be implemented in order to better define the offense and to 
reduce the stress that complainants may encounter in the 
disciplinary procedure. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The subcommittees made a number of suggestions for the University 
to consider implementing. The full set of recommendations are 
contained in the appended subcommittee reports and each should be 
considered carefully. The recommendations in some cases seek to 
expand upon efforts already in place, in others to formalize 
them, and in still others to propose new ways of dealing with the 
difficult issue of acquaintance rape on campus. This section 



highlights the most immediate of the recommendations. 

All Sul:>committees 
All the subcommittees recommended that a coordinator for sexual 
assault-services be hired to work with victims/survivors, staff 
members, and students. At this time an offer has been made and 
accepted. It is anticipated that the position will be filled in 
January, 1991. The position is to be funded by student fees 
through the Department of Health Education. 

Several committees recommended the development of written 
guidelines/protocols by each office that deals with acquaintance 
rape. These guidelines would serve to assist the staff of each 
office, and, by being made available to other appropriate 
offices, would permit referrals to be made more knowledgeably. 

Subcommittee on Police/Discipline 

This subcommittee made a number of suggestions many of which 
involved formalizing existing practices. Representatives of the 
police and the deans offices on the subcommittee drafted written 
guidelines for the handling of acquaintance rape cases. These 
guidelines were derived from existing practices. They also 
drafted statements describing victim/survivor rights. 

The Subcommittee proposed a number of specific changes for the 
internal disciplinary hearing procedure. These are: 

1.) Having a specific disciplinary charge for 
non-consensual sexual activity and sexual ass~ult. 

2.) Having a specific University level charge that covers 
the illegal distribution of alcohol. 

3.) Having closed hearings in all cases with especially 
sensitive subject matter upon the request of either the 
complainant or defendant. 

The subcommittee recommends that these changes be proposed to the 
Board of Governors and implemented at the earliest possible date. 

Subcommittee on Education and Prevention 

As with all crimes of violence, prevention must be the first 
priority. The subcommittee found extensive services currently 
available and recommended many more. The recommendations 
include: 

1.) Holding workshops on acquaintance rape for all first 
year students and incoming students to be conducted at, or 
before, orientation. 
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2.) Developing an ongoing media campaign to inform the 
entire University community about acquaintance rape. This was 
also strongly recommended by the Student Subcommittee. 

3.) Integrating acquaintance rape education into the 
classroom. The student Subcommittee recommended integrating the 
issue of acquaintance rape into expository writing courses. 

4.) Developing programs specifically geared toward athletic 
teams. 

5.) Involving student leaders in the efforts to educate the 
community on acquaintance rape. 

6.) Increasing programming and education efforts within the 
Greek system. 

7.) Involving graduate students and TAs in education and 
prevention efforts. 

8.) Discussing the connection between the use of alcohol 
and other drugs and the incidence of acq\laintance rape in all 
education efforts. 

9.) Focusing education and prevention efforts on men and 
women equally. 

Student concerns Subcommittee 

The Student Concerns Subcommittee reviewed the work of the other 
subcommittees and of the Task Force as a whole and also 
considered the recommendations of SASHA in formulating its 
recommendations. The Subcommittee recommendations include: 

1.) Developing programs for men which force them to 
confront their behaviors and assess how those behaviors can 
foster acquaintance rape. 

2.) Reporting to the University community periodically 
about the incidence of acquaintance rape and what the University 
is doing to deal with the problem. 

3.) Developing proqrams to sensitize the police on how to 
deal with sexual assault victims/survivors. 

4.) Developing programs for international students to 
discuss acquaintance rape in the context of cultural differences. 

The Student Subcommittee also issued a general endorsement of the 
work of the other subcommittees and the Task Force as a whole, 
asking that these suggestions become formalized in a systematic 
way. There was a qualified exception made concerning how much 
involvement certain student leaders should have. The • 
Subcommittee realizes that some students are more committed to 



acquaintance rape education than others and that this should be 
considered when assigning responsibility to students for planning 
and coordinating acquaintance rape education. 

The Student Subcommittee also drafted a letter to student leaders 
encouraging them to hold seminars and support educational efforts 
for their members. 

Subcommittee on counselinq and Health services 

The Subcommittee on Counseling and Health Services issued 
preliminary recommendations. These will be expanded upon over 
the fall, 1990. The two principal recommendations concern: 

1.) Training and sensitizing clinicians and counselors to 
acquaintance rape, particularly to identify the signs and 
symptoms which a victim/survivor of acquaintance rape might 
exhibit. 

2.) Designing a system that would enable a network to be 
developed which would assure that medical, counseling, student 
life, and judicial/legal personnel consult with one another in 
order to provide the services a victim/survivor of rape might 
need. such a system would need to take into account 
confidentiality issues and the wishes of the victim/survivor. 

CONCLUSIOB 

It now remains for individuals and offices within the University 
to act upon the recommendations of the Task Force and its 
subcommittees. A meeting of the full Task Force will be 
scheduled after all Task Force members and other interested 
parties have had a chance to·consider this report. The meeting 
will provide for a discussion and critique of the complete report 
and of the individual recommendations. At that time strategies 
will be developed to ensure the implementation of 
recommendations. The Task Force will continue to meet regularly 
and to monitor progress on the University's efforts to deal with 
acquaintance rape. 
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RUTGERS 
New Brunswick • New Jersey 08903 

March 12, 1992 

An ~ Letter to the University canmunity Abcut P.ecent Sexual Assaults on arrl 
near canp.is: 

In the w'ake of the recent reports of 
sexual assaults (three by acquaintances an:i one by a stran;er) of four female 
students on caITF.JS, I want to up:!ate the university cornmur.ity on 'What is l::eing 
done to reduce t.'"'le poss.iliili ty of future attacks. As I have stated 
previously, t.~e university community is deeply concerned for the victims of 
these incidents; no one should have to fear for his or her personal safety. 

last ~y, I accepted a report fran the 
Acquaintance Rape Task Force chaired by Couglass College Ceal'l Macy Hart:Jran and 
Assistant Vice President for Student Services arx:i Policy William Ce.vid 
:au:ns. 'Ihat report made many excellent recc:mnerdations. Most have been 
in;>lemented in the rronths since I ao:epted the report. 

While rape is certainly a national 
problem, I believe we have a unique opportunity to address this issue in our 
community and to provide the appropriate education arxi leadership in this 
area. It is i.Irp:::rtant to note that students arx:i staff, as well as the 
administration, rnust play a role in addressing the problem. 

'Ihe main focus of this letter will be 
on acquaintance rapes and their prevention, but I first want to enphasize that 
the stranger rape that was reix>rted on the D:>uglass carcpus is still un:ier 
investigation. 'Ihe university is examining \Vhether additional security 
measures would help prevent further attacks of this type. Several university 
administrators have been meeting with students to diSOlSS their suggestions in 
this area. In addition, the assault of a Rutgers student in Jd1nson Park is 
also still bein; investigated ey park police. 

'Ihe first recarrneniation of the task 
force was to hold workshops on acquaintance rape for all first-year stu!lents 
and incomin; students to be corrlucted at orientation. such workshops have 
been held for all first-year students on the D::uglass, Livingston and OX>k 
canpuses wnile Rutgers College has incorporated the trai.nin:J into its social 
decision-makin; pro;rams. Ruth Anne Koenick, the university's sexual assault 
services coordinator, has done additional acquaintance rape awareness pro;ram.s 
in the residence halls. At the suggestion of the task force, special er;i1asis 
in these programs has been given to the connection between the use of alcohol 
and other drugs and acquaintance rape; to helpin; men confront certain 
behaviors that may foster acquaintance rape; am to JTaking sure that education 
efforts target men arx:l women equally. 



Ms. l{oenick has also develq::ied 
prc:grams specifically for the athletic teams an:i the Greek S'jStem at 
Rutgers. Every athletic ,teazn at the university, male an:::3. female, will have 
takerl part in these prcgrams by the errl of the semester as will the new 
pledges of the fraternities arx:i sororities in April. 'Ihese prcgrams are 
on;oin; ani will l::e held every year. 

A subcc:mmittee cf the task force 
reo:a1u1errled that the university ad~ a specific disciplinary charge fer 
nonconsensua.l sexual activity an:! sexual as.sault. I believe that S'bx1ents 
need to be pJt on special notice that they risk severe p.mi.shment f cr this 
violation of cur co::ie cf corxruct. I am clirectin; our University CoJnsel to 
add a~rcpriate language to the University's st\Dent Disciplinary Hearin; 
Procedure whlc:h will identify sexual assault as a separation offense. I am 
further directing the Off ice cf student Life Policy arxi Ser/ices to issue a 
special notice to the University canmunity on this subject. HC7ftle'Jer, let 
there be no mistake about our present policy. We have always considered 
nonconsensual sexual activity and sexual assault to be violations cf the co:le 
of the University Student Disciplinarf Hearing Procedure specifically urxier 
its prohibitions en "the use of force" and canmitting "heinous acts." 

In response to another task force 
recommendation, a Sexual Assault Services Advisory Board has been established, 
corrprising residence life an:i health center staff, students, counselors, 
university police an:i deans of students. '!be p.up:se of the board is to 
inplement the task force recorrrneOOations ard to set up a network to provide 
the services a rape victim might rieed. 

Briefly, other recanmendations 
in'plemented include: providing additional trainirg to Rutgers Police, 
clinicians and counselors in dealing with rape vict.ilns; incol'pOratin; the 
issue of acquaintance rape into expository writin; ccurses; involvin; stment 
leaders in efforts to educate the cannumity on acxiuaintance rape: ard 
includin; infonration on acquaintance rape in the context of cultural 
differences in the harx:ll::ook for international students. 

In addition, written guidelines arXl 
protocol have been developed or are bei!g develcped for each off ice that deals 
with acquaintance rape so that students in need of their ser1ices receive 
consistent information and help. 

I am enc:o.iraged that these incidents 
have teen reported so pratptl.y. Let me reca'lfim to you that Rutgers takes 
the issue of rape - both acquaintance an:1 stran:Jet' attacks - very seriously 
and will continue to seek ways to lessen the p:ssibility of future incidents • 

. ~~~ 
Francis L. Lawrence ~ '"-----. 
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new JerDJ£l§5'nst sexual assault 

~uBLIC T~STIMON~ RE: VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN 
M.=i.rch ::o. 199= 

Jill Greenbaum, Ed.D. :.)i::-vel oped D''" 
i-!f fl 1 1. a.ti on s: Vice-President. New Jersey Coalition Again~t Sexual Assault 

Cha.i r. Bergen CoLtnt v Coalition Aga1 nst Se:-: ual A:saul t 
Director~ Bergen County Rape Crisis Center 

I am so very pleased to be a part of these hearings to discuss the many 
interrelated issues which passively and actively contribute to the victimization 
and rev1ct1mization of women. While broad philosophical questions which 
underlie our day to day interactions must be addressed, the practical realities 
of living with our present laws and systems must be examined. 

In my direct service work on behalf of survivors, as a leader and active 
participant in various coalitions and as a presenter at local, national and 
international conferences I have addressed a variety of topics. The following 
areas are all fragments of the whole picture, which is violence against women: 

1) With regard to factors and issues influencing our psychological 
environment and the formulation of society's members ppinions of 
violen~e against women, please refer to Attachment A which briefly 
delineates many of the issues surrounding sexual victimization. 

* Attachment 8 outlines the position of the New Jersey 
Cc•a.l it ion Agan nst Se:-: Llci.l As:.ci.ul t regarding the "naming 11 

of victims/survivors of rape - a practice commonly used 
by scme newspapers in New Jersey 

2> Lack cf commitment, on the part of the State of New Jersey, both 
philosophically and fiscally, to the needs of survivors of violence. 
Specifically with regard to rape care programs, the inability to 
find an appropriate place within governmental departments/divisions, 
i.~., Rape Care Programs are a part of the Department of Health's 
Division af Family Health Services; <Attachment C> 

3> Deliberate non-prioitizing/inattention to the need for information and 
services for other-than-English-speaking populations (i.e., materials 
dev~loced by the Dept. of Health~ for dissemination through rape care 
proorams are available only in English>; 
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4) Lack of c8ordinated examination of the present levels of functioning 
of the law enforcement and criminal justice systems and the impact 
of the Judicial process upon victims and their families; <Attachment D> 

* lack of training for local law enforcement personnel re: se>~ 
offenses, the needs of victims/survivors and the role of rape 
crisis center staffs; 

* the (often politically motivated) assignment of investigators 
to sex crimes units, without regard to professional capabilities 
and then with QQ further training; 

* the cessation of advanced training opportunities for law enforce­
ment and criminal justice personnel re: sex offenses and the 
proper disposition of such cases; 

* lack of prosecution of husbands/partners who sexually assault 
their wives; 

* inadequate recognition of and response to 11 stalking 11 as the 
prelude to a crime; 

5) difficulty in securing funds <through the V.C.C.B.for £QYQ§§iing 
for adequate lengths of time for victims and co-victims of sexual 
abLtse; 

6) a delineation of the anticipated "breakdown" (of funds to be generated 
by passage of F'. L. 1991, Chapt. 329 

7> no enforcement of A 1949/P.L.1987, Chapt.327,the law ·~,hich requires that both 
local police departments and hospitals inform victims of the local 
rape crisis center, (see Attachment E-1); 

* the need for development and routine utilization of standard 
operating procedures re: sexual assault victim/survivor and 
her interactions with other systems (hospital, local police, 
sex crimes unit investigators> 

* use of a standard 11 kit 11 for evidence collection across the State; 

* consistent medical prophylactic treatment for rape survivors 
re: STD's, pregnancy; 

* education for service providers and law enforcement/criminal 
justice personnel regarding sexual assault and the transmission 
of HIV, <Attachment E-2); 



81 :nsuff1c1en~ unde~stand1ng of~ attention to and funding ~or programs 
+ err- !:t o ":.I: ad u l t 2. r: d 2. d c! l es cent =· e >; o + f end er := • < At t 2 c i-, men t F ) ~ 

• th~ development of appropriate treatment programs (within 
prisons). probation/parole programs with treatment components 
2 r: ,j ,.:«. v a i l =·· t, ::. e and 2 f f or d ci. b l e 2. + t er c a r e / t her a p v ·~ or s e >'. 

of fenders £gc_t~~-c~m~!Q~~c_gf_~b~~c-l1~g~ 

the initiation and ongoing training of judges re: 
victimi::at1on; 

i s:.ues of :.e>: u.a.l 

iO,i the ability of school s.ystems. and colleges/universities to ''overlook" 
the problem of sexual victimization - no development of State 
sanctioned relationships across systems (such as rape care programs 
with high schools, colleges, law enforcement, criminal justice, 
hos.pitals.) ~ 

11) the purely monetary concerns of NJ Bell re: Caller ID service in New 
Jersey over the obJectians of rape care program and domestic violence 
personnel CAttachment G> 

12> And finally, I have included in the packet of information a letter 
written to the New York Times detailing what I would consider adequate 
cove1""" ci.ge c1f the topic eif se~-~ ual vi ct i mi z a.ti on, <Attachment H) • 

I would be delighted to ~xpand upon any of these ideas and to work with any 
~·Jor k:;. rig group:. on the:.e and otr1er rel eva.nt i s:.ues. 



new ]ers!)Jgae§~nst sexual assaul~ A 

>C.c:r-OS'3 ::r:e rio•t:.:;.:.n .:.L'.CJ'-'.St i:= recogn:::ed 35 'Stop i::;:2pe i•1onth.'' [t lS ,:,•_t:n~ 

,=-.. n11 t1n~l1. c:l '.;l,:.?'.•J ~:- :i:"? r:cJr·1t1nu:.r1q ·=ontr<J'/ersi.es sur-rr:1\n 1J11·1g ··er:er1tl,1 
:~•-::orn··t.:::·rJ .,,,~l::=:>c; . .::<t:.::;r.'3 : . ..: 1~-3.pe wn1c:: h2ve 2ttr-.=::1<:ted ,nedi2 ::<tt1:.eriti·:•1i, t~D ,.:;..Jc.'r~7'S 

t_ I: e 1 ,-;, :: u es r- :-- '=-',Ti :; J. c'l.1·· :.:; er- p er- s p e c ': J. , e - th .~ cc::; n t e :: t o f s e:: u .:i_ l v l c r: 1 m l : :? t: l on . 

:".'.)P:'.u,=:<.l '-1ict1m1.:aticn 1.;; !:tie m1s-use of po~·Jer- 2nd contr-ol to commi.t =1.cts 1·Jh1cr-1 

._:-,ir e th e u l. 1: i ma t e i n tr ~'- s i on s up o 11 the '/l ct i m · s i n t e 1 l e c t LL-:i. l , p h vs i c a 1 a 11 d 
s e :: u r.<. J. tJ e i n g . '·h c t i m ~; t y p i c a 1 1 y d r- e t h e in or e vu l n er- ab 1 e am on g t h e p op u 1 e. t 1 or; , 
i ·. e . , c h-i. 1 d r en , ~JO men , the e l de r 1. y , and p e op l e w i th h and i c ~-pp i n g con d i t:. 1 on s . 
Those who abuse use various forms of pressure <psychological and/or physical>. 
C•.:Je1~cicm. C:1nd/or· i.nti.n1dati.on, \.o'Jithout r·egard fort.he feelings, inter·ests or 
needs of their victims. 

F: 2. p e i = one f or m of s e ~: u a 1 v .i. ct i m i : at i on , one \.o'Jh i ch d r- aw s the at t en t i on of the 
media if the victim/survivor is par-ticular-ly pretty, young, old, handicapped, 
famous or famous-by-association. If the victim does not conform to the 
ster-eotype/victim profile which our society has developed we question the 
veracity of her complaint, not wishing to believe that we live with offenders 
among us; not recognizing that our willful ignorance of sexual victimization 
and its consequences condemns us to inadequate understandings of the larger 
issu~s of violence against the vulnerable, the spectrum of sexual abuse 3nd 
the need for objective assessment and treatment of sex offenders. 

What needs to be made explicit is the many, varied forms of sexual 
victimi::ation which we "shLlt OLlt" of our daily consc'ioL1sness, perhaps 3SSL1ming 
that they do not affect our daily lives, or the formation of our opinions or 
Judgments. Voyeurism, lewd remarks/sexual harassment/intimidation, 
exhibitionism, nonconsensual touching of the genitals <whether the victim is 
being acted upon, or forced to act upon the victimizer>, rape - whether 
between acquaintances, a dating couple, partners/married couples or by a gang. 
pornography and prostitution: these are the components of the spectrum of 
sexual victimization, of the abuse of power. All the above-mentioned 
nonconsensual acts have the goal of gratification of unhealthy psychological 
needs: which cause long-lasting trauma to victims. 

Rape is one of the fastest rising violent crimes in America today. However, 
more heat' than light has been generated in many.of the articles about recent 
cases. Rape is ~ex without consent - and if One is incapable of giving 
consent, (due to e!·:treme youth, use/misuse of dr-ugs or al cahol, or mental 
deficiency), then it is rape. To excuse the behavior of sex offenders based 
upon the actions of the victims, <such as her dress, consumption of 
alcohol/drugs, or previously consenting behavior) is delusionary. Regardless 
of what we may wish to believe, most sex offenders begin their history of 
"offending" in their early teens, with acts at the least intrusive end of tt1e 
spectrum of sexual victimization. Unfortunately, when these acts are not 
understood and allowed to continue without recourse, these offenders often 
"progress" in terms 1J·f the severity of the offenses committed. 

During this month of August we hope to better educate the public (who comprise 
the juries> about the true nature of sex offenders and the impact of their 
crimes upon their victims. It is only through our active efforts to support 
those who have been victimized, to reject the implication that victims ask to 
b~ abused and tci hold sex offenders responsible for their behavior that we 
will begin to stem the tide of rising sex offenses. 

s;m~~~ 
~esident and Media Chair, New Jersey Coalition Against Se•ual Assault 

Director, YWCA of Bergen County's Rape Crisis Center 

8/14/91 



To thE· Edi tor-. 

Attachment B 
April 28, 1991 

Th e n 2. t i on i.-J i d e d eb at e as t o ~·J he t her and ~..,.hen t o " name 11 v i c t i ms of s e :-: c r i mes 
appears to have focused too nar-rm..,.ly Ltpon either the "special privilege 11 of 
anonymity for victims or the "right" of the public to know all of the facts 
pertinent to the case. The reality of the issues surrounding sexual 
victimization and criminal justice procedures have been forgotten in the quest 
for a simple resolution of the 11 problem 11 recently created by several key 
decision-makers in the media. 

Sexual victimization involves heinous acts which cause psychological, 
emotional and, in many cases, physical damage. The stigma attached to sex 
crimes, (i.e., violent acts perpetrated through sexual means) will be 
diminished only through coordinated efforts to recognize and address the 
following areas: an in-depth analysis of the components within our society 
which promote and legitimize violence against those who are perceived to be 
vulnerable (primarily women and children>; the true nature of the crimes of 
sexual victimization (involving the issues of aggression/power, control, and 
degradation, rather than sexual satisfaction>; the impact of sexual 
victimization/f=::ape Trauma Syndrome, <the psychological, physiological and 
behavioral sequelae which affect a victm's/survivor's intimate and social 
relationships, her ability to work, and her physical health Cin addition to 
injuries, she is at risk of becoming pregnant, and/or contracting sexually 
transmitted diseases and HIV). In addition, a delineation of the 
psychological profiles of sex offenders would further elucidate the nature of 
the crime and the point to the need for both incarceration and rehabilitation. 

Extensive literature exists regarding all of the aforementioned topics, and 
professionals within the field are knowledgeable and eager to educate 
decisionmakers in the media. However, when the question arose as to the 
ramifications of identifying the victim the professionals were not consulted. 
Decisions were made by people with no in-depth understanding of the complex 
and interrelated issues. 

Sex crimes are like no other, and to assume that identifying the individual 
who has been victimized will reduce the stigma is faulty logic. If the task 
were so simple, rape crisis centers across the nation would have actively 
promoted such a tactic years ago, as it is our mission to empower 
victims/survivors and educate the public. In fact, what has resulted from the 
11 11aming 11 of the victim is that once again she has been the victim of someone 
else's control (i.e., that of the initial decisionmakers in the media, and 
those editors who followed like sheep>. What more has been revealed about tb~ 
~£tY~1-iD£i~§Qt_tb~t_nigbt-at the Kennedy compound as a result of identifying 
the victim? Aspects of her (and her mother's) life have become common 
knowledge, but these are irrelevant to the case. The victim is once again 
victimized by the media, and the public is duped into believing that they now 
have some degree of insight into the incident. 

Those who do not work in the area of victims' rights perhaps don't realize the 
constitutional· safeguards for defendants in criminal justice proceedings 
which include: the defendant is provided with legal representation if 
necessary, due process is guaranteed, tb§_~f£~§~~-~il!_f~f§_bi§_~f~~§§~_io 
Q~§Q_£QYCt , the jury for the trial is comprised of his peers and a defendant 
is presumed innocent until proven guilty. Victims of violent crimes are mere 
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Attachment B 

witnesses for the state (and in criminal cases do not chose their own legal 
representation) and are informed of the ''Crime Victim's Bill of Rights''~ which 
are just statements (not constitutional guarantees> regarding how they are to 
be t~eated within the criminal justice system. 

The mission of the New Jersey Coalition Against Sexual Assault (a coalition of 
rape care progr~m providers and concerned individuals) is: to work toward the 
elimination of violence against all people by effecting attitudinal change in 
individuals, institutions, and the culture at large; and, to promote the 
healing of injuries resulting from sexual violence by effecting the responses 
of institutions to survivors of sexual assault and their loved ones. NJCASA 
members know that the identification of victims of sex crimes in the media is: 
detrimental to the individuals so identified - unless the ''naming'' is of tneir 
own choice - which is inevitably months to years after the assault, (rape 
survivors' greatest fear - after that of revictimization - is that following 
the reporting of the crime to the police, their names will appear in the 
media~ and their family, friends, co-workers and acquaintances will learn of 
the se~ual assault>; mis-educative to the public, in that it deludes them into 
thinking that they are better informed, when in fact they have learned only 
some extraneous details which shed no light on the actual incident; and, will 
ensure that people (women, children and men) who have been sexually victimized 
will hesitate to come forward, even to those professonals who preserve their 
anonymity. 

It is our hope that the revelation of the identity of the woman in Florida 
which we regard as a gross error in judgement, will ultimately lead to a ' 
greater understanding of the issues surrounding sexual victimization. We are 
working toward a future when victims/survivors will feel the support of 
members of society, and come forward to share their pain without fear of 
prejudgment. 

Sincerely, 

Jill Greenbaum, Ed.D. 
Vice-President, NJCASA 



Tr 
YWCA 
of H8Ckenuck 

Jill Greenbaum, Ed.D. 
Program Director 

Attachment C 

BERGEN COUNTY RAPE CRISIS CENTER 

Lydia Pizzute 
Program Coordinator 

285 Passaic Street 
Hackensack. N.J 07601 

Office (201) 488· 71 1 o 
24 Hour Hotline (201) 487-2227 

December 21, 1990 

Dear Governor Florio .. 

I am writing on behalf of the members of the New Jersey Coalition Against 
Sexual Assault regardinq the imminent changes in the New Jersey State 
Department of Health. 

As per ''The Commissioner's Recommendations to the Governor on the 
Organizational Review for the New Jersey State Department of Health'' it 
appears that once again the Rape Care Program, which is not readily 
categorized among existing divisions, is being relegated to a 
tb~QC§ti~~l!i appropriate niche. Many questions arise f~om a practical 
consideration of the changes, in general: 

1> Rape is not perceived as a f~mil~ health issue. Neither 
the victims'-survivors' nor the general public's primary 
practical health concerns vis-a-vis rape, focus upon 
"family" health. F:ather .. they are in need of accurate 
information regarding the prevention and treatment of 
sexually transmitted diseases, the prevention of pregnancy 
and the most current information about sexual assault and 
the transmission of HIV/AIDS, and local testing/counseling 
sites. These realities point to the appropriate placement 
of the Rape Care Program within the Div. of Epidemiology and 
Communicable Disease Control. 

2) Quite honestly, relegating the Rape Care Program to a 
"family 11 health care lSSLte is also dysfLtnctional fr-om 
theoretical point of view, in that we in the field of 
rape care seek to be inclusive in our perceptions and 
descriptions of sexual victimization, <i.e., while the 
crime disproportionately affects women, children and men 
are also the targets of such crimes>. Though the crime 
will affect men in relation to their families, they most 
certainly will not think of their victimization in terms 
of "family health." 

• United Way of Beroen County 



More specifically: 

3) Over the past !::.ever al years refinements in the· "ReqLtest for 
Pr-oposa.l" - both programmatic and fiscal have simplified 
the process and enabled the development of positive working 
relationships with Department of Health personnel. At any 
time, (mu.ch lt:~ss at thi:. point in the grant cycle, with 
applications due by mid-March), what is the benefit of 
severing efficient relationships of NJCASA members with the 
Department's fiscal personnel? 

4> What is the advantage of splitting parts of the total 
F.'..:'::l.i:ie Ca.re~ Proqrei.m~ i.e.q "Injury and f~~ape Sut'""\tf=illance" 
in The Division of Epidemiology and Communicable Disease 
Contr-c•l 11 and "hape Services Program 11 in the Di v·i si on of 
Family Health Services? 

Perhaps what is most disturbing about the proposed reorganization is the 
disregard of professionals and their knowledge of the perceptions and 
needs of victims-survivors. Our work is predicated upon the exchange of 
ideas and sensitivity to both the theoretical and practical. We seek to 
str·engthen our positive ~.oJor king relationships; "reorgan i::: at ion" with 
regard to the Rape Care Programs appears to have been devised for its own 
sake, and not that of the victims-survivors nor the providers of direct 
::.er vices. 

I would be pleased to discuss any issues surrounding the provision of 
services to victims-survivors of sexual assault. 

Sincerely, 

Jill Greenbaum, Ed.D. 
President, New Jersey Coalition Against Sexual Assault 
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new 1ersey I coa~n agamst sexual assault 
Tr-::• the Edi tor, 

!~: :~ all th~ recent media attention foc~sed upon the more sensational 2spec~s of 
!-: ~ -:-_<.-: -- r- r- c + i l e ::. r, \!es t 1 :] at 1 ·:m s c ,: s e :: Ll c-.1 a::;.= au 1 t , sever a 1 g 1 Cl. r i n g om i s s i ~ n s ;; 1··; 1.:! '-' 1 d 
-~ rotec. lG par~1cular, of great impcrta~ce to the eventual outcomes of tnes~ 

;,,-:::•s2s ls ei.n <?;.:c..m1r.:?.t:o;-. of -::he present levc:?ls of functioning of tl1e law 
~n~orcement aGd cr:~1na: Just:ce systems, and the impact of the Judicial process 
'-'P·=·n i.:'.-1:" •::urr 0:::nt v1::tims, future victims a.nd society. liJhile these issLtF.:·s 2.r-e 
not liiely to incite impassioned arguments, they are central to our 
1.1nC:erst2J·1ding 2.nd imoroveinent of the pr-ocess. 

In l·Je~·J Jersey questions need to be ~.sked regci.rding: 

1) To ~;horn are the initial reports made (i.e., local police departments>, and 
~hat are the level~ of training/expertise of the personnel responding to these 
tvpes of cases? In my experic:?nce, victims-survivors prefer to talk with people 
with whom they are not familiar, in settings outside cf their respective 
communitiF:s, tl1er~by perhaps ensLwing tha.t friends and neighbors do not 
inadvertently learn of their victimization. 
-· Who then investigates and prosecutes the cases (and what specialized 
training is ffi:!~IJ.Q~:!;Q!:.~ pric·r to being assigned to sLich work)? In my work L·Jith 
th~ New Jersey State Police Training Bureau over the past two years, local 
police officers and prosecutor's office persQnnel have discovered the subleties 
t,..J L·mrki11g ~·Jith victims '"'-nd the comple:: nature of se:: offenders through 
attending a three day intensive program. Unfortunately, the training sessions 
offered through the State Police are merely voluntary. The vast majority of law 
enforcement and criminal justice personnel have not received formalized training 
~R~Gifi~~i!~ regarding the investigation and prosecution of sex offenses, 
v1ctimology and/or the psychology of sex offenders. <The brief session new 
Dolice recruits receive in some counties is basic and inadequate for such 
complex work.> Sexual victimization is like no other crime, and it is erroneous 
to assume that pers'"onnel can do the job a-.dequatel y wi thoL1t proper training. 
~) What is the amount of time elapsed between the date of report and a jury 
trial - in Bergen County approximately one year - <and how might this influence 
~ d~cision to prosecute>? And, how can we reduce this amount of time? The 
victims/survivors I work with are very concerned with attempting to return their 
lives to a pre-assualt level of functioning. The specter of a lengthy judicial 
process is often a deterrent to entering into fhe process. 
4) l>Jhj_ch "types" of se:.:ual assault cases are brought be-fore JLtries and l•Jith 
what degree of success (i.e., stranger vs. acquaintance vs. date vs. marital 
rape)? For example, though the law in New Jersey is clear regarding sexual 
abuse within the family setting, the cases which I have worked with involving 
marital rape, while having been reported to the police, have never gone to 
trial. In my opinion this is due to the continuing conception of wives as the 
property of husbands, ta do with as they see fit. And it is this 
conceptuali~ation by the public <who comprise juries>, which, 1) stymies the 
prosecutors, 2) denies justice for these women, and 3) negatively in~luences all 
relationships. 
5> Is there a conscious and concerted effort, on the part of le~ders within the 
law enforcement and criminal justice communities, to educate the public 
regarding the prevalence and nature of sex offenses? 

As can be seen, I know the answers to almost every one of these questions. 
S2dly, the answers indicate, in many instances a lack of understanding of the 
very nature cf sexual victimization and the special expertise/care needed by 
those who work with victims. Concommitantly, the inadequte allocation of funds 
and personnel (which reflects the public's true level of interest and c6ncern) 
negatively impacts the possible enactment of change and solution=. 

Ir1 my direct service work and as a member of various coalitions throughu~~ the 
state. part of my work is to promote change within systems. Change within the 
e::isting systems and within workers can only be achieved with an understanding 
of the psychological, emotional and social imp~cts of sexual victimization, and 
analyses of the present l~vel~ of functioning of the systems affecting 
v1ctims-su~vivors. 

~~@.nl~~~(f rL<it:-. 
10/29/91 
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Attachment D2 
To the Editor, 

With all the recent media attention focused upon the more sensational aspects 
of high-profile investigations of sexual assault, several glaring omissions 
should be noted. In particular, of great importance to the eventual outcomes 
of these cases is an examination of the present levels of functioning of the 
law enforcement/criminal justice systems, and the impact of the judicial 
process upon the current victims, future victims and society. While these 
issues are not likely to incite impassioned arguments, they are central to our 
understanding and improvement of the process. 

In New Jersey questions need to be asked regarding: 

1> to whom initial reports are made Ci.e., locla police departments>, and 
what are the levels of training/expertise of the personnel responding to these 
types of c:a.ses; 
2) who then investigates and prosecutes the cases Cand what specialized 
training is m~o~~tg~y prior to being assigned to such work>; 
~:.) in each county, r..-Jhat is the percentage of cases deemed 11 false r-epcir ts" 
(and by whom, under what circumstances), and is this percentage basically 
consistent with -national statistics; 
4) what is the amount of time elapsed between the date of report and a jury 
trial (and how might this influence a decision to continue prosecution>. 
::-~; ) ~·J h i c h 11 t y p es 11 of s e ;·( u a. l ass a. u 1 t c as es a r e b r ought be f or e j u r i es a. n d Y.H t h 
what degree of success (i.e., stranger vs. acquaintance vs. date vs. marital 
1·· ape) ; 

6) what is the vision of the victim by the law enforcement and cr1m1nal 
justice personnel - as merely a witness for the ~tate or as a whole person 
requiring the coordinated efforts of medical, victim advocacy and criminal 
Justice personnel; 
7> how de the Prosecutor's Office actually function to provide a victim with 
current information about: the satus of the case, the development of a victim 
impact statement, the possibility of violent crime victim's compensation, the 
assailant's parole eligibility; 
B> do the various components of the criminal justice system understand the 
sense of scrutiny and re-victimization felt by victims, regardless of the 
eventual outcome of the case; 
9) what are considered problems with tthe process/stumbling block to 
successful prosecution by people in the criminal .justice system~ 
10> is there a conscious and concerted effort, on the part of leaders within 
the law enforcement and criminal. justice communities, to educate the public 
(who comprise juries> regarding the prevalence and nature of sex offenses? 

In all honesty, I know-the answers to almost every one of these questions. 
Sadly, the answers indicate, in many instances a lack of understanding of the 
very nature of sexual victimization and the special expertise/care needed by 
those who work with victims. 

It is the work of the members of the NJCASA to promote change within systems. 
It is work that can only be achieved with an understanding of the 
psychological, emotional and social impacts of sexual victimization, and 
analyses of the present levels of functioning of the systems affecting 
victims-survivors. 

Sincerely, 

Jill Greenbaum, Ed.D. 
Vice President and Media Chair, NJCASA 
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AF?Rovr::J: ,. •. )~.lfr.,~Ii:Z..~: 
[SECO?\D OFFICIAL COPY REPRINT] 

S.ENATE, No. 1949 
P. L. 198 7 Cha pt. 3 2 7 

NJSA 52:4b-22 -

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 
INTRODUCED MARCIT 10, 1986 

By Senators COSTA, LIPMAN and RAND 

Referred to Committee on Law, Public Safety and Defense 

.A:s Acr concerning victims of sexual .. [assualt] .. ••offenses .. 

and •[supplementing Title 52 of the Revised Statutesr •amend­

ing P. L. 1981, c. 2s6•. 

1 BE IT ENACTED by the Senate a>id General .A.s.sembly of the State 

2 of New Jersey: 

1 •ci. a. Every State, county and municipal police department and 

2 hospital or other place of emergency medical care shall ref er a 

3 victim of sexual assault to a rape crisis center in the victim's im-

4 mediate geographical area. If a rape crisis center i~ not availa~le in 

5 the immP.diate geographical area, the victim shall be referred to the 

6 county victim-witness coordinator appointed by the Chief of the . . . . ~, 

7 Office of the Victim-Witness Advocacy establishec.l pursuant to 
8 P. L. 1985, c. 404 ( C. 52 :4B-39 et seq.). 

9 b. As used in this act : 

10 (1) "Victim" means a person who suffers personal, physical or 

11 psychological injury as a result of a crime committed against that 

12 person. 

13· (2) "Rape crisis center'' means an office, institution or center 

14 offering assistance to victims of sexual assault through crisis inter-

15 vention, medical and legal ~nf ormation and follow-up eounseling.]9 

1 •i. Section 1 of P. L. 1981, c. 256 ( C. 52 :4B-22) is amended to 

2 read as fallows: 

3 · i. a. Every State; county, and municipal police department and 

4 hospital or other place of eniergency medical care sijall have avail-

" :.:!~ :.:::.-! :=.=!! ;':'~~ ::: $. ~~:!!.".: ;1r .. ::- ::~~~~:?.t!~n b"~!dets, panirhl~h 
ExPu1u.noN-Man. eadoeed la bold.faced braeket.a [thu] la the abo•• bill 

a. aol eaacaed ud lt la1eaded to be omiued ID the law. 
Harter printed ID Italia ''"'' la new matter. 

Mal ... eaeJoee.I la Mterfa.Ju OI' at.an au bee.a adopted U follow11 
•-se..aa commln.e ameadmeat.a adopl.ed Mar 19, 1986. 

••-AMemJaa, •lllUldU. UDelldm-ta adopaed Ma1 Zl, 1911. 

'l._$x 



. '> ... 

6 or other pertinent v:ritten inform&tion, to be supplied by the Vio-

7 lent Crimea Compensation Board, relatiog to the availability of 

8 crime victims' compensation including all necessa.ry applicatioD 

9 blanks required to be filed with the board. 

10 b. Included in the information supplied by the Violent Crime8 

11 Compen.sation Board shall be information for victims of se:rtlill 

12 .. [assault].. ..o/f eff.se... This information shall coff.tain. th.d 

13 location. of rape crisis centers in all geograpkicaL areas through-

14 out the State. and shall instruct victims of sexual ••[assault] .. 

15 ••off ens es•• tkat if a rape crisis center is not available in ti vjctim.' s 

16 immediate geographical area, the victim may contact tM appt"O· 

17 priate county victim-witness coordinator appointed by the Chief 

18 of the Office. of Victim-Witness Advocacy established pursuant to 
19 P. L. 1985, c. 404 (0. 52:4B-J9 et seq.). Unless t~! victim requires 

20 immediate medical attention, this information. shall be person.ally 

20A conveyed to the victim of a sexual .. [assault]•~ .. offenses•• by 

21 a re.presentative of tht: hospital Of' place of emergency care be-

22 fore a medical examination of the victim is c~nducted, o,. by a 

23 representative of the police department ,be/ore .the victim's state-

24 ment is taken, to afford the victim the opportunity to arrange to . 
25 have assistance from the rape crisis center or county victim-witness 

26 coordinator during these procedures. II ospitals shall be held ha.rm­

Zl less from suits emanating from a hospital's carrying out the obliga-
28 tion to convey information to victims of sexU.al ••[assault] .. 

28A. .. offenses••. 

29 "Rape crisis center" means an office, iMtitutioff. or center offering 

30 assistance to victims of sexual ••[assault] .... offenses .. through 

31 crisis intervention, medical a7Ul legal information antl follow-wp 

31.A. counseling. 

32 c. Every police depa.rtment shall, upon the filing of e. report of 

33 a violent crime, make available to any victim information concerning 

34 crime victims' compensation.• 

1 2. This act shall take efiect immediately. 

LAW AND PUBLIC SAFETY-GENERAL 

Requires hospitals a.nd police departments to provide ~orma.tion 

to victim.a of sexual assault.. 



Attachment E2 
August 14, 1991 

To the Editor, 

One of the "hot" topics for tr1e public and therefore in the media h-.=..s been 
whether sex offenders should be forced to submit to testing for the Human 
!mmunodefic1ency Virus/HIV. Opinions with regard to whether and under what 
circumstances convicted, or even alleged, sex offenders should be tested have 
been formed often without consideration of several key factors: 

ll When will the mandatory testing take place? 
Assuming only ~QQ~ifi§~ rapists will be tested <as testing alleged 
assailants would violate their constitutional rights>, several 
questions arise: How long after the rape is the testing going to be 
completed? In most counties in New Jersey it takes an average of 
one year for a trial to go from the time of report to a jury trial. 
Will the testing be done once, at the time of conviction/one year 
after the assault? 
Presumably the (previously considered) alleged assailant will be out on 
b,3.11 (or even if he is in jail), per·h.:;i.p•:; he l.i'~ill contra.ct HI',i AFTEF the 
assault but BEFORE the mandatory testing - thereby Q§Cb~Q§ testing 
positive" but having been negative at the time of the assault -
mis-informing the victim as to her/his probability re: the 
transmission of HIV. 

-> How will the testing be done - once, after he's convicted, or every 
three months for a year, or for five years or ten years? How long 
i<::~ hi:. prison term, i.e., ho1t.J long is there "access" to test the 
perpetrator? What if the HIV is transmitted during his term in 
prison and not as a result of seroconversion from transmission prior 
to the as=.aul t? 

~' Who will guarantee the confidentiality of the test results? Will the 
results be passed through the criminal justice system/Prosecutor's 
Office that was responsible for the case? 

4 .i L-1J h at k i n d of " p s y ch 1.::i 1 o g i ca 1 s a f e g Ll a r d s " a r e b e i n q put i n t o p 1 ace -f or 
the victim/survivor? When/Each time she receives the results of the 
testing for HIV in the assailant will she also receive supporting 
information 2bout the reliability of the results, the possible need 
for further testing of the assailant, and/or the possibile need for 

continuing testing for herself? Is she being advised by knowledgable 
individuals about the need for testing of herself in a confidential 

setting which offers pre- and post-test counseling re: assessing her 
risk, testing procedures, the meaning of the results, perhaps planning 
for changes in her future sexual life, etc.? 

The afore-mentioned questions point to the many complex and interrelated 
issues involved in mandatory testing for convicted rapists. 

It is my experience that the majority of people responding to polls do not 
know about the many immediate concerns of victims/survivors (future safety, 
possible transmission of STDs, possible pregnancy, the often negative 
responses of members of the victim's/survivor's support network, considering 
whether to report the crime and follow through with prosecution), nor the 
-state-of-the-art of testing for HIV, much less the time lag between reporting 
the crime and conviction (which impacts upon the accuracy of any results 
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obtained). 

The only way in which to ascertain whether HIV has been transmitted is testing 
on a regular basis/every three months for a year following the assault. The 
probability of transmission of HIV, as the result of a one-time contact/sexual 
intercourse with an infected individual is projected to be 1 in 500, according 
to Hearst & Hullen. (in the Journal of the American Medical Association, 
1q88:2429) Though the risks are greater for v1ct1ms of rape, as they often 
sustain wounds that could allow for direct transmission to the bloodstream. 
the risk remains relatively small. A testing schedule initiated and followed 
by the victim/survivor is also a small step in regaining control over her life 
and the information regarding the many aspects of her victimizaton. 

Sincerely, 

Jill Greenbaum. Ed.D. 
Vice President and Media Chair, New Jersey Coalition Against Sexual Assault 
(201) 488-7110 



bergen 

Dear Freeholder 

~e are writing on behalf of the Bergen County Coalition Against Sexual Assault 
regarding the status of treatment of adolescent sex offenders. In Bergen County 
with a population of 825,380, there is one program, TREAD <Teen Readjustment Program> 
under the auspices of the Bergen County Division of Family Guidance. Further, in the 
state of New Jersey there is one residential treatment center, the Pinelands, which can 
treat 18 adolescent offenders in a secure setting. It is further notable that there is 
no residential treatment center for adolescent girls who have committed sexual offenses. 

Though there are acKnowledged funding llmltatlons, it ls imperative that freeholders be 
aware of the critical importance of providing continued and expanded assessment and 
treatment for adolescents who have been identified as having significant sexually 
deviant behavior, and which is often indicative of their own sexual victimization. 

Criteria for secure residential care are such that the SNAP panel <Special Needs 
Assessment Panel> is forced to approve treatment at Pinelands only for those 
adolescents boys who are under 18 and young enough to allow for 18 months to two 
years of treatment, as less time would be insuff lcient. Thus an 18 year old ldentif ied 
as a sex offender would be ineligible for treatment at the Pinelands despite his 
identified need. Further, even those juveniles treated at Plnelands, when discharged, 
face adjustment without adequate support. Housing, vocational needs as well as out 
patient treatment need to be in place to foster the young person;s continued recovery, a 
life long process. Most importantly, funding sources need to be mindful of 
government 1 s mandate to protect society. This function which is ignored if adequate 
aftercare planning as well as adequate out patient treatment facilities for those 
Juvenile offenders not sent to Pinelands is unavailable. 

As statistics indicate, 80% of adults incarcerated for sex offenses are survivors 
·of sexual abuse. Therefore, it becomes a matter of great concern that juvenile 
offenders receive adequate treatment to reduce their risk of recidivism. Early 
intervention in this cycle may serve to Interrupt the cycle of abuse as the "average" 
adult offender entering treatment has conmitted 380 offenses. 

We are supporting the development of a comprehensive plan for juvenile offenders 
focused on continuity of care including: 

1> An Increased number of residential treatment beds. 

2> Upon discharge from residential treatment juveniles aftercare should include out 
patient sex offender treatment including indlvldual, group and family therapy as 
well as vocational, educational and housing components. 

(201) 488 • 7110 

'f 'X 
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3) For those adolescents in need of residential treatment, though not requiring a 
secure setting, consideration needs to be given to the development of 
residential programs. 

4) For those Juveniles who can remain at home, out patient treatment in a day 
treatment setting with sufficient staff to provide comprehensive treatment 
<including individual sessions three times weekly, group treatment daily, family 
treatment weekly as well as education in life skills>. 

5) Early ldentlflcatlon of Juvenile offenders and prevention of the cycle of abuse 
through education. 

We are interested in a response to our concerns in the form of adequate funding for the 
ideas presented: this would clearly entail an expansion of the existing TREAD program 
<and additional funding at the state level). Coalition members would be pleased to 
discuss these issues with you, and to work toward the realization of the goals. We 
look forward to your response. 

Sincerely, 

Jll I Greenbaum, Ed.D, Chair 
Bergen County Coalition Against Sexual Assault 

JG/Ip 

New Jersey state 1..lorary 



of HIM:kenNCk 

Jill Greenbaum. Ed.D. 
Program Director 

Lydia Pizzute 
Program Coordinator 

Good Morning, 

Attachment G 

BERGEN COUNTY RAPE CRISIS CENTER 

285 Passaic Street 
Hackensack. NJ 07601 

Office (201) 488-7110 
24 Hour Hotline (201) 487-2227 

May 31, 1989 

I am writing to you as President of the New Jersey Coalition Against 
Sexual Assault, as a founding member of the Bergen County Coalition 
Against Sexual Assault, and as director of the Bergen County Rape Crisis 
Center. 

I am compelled to write you regarding my professional and personal 
concerns surrounding the introduction of Caller ID service into New 
Jersey. There is no doubt in my mind that my staff and volunteers will be 
placed at personal risk by the widespread introduction of such a service. 
While I understand the benefits for emergency police, fire and medical 
services, I will outline major areas of concern to those involved in 
direct service to victims/survivors of sexual assault. 

1> Callers into the Sexual Assault Care Centers throughout the state of 
New Jersey expect <through assumption !QQ publicized descriptions of 
services> their confidentiality to be preserved in all respects. It is 
the work of rape crisis hotlines to respond to the stated needs of 
callers, and to respect and maintain privacy. Merely Qs~iag for 
advertisements whi~h state our non-utilization of the Caller ID service 
will not convince the many individuals in need of complete confidentiality 
that we are in fact telling the truth. 

2> Though the consumer Affairs Manager of Bell of Pennsylvania suggests 
several safeguards which might be employed by agencies requiring privacy, 
<see attached>, the need for such safeguards and the questions as to whom 
should bear the costs obfuscate the true nature of the problem. 
The reality of working as a member of a rape crisis center entails the 
following: 1> returning calls at the convenience of the client <i.e., 
primarily after work hours/from one~s own home>; 2> knowing that in over 
half the cases reported to hotlines the victim/survivor knows her 
assailant, and that her assailant may live in her home and have access to 
the incoming telephone numbers; 3) realizing that we live in relatively 
small areas and that oftentimes we receive calls from our neighbors and 
acquaintances, who would not call if they knew the identity/town of origin 
of the hotline worker; 4) working with clients who may desire to speak 
with a worker at ~b~i~ discretion <i.e., at.your home>; 5> returning calls 
<picked up by answering services> to people assuming the guise of a victim 
and in reality being psychiatrically ill individuals and/or rapists • 

• United Way of Bergen County 



<While the "gLtise" might be discovered in time to contact the police, what 
~f it isn~t - and any rape crisis counselor becomes a victim of a sexual 
assaLtlt as the resLtlt of such a "service 11

• WoLtld NJ Bell be willing to 
risk the civil liability of such a case? What if it was discovered in 
criminal coLtrt that the rapist had utilized the NJ Bell Caller ID service 
to target rape crisis counselors? This particular. scenario may appear 
farfetched, however I speak from professional/personal experience with a 
man who called into and received counseling at the Bergen County Rape 
Crisis Center. Through working with the Bergen and Passaic County Police 
Departments we discovered that the "client" possessed multiple 
personalities and was a drug addiGt who, in the words of his psychiatrist, 
"probably wouldn't hurt anyone". What if this man had had access to my 
home telephone number Cand perhaps address>? Those of us working with 
survivors of sexual assault are committed to our work, but not at the 
expense of safety to ourselves and our families. 

3) Members of the New Jersey Coalition Against Sexual Assault Q2Y§_QQt 
been approached for comment regarding the Caller ID service. All sexual 
assault care centers/hotline telephone numbers are well publicized, and it 
is surprising that NJ Bell did not contact NJCASA members. It was 
certainly clever of the Consumer Affairs Manager of Pennsylvania Bell to 
state, " ••• New Jersey Bell has received no formal complaints involving the 
use of Cal 1 er ID. 11 NJ Bel 1 has not adequate! y "educated" the public ~m~. 
2~iY2~~ sectors regarding Caller ID. All those who will be affected by 
such a service should be informed and given suffici~nt time to respond to 
such a dramatic change in the nature of telephone service before a final 
decision is rendered. 

The abovementioned is merely a brief response to the Caller ID service 
offered by NJ Bell. It is my hope that this correspondence will influence 
the Public Utility Commisioners to suspend the proposed Caller ID service 
until the issues raised by the Pennsylvania Office of the Attorney 
General, the Pennsylvania Coalition Against Domestic Violence, the 
Pennsylvania Coalition Against Rape and the New Jersey Coalition Against 
Sexual Assault have been satisfactorily answered. 

Sincerely, 

Jill Greenbaum, Ed.D. 
President, New Jersey Coalition Against Sexual Assault 
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March 5th, 1989 

To the Editor-, 

I am very pleased that those who make the decisions as to what is 
"newsy.mrthy" have finally realized the impor-t, depth and breadth of the 
issues which surround sexual assault, and/or- had the conscience ta br-eak 
through per-sonal and professional barrr-iers to begin to addr-ess the 
subject. However, it concerns me that such pieces either briefly survey 
professionals within the field ("The Rape Laws Change Faster Than 
Percept i ans 11

, Feb. 19, 1989) or- are r-el egated to the "Hers 11 col Llmn, 
("Speaking of the Unspeakable", Feb. 26, 1989). 
Ms. Sebald~s column speaks with the power of a sur-vivor sharing her 
experiences, and it is the perfect prologue to the in-depth examination of 
the various aspects of this pr-ablem, such as: 1) The factors influencing 
the commission of the crimes of sexual assaults, <legally defined much 
more br-•:::>adly than the public~s perception of "rape"); 2) Personal and 
societal <class, race and ethnic) reactions; 3) A delineation of the 
medical and psychological needs of survivors <from appropriate medical 
car-e and emotional support to an examination of the steps involved in the 
reporting and prosecution of the crime>; 4) The possible socio-cultur-al 
factors influencing the the commission of the crime, natur-e and prevalence 
of the various acts labelled sexual assaults; 5) The differing age groups 
most affected by this violent crime; 6) The various psychological 
profiles/"types" of offenders; 7) The reasons for the silence of those who 
have been victimized; 8) The immediate and long term needs of survivors of 
sexual assault; 9) The feelings and concerns of those who care about 
survivors; 10) Rape care/support programs available to survivors; 11) The 
reasons underlying the inad~quate funding of programs which seek to 
advocate for survivors. 
Until an intense scrutiny is focused upon the myriad factors surrounding 
sexual assault, and their interrelationships, this work will be 
incomplete. 

Sincerely, 

Jill Greenbaum, Ed.D. 
Director, Bergen County Rape Crisis Center 
Founding Member, Bergen County Coalition Against Sexual Assault 
President, New Jersey Coalition AGainst Sexual Assault 



CENTER FOR BEHAVIOR THERAPY 
4 5TRA TFORD PLACE 

NEW 8RUl'.oSWICK. N.J. 08901 

TEL. (201) 545-5314 

MILTON L. KLEll'.'-'i·\'. PH D. l'v1ARSHA J. KLEIN,\.1A'. P'-Y D. 
DIRfC TOR LICf.N'>fD CLINIC .\l P'>YCHC>I ()< .1~ I 

Good afternoon ladies and gentlemen. My name is Dr. Marsha 

Kleinman and I am a licensed practicing psychologist at the 

Center for Behavior Therapy in New Brunswick. Today, I am before 

you as a representative of the New Jersey Psychological Associa-

tion to discuss the issue of domestic violence. 

I am perhaps better equipped to talk about the problems that 

I encounter daily with battered women and the judicial system 

than to put forth solutions which the legislature can act on; 

however, I hope today to translate my experiences and concerns 

with battered women and the judicial process, into suggestions 

which will enable you to bring about needed changes in our laws. 

Al though there are laws on the books to protect battered 

women and I believe all would agree there are battered women in 

society in need of protection, there seems to be a serious prob-

lem that the courts have in identifying a particular women who 

fits that assessment. The public at large, mental health profes-

sionals, and Judges, still hold some myths about battered women 

and believe they would be able to identify both them and their 

abusers by sight. Nothing could be further from the truth. 

Battered women and their abusers present in different ways than 

one might expect and without knowledge and expertise in the area 

in their assessment, many go unrecognized. 
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The issues that I will raise are sometimes subtle and may be 

difficult to legislate; however, I believe it is imperative that 

we try. Further, it may be necessary to put women attorneys on 

the bench who themselves have been formerly battered women. The 

issue is so important that before our judges are selected, per­

haps they need to be screened by a committee of experts in this 

particular area. Battered women need to be recognized as a 

special subgroup who come before Judges. Their concerns and 

those of their children are that serious. 

Some of the problems with battered women and their presenta­

tion before Judges is that they often change attorneys many times 

during the course of a matrimonial or custody action. Judges 

view their having changed attorneys as reflecting something wrong 

with these women. The true is that this behavior more accurately 

reflects the difficulty battered women have in finding good and 

appropriate advocates and having the resources to pay for them. 

The nature of abuse, the fear instilled by an abusive part­

ner into his female victim, will often inhibit a battered woman 

from taking the appropriate legal steps necessary which will 

identify her to the courts as a battered women. She may get a 

temporary restraining order but then not follow through with a 

permanent order. She may behave in ways which appear contradic­

tory such as getting a temporary restraining order and then 

allowing her abuser back in the home. She may allow an abusive 

husband to share custody, making the decision while she was still 

in danger and then, away from him and able to reflect clearly, 
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realize that her children are in danger and go back into court to 

change custody. This behavior on her part is viewed as being 

"vindictive" and as wanting "retribution". These behaviors which 

appear contradictory create confusion in the minds of the Judges 

and in my experience tend to reflect badly on the battered women 

when judicial decisions are made. Al 1 of these behaviors and 

others equally aberrant and strange make her appear to be a 

"flake." Thus, she is doubly victimized. 

Another problem often seen is that women coming out of 

relationships in which there was psychological abuse and perhaps 

intimidation without serious physical battering, often have not 

yet labelled themselves as "battered women" al though they are 

every bit as battered as another women who ends up in the emer-

gency room. Therefore, no agreements should be made until they 

have been referred for treatment. Attorneys often do not put 

forth the battering and do not utilize this information in court 

papers, thereby not giving the court the benefit of all of the 

information or the client the benefit of the court's considera-

tion of her as a battered women. When the issue of custody or 

visitation arises, and the attorney first presents it, or when 

the women changes to another attorney who understands that and 

takes it seriously, this information is viewed suspiciously by 

the courts. I could go on and on. 

Perhaps changes in our laws will address some of the issues 
1 

tHat I have raised. 
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1. There should be a presumption that when a woman has 

obtained a temporary restraining order at some time during a 

relationship, even if she does not follow through with a perma­

nent restraining order, that there is reason to believe she was 

in danger and that perhaps she will be in more danger if she 

attends a hearing for a permanent restraining order. She should 

thus not be penalized for not having obtained a permanent order 

although it has to be recognized that no findings of abuse have 

been made. Perhaps women need something like the witness protec­

tion program to encourage them to come forward without fear. 

2. The law should reflect that any women who alleges to 

have been abused in any way should be counseled by an expert in 

battered women before a judge accepts any matrimonial or custodi­

al agreement. This would prevent women who go along out of fear 

from reprisal from an abusive mate from making any agreements 

while they believe they are in danger. It further gives battered 

women time to get themselves psychologically together so they can 

make reasoned and educated decisions. 

3. The law should acknowledge that the psychological state 

battered women are in immediately coming out of an emotionally or 

physically abusive relationship reflects the effects of the 

battering and does not necessarily indicate her general overall 

functioning or ability to care for herself and her children. In 

~\ fact, often her emotional state reflects the effects of the 

continued abuse and harassment and the frustration of not being 

able to effectively influence the court to understand her experi-
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ence as a battered woman or to protect her and her children. 

4. Although the law states that there should be a presump­

tion that where there has been abuse the children should reside 

with the nonabusi ve parent, that is not enough. Joint custody 

should never be granted where there is the possibility that there 

has been abuse. Further divorce mediation should not be allowed 

where there has been psychological and/or physical abuse. Media­

tion is only appropriate in an equal relationship and since 

marital relationships are rarely equal since one partner general­

ly controls the lions share of money, mediation is often not 

appropriate. Our laws should reflect that men who are abusers 

generally fight for custody as a way to continue to exert their 

control and dominance over their mates rather than out of the 

normal parental feelings of love and concern. The law should 

reflect certain personality characteristics of batterers so that 

they will more likely be recognized by Judges even when they come 

into court wearing a three-piece suit. For example, it should be 

acknowledged that abusers tend to defy court orders, twist the 

facts to be in their favor, not pay child support (although they 

want custody and allegedly care for their children), make visita­

tion difficult yet attempt to blame their spouse for the diffi­

culties; lie, etc. Perhaps a psychological profile placed in 

the legislative findings would be helpful. 

5. The law should reflect that battered women are most 

likely to be abused or even killed after having left their bat-

terers. This is the most dangerous time and it is this threat 
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which keeps women in abusive relationships long after they want 

to go. He often also threatebs that he will take custody of 

thechildren, a threat which he is often able to implement. The 

courts may need to recognize that families of abuse victims are 

often themselves threatened and in danger and they need to be 

protected as well. While judges often believe that battering is 

part of a matrimonial and once over, ceases, the facts and FBI 

statistics indicate otherwise; that is, that 75% of all battered 

women are in the greatest danger when they leave the relation­

ship. Therefore, custody actions, continued harassment, however 

subtle, nonpayment of support, all represent continued harassment 

and abuse of a battered women and need to be viewed and under­

stood in this context. 

6. Judges need to recognize that abuse can lead to death 

for a battered women and often does. Battered women therefore 

need to have their fears and concerns taken seriously by the 

police and by Judges. A judge should not be able to use any 

discretion if there is a finding of abuse, such as saying that 

the man has a problem with alcohol, etc. and that the abuse is 

therefore related to alcohol. 

7. Judges should be required to view abuse as though there 

was an assault on one person to another as though they were 

strangers. This would give a clear message that women do not 

provoke a person to violence: nonviolent men will not be pro­

voked. Battered women are victims no different than the victim 

of a car theft, house robbery, etc. Therefore, once the marriage 
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is dissolved, the Judge needs to understand that particular 

abusive man is still a violent individual and his children are at 

risk for being abused. It should be mandatory that Judges obtain 

a full documentation, work, school, and police records, speeding 

tickets·, mental heal th history, etc. before disposing of custody 

cases. Judges should be required to view the abuse as part of the 

man's character and not in the context of a couple who cannot get 

along. 

8. The legislature needs to recognize that men who abuse 

their wives often sexually abuse daughters and psychologically 

and/or phys i ca 11 y abuse their sons . Thi s is the usu a 1 

circumstances. Therefore, women claiming their their abusive 

husbands have been sexually inappropriate with their daughterneed 

to be taken seriously and again, not viewed as suspect because 

there is an ongoing custody dispute. Judges need to know that 

women leave husbands because of this behavior not the other way 

around. Further, judges again need to know something about the 

profile of someone who would sexually abuse a child and abuse a 

wife. They need to know that this is commonplace not rare and 

that men who abuse come from all walks of life, are even doctors, 

lawyers, teachers, legislators, etc. 

9. Judges should not have discretion in custody decisions 

where there is a suspicion of abuse. Men who abuse and do so in 

front of their children obtain control and dominance over their 

children through the threat of harm and through observing their 

violent outbursts. Therefore, it is enough just to see a parent 
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be violent to gain control and dominance. In these situations 

fathers should be given supervised visitation and not in the home 

or in the presence of any member of his family. Judges should be 

directed to grant supervised visitation only where there has been 

abuse. 

10. The legislature needs to establish a fund for battered 

women who are in matrimonial and custody matters. Justice is not 

served for these women and their children because rarely can they 

afford the expense to litigate effectively have the resources to 

get adequate legal counseling. This is critical. 

11. Judges should have the benefit of an expert consultant 

to the bench to help them assess cases in which there are allega-

tions of violence. 

12. All qualified experts not just those appointed by the 

courts should be granted full respect by the Judge in his deci­

sion making. Although they are granted equal weight to a court-

appointed expert, they should be viewed as "experts" if their 

credentialing warrants that respect and not referred to by the 

Judges as "hired guns". A debacle similar to what happened in 

Ocean County with a court appointed psychologist who subsequently 

lost his license and where battered women lost their chil-

drenshould be avoided at all costs. 

13. No one should be considered an expert in a custody case 

where there have been allegations of abuse who does not recognize 

the battered women's syndrome since it is recognized and accepted 

in the courts in New Jersey. 
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14. The system by which experts are chosen and appointed by 

the courts need to be looked into carefully. Many times experts 

reflect what the Judges want to hear. Perhaps custody decisions 

need to be taken away from Judges unless there are very specially 

trained Judges to undertake this weighty responsibility. 

15. Longitudinal studies need to be undertaken immediately 

following up on custody decisions that have been made where 

allegations of abuse were made and where the Judge has dismissed 

these allegations. This information is crucial in order to train 

and educate Judges about their mistakes in the area of domestic 

violence. Currently Judges make no connection in their findings 

between abuse against a woman and abuse against their children 

despite the legislative findings which state otherwise. Somehow 

Judges need to be ordered to accept this correlation. 

I wish you luck as you continue to refine the laws that 

protect our women and children. 

Thank you. 
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SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Prevention of Domestic Violence Act 

• Oppose any legislative attempt to dilute the new provisions of the Act. 

• Support an increase in the Family Court and Law Enforcement appropriation 
for the purpose of implementing the Act. 

• Study the feasibility of extending the Act's protection and relief to victims who 
have never resided with, have a child in common with, or are married to. the 
perpetrator. 

• When further amendments to the Act are considered. support legislation to: 
1. Prohibit mediation in any court case where domestic 

violence is involved; 
2. Prohibit the issuance of mutual restraining orders 

unless both parties are found to have committed an 
act of domestic violence; 

3. Prohibit the issuance of restraining orders without 
a finding of domestic violence: 

4. Include stalking as a domestic violence crime. 

Interference with Custodv Law 

• Support amendments to the law which: 
1. Defme and distinguish between interference with 

custody and interference with visitation; 
2. Strengthen the affirmative defense for parents who 

flee an abusive situation by establishing abuse as 
the sole affirmative defense requirement. 

Domestic Violence Resource Center l&~slation 

• When introduced, support the creation of the Domestic Violence Resource 
Center pilot project legislation. 

Fundin~ for Battered Women's Services 

• Support an increase in the state appropriation for battered women's services. 

• Support and prioritize passage of S-522, which would increase the domestic 
violence surcharge of the marriage license fee. 

Federal Violence A@inst Women Act 

• Reintroduce and prioritize a NJ Resolution urging Congress to pass the Act. 



Introduction 

The New Jersey Coalition for Battered Women is a non-profit. statewide organization 
whose membership consists of all the non-governmental battered women's programs 
in New Jersey. The Coalition advocates for battered women and their children with 
the Legislature. the Judiciary, the Governor's Office and every governmental Depart­
ment and Agency whose work and policies impact battered women. Additionally. the 
Coalition serves to provide coordination of all the domestic violence services in New 
Jersey and provides technical assistance, information, resources, and training to 
battered women's programs as well as numerous other governmental and private 
organizations and individuals. The Coalition also works with national advocacy 
groups and other state coalitions to advocate for Federal legislation and policies 
which serve to discourage domestic violence and improve the governmental, social 
service and private sector response to persons who are battered. 

Founded in 1977 the Coalition's mission is to end violence in the lives of women. Its 
primary goal is to end domestic violence in the lives of women and children. 

While recognizing that the many forms of violence against women share the same 
origin, overlap in the lives of women and serve to maintain and perpetuate each and 
every other form of violence, domestic violence has the distinction of being the most 
prevalent and insidious form of violence against women. Moreover, it is probably the 
single most prevalent social problem posing such a high Iisk to the physical and 
emotional well-be.mg of residents of this state. It is estimated that one out of two 
adult women will be physically abused by a partner at some point in their lifetime 
and one in five suffer chronic and severe abuse. 1 Beating in mind that most domes­
tic violence is not reported, in 1990 police responded to 50,823 domestic violence 
calls. In 85% of these cases the victim was a woman.2 In the 1989-1990 court year 
35, 166 individuals signed civil domestic violence complaints, 87% of whom were 
women.3 In 1991 battered women's services sheltered 4,317 women and children, 
provided in-person counseling and advocacy to an additional 13.561 women. pro­
vided violence intervention services to 1,240 batterers and responded to 91,408 hot­
line calls. i 

The Prevention of Domestic Violence Act 

As you know, last year the NJ Legislature passed a revised and improved version of 
the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act (P.L. 1991, Chap. 261). The Coalition con­
curs with those who consider the Act the strongest, most comprehensive domestic 
violence law in the country. For this, New Jersey can be very proud. Essentially, the 
new law does not so much change the oiiginal law as it adds new provisions to the 
Act designed to address those response areas which were failing to provide the maxi­
mum protection and relief available to victims. Consequently, the revised law is 
demanding more from those of us whose work involves the protection of victims. 
Since no approprtation was attached to the law, there are no additional resources to 
assist with the implementation of the new provisions. 

-1-



Obviously, this is not an ideal scenario. Already, only four months into the new law. 
we are hearing discontent about the situation. Probably the most important concern 
the Coalition wants to express to the Commission regarding the Act. is our concern 
that the Legislature might consider diluting the law, and thereby compromising pro­
tection to victims. due to a premature assessment of the situation and/ or an unwill­
ingness to provide the necessary resources. 

First, we would like to point out that the original Act was also passed without an 
appropriation and posed a strain on the system of a far greater magnitude than the 
revised Act. It took some time, but eventually the new law was learned and incorpo­
rated into the system with as much efficiency as possible. In many cases resources 
were found to meet the challenge the law posed. Much of what some courts and 
police are experiencing today will settle with time. To assess the situation at this 
early stage is far too premature. 

Second, we would point out that passage of the new Act coincided with the issuance 
by the Supreme Court and the Attorney General's Office of the Domestic Violence 
Procedures Manual. The Manual is an excellent document which reflects a commit­
ment to the proper implementation of both the old and new provisions of the law. It 
also is an attempt to achieve uniformity of implementation across the state. There is 
no question that the Procedures Manual entails some additional work for some coun­
ties and is doubtless the source of some of the current discontent. However, diluting 
the new provisions of the law will not serve to significantly reduce the impact of the 
standards set by the Manual. 

Finally, we stress that domestic violence is far too important an issue to deny addi­
tional resources needed to both protect victims and prevent the incidence of this 
violence. The Coalition urges the Commission to eppose any legislative effort to 
dilute the Act and support efforts to increase resources for implementing the law. 

Although the Coalition thinks it best to refrain from any further amendments to the 
Prevention of Domestic Violence Act at this time, I have been asked to address areas 
which might have been overlooked when the revised law was drafted, or new issues 
which have developed since that time. 

The Coalition would be more comfortable if the Act prohibited the use of mediation in 
any court action where the mediation would include a batterer and person subjected 
to violence by that batterer. including custody and visitation cases. Although the 
Supreme Court has done a fine job in prohibiting mediation of domestic violence 
cases. there is currently a potential recommendation to the Court that mediation be 
used and indeed encouraged in custody and visitation disputes, including cases 
where domestic violence, child abuse and child sexual abuse are involved. Because 
the Coalition believes that mediation is both inapproprtate and ineffective in these 
cases, and quite unfair to the victim(s), we would be more comfortable if the Legisla­
ture prohibited this practice once and for all. Ukewise, we would prefer the law pro­
hibited the issuance of mutual restraining orders (where both plaintiff and defendant 
are restrained from one another) unless both parties are found to have committed an 
act of domestic violence. In this same vein, restraining orders should 
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never be issued without a finding of domestic violence. Again, the Supreme Court 
has issued very recent directives which address these issues. Nevertheless. due to 
the recent popularity of mutual restraints in some courts. we would prefer they be 
prohibited by law. 

Although the new provisions of the Act extend protection to same-sex victims who 
have resided with the abuser. the law continues to fail to provide protection to victims 
who have never resided with the perpetrator (unless the parties are manied or have a 
child in common). Consequently, very real victims who have dating relationships 
with the perpetrator cannot utilize the 24 hour, civil protection afforded by the Act. 
This was not an oversight by those drafting the legislation, rather it was an inability 
to find a deflllition of this relationship which could be easily interpreted and verified. 
The legitimate concern was that the law would inadvertently cover all adult relation­
ships. However, this is an area that could use some reconsideration due to the num­
ber of adult victims it involves and we encourage the Commission to study it further. 
Likewise, teen dating violence is not addressed by the law, not only because dating 
violence is not included, but also because parties under 18 are not covered under 
the Act. Teen violence is an issue which will be addressed by another presenter, but 
the Coalition emphasizes that it is an area which needs serious consideration and 
possible legislation. 

Regarding new developments, the Coalition is pleased that the Legislature is consid­
ering the creation of a 'new crime, that of "stalking". Senate Bill 256 /Assembly Bill 
807 would make it a crime of the fourth degree if a person purposely and repeatedly 
follows or harasses another person and makes a credible threat intended to place 
that person in reasonable fear of death or sertous bodily hann. (See Attachment A) 
Generally, this bill addresses a form of violence directed primarily towards women. 
More specifically, this persistent following, harassing and threatening behavior is a 
type of domestic violence very commonly employed following separation of the parties. 
Despite the terror such behavior can cause to a victim. this crime is generally rel­
egated to a harassment charge, which ls a petty disorderly persons offense. Further­
more, if harassment accompanies a violation of a restra1ning order. the contempt 
charge is a disorderly persons offense as opposed to a fourth degree crime. The Coa­
lition urges the Commission to support the stalldng bill and later to support the 
inclusion of stalldng as a crime which constitutes domestic violence. 

Interference with Custody 

In November of 1990 amendments to N.J.S. 2C: 13-4, the interference with custody 
law. became effective (P.L. 1990, Chap. 104). (See Attachment B) The amendments 
increase the penalty for interference with custody from a fourth to a third degree 
crime and, if the child is taken from the country, to a second degree crime. Although 
increasing the severity of this crime is appropriate, the Coalition has two major prob­
lems with the current language and provisions of the law. 

The first problem is· that the new amendments equate interference with custody to 
interference with visitation. Consequently, one battered woman we are aware of 
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was arrested and jailed for 10 weeks because she agreed to change a visitation date 
at the request of the non-custodial parent. He subsequently charged interference 
with custody. Because she could not make the $10,000 bail, she subsequently lost 
her job and home and had to fight to regain custody of the children. 

Visitation schedules are frequently altered for any number of reasons. Unless there 
is a persistent pattern of refusal to allow the other parent visitation. there should be 
no possibility that a person could be charged with a third degree crime. This is par­
ticularly problematic for battered women where charges signed against them for 
interference with visitation can literally constitute one more act of domestic violence. 
The Coalition therefore recommends that this law be amended to defme and distin­
guish between interference with custody and interference with visitation, and to 
exclude the possibility that one missed visit could constitute a crime. 

The second problem the Coalition has with this law is that it does not provide an 
adequate defense for persons who are fleeing the other parent to avoid danger to 
themselves and/ or the children. Although the law does include an affmnative de­
fense to charges in these situations, the defense is contingent upon notifying a speci­
fied agency or initiating a custody action. The problem with these contingencies is 
that the average person in crisis will not be aware of them. If a person is trying to 
protect oneself and/or one's children, and feels forced to flee and hide, they will most 
likely have a healthy reluctance to notify the authorities. Unless a battered woman 
has consulted with a knowledgeable attorney, or flees to a battered women's shelter 
in NJ, she will very possibly fail to fulfill the requirements of the affirmative defense. 
Attempts to charge battered women who are fleeing from abuse do occur. We are 
aware of several such incidents. 

The Coalition recommends that the affirmative defense to a charge of interference 
with custody rests solely on the basis of the abuse. This will work towards protecting 
hundreds of battered women in NJ who have justifiably sought to protect themselves 
from a violent person. 

Child Sexual Abuse and Protective Parents 

I will briefly mention the Coalition's concerns regarding the handling of child sexual 
abuse allegations made within the context of civil divorce, dissolution, custody or 
visitation cases. We are aware of dozens of cases whereby a parent making such 
allegations placed themselves in jeopardy of losing custody and/ or unsupervised 
visitation, or actually lost custody, due to a perception that they were making inten­
tionally false allegations. The cases of which we are aware generally involve domestic 
violence. It is estimated that one out of three girls, and one out of seven boys will be 
sexually abused, most often by an adult they know, before they reach the age of 18. 5 
The Coalition believes there is a great deal of work to be done in the area of child 
sexual abuse in order to protect molested children as well as the parents who try to 
protect them. Joan Pennington, Esq. will be testifying extensively on this issue at 
this hearing. 
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Domestic Violence Resource Centers 

The Coalition also urges the Commission to support the Domestic Violence Resource 
Center (DVRC) legislation when it is introduced. (See Attachment C) This legislation 
would create three pilot county Resource Centers which would be responsible for 
assessing court-referred persons found to have committed an act of domestic vio­
lence. The Centers would assess the nature and seventy of the violence and screen 
for substance abuse, mental health problems and other factors which act to exacer­
bate the violence. The Centers would submit to the court recommendations regard­
ing an individualized intervention plan. If a person is court-ordered to participate in 
the plan, the Centers would be responsible for monitortng attendance and submitting 
progress reports to the court. Center staff would also reach out to victims to insure 
that they are aware of available services. The legislation includes a $750,000 appro­
piiation for start-up costs. 

The DVRC concept and legislation was developed jointly by representatives of the 
Coalition for Battered Women, the Network for the Treatment of Spouse Abusers and 
the Division of Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and Addiction Services. The Coalition has 
some concerns regarding the actual effectiveness of intervention for reducing violent 
and abusive behavior. and concerns regarding whether or not DVRC's can be self­
sufficient and not become a drain on scarce domestic violence resources. However, 
the Coalition supports the creation of a DVRC pilot project as well as innovative tech­
niques for reducing violence among individuals. A final step to be completed prior to 
introduction of this legislation is the identification and cooperation of an appropriate 
governmental agency to oversee the project. 

Fundlni of Battered Women's Services 

Based on a Needs Assessment recently conducted by the Coalition,· $15 million per 
year is required to support a minimum standard of domestic violence priority services 
in each of New Jersey's 21 counties. The current level of federal and state funding is 
$6.6 million. Federal grant programs, some of which are not recurring. currently 
contrtbute $4 million. The state currently contributes $2.6 million, or 17% of the 
total required costs. 

Although battered women's programs have proved quite creative in seeming signifi­
cant funding from the private sector, private grants are typically not recuning, stable 
sources of funding. This situation results in a chronic state of financial instability for 
most programs and necessitates the use of limited resources for constant fund-rais­
ing efforts. 

There has been no increase in the state appropriation for expansion of domestic 
violence services since 1986. Additionally, battered women's programs can no longer 
depend on receiving an annual cost of living increase in their state funding. 
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Obviously. the Coalition would like to see an increase in New Jersey's financial com­
mitment to domestic violence services. However. while a $500,000 increase was 
requested by DYFS, it was cut from the final budget for FY 1993 presented to the 
legislature. 

We have. however. proposed a partial solution to the funding problem through 
legislation which would increase the domestic violence surcharge of the marriage 
license fee from $5 to $25. (See Attachment D) This increase would set the cost of a 
marriage license at $28. This is a more than reasonable cost for a license and well 
within the typical range across states. Of the 25 states which have attached domes­
tic violence surcharges to the license, surcharges range from $5 to $33, with an aver­
age surcharge of $16. New Jersey has the lowest surcharge at $5. Only two other 
states have single digit surcharges. Nevada and Rhode Island. at $7 and $8, respec­
tively. 

The proposed increase would generate an additional $1.2 million, nearly 50% of the 
current state appropriation. 

We know that the Commission supports this legislation, currently Senate Bill 522 
sponsored by Senator James Caftero. The Coalition urges not only your continued 
support, but also the Commission's assistance with making S-522 a priority bill in 
1992. 

Violence ~ainst Women Act 

As you know, Senator Joseph Biden (DE) and House Representative Barbara Boxer 
(CA) are sponsoring the Violence Against Women Act in their respective Houses of 
Congress. Not only does this legislation bring unprecedented aational attention to 
issue of Violence Against Women, if passed, it would commit significant levels of new 
funding for reducing the incidence of violence and providing protection and services 
to victims of domestic violence, sexual assault and sexual harassment. 

Senate Bill 15 is currently awaiting a vote by the U.S. Senate having passed in the 
Senate Judiciary Committee last year. House of Representatives Bill 1502 is just 
beginning its arduous journey through five House Committees. 

Congress needs to hear from New Jersey that we want the Act passed. Currently one 
of two NJ Senators is co-sponsoring the Senate version and six of 14 NJ Representa­
tives are co-sponsoring the House version. We need to tell our remaining Congress 
persons that we want them to co-sponsor the Act, and prioritize its passage. 

Last year Senator Lipman introduced a NJ Senate Resolution urging Congress to 
pass this legislation. The Coalition requests Senator Lipman to reintroduce this 
resolution, and requests the Commission to support its speedy passage. 
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s 256 

AN ACT creating the c:rime of stalking and supplementing Title 
2 C of the New I ersey Sta tut es. 

BE IT ENACTED by the Senate and General Assembly of the 

State of New Jersey: 

La. As used in this act: 
(1) "Course of conduct" means a pattern of conduct composed 

of a series of acts over a period of time, however short, 
evidencing a continuity of purpose. Constitutionally protected 
activity is not induded within the meaning of "course of 
conduct." 

(2) "Credible threat" means a threat made with the intent and 
the apparent ability to carry out the threat, so as to cause the 
person who is the target of the threat to reasonably fear for the 
person's safety. 

(3) "Harasses" means a knowing and wilful course of conduct 
directed at a specific person which seriously alarms, annoys or 
harasses the person. and which serves no legitimate purpose. The 
course of conduct must be such as would cause a reasonable 
person to suffer substantial emotional distress. and must actually 
cause substantial emotional distress to the person. 
· b. A person is guilty of stalking, a crime of the fourth degree, 

if he purposely and repeatedly follows or harasses another person 
and makes a credible threat with the intent to place that person 
in reasonable fear of death or serious bodily injury. 

c. A person is guilty of a crime of the third degree if he 
commits the crime of stalking in violation of an existing court 
order pro~bit~g the behavior. 

d. A person who commits a second or subsequent offense of 
stalking which involves an act of violence or a credible threat of 
violence against the same victim is guilty of a crime of the third 
degree. 

e. This act shall not apply to conduct which occurs during 
labor picketing. 

2. "DUs act shall take effect immediately. 

STATEMENT 

This bill would make •stalking• a crime. The bill is intended to 
protect victims who are repeatedly followed and threatened. 

The bill is modeled on a California statute enacted in 
September, 1990. The bill provides that a person is guilty of 
stalking if he purposely and repeatedly follows or harasses 
another person and makes a credible threat with the intent to 
place that person in reasonable rear or death or serious bodily 
injury. Stalking would be a crime or the fourth degree. A crime 
or ... the ··rou~th' degr.ee is p~ishable by a tenn ·:."or 
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imprisonment of up to 18 months, or a fine of up to $7,500, or 

both. 
If the defendant commits the crime of stalking in violation of 

an existing court order prohibiting the behavior, he is guilty of a 
crime of the third degree (punishable by a tenn of imprisonment 
of three to five years. or a fine of up to $7,500, or both). 

A second or subsequent offense of stalking which involves an 
act of violence or a credible threat of violence against the same 
victim is also a crime of the third degree. 

The bill would not. apply to conduct which occurs during labor 
picketing. 

Makes "stalking" a crime • 

.... .... ,... . . . . . ' "' ··- -....... 
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ST A TE 0 F NEW JIRSEY 

1~TRODUCED I ASUAR Y 16. 1990 

By Assemblywoman FORD a.nd Assemblyman DOYLE 

AN ACT concerning interference wt th custody. amending 
2 N.J.S.2C:lJ--' a.nd supplementing Title 2A of the New Jersey 
J Statutes. 
4 

5 BE IT ENACTED by th~ s~nau and G~neral As.umbly of the 
6 Stau of New J~ruy: 

7 1. N.J .S.2C:lJ-" is amended to read a..s follows: 
8 2C; lJ-4. Uiterference Wlth custody. a.. Custody of children. 
9 (A person col'T'.r.uts an ofCense 1f he knowingly takes or entices 

10 any child under the age of 18 from the custody of the parent. 
11 gu.&1'1iian or other lawful custodian of the child. when he has no 
12 privilege to do so. or he does so in violation of a court order. It is 
13 an affirmative de!ense that: 
14 (1) The actor believed that his action was necessary to 
15 preserve the child from danger to his we!fue: or 
16 (2) The child. being at the time not less than 14 years old. was 
17 taken away at his own volition and without purpose to commit a 
18 criminal offense with or against the child. 
19 Proof that the child was below the critical age gives rise to a 
20 presumption that the actor knew the child's age. 
21 · Interference with custody is a crime of the fourth degree.I ~ 
22 peaon, including 1 parent, guardian or other lawful custodian. is 
23 ,guilty of interference with c:mtody if he: 
24 (ti Takes or detains a minor child with the purpose of 
25 concealing the minor child and thereby depriving the child· s 
28 other puect of custody or visitation of the minor childi or 
27 (2J After being served with process or ~ving actual knowledge 
28 of an action affecting marriage or custody but prior to the 
29 i.slu&nce ·of a temDOruy or final order detemtining custody and 
30 visitation rights to a minor child. takes, detains, entices or 
31 coaceals the child within or outside the State for the purp?S! of 
32 deprivinr the child's other parent of custody or visitation, or to 
33 evade the jurisdiction of the courts of this State; 
34 (3) Alter being served with procea or having actual knowledge 
34 of Jp action alfectig the protective services needs of a child 
38 pumlant to Title 9 of the Revised Statutes in an action affecting 
37 custody, but prior ro the islumce of 1 temporary or fmal order 
38 detennin.ing custody rishti of a minor child. take.. detains, 
39 endcM or concew the child withfa or outside the State for the 

CXPUMrr~tt•r •ACIHM •• .. .... ,.c.. •r•d•U (tllwtJ •• ti•• 
U... •111 h Ht eft•CtM M4 It lat~ ta M •ittM t• t~ I••• 

Metur '"'4er111'ff UKs h ...., Ntter. 
tatur -..cletM t• 1111•"cr1,t ..... ralt ~. ~ a4 .. tM 11 fe11ewc: 
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puroose of evad.!ng the l(juru:dictior.l :un.sdictio~l of the courts 
of this State: or 

{41 After che issuance of a temoorar.- or final order snec1fving 
custodv, v1s1tation or 10111t custodv n11hts. ta.lees. detains, ent 1ce5 

or conceals a m111or child from the other parent ?.n violation of 
che custodv or visitation order. 

lnterference with custody is a crone of the thi:-d degree lbut 
the oresumouon of non-1mprisorunent set forth !.11 suhsection e.~ 
~. [ .S.2C:44-l for a first of!~ of a crime of the third degree 
shall not aoo!v. However, if the child i.! taken. detained. enticed 
or conce~ed outside the United State5. interference with custodv 
is a crime of the second degreel. 

b. Custody of comnutted persons. A penon i.s guilty of a. 
crime of the fourth degree if he knowmgiy ta.kes or entic~ any 
committed person a.way from lawful custody whe.~ he is not 
privileged to do so. ·comnutted person· means. in addition to 
anyone committetl under judicial wunnt. any orphan. neglected 
or delinquent c."tild. mentally defective or insane person. or other 
dependent or incompetent penon entrusted to a.not.'ler' s custody 
by or through a re-cognizetl socw agency or otherwise by 
authority of law. 

c. rt is an affirmative defense to a prosecution under 
subsection a. of this section. which mll1t be proved by clear and 
convincing evidence. that: 

(1) The actor reasonably believed that the action was 
necessary to preserve the child from imminent danger to his 
welfare. However, no defense shall be available pursuant to this 

subsection 1f the actor does not. as soon as reasonably practicable 
lbut in no event more than 24 baursl after taking a child under 
his protection. give notice of the child· s location to the police 
department of the municipality where the child resided, the 
office ol the county prosecutor in the couaty where the child 
resided. or the Division of Youth and family ~mces in the 
Departtnent of Human Services 

(2) The actor reasonably believed that the taking or detaining 
o( the minor child was consented to by the other parent. or by an 
authorized State uency; or 

(3) The child, being at the time of the td::ina or coccealment 
not less than 14 years old. wu tum away at his own volition and 
without purpose to commit a crimimJ o((eme with or HUnst the 

child. 
T It ts m affirmat1v• defame to a prwecutioa \mder 
subMction a. of this 1«tioa that a pgmt havinr the rirht of 
custody reasonably believed he wu fleeilu from imminent 
physical danger from the other puent. pnmded that the pa.rent 
h.lvin1 custody. u JOOa u reuoaahly practicable: 

(1) Clves not1ce of the child' 1 locadoa to the police 
department of the mtmicfpallty where tlut child raided, the 
office of the couaty pro..cutor In the c:omty '4ri\ere the child 



resided. or t!":e Division of Youth a.:1d Fa.milv Ser11ces l 1n the 

Department of Human Ser11ces 1 ~ 
(21 Commences a.n action affect:ng cu.stodv tn a..'1 aooroonate 

~ 
5 e. The off er.ses enumerated in this sectton are continuous rn 

6 nature a.nd continue for so long as the ch.tid is concealed or 
7 detained. 

B C. (1) tn addition ta anv other disoosition orov1ded bv law. a 

9 person conV'lcted under subsection a. of ttus section shall make 

10 restitution of all re11SOnable exnenses and costs. including 
11 reasonabie counsel (ees. 1ncurTed bv the other parent in secunng 

12 the child· s return. 
lJ 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 

27 
28 
29 

30 
31 
32 

33 
,34 
35 

(2) In 1mpo.rutg sentence under subsection a. of this section the 

court shall constder. in addition to the factors em!:nerated in 

chapter 44 of Title 2C of the New [ersev Statutes= 

(a} Whether the pen.on returned the child voluntarilv: and 
{b) The length of time the child was cc??cealed or detained. 
g. A' used in this section ... Parent'" means a parent. guardian 

or other lawful ct:Stodian of a minor child. 

{c!: P.L1982. c.199. s.1) 
2. (New sectionl After the is.ma.nee of any temporary or 

permanent order determining custody or visitation of a minor 
c.bild. a law enforcement officer having reasonable· cause to 
believe that a person is likely to flee the State with the child or 
other'W'iu by flight or coac:ealment evade the jurisidiction of the 
couru of this State may ta.ka a child into protecti!e custody and 
return the child to the parent having lawful custody. or to a court 
in which a custody hearing concerning the child is pending. 

3. {New sec:ticnl Every order of a court involving custody or 

visitation shall include a written notice, in both English and 
Spanish. advisin( the penoas af!ected u to the penalties 
provided in N.J.S.2C:t3_. for viol&tiftl that order. 

4. Th.is act shall take effect immediately. 

38 CR.IMINALfUSTICE 
37 
38 ReviMc the law cancemin1 the criminal oCf ense of interfering 
39 with custody of a minor child. 
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AITAGU-1Ef'.<'T C 

AN ACT co~cerning the establishment of Domestic Violence 

Resource Centers and providing for professional evaluations 

of domestic viole~ce offenders; and making an 

appropriation. 

BE IT EN~CTED by the Senate and the General Assembly of the 

State of New Jersey: 

1. This act shall be known and may be cited as the 

"Domestic Violence Resource Center" Act. 

2. The Legislatu=e hereby finds and declares that the 

solution to the complex problem of domestic violence requires 

a variety of legal and social interventions and that 

insufficient state resources have been allocated for the 

evaluation and rehabilitation of batterers. The Legislature 

finds that programs specifically designed to assist 

perpetrators of domestic violence can be effective if they 

have a clear goal of ending violent behavior, and if the 

rehabilitation includes indicated alcohol, drug and mental 

health treatment. The Legislature further finds that 

persons who batter rarely cease their abusive behavior or 

seek professional help without the imposition of court 

sanctions and professional intervention, and that there 

currently exists no comprehensive system for addressing this 

problem. 

3. As used in this Act: 

a. "Domestic Violence Resource Center" means a county 

based program responsible for the assessment, screening, 

evaluation, education and referral of court-ordered persons 

who have conunitted acts of domestic violence; for the 

monitoring of attendance of those persons court ordered to 

participate in a reconunended intervention plan; and for 

participation in the coordination of victim outreach 

services. 

1 



b. "Division" means the Divisicr. on Women, the Departme!"lt 

of Co~munity Affai~s. 

c. "Domestic Violence Specialist" rnea!1s a person who has 

fulfilled the requirements for certification established by 

the New Jersey Domestic Violence Cer~if ication Board. 

d. A "designated domestic viole!1ce agency" is a county-

wide organization whose primary purpose is to provide 

services to victims of domestic violence, who provides 

services that conform to the core domestic violence services 

profile as defined by the Division of Youth and Family 

Services and who is currently under contract with the 

Division of Youth and Family Services for the expressed 

purpose of providing such services. 

e. "Intervention Plan" means an individualized program of 

educational, counseling and/or treatment services recommended 

by a Domestic Violence Resource Center for the purpose of 

ending violent behavior and addressing other problems which 

exacerbate such behavior. 

f. "Violence Intervention Program" means services 

specially designed to assist persons in ending violent and 

other abusive behaviors. 

g. "Referral Agency" means any agency or person who 

provides domestic violence services, alcohol and drug abuse 

services, mental health services or any other services 

recommended by the Domestic Violence Resource Center and who 

has entered into an affiliation agreement with the Domestic 

Violence Resource Center or is employed by an entity which 

has entered into such an agreement. 

4. The Division of Youth and Family Services, the 

Department of Human services shall specify the designated 

domestic violence agency or agencies in each of the 21 

counties •. 

S.a. There shall be established, as prescribed by this 

Act, three county-wide Domestic Violence Resource Centers on 
2 



a 18 me~~~ pilot project basis. These Centers shall be 

accessible to the physically disabled. The staff of each 

Center shall include but not be limited to one Director, 

who is a domestic violence specialist, one staff person who 

is a do~estic violence specialist; one staff person certified 

in alcoholism or in alcoholism and other drugs of abuse; and 

one clerical person. These staff positions may be full or 

part time depending on available resources and the projected 

program demands of the county. The Centers may contract with 

outside professionals if mental health or other assessment is 

required. The Centers shall offer to the Family and 

Municipal Courts a prescribed program which shall include 

1) assessment of the history of domestic violence; 

2) screening for alcohol and substance abuse, mental health 

and other related problems; 3) a written evaluation which 

shall include recommendations for an individualized 

intervention plan with a primary focus of ending violent 

behavior and which shall include referral to appropriate 

agencies; 4) an educational component stressing the criminal 

nature of domestic violence and the legal, social and 

personal consequences of violent behavior. The center.shall 

provide the referring court with a written evaluation within 

10 working days_of the date of the initial appointment with 

the offender. Nothing in this subsection shall bar the 

centers f rorn accepting persons into the program who 

voluntarily request evaluation and referral. 

b. Upon failure of a court-ordered person to make initial 

contact with the Center within the time period specified by 

the court, the center shall notify the person by certified 

mail of an initial appointment date and time and provide a 

warning that failure to appear will constitute non­

compliance. Upon further non-compliance the Domestic 

Violence Resource Center will notify the court and request 

3 



that a hearing be scheduled for non-compliance. 

c. An evaluation fee of $200 shall be payable to the 

Domestic Violence Resource Center by each person entering 

into the DVRC program to support the functions of the Center, 

except t~at no person shall be excluded from the program due 

to inability to pay. The Center may waive part or all of the 

fee based on the person's ability to pay. 

d. The Centers shall establish agreements with relevant 

community educational, counseling, treatment and 

rehabilitation resources qualified to serve as referral 

agencies. The Centers shall ensure that each referral agency 

provides and maintains appropriate and quality services. 

Standards for selected violence intervention programs shall 

be specified by the Division and shall include but 

not be limited to the following: 1) a clear intervention 

goal to eliminate violent behavior; 2) a close cooperative 

relationship with victim services and victims; 3) a required 

program duration of not less than six months and not less 

than 26 sessions; 4) an emphasis on transforminq basic 

control and domination behavior; 5) the provision of a 

sliding-scale fee; 6) service staff who have undergone 

specific traininq in the field of domestic violence. 

Nothinq in this subsection shall bar the centers from 

developing and utilizing their own violence intervention 

programs provided they conform to the Standards set forth 

herein and are approved by the Division. 

e. In cooperation with the referral agencies, the Center 

shall be responsible for monitorinq attendance of all persons 

ordered to participate in the Center's recolMlended 

intervention plan. The Center shall document attendance of 

all such persons and provide attendance records upon request 

of the court. Upon two consecutive unexcused absences or 

upon the development of a pattern of absences, the center 

4 



will ~oti:y the of fender and the court of non-attendance and 

request that the court schedule a hearing for non-compliance. 

The Center shall also provide to the court written progress 

reports at six month intervals on each person under an order 

to at.<:end intervention programs. The progress reports shall 

include but not be limited to notification of successful 

completion of the intervention plan, recommendations for 

continued intervention or other relevant recommendations. 

f. In conjunction with the designated domestic violence 

agencies of each county, the Centers shall ensure that 

outreach is attempted with any victim who signs civil or 

criminal domestic violence charges against a person. 

Outreach includes the provision of the following to the 

victim: 1) information regarding the legal rights of 

victims of ,domestic violence; 2) information regarding 

available community social and legal services for the victim 

and the victim's children, if any; 3) information regarding 

the Domestic Violence Resource Center program and how the 

program interfaces with court action; 4) an assessment of 

victim safety; 5) encouragement for the victim to utilize 

available services. Whenever possible, outreach services 

should be offered at the time of the signing of a complaint. 

Outreach services shall be provided by the designated 

domestic violence agencies of each county or such agencys' 

designees, and these agencies shall be funded to provide 

services from the appropriation authorized in Section 9. 

q. The centers shall be responsible for providing informa­

tional training sessions on the Domestic Violence Resource 

Center program to county and municipal personnel, including 

judges, law enforcement personnel, corcununity social service 

providers, and other involved agencies. In conjunction with 

the New Jersey Advisory Council on Domestic Violence and the 

county's designated domestic violence agencies, the 
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Domes~ic Violence ~esource Center may also assess the 

county's comprehensive domestic violence training needs and 

may partic~pate in the provision and coordination of such 

training. 

h. The Centers shall compile statistics regarding persons 

admitted to the prcgram, persons court-ordered to participate 

in the Center's recommended intervention plan, rate of 

successful completion of the plan, recidivism of domestic 

violence incidents and any other pertinent statistics 

required by the Division. The Centers shall submit monthly 

statistical reports to the Division. 

6a. The Division is authorized to contract for provision 

of the three Domestic Violence Resource Centers from amounts 

appropriated in this Act. The Division shall not approve 

contracts for establishment of Centers in counties that 

cannot demonstrate the foll9wing: 1) that a residential 

shelter for victims of domestic violence and their children 

has been established or that plans to establish a shelter are 

in progress; 2) that a county-wide Domestic Violence Standard 

Operating Procedure for law enforcement has been promulgated 

and 3) that there exists an active county domestic violence 

coordinating committee with representatives who are 

responsible for the law enforcement, court and social service 

response to domestic violence including the prosecutor's 

office and the desiqnated domestic violence agencies. The 

Division shall be responsible for the following: 1) promul­

gating rules and regulations necessary to carry out the 

purposes of this Act; 2) developing and disseminating a 

request for proposals and exercising final approval of grant 

recipients; 4) providing technical assistance to grant 

recipients; 5) monitoring the activities of the Centers to 

insure conformance to the purposes of this Act, and to ensure 

the quality of services; 6) developing standards for violence 

6 



interve~tion pro<;=c..ms; 7) designing, collecting ar.d compiling 

monthly statistic~l reports for submission by the Centers; 8) 

issuing an Annual Fiscal and Statistical Domestic Violence 

Resource Center ~eport; 9) contracting for the provision of 

an independent evaluation of the pilot project as described 

in Section 8. The Division shall hire at least one full t.i.me 

staff person to fulfill the responsibilities of the Division 

under this Act. The Division shall make every effort to hire 

a person who is certified in domestic violence. 

b. The Division shall establish a Domestic Violence 

Resource Center Advisory Committee. The Committee shall 

consist of eleven members including one representative eac~ 

from the Division of Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and Addiction 

Services,the Division of Youth and Family Services, the New 

Jersey Advisory Council on Domestic Violence, the New Jersey 

Coalition for Battered Women, the N.J. Network for the 

Treatment of Spouse Abusers, and the Conunission on Sex 

Discrimination in the Statutes, and five service providers 

who are domestic violence specialists. The Committee shall: 

(1) advise the Division of any regulations or standards 

necessary to carry out the purposes of this Act; (2) review 

any such regulations or standards before their effective 

date; (3) review grant proposals and advise the Division on 

the final selection of grant recipients; and (4) monitor, 

evaluate, and set standards for the quality of services 

provided by the Centers and projects funded pursuant to this 

Act. 

The Committee shall organize within three months of the 

effective date of this ACt, and shall elect from among its 

members a chair and a deputy chair, who shall serve for one 

year terms.so long as they hold the positions from which 

they sit on the committee. The Committee shall at its 

organizational meeting, with the approval of the director of 
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the Division, esta~lish rules for any matters that may be 

necessary for its efficient operation. The Committee shall, 

thereafter, meet at least once per month for the next 

succeeding 12 montjs, and shall invite at least one 

rep=esentative of the Division to attend each meeting. It 

may make such other administrative rules as are necessary for 

efficient and effective operation of the Centers and the 

Committee. After the first year of operation, the Committee 

shall meet at least four times per year. 

7a. Any non-profit, public or county sponsored agency may 

apply for funding under this Act provided the agency submit 

the following assu=ances: 1) that the DVRC professional 

staff will have extensive training and experience in the 

field of domestic violence; 2) that the agency will maintain 

a cooperative working relationship with existent domestic 

violence service providers in the community; 3) that the 

county's designated domestic violence agencies have endorsed 

the applicant's proposal in writing; 4) that the 

establishment and activities of the Center has the support 

and cooperation of the judiciary and governing body of that 

county, which shall be assured in such manner as is 

acceptable to the Division; and 5) ·other assurances which may 

be deemed necessary or appropriate by the Division. 

b. Nothing herein shall bar the designated domestic 

violence agencies from applying for DVRC funding and every 

consideration shall be given to proposals from these 

agencies. 

Sa. The Division will contract with an independent, 

professional agent to evaluate the pilot project with funds 

appropriated in Section 9. The selected agent will design, 

conduct and document the results of the study. The study 

will include but not be limited to an evaluation of the 

following: 1) the extent of judicial cooperation with the 

project including willingness to issue and enforce orders for 
8 



mandatory pa=ticipation in intervention programs and the 

:~c=ease/dec=ease of such cooperation over time; 2) the rate 

of successful completion of prescribed intervention plans; 3) 

where feasible, the impact of the project on victims; 4) to 

the extent possible, the rate of recidivism of domestic 

violence among participants and common factors involved where 

recidivism is low. 

The study will also include an analysis of the actual costs 

of operating the Centers. 

b. The resuslts of the study shall be distributed to the 

Governor, the Legislature, and the Chief Justice no later 

that 18 months after the effective date of this Act. 

9. An appropriation of $750,000 shall be made by the 

Legislature to cover the costs of the 18 month pilot project. 

Of this sum $515,000 is designated for the establishment of 

the DVRC's, $75,000 for victim outreach services through the 

designated domestic violence agencies or their designees, 

$60,000 for the costs of an independent evaluation and 

$100,000 for the Division to perform the administrative 

duties prescribed by this Act. This appropriation shall 

expire two years after the effective date of this Act. 

10. This Act shall take effect on the 60th day after 

enactment. 
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Al\' ACT ir.creas1ng t:-.e ;·P.e ch,irged for a marriage license and 
amending R.S.37:1-12 ;:..:id P.L.1981, c.382. 

BE IT ENACTED by the Senate and General Assembly of the 

State of New Jersey: 
1. Section 1 of P.L.1981, c.382 (C.37:1-12.1) is amended to 

read as follows: 
1. In addition to the fee for issuing a marriage license 

authorized pursuant to R.S.37:1-12, each licensing officer shall 
collect a fee of [$5.00} S25 from the applicants which shall be 
forwarded on a quarterly basis to the Department of Human 
Services. 
(cf: P.L.198'1, c.382, s. l) 

2. Section 2 of P.L.1981, c.382 (C.37:1-12.2) is amended to 
read as follows: 

2. The Department of Human Services shall establish a trust 
fund for the deposit of the fees received pursuant to section 1 of 
this act. The moneys from the trust fund shall be used for the 
specific purpose of establishing and maintaining shelters for the 
victims of domestic vioience, or .!:. for providing grants-in-aid to 
such shelters established . by local governments or private 
nonprofit organizations: or b. for providing grants-in-aid to 
non-residential age,!.1cies whose primary purpose is to serve 
victims of domestic violence in those cowities which do not have 
emergencv residential shelters for victims: or c. for providing 
grants-in-aid to anv non-profit, State-wide coalition whose 
membershio includes a majoritv of the programs for battered 
women in New J ersev and whose board membership includes a 
majoritv of representatives of these programs and whose purpose 
is to provide services. community education, and technical 
assistance to these programs to establish and maintain shelter 
and related services for victims of domestic violence and their 
children. 
(cf: P.L.1981, c.382, s.2) 

3. This act shall take effect on the 30th day after enactment. 

STATEMENT 

This bill amends section 1 of P.L. 1981, c. 382 (C. 37:1-12.1) to 
increase the additional fee collected with a marriage license fee 
from ss.oo to $25. The base fee is retained by the issuing 
municipality and the additional fee is forwarded to the 
Department of Human Services and deposited in a trust fund used 
for establishing and maintaining shelters for the victims of 
domestic violence. The bill would also amend section 2 of P.L. 
1981, c. 382 (C. 37:1-12.2) to expand the use of these trust fWld 

EXPLANATION--H•lltr tntlosed in bold-f~ced br•ckels (thus) in lht 
'· • ":,, :. ~~• .......... " .. ,.14 ;c int•nct•ct to bt Olftttltd in the l~w. 
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monies to include grants to non-residential agencies which 
provide services to victims of domestic violence in counties 
which do not have emergency shelters. Additionally, non-profit 
coalitions such as the N. J. Coalition for Battered Women, Inc. 
which are involved in providing services to victims of domestic 
violence would also be eligible for grants under this bill. 

Increases the license fee and additional fee charged for marriage 
licenses; provides for certain organizations to be eligible for 
grants from trust fund in which fees deposited. 

.. 
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1 The two decades since the 1960s have witnessed a new national 
2 awareness of the violence faced by women in our society. Prior to 
3 the 1960s, on.ly a few forms of violence--such as assault o= rape by 
4 strangers or casual acquaintances--were seen as a danger to women. 
5 Families were assumed to afford protection against this da~ger, and 
6 women were advised to seek t~e shelter of their homes in or:er to 
7 re?nain safe from harm. The st:!ciy of assaults occurring W:.:~in 
8 families did not begin until t~e 1960s, with an emphasis c~ physical 
9 ~~bild abuse.1-3 At this time, there were almost no repor:s of 

10 sexually molested children or abused wives. Violence in t~e family 
11 was thought to be infrequent a.:id to result from the psychopathology 
12 in the individuals involved, rather than being viewed as a society-
13 wide problem with far-reaching consequences. 
14 
15 The new knowledge on violence against women began with the anti-
16 rape movement, which, in the 1960s, began to focus on ser.:al violence 
17 against women by strangers and acquaintances.4 Such disc1.l.Ssions 
18 revealed the prevalence of women experiencing sexual assaults by 
19 intimate males, rather than st=angers, and led to the identification 
20 of physical assaults of women by male intimates as a pheno~enon of 
21 previously unrecognized proportions.5 Studies now doc!:ment that 
22 women in the United States are wore likely to be assaulted and 
23 injured, raped, or killed by a current or ~-male part~er than by all 
24 other types of assailants combined.6-11 ·· 
25 
26 Relevance fo= ~edical Practitioners 
27 
28 Tb.ere have been earlier periods in US history :when the 
29 victimization of women and children became topics of special 
30 concern.12 However, the past t-#o decades represent the fi:st time 
31 that systematic data on prevalence and outcomes have been gathered or 
32 that responses have been so wide-ranging, involving advocacy, 
33 medical, mental health, criminal justice, governmental, and academic 
34 communities.4,5 Major research and po~cy initiatives have been 
35 developed to address aggression occurring within families. Rape laws 
36 have been amended nation-wide to protect victims; in some cases 
37 removing the exemption offered for assaults by husbands and ex-
38 husbands. Nearly every state has establisped new legislation 
39 targeted for violence between adult partners, and federal legislation 
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1 ~n violence aga:!.=st: women is now pending. Although t:he meC.:!.cal 
2 communit:y--along •-ith the criminal justice syste??l--is the :est likely 
3 to see women vic~:!.ms, and thus constitutes a f::ontline of 
4 identificat:!.on a.::d intervention; and although police and ot=.ers in 
5 the legal cotcm:n:!.ty increasingly benefit from t::ai:ling and e::ihanced 
6 procedures i:l res?onding to women victims, only rarely are physicians 
7 and other medical staff provided with training or specific protocols 
8 to aid in deali:lg vith these cases. 
9 

10 In su=ariz!.:lg the concer:is of physicians and public health 
11 officials attenc:!.:lg the AMA National Leadership Conference, Surgeon 
12 General Antonia ~ovello, MD, cited a CDC st:udy reportiri'g t~at 
13 violence by i:lt!::ate partners is the leading cause of inju=J' for 
14 women, "respons!.~le for more injuries t.han car crashes, rape and 
15 muggi:igs cotlbinec." Novello continued, "!u't sadly, the meC.:!.cal 
16 community has yet to consis'tently identify these women as V:.ctims and 
17 extend t::eat:nent beyond the physical manifestations of an a°:)usive 
18 relationship" (":>octors urged to act in 'crisis' of violence" 
19 American Medical News, Mar. 4, 1991). 
20 
21 The cost of a failure to identify and intervene W:.th v:!.olence, 
22 in ter.:::is of pat!.ents' suffering and t.he use of medical prov:!.ders' 
23 time and resources, is incalculable. Particularly with violence by 
24 intimates, assat:.!.ts tend: (a) to be repeated over time, (b) to 
25 produce mo=e i!l.j~=ies than assaults by strangers, and (c) to have 
26 complicated sequelae with implications for further morbidi:y (e.g., 
27 the possible vic~!mization of another family member by the original 
28 abuser or vict!.:l). The long-term nature of the effects of trauma, 
29 the patte!':l of repeated assaults by assailants in families, and the 
30 frequency with which intimate assaults against women result in injury 
31 typ,ically mean re?eated contacts with victims, involving va~ous 
32 medical persoililel and services, with a low success rate fo:: the 
33 alleviation of symptoms. Moreover, as Robert McAfee, MD, vice 
34 chair.nan of the AMA Board of Trustees noted, "In addition to the 
35 terrible hl:::2.Il toll, violence strains the resources of·our he~lth 
36 care syste~ •••• When we are being constantly_ criticized abou't health 
37 care costs, this is one of the factors driving those costs up" 
38 ("Doctors u:-ged to act in 'crisis' of violence," American ~edical 
39 News, Mar. 4, 1991). 
40 
41 Overview of To~ics Covered 
42 
43 This report revi~As the following (overlapping) forms of 
44 violence against women: rape, physical and sexual assaults by marital 
45 or dating partuers, and the long-tem effects of child sexual 
46 molestation in adult women. [Topics of child physical abuse and 
47 elder abuse have been covered more generally in other Council 
48 publications. See references 13 and 14.] Empirical evidence on 
49 prevalence and the physical, psychosocial, and emotional ou'tcomes of 
50 these types of victimization are reviewed, relevance for the practice 



CSA Re?. - page 3 

1 of medic~~e disc~ssed, and recoII:mendations for enhanced 
2 ident~!ication and response presented. 
3 
4 RAPE 
5 
6 In t=a.ditional definitions, rape has been defined as the "carnal 
7 k:l.owledge of a fe:iale forcibly and against her will.nl5Cp174) The 
8 meaning of 'car:ial knowledge' is restricted to vaginal-penile 
9 penet=ation; ot~er types of sexual penetration are excluded. This 

10 definition is used by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (!BI) for 
11 its Unifo==i Cr'!.::e Renorts of offenses k::lown to the police, as well as 
12 by the National Crime Survey (NCS) to measure t~e extent of 
13 un=e~c=-:eci cr:!.::.e in the United States. Although data on rape is 
14 gat~ered at the Federal level, actual legislation on ra?e varies by 
15 state. In the last t:'#o deca~es, legal definitions of rape have 
16 undergone extensive revisions: many states now utilize ex:>anded (or 
17 refor.:n) statutes that: define rape as the "nonconsensual se.r.ial 
18 penetration of an adolescent or adult obtained by physical force, by 
19 th=eat of bodily harm, or when the victim is incapable of giving 
20 consent by vi.=~~e of mental ill:l.ess, mental retardation, or 
21 intox!ca-c:.on."16,17 These refor:n definitions typically i:lc.lude other 
22 types cf ser.!al penetration, in addition to vag:!.:lal, as well as 
23 attemnts t~ cc--~t rape by force or threat of force.lS(ppl-4) 
24 
25 Incidence and Prevalence of Rane 
26 
27 Accorc!.:lg to FBI cri:ne reports, a total of 92,486 rapes of women 
28 were repo~ed to the police for the year of 1988. Approx=.:nately 82% 
29 of these ra?es were completed by force; the re:naining 18% were 
30 forcible a~~empts. This yields a victimization rate of approximately 
31 73 rapes per 100,000 adult women. Estimates based on the National 
32 Crime Survey, which includes incident:s not necessaiil.y reported to 
33 the police, are nearly twice as high: for 1987, the rate of rape 
34 victimization was 1.3 per 1,000 women and girls (excluding children 
35 under the age of 12), and 0.1 p-er 1,000 men and boys)9 · 
36 
37 Roweve'!', parameters of both the Uniform Crime Reports (UCR) and 
38 the National C~....me Survey (NCS) exclude many incidents of forcible 
39 sexual assa!llt. Only a small percentage of crimes a=e re?orted to 
40 the police. Significantly, officials consider rane to be the most 
41 under-repo:-ted of all crime categories measured,20 and, although the 
42 NCS is designed to tap the incidence of unreported c::ime, no specific 
43 questions :regarding sexual assault are included. The single question 
44 to probe for rape asks, "Has anyone attacked you in some other 
45 way?"21 Unless a :respondent volunteers information about sexual 
46 assault, no further questions are asked.18,22 Further, the context 
47 of a "c:ri!lle" vi."'"tually guarantees underreporting of intrafamily 
48 assaults in both surveys. Marital rape has been exempt from rape 
49 laws in most states until :recently, and still is almost never 
50 reported to police. NCS respondents may view assaults occurring 
51 between fa=i..ly members as personal problems, rather than as criminal 
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1 actions. !~=the=, NCS interviews are frequently conducted with other 
2 family me~be=s p::esent, and thus privacy in responding is not 
3 ass't!::ed. 
4 
5 E~ide::rl.olo~ical studies. Prevalence s~dies using epidemiologic 
6 methods yield mo::e reliable estimates. Such studies now indicate 
7 that at least 20% of adult women, 15% of college women, and 12% of 
8 adolescent .girls have experienced se:c:.al abuse and assault during 
9 their lifet:.:ne.8,23 In a study using 't!le California rape statute to 

10 define rape as "forced intercourse ••• or intercourse completed when 
11 the wcman was d=-~gged, unconscious, asleep, or otherwise totally 
12 helpless and hence unable to consent ••• • and an intensive interview 
13 for:at, 44: of a random sample of woce:i had experienced at least one 
14 atte:pted o:: cc~pleted rape.10Cp64) Similarly, in a community study 
15 cond't!cted i:l So't!th Carolina, 23: of ac~t women had experienced a 
16 completed ::ape (defined as nonccnsen~...al penetration invol~-ng force 
17 or the threat of force), and 13: had experienced attempted rape.24 
18 Esti.:I:.ates for African-American women are even higher. Agai:l using a 
19 st::ict defi:lition of rape and a detailed interview format with a 
20 coir:In-.::iity SA!:lple of women in Los Angeles, one in four African-
?. l ~..r:~=~can •c=en, and one in five white American women, reported at 
22 least one i:lcident of completed or at~empted rape since their age 
23 18. 25 
24 
25 Incidence figures (the number of new cases within a given time 
26 frame) add dimension to these findings. In a study of 2,291 adult 
27 women in Ohio, 28 per 1,000 women had experienced rape in ue 12 
28 mont~s prior to the survey, based on the traditional F!I definition; 
29 using an ex?anded reform definition, t!ie rate rose to 62 women per 
30 1,000. Even using the more rest=ictive parameters, these figures 
31 mean that one out of every 55 adult women experienced a rape as 
32 defined by the FBI during that one-year period. Using reform 
33 definitions now adopted by many states, one in 24 women had 
34 experienced a rape in the prio~ 12 months.26 
35 
36 Hi£h risk nouulations. Grouus in whic!i th~ incidence of rape is 
37 parti~.tl.a=ly high include children under the age of 12, ·adolescent 
38 and ycn::ig acult women up to the age of 25, women on college campuses, 
39 minority women, elderly women, and the handicapped. Children are 
40 most at risk from assaults by family members and other caretakers, 
41 and least at risk from strangers (see section on childhood 
42 molestation). Similarly, adolescents and young adult women are most 
43 at risk for acquaintance and date rape and least at risk from someone 
44 unknown to them (see dating violence) • Both young adult and older 
45 women are ICOre vulnerable to sexual assaults by marital or ex-marital 
46 partners than to rape from acquaintances or strangers combined (see 
47 discussion of marital rape). 

I 
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I=nac~s on Psyc~olo~ical and Social Well-being 

I~i~ial effec~s. Initial reactions to sexual assault include shock, 
n1:Illbness, wi~~d=awal, and denial. Victims of st=anger attacks of~en 
are afraid tb.ei= assailant will return and further har.n them, and 
they may fear re~aliation if they contact the police. Victi::s of 
attacks by acqua!.:ltances or int!.::nates are often stunned that someone 
known t:o tbe.::i or someone tb.ey t:-u.sted could attack them in this 
manner. In initial presentations to police or medical staff, victims 
may appea= 1!:lllat:"~=ally calm and detached (although some physical 
signs such as shaking or lowered skin temperature are ~sually 
present); or tb.ey may be c=ring or cmgry and e=otive. 

Ty'?ica:ly, there is a lessening of these i:litial symptoms a:~er 
the first t:W'o weeks and the vic::.m may enter a denial phase, in which 
there is an out:"ward appearance of adjust::nent. Those sur=ot:nding the 
victi:n may comment on bow well she has recovered from the trauma and 
assume t!lat the vorst is over. However, studies suggest a period, 
occur=ing from t:"#O weeks to seve=al months post-assault, i:l which 
symptomatology retur:is and may i:ltensify.27 It is at this time tb.at 
the vict!:n may begin a pattern of help seeking for these sy:iptoms, 
without infor.ning those she contacts of the rape expe=ience tb.at 
underlies tb.e:n. 

Long-te=:n effects. Resea=ch doc':.llilents that the 'aftereffects' of 
rape are persistent and long-lasting.18 Victims often react wit~ 
chronic anxiety and continued feelings of vulnerability, loss of 
control, and self-blame long after the assault.28-30 Common long­
term reactions i:lclude specific atlXiety, night:ma.res, catastrophic 
fantasies, feel:!.:lgs of alienation and isolation, sexual dysfu:ictions, 
and physical distress.IS 

In cross-sectional research, women who have been raped tend to 
score high on a.l:nost every kind of psychological measure, post­
assault. 31 In one study, rape Victims who were as much.as sixteen 
years post assault were found to have consistently higher levels of 
fear and anxiety than women without rape experiences. Other long­
term effects include mistrust of others, resulting in disr~ption of 
personal relationships or styles of relating; the development of 
phobias; manifestations of depression and hostility; and somatic 
symptoms.30,32,33 Manifestations of depression may include general 
apathy or suicidal ideation. Suicidal thoughts are reported in 
between 33% and 50% of rape victims in cross-sectional 
studies.23,34,35 In a community sample of women not seeking 
treatment, between 17% and 19% of rape victims made suicide 
attempts.29,35 

High-risk grouns for nost-rane distress. Some studies have found 
that women who were in situations in which they judged themselves to 
be safe when they were raped (e.g., at home, w-ith a trusted 
acquaintance or partner) experience more intense fear and cep=ession 
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after the assault than other victims.32,36,37 Yomen with prior 
victimization histories also evidence especially severe aftereffects, 
part~cularly depression, as the assault triggers memories of a past 
assault or cilildhood molestation.24,38 Other factors, such as the 
level of physical threat, injury, and medical complications increase 
the vulnerability to post-rape symptoms.39 Although it is often 
assumed that women who are the victims of stranger rapes are more 
severely traumatized than these victimized by persons they know, 
research has not supported this assumption. In comparing victims en 
measures cf depression and anx!ety, women assaulted by family members 
er dates er.:>erience as severe levels of distress as wo~en assaulted 
by acquaint~ces or strangers.34,40 

Post~raumatic Stress Disorder. This complex of effects in the 
aftermath of rape often meet the criteria for the diagnosis of 
posttraumatic stress disorder (?TSD).4l(pp247-251) In fact, rape 
victims are believed to constitute the largest category of PTSD 
sufferers.42 Hallmarks of PTSD include psychic numbing, intrusive 
reexperienc!:lg cf the trauma months er even years after the event, 
avoidance of st!.:luli associated w'"ith the trat:=ia, and intense 
psyc~ological distress. 

r~~acts on Phvsical Health and Well-being 

Initial ertects. Intrusive thoughts about danger, fears about future 
victimization, and the physiologic arousal associated with these 
cognitions not only disrupt social and psychological functioning, but 
often lead to physical symptoms as we11.l8 Immediate medical 
concerns after rape include injury, infection, and documentation. 
Most hospitals have protocols for intervention with rape victims who 
present the:iselves to emergency rooms for medical care and testing. 
In the first weeks immediately following a rape, physical effects of 
trauma may include soreness, br~ising, rectal bleeding and other 
injuries. Gastrointestinal irr_itability, fatigue and ~hronic 
fatigue, te~sion headaches, intense startle reactions, and disturbed 
sleeping and eating patterns also often are·noted.18 .. 

Long-tenn effects. Specific and ongoing health concenis after rape 
include gynecological trauma such as-vaginal tearing or injuries to 
the vulva, the risk of pregnancy, and the potential for contracting 
infections or sexually transmitted diseases.32 Currently, the risk 
of RIV infection and therefore of AIDS is of increasing concern to 
rape victims and those who treat them, and contributes to the sense 
of fear and of irreparable damage with which survivors must deal. 
Victims may also seek to escape the pain of rape's aftereffects 
through alcohol and drugs, further disrupting physical and 
psychological well-being. 

'llX 
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1 Victims' Use of Health Care Services 
2 
3 Rape vi.c~i=.s appear to be f =equent use=s of medical se=vices in 
4 the mont:hs and years post-assaclt. Su::vivors perceive 'Che:lSelves as 
5 less -healthy and report visiting physicians more often than non-
6 victi=ls, regardless of the length of time since the rape 
7 incident.43,44 They are more likely to report symptoms in every part 
8 of the body (except der.natology and eyes) than nonvictims.44 They 
9 also report more injurious heal~h habits than nonvictims, including 

10 smoking, dr'...:iki:J.g, and overeati:lg. In one study, visits to 
11 physicians increased 18% in the year of the assault, 56% i:l the 
12 following year, and 31% the yea= after, compared to pre~vic~imization 
13 levels.26 Nearly all vict:.:ns !tade vis~ts to pr'...mary care physicians 
14 in each of the t:"#O years after the assault.44 
15 
16 SDecial considerations for hea~th care ~roviders. Although most 
17 emergency rooms have established protocols for rape victims who are 
18 seen soon af~er the incident a~d acknowledge they have been raped, 
19 only a small minority of victi:s seek this type of assistance. Other 
20 victi:ns present to private physicians or ~ergency rooms with 
21 compla:!.:l~s based on the sycptc:s, but do not disclose that an assa~lt 
22 has occ~==ed. Still others do not present until months af~e= the 
23 incident; b~t then contact the medical community repeatedly over 
24 time, in an~t~e:npt to deal with long-te~ effects and com?lications. 
25 Early identification of rape t=auma by medical staff can help 
26 demystify non-specific medical-complaints and legitimate t~e 
27 patient's distress, as well as enabling the physician to make 
28 appropriate referrals to help sources to assist with rape recovery. 
29 Some lessening of the emotional and psychological dist=ess may, in 
30 turn, result in a lessening of symptoms and thus in the need for 
31 medical contac~s. 
32 
33 Specific protocols that take into account. the victim's 
34 relationship to the assailant ~~11 also contribute to a patient's 
35 well-being and the effectivenes·s of the treatment provided. ~ noted 
36 earlier, women are more likely to be sexual:J.y assaulted by their 
37 intimates than by strangers. Procedures developed for the victims of 
38 stranger rape ~erk poorly in these cases. Victims of inti::ate 
39 assault are less likely to fo=-..ally ~eport the assault, either 
40 immediately or as a part of a medical history, and thus are unlikely 
41 to be assisted under established protocols. Even given rape 
42 disclosure, established proced~res may not provide medical staff with 
43 guidance on what to do if the assailant--e.g., the partner--is 
44 present in the emergency room or doctor's office. Yet the long-term 
45 effects of partner rape are often as severe, and chances of injury 
46 greater, than with stranger rapes.45 Medical protocols should take 
47 this into account through the development of procedures for cases of 
48 intimate violence. The physical and sexual assault of women by 
49 intimates is discussed further in the following section. 
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Althoug~ the danger of victi::rl.zation by strangers historically 
has receivec Cie :est attention, nationally representative studies 
consis'tently i:ld:..cate that women are most at risk f~9~.:theiF 
int:!..ma.tes, pa=-tic~arly from male partners. In ~~ su:rvej of 
intact couples, self-reports indicated that nearly one out of every 
eight husba=cs had ca==ied out one or more acts of physical -· 
agg=ession aga~st their female pattner .during the su::vey year .. ~ .. / 
Although the ste=eotype of 'domestic violence' tends to be that of 
relatively Iti:lor assaults and ·sqi.:.abbles, over one-thir~ of these 
assaults i.:lvolved severe aggression such as punching, kicking, 
c:ioki:lg, be~::!:lg up, or using a k:life or a gun. These finci!:l.gs mean 
that, in an average 12-month pe=iod in the United States, 
approx:.m.ately t:"~o million women a=e severely assaulted by male 
par:ne=s.9,46,47 Victims of v!olence by intimates are much more 
likely to be reassaulted within six months than those attacked by 
non-intima~ese9 women who are separated or divorced from their 
par~ne=s a=e at t~e highest risk of assault.4 · 

As wi~h ot:ier types of i.:l.t!::.ate violence, figures based on 
national su=7eys are marked under-estimates. Such su..-veys typically 
don't incluce the very poor, those who do not speak English fluently, 
those whose lives are especially chaotic, and all individuals who are 
instit~tion;~~zed, hospitalized, homeless, or incarce:ated at the 
time the st:--vey is conducted. Further, estimate~ are based on only 
those respondents who are willing to repore, even anonymously, acts 
of violence oey have perpetrated or experienced to an unk::lcw 
interviewe=. Researchers on family violence agree that the true 
incidence of partner violence is probably double. the above estimates; 
or four million severely assaulted women per year •. Studies on 
prevalence suggest that from oue-f ifth to one-third of all women will 
be physically assaulted by a partner or ex-partner dll..-ing their 
lifetime.48 

Risks of Partner Violence for.Women and Men 
·. 

Althoug~ some surveys suggest nearly equal participation rates 
for women a:id men (i.e., that about as many women as men have 
perpetrated at least one act of aggression: threw something, pushed, 
shoved, slapped, hit, etc.), some clarifications should be noted. 
First, in this research, no questions are asked about the context 
within whic~ these actions occur, and thus there is no measure of 
acts that are undertaken in self-defense. Second, the same surveys 
find that oe frequency and types of aggression perpetrated by women 
and men in partner relationships differ: 

a) Men perpetrate ~ aggressive actions against their female 
pa:-tne:s than women do against their male partners; 
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l b) Men pe=;>etrate more severe ac~ions--such as punching, 
2 k!cki:lg, choking, beati:lg up, or usi:lg a knife or gun; and 
3 
4 c) Men are more likely to perpet=ate mult:i!>le aggressive 
5 ac~!ons against a female part:ner du~...ng a single incident 
6 t~c.:i a=e women against male part:ners.46,47 
7 
8 Even when cocpa=ed with relat!onships in which women have perpetrated 
9 at least one agg=essive act, the offend±ng rate for men for severe 

10 violence is 42% higher.46 
11 
12 Sever!~v of O\!tcomes for Women. In combination with men's greater 
13 average phys~cal st=ength, these factors lead to quite different 
14 physical cutc=mes for women and men. women are much more likely to 
15 be i:lj~=ed by their male partners than men are by their fe:iale 
16 pa=--:ne=s.49 In analyzing inju=y reports from t~e National Crime 
17 Su:-vey i:l 1980, over 80% of all assaults against spouses and ex-
18 spouses resulted in injuries, compared to 54: of the victims of 
19 stranger violence; victims of marital violence also had the highest 
20 rates of i:l.te=:ial injuries and unconsciousness.SO ..,, 
22 
23 
24 
25 
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27 
28 
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Eocicice figures for the US also demonstrate the differential 
risk fo= women and the severity of physical outcomes of partner 
assa~t. Frcm 1976 through 1987, the deaths of approximately 38,648 
people over tie age of 15 were one part:~er killing another (including 
homic~des by ca.r=ied, common-law, ex-married, or dating pa=tners). 
Of these dea~~s, 61% of the victims were women killed by male 
par~ne=s and 39% were men killed by female partiers.51 For white 
couples, t~e differences were more marked: 70% of partuer homicide 
victi:ts we:-e women and 30% were men. Rates for all female­
perpet=ated partner homicides have dropped dramatically since the 
mid-1970s: f:-om 1976 to 1985, t~ere was over a 25 percent decrease in 
the overall numbers of women killing male part:ners.11 This drop was 
linked with t!ie presence in a state of domestic violence legislation 
and other services for abused ~omen, such as shelters and crisis 
lines. This decrease has not been matched·by a similar.decline in 
men killing female partners' however. Over one-half of women 
murde:-ed in t~e US are killed by a current or for.ner male partner. 

Dynamics of Violence Against Wives 

Types of partner abuse reported by women in epidemiologic 
surveys range from being slapped, punched, kicked, or throw bodily 
to being scalded, choked, smothered, or bitten. In relationships 
with ongoing severe abuse, typical assaultive episodes often involve 
a combination of assaultive acts, verbal abuse, sexual assault, and 
threats.52,53 The repetition of aggression in families is 
facilitated by the fact that victims are readily available; the 
amo~nt of ti:le at risk is high; assaults can be carried out in 
private; and wife-assault is a relatively low-risk behavior for the 
aggressor, in te::ms of identification and sanctions.45 
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1 Until t~e mid-1970s, assaults against wives were considered 
2 misde:neanors in :est states--even when the same action would have 
3 been_ considered a felony if per:>etrated against a stranger or an 
4 acquaintance instead of a wife; and police were not empowered to 
5 arrest on a misde~eanor charge. Orders of protection usually were 
6 not available on an emergency basis and typically carried no 
7 provisions for enforcement or penalties for violation.54 Moreover, 
8 women who event-.:..ally killed their mates in protection of the?nselves 
9 or a child found the plea of self-defense unavailable for their 

10 case.53 Only si:lce the late 1970s have domestic violence lavs and 
11 the provision of shelters and other services begun to more seriously 
12 sanction wife assault and offer some protection to abused women.4,5 
13 
14 Cbaracteristics of Persons Involved in Marital Violence 
15 
16 Victi!ns. Early research on abused women focused primarily on women 
17 who had sought special services. Accordingly, knowledge of victim' 
18 characteristics ~as initially limited to women whose resources 
19 directed t~e!Il to public assistance. Nationally randomized samples 
20 now doc~ent t~e diverse socioeconomic backgrounds of victi::s; 

a::~=~g~ ;c::.::.ger women and women living in poverty are more at risk 
22 for both non-ma=ital and marital violence. However, e?Upirical 
23 studies have not found characteristics that differentiate women who 
24 are victimized from women who are not, other than their socioeconomic 
25 status and t!le fact that they are abused. 
26 
27 In a review of 52 studies with comparison groups, only one of 42 
28 potential risk markers for women--witnessing parental violence as a 
29 child or adolescent--was consistently associated with becoming a 
30 victim of marital violence.55 Studies also suggest that being 
31 ser~ally abl!Sed as a child leaves women more prone to revicti.mization 
32 in later life.56 However, empirically, neither personality factors 
33 nor behavioral c!iaracteristics distinguished women abused by male 
34 partners from non-abused women •. Although studies from.special 
35 populations stress symptomatology, the symptoms that battered·women 
36 exhibit ap~ear most likely to be seauelae of the violence, rather 
37 than its aiitecedents.4,55,57 · 
38 
39 Abusers. Some commonalities have been found among male abusers, 
40 however. Men who assault female partners are more likely to have 
41 witnessed or experienced violence in childhood, to abuse alcohol, to 
42 be sexually assaultive to their wives, and to be at risk for violence 
43 against their own or their partners' children than are men in 
44 comparison groups of non-abusive males.55 They are also more likely 
45 to be involved in violence toward strangers than men who are not 
46 assaultive in the family. 
47 
48 Imoacts on Psychological and Social Well-being 
49 
50 Initial effects. As would be expected, women victims of a partner's 
51 violence have many of the same reactions as other victims. During 
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l assau.l:s, c~e pr!ma:ry focus is on self-protection and survival. 
2 Reactions of shock, denial, withdrawal, confusion,- psychological 
3 nu:nbi:lg, anci fea= are common. During--and eve::i after--an assault, a 
4 victim may offer little or no resistance, in an attempt to minimize 
5 the t~=eat cf i:l.jury or renewed aggression. 
6 
7 Lon~-te~ effects. Similar to rape victims, long-term reactions in 
8 women abused by :i.a.le partners include fear, anxiety, fatigue, 
9 sleepi!lg and eating disturbances, intense starele reactions, and 

10 physical coI:"plai:lts. As with other types of t=al:ma, abused women may 
11 become depe::icent and suggestible and find it difficult xo make 
12 decisions alone, and, during the period that follows, mini=nize the 
13 danger a~d ?ersonal loss.SB Effects of trat:::la a=e exacerbated by the 
14 fact t~at the aggressor is someone they may love, someone they are 
15 supposed to be able to tr~st, and someone on who~ they may depend. 
16 Unlike the vict:!.::is of strangers, victi=ns of ma:-~:al violence in fact 
17 have a legal, fi:lancial., and role relationship W:.th their assailants; 
18 conf ol!:lding t~ei:- decisions on what to do about the violence as well 
19 as the psyc~olog~cal sequelae.59 In such cases, perceptions of 
20 vulnerabili:y, loss, and betrayal or hopelessness may be especially 
21 severe. T!iere is also a high prevalence of dep=ession, and suicide 
22 atte?Upts a=e cocon. 60 Violence at home typically leaves no place in 
23 whic~ defenses can be let down. 
24 
25 I~~acts on Phvsical Health and Well-beinE 
26 
27 I::ijuries sustained by abused women range f=om bruises, cuts, 
28 black eyes, conc~ssions, broken bones, and misca=riages to permanent 
29 injuries su6 as damage to joinu, partial loss of hearing or vision, 
30 and scars f=:m bunis, bites, or knife wounds. The force with which 
31 an act is ca:Tied out, the number of repetitions of the act, and the 
32 cluste=ing of different acts together play a major role in 
33 detenn!.:l.i:l.g tb.e amount of injury sustained.53 
34 
35 !~juries from domestic violence typically involve.contusions or 
36 minor lacera~ions to the head, face, neck, ·breast, or abdomen. These 
3 7 are of ten distinguishable from accidental injuries, which are more 
38 likely to i:lvolve the periphery of the body. h a hospital-based 
39 study, vic~!:ls of domestic violence were 13 til:es more likely to 
40 sustain inju..-y in breast, chest, or abdomen than accident victims.61 
41 They are also more likely to have multiple inju..-ies than accident 
42 victims, as well as medical. evidence of old injuries (e.g., old and 
43 new fractures; bruises in various stages of healing) .32 When this 
44 patter:i of injuries is seen in a woman, particularly in combination 
45 with evidence of old injury and with vague complaints of aches and 
46 pains, physical abuse should be suspected, regardless of the 
47 explanation given for the current condition. 
48 
49 P=ima=y care complaints include chronic headaches, abdominal 
50 pains, muscle ac~es, recurrent vaginal infectio~s, sleep and eating 
51 disorders, and depression. Abused women may also begin to abuse 
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alcohol or p=esc=iption drugs; altbough, in studies of general 
popula~ions, alcohol abuse does no~ distinguish battered women from· 
non-vic~!:d:ed women. In addition, recent research suggests an 
association ~th delayed physical effects, partic~arly arthritis, 
hyper~ension and heart disease (Correa C. 1985. Unpublished data). 

Victims' Use of Health Care Services 

In st~dies of emergency room visits, 22% to 35% women presenting 
with any complai:lt were there because of symptoms relating to 
abuse.62 A NIMH-funded project estimated that 21% of all women using 
emergency su=gical services were there for sequelae of domestic 
violence; ~at one half of all i:lju=ies presented by women to 
eme=gency s~gical services occurred in the context of part:ier abuse; 
and t~t over one-half of all rapes to women over the age of thirty 
had been perpetrated by an inti:nate partner.63 Rather than stating 
abuse as the problem, however, abused woman are more likely to 
prese~t w'"ith dep=ession, anxiety, fam!ly/marital/sexual problems, and 
vague mec~cal cocplaints. Rates are even higher in special care 
populat~cns. For example, it has bee::i. estimated that sixty-fou= 
pe=ce~~ c: hcspi~alized female psyc~t=ic patients are the vic~!ms 
of physical abuse as adults.64 

Due to t~e ongoing and injurious nature of domestic violence 
toward women, abused women may visit physicians repeatedly, wit~ 
increasingly severe physical t=auma.6~ In documenting the repeated 
nature of abused women's visits to health providers, Stark & 
Flitc:af t found that nearly one battered woman in five had presented 
at leas't 11 times with trauma; another 23% had brought 6 to 10 
abusive injuries to the attention of clinicians.60(p302) 
Unfort:!::lately, i:l most cases, the victimization history underlying 
these i:lju=ies was never identified. (Also see reference 62.) 

S~ecial Considerations for Eealth Care Providers 

Batterln;: durin2 t>regnancy. Victims of a. partner's violence during 
pregnancy face t~e risk of especially severe outcomes.66 There is 
some controversy over whether the incidence of marital violence 
increases during an abused wive' s pregnancy; however, we know it does 
not cease. !ased on a representative sample, the 1985 National 
Family Violence Survey found that 154 out of every 1,000 pregnant 
women we~e assaulted by their mates during the first four months of 
pregnancy, and 170 per 1,000 women were assaulted the fifth through 
the ninth month.67 Medical sources suggest that approximately 37% of 
obstetric patients, across class, race, and educational. lines, axe 
physically abused while pregnant.68 

Pregnancy is a particularly high risk time for an abused 
womau,66 Advanced stages of pregnancy leave her less able to 
maneuver to avoid blows or escape an attack, and more at risk from 
secondary injuries to herself as well as to the fetus. Further, 
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clinical reports suggest that assaults during pregnancy a=e 
frequently related to jealousy or anxiety about the upc~g bi=t:h, 
and that physically assaultive actions such as blows or k!cks a=e 
often directed toward the abdomen. Such assaults can res-cl.t in 
placental separation; antepa=tum hemmorrhage; fetal fract~=esJ 
rupture of the uterus, liver, or spleen; and pre-tenn labor.6 One 
study found that abused women were three times as likely to sustain 
injury while pregnant as non-abused women.60 

Physical abuse may lead to fractures, bruising, or he:::iorr~age. 
Although few specific st'"~dies of the impact on birch a.utc:~es have 
been done, physical violence during pregnancy has been l!:...~ed to low 
birth weight in newbor:is.69 Physical or sexual assault tt.ay st"'::n!late 
early labor by irritation of the uterus, premature r~pture of the 
membranes, or injury to the reproductive organs.70 Indirec~ causes 
of poor bi:th outcomes for a woman who is victimized at hc:e i~clude 
social isolation, diminished ?ersonal and social support, inadequate 
access to prenatal care and other services, inadequate mater:ial 
nutrition, and a concentrat~on of injury on the reproduct:7e organ 
systems.68,70-72 

Because of the high i:lcidence of women who are assal!.!.:ed during 
pregnancy, those providing p=e- and post-natal care have a:i excellent 
opportunity.to identify t!lis abuse and to reduce the pote~tial 
negative outcomes. Abused wc=en should be given intensif~ed p~enatal 
care, appropriate for hig!i-risk pregnancies. Guidelines fo= 
physicians working in the area also urge that every ef f o~ be ::ade to 
identify women who are vict:.:S of abuse, and to provide t!ie::i -w~th 
information about their rights under the law and available cot::=l!nity, 
social, and legal resources.73(p6) 

Marital violence and child abuse. Unfortunately, risk to die 
children of abused women does not stop at birth. Studies of t!ie co­
occurrence of wife and child abuse document that men who abuse their 
wives are more likely to be abusive toward children than are non­
abusive men, and that extreme violence toward female part:lers is 
highly associated with concurrent child abuse.53,74-76 ~There is also 
a strong association bet"'ween severe marital violence and ~e 
frequency of child abuse. In a nationally representative su:wey, 
more than half the males who were severely violent toward fe:lale 
partners abused their c:n.ldren three or more times during the year 
prior to the survey.77 

Conversely, in a hospital-based comparison study based on 
reviews of all child abuse reports filed at a Boston emergency room 
for a six-month period, records of 59% of the mothers were diagnostic 
or highly suggestive of a vicd.mization history. 18 This was 
significantly higher than the prevalence of wife abuse among mothers 
of children in a non-abused comparison group--16% of mothe=s in the 
comparison group had been abused. Surprisingly, the rate of violence 
against single mothers of child abuse victims was four ti::les t!ie rate 
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of mothers who were married, s~ggesting the need to conside= the 
possibility of t=auma histories in all mothers regardless of their 
marital status at the time they are seen. (Also see refere~ce 79.) 

Studies also find that mothers who are the victims of frequent 
abuse are more l:.kely to vict!:nize their children than non-abused 
mothers; and tha~ mothers who ~erience severe violence a:e more 
likely to •~se severe measures in. resolving conflicts with their 
children.22,77 Some in-depth research suggests that mothers are up 
to eight times ~ore likely to physically abuse a child when they are 
in a violent relationship than when that same mother i~ with a non­
violent part:ier.52 Some child and adolescent abuse is also the 
unintended result of parental violence.50,80 Adolescents who attempt 
to intervene, and young child:en who may be in their mother's a=:ns or 
otherwise in close proximity to her when an attack oc~~rs, are at 
particularly high risk. 

MARITAL RAPE 

Although a neglec~ed topic in both the areas of family violence 
and medic::!.ne, e:pirical research has sho~ consistently that mar:..tal 
rape is an integral patt of the patterns of marital 
violence.10,52,S0,81 In a random sample in San Francisco, 14% of 
ever-marrl.ed wocen reported bei:lg raped by a husband or ex-husband, 
more than twice as many as were assaulted by strangers. S:!.::rl.larly, 
in a representative sample in Boston, 10% of women cohabit!.:lg with a 
spouse or intimate male reported at least one sexual assault 
occurring in that relationship.6 

Marital rape has been reported in relationships in whicb no 
other for:ns of physical abuse occur. However, it see?n.S to be ~ost 
frequent as a for.n of aggression in relationships in which other 
violent behavio=s are ougoing.10 Sexual assault is reported by 33% 
to 46% of women victims who are being physically assaulted by their 
partners. 48 Research on severely violent relationships .. indicates 
that the most violent assaults often include sexual as well as 
physical attacks, and that battered women who are sexuai1y assaulted 
by their partners typically ex:>erience more severe non-ser"...a.l attacks 
than other abused women.53,82,83 In.severely abusive relationships, 
violent, forcible sexual assault may occur as often as several times 
a month. 

Sexual abuse is an extremely serious fom of marital violence. 
It is possible to inflict an intense level of physical pain over a 
long period of time, and to cause a wide range of injuries, from 
superficial bruises and tearing to serious internal injuries and 
scarring. The psychological impact of s~ assault by an intimate 
can also be extreme. Victims of marital rape suffer many of the same 
reactions as other rape victims, and are likely to exhibit 
particularly severe sequelae, both emotionally and physically 
(including very severe depression and suicidality). Yet, except for 
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l c~ild ser~al molestation, this type of violence is least likely co be 
2 repor~ed by vic~ims, either to medical care providers or to police; 
3 d~e to the shame of the victims, fear that they will not be believed, 
4 o::- belief t:iat forcible sexual relations are the "right" of a husband 
5 or male pa=-::ier. An awareness of the potential for forcible ser~al 
6 assault in mar=iage, partic~la=ly in cases in which other types of 
7 physical abt:..se have been identi!ied, will enable the clinician to 
8 sensitively assess for mari'tal rape as a tool for unders'tanding t:ie 
9 etiology of observed symptoms. 

10 
11 CORA.BITING A.~ DATING VIOL.E~CE 
12 
13 Although t~e prevalence of marital violence has led scme 
14 researchers to call the mar::-iage license "a hitting license" (at 
15 least 30: of all couples have had at least one act of physical 
16 aggression bet:Ween them47), recent investiga'tions have focid at least 
17 as high a p=evalence of physical assault among dating and cohabiting 
18 couples. Fi:ldings on "dating violence" are quite new in t~e social 
19 science litera't~re, and interp=etations of those findings can be 
20 proble~tic.84 However, studies are limited al::iost exclusively to 
21 st-.:C.e~ts i:l h.igb. school and college. Very little is known about 
22 individuals ber•een 'the ages of 14 and 22 who a=e not attending 
23 school or about those who are past college age and dating or living 
24 w-ith their part:iers despite the fact that many who seek medical 
25 ser-~ices a~ hospital and cotmm::lity health cente=s come from these 
26 groups. 
27 
28 Dynamics of Dating Violence 
29 
30 Data f=om the National !al:l!.ly Violence Survey in 1975 docmnented 
31 higher rates of partner aggression among cohabiting couples than 
32 married inc~viduals.85 Similarly, results from the 1985 Resurvey, as 
33 well as res?onses from students at a midwester.i unive=sity, indicated 
34 a higher level of assaults ber~een cohabitants than in the college 
35 sample of dating couples or the national sample of ma=ried couples; 
36 and higher rates among dating cou'Cles than .. married.86 As with other 
37 types of intimate violence, the risk of inju=Y--and of lethal 
38 injury--is quite different for women and men. In one stucy of 
39 college st1!.C.ents, women were four times as likely to sustain moderate 
40 to severe i:ljuries as a result of dating violence than were males.87 
41 
42 Self-reported motivations for perpetrating dating violence also 
43 differ. W"nereas most women give self-defense or retaliation as their 
44 motivation, ma.le respondents were most likely to report that the 
45 purpose of their violence was to "intimidate," "frighten,• or "force 
46 the o'ther person to do something.n88 Violence as a response to 
47 sexual den:!..al was also frequently reported by males. If violence 
48 occurs once in a dating relationship, it is very likely to occur 
49 again, with a mean number of 9.6 incidents.89 Thus it is not 
50 surprising that these assaults may result in injury over time. 

/DO'!-
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Sexual Assault i~ Dating Relationshins 

Rape victimization for females is highest in the 16-19 yea= age 
group, and next:-b.ighest in the 20-24 year age group; with cvera.11. 
rates about four times as high as the mean for a.ll women.21 In some 
research on college campuses, 20: to 25% of college women reported 
forcible ser..:.a.l attempts by a date, and 26% of college men reported 
maki~g forcible atte.?npts or forcible rapes. In one study, 35% of 
male university students reported a w-il.lingness to commit rape under 
cer=ain circ~stances (i.e., if assured the rape would not be 
repor;ed) and adhered to st=ongly rape-supportive beliefs a:id 
attit~des.90 A carefully administered survey of over 6,000 college 
students f oi:.nd t~at 42: of women students reported some type of 
sexual assault, !ncluding forcible sexual contact, attempted rape, 
and completed rape.18,91 Rapes and attempted rapes involved greater 
levels of violence than did non-sexual assaults in dating 
relationships. Rates of rape victimization did not vary 
significan~ly based on whether the school was large or small, or 
located in an urban, metropoli~an, or r~ral area. Current esti:n.a.tes 
suggest that one in 3.6 college women has been a victim of rape or 
a~~e=?teci rape curing their lifeti:me.91,92 In investigat~g the 
incidence of forcible rapes and attempted rapes of adolesce~t girls, 
a national surve7 (based on reports of 'Che perpetrators) es~imated a 
minimum of 540,000 assaults of female teenagers per year.93 

Inc=easi:l.g Severitv of Non-Ma=ital Violence for Wc=en 

The reported levels of both non-sexual and sexual physical 
assaults against girls or women by non-marital intimate pa=-c~ers have 
inc=eased during the past 15 years. Although some of this may be due 
to a greater sensitivity to dating and cohabiting violence as an 
issue, levels of severe intimate violence against women do appear to 
be increasing. For example, although the rate of homicide 
victimization for male partners in dating or living-together 
relationships has varied unsystematically, the rate of fe:tales killed 
by dating or cohabiting partners increased·-sharply from 1976 through 
1987.51 This may be due, in part,·to a lack of interventions 
targeted for dating and cohabiting partners. Shelters, and most 
domestic violence legislation, tend to address problems of safety and 
access for those who are married or cohabiting. Few, if a::iy, 
services--except on some high school or college campuses--are 
structured for individuals assaulted by a dating partner. Thus it is 
possible that the relationship types with the highest risk for 
violence, sexual assaults, and lethal violence are the ones least 
served by current societal interventions. 

Considerations for Health Care Providers 

Violence in dating relationships traditionally has been 
considered relatively non-serious, with few services or p=otocols 
designed to address it. However, recent evidence on the prevalence, 
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1 morbidity, c..:ld i=lc=easing nu:::.ber of male-perpetrated homicides in 
2 these relat~onships requires se=ious attempts to identify violence 
3 be~ween no~-:::.ar=~ed intimates and.effectively intervene. Screening 
4 techniques to assess for cu=::-ent or past victimization should be 
5 utilized fo= all categories of female patients, regardless of 
6 demographic or =elational ci=c-.::nstances. 
7 
8 SEXUAL MOLESTATION IN CHILDHOOD 
9 

10 Final.:y, a history of ch~ 1 dhood sexual molestation is highly 
11 associated "With endur!ng physical and psychological sequelae, so that 
12 a lack of k::lowledge regarding this history may confuse.the medical 
13 and psyc~c::gical picture as V:.ewed by a physician. Child sexual 
14 molestat~o~ ~s typically not assessed as part of an ac..U.t i:ltake 
15 evaluation. Ro~ever, left u:iacdressed, the long-ter.n effects in 
16 victims ca~ be pronounced. Fu~her, clinical studies indicate an 
17 exceedingly high prevalence of child se.xual·abuse histories in 
18 psychiatric patients. Given its salience far treatment providers 
19 working w-:.~ adult (as well as child) populations, the ef:ects of 
20 child ser..:a: molestation will be briefly disc-~ssed. 
21 
22 Cases of c~ild sexual assa:ilt first became recog=.ized i:l large 
23 numbers i~ ~e 1970s.94 Prior to this, ser.al molestation of 
24 children ~as thought to be relatively rare and to occ~r only in the 
25 most patho:cgical of families. General practitioners expected to see 
26 one or t-wc cases at most in their lifetime. In recent yea=s, 
27 however, t~e American Humane Association has documented an increasing 
28 number of =e?orted cases of c:rl.ld sexual victimization, and several 
29 studies have been conducted. Again, some of the increase in 
30 reporting ~s related to an increase in public sensitivity. In the 
31 past, c:U.lC.=en were prlllla.rily at risk from fathers, other male 
32 relatives, od close family acquaintances. w"hile these risks remain, 
33 children toeay may also be at risk from greater use of outside child 
34 care by s!::gle and divorced working mothers; the use of foster care 
35 as the trea:::ient of choice fo"r ·abuse within families, Without 
36 adequate sc=eening procedures for foster care settings; and national 
37 trends towa=d living together and shorter marital relationships, 
38 which may p-~t children at risk from stepfathers and mothers' 
39 boyfriends. 
40 
41 Long-term Effects 
42 
43 Imnacts on ~svchological and social well-being. Long-ter:n effects of 
44 the experie:ice of child sexual molestation include impacts on 
45 emotions, self-perception, social functioning, and physical well-
46 being.95-97 Depression is the symptom most commonly reported among 
47 women molested as children.56 Adult survivors are more likely to 
48 report dep=ession, and to have been hospitalized for depression, than 
49 other types of victims or non-victims. A high incidence of self-
50 destructive behavior, both suicide ideation and deliberate self-harm 
51 (e.g., c~t:~g, burning, or ot~erwise inflicting self-inj~::y) has 
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also been fo-.:.:id i:l adult survivors of child sexual assault; 
disti.nguish!.:lg them even within clinical populations. This includes 
an except!o.:itlly high prevalence of suicide attempts· reported among 
adult su=vivors i:i community and college (up to 16%), as well as 
clinical(~? to 51%), samples.98-100 Symptoms of anxiety or tension, 
includi:l.g c=-=on!c and severe sleep disorders, aDXiety attacks, 
chronic fea=f~l:iess, and hyper-vigilance, also frequently are noted 
in su:vivo=s, along with dist~rbances in adult sexual pleasure and 
comfort.56,95,101 

Survivo=s of child sexual molestation also report.a general 
sense of alienation persisting into adulthood; as well as difficulty 
tr~st!:lg ct~ers, relating to women and to men, and pa=enti:l.g.56,102 
Even in gene=al populations, a high percent of the victims of child 
ser~al moles~ation continue to feel isolated and stigmatized as 
adults. Al~ough by no means i:levitable, approximately one-fif~h of 
child ser~al abuse victims evidence serious long-term psychological 
effec~s.56 These may include disassociative responses triggered by 
specific s~!.:u.li or anxiet7-producing stressors; as well as other 
PTSD i:idica~ors such as nu::.~ing of affect, chronic states of 
~~~::==?=~z~e a=ousal, night:na.res, and flashbacks. Victims who have 
experiencec abuse by fathers or stepfathers, whose assaults involved 
genital con~act, ~r whose molestation involved force 1 appear to be at 
especially h!gh risk for severe long-term sequelae.5° 

Perha?S most troubling is t~e apparent vulnerability of women 
who have been sexually abused as children to be revictimized later in 
life by bot~ strangers and in'Cima.tes. A persistent vulnerability to 
revictimiza~!on is one of the most consistent findings in both 
clinical ~nc empirical litera~~re. In one random-sample study, 33% 
to 68: of c~e sexual molestation victims later experienced a rape 
(depending on the seriousness of the childhood abuse they suffered), 
compared wi~ 17'.: of women who were not child victims .103 In a 
survey of college students, women who had been sexually abused before 
the age of 13 were the most at -risk to later become Victims of 
nonconsensi.!al sexual experiences.104 Victims of child sexual abuse 
also are mo=e likely to be physically abused by husbands or other 
adult part~ers when they reach adulthood.99,103,105 Other evidence 
shows that t:any women who engage in prostitution were victims of 
abuse as c~!ldren, and violence perpetrated against current 
prostitutes is not uncommon. 

lm'Oacts on P~ysical Health and Well-being. Many of the long-term 
physical effects discussed in the section on rape are also seen in 
adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse. Somatic disorders include 
abdominal pain, headaches, and eating disorders (e.g., anorexia or 
bulimia) • Adult victims may also evidence the effects of venereal 
disease. In a study of children, sexual victimization resulted in 
the transr:ission of venereal disease in 13% of 409 victims.106 
Documented sequelae of child sexual abuse include herpes, chlamydia, 
gonorrhea, syphilis, and trichomouiasis.107,108 Female victims of 
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child ser~a.:!. assault also are at higher risk for substance abuse and 
the develo~=e~t of alcoholism than women without this chilchood 
history.94~99,109 Experiences with child or adolesce~t ser.ial 
molestation :ay also engender a patter:i of early drug use, with 
cumulative long-ter:n effects.56 

s~ecial Considerations for Eealth Ca=e Providers 

In patients presenting the~selves for medical care, a history of 
child se:r.:.a.l molestation is almost always masked by other ?=esenting 
problems. !~~her, medical and psychological symptoma.;ology may be 
compoc:ided by revictimization experiences, as well as by other life 
exper~ences =est:.lting from e?notional or behavioral se~~elae. 
Indications t:iat a history of child sexual abuse should be explored 
include: (1) sycptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder, w!:hout an 
apparent history of current or past rape, dat!:lg violence, partner 
abuse, or o~er tratmia; (2) evidence of ongoing severe depression-­
especially ii accompanied by self-har:n, including physical 
disfigu~-ng of the body, eating disorders, and/er suicide attempts; 
(3) evidence cf sexual dysfunction or unusual a:ixi.ety invo:ving 
se:r~al acti~ties or exposure of the body (possibly i:lcludi:lg 
medical--and especially gynecological--examinaticns); (4) early onset 
of alcohol o~ dr~g abuse; (5) a childhood history of r.:nni:lg away, or 
placement i:l foster care or institutions; and (6) a history of 
repeated physical or sexual vic~imization. 

PSYCROPATROLOGY VERSUS TEE EFFECTS OF TRAU1'4'~ 

Clinical studies have identified a high incidence of cepression 
and elevatec levels of alcohol and other substance ab~se i:l. women 
victims cf V:.ole:ice--particularly those seen in emergency and in­
patient set~i:lgs, sometimes leading to DSM-IIIl\ Axis I 
diagnoses.29,60 Diagnoses of personality or developmental disorders 
(Axis II) are also frequently assigned to women with histc=ies of 
rape, child se:rm molestation; or bauering. A personality disorder 
is a diagnos~s of social dysfunction and does not take into account 
the influence of enviromnental factors extrinsic to the-·organization 
of the persc:iality.110 It may also be a problematic diagnosis for 
cases in wh:!.ch a trauma history is present, particularly if that 
history is not known to the clinician. 

For eXG!:?ple, in one study of adult women with sexual molestation 
histories, ewe-thirds met the diagnostic criteria fer posttraumatic 
stress disorder. However, none had received that diagnosis and, in 
most cases, dealing with the impact of the childhood trauma was not 
even considered in treatment.111 Yet both substance abuse and 
chronic depression, rather than symptoms of an Axis I disorder, may 
be the long-term effects of a history of victimization and are 
frequently found as sequelae to child sexual assault. SiI:rl.larly, 
battered wo~n's reactions to the violence they have experienced may 
approximate behavioral descriptors for borderline or other (Axis II) 
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pe=sonality diso=ders, although t~e same individual might:~ have 
met: t~e crite!'ia for the disorder before the onset: of reC"~r:ing 
attack.112 An adapted MMPI (Mi::mesota Multiphasic Personality 
Invent:O!"]') is new available for the assessment: of bat:tered women, to 
accoo:::codate tile presence of real danger in their lives. 

Clinicians ~ medical set:t:.ngs suggest t:ha.t, in many cases, a 
diagnosis of Pos:traumat:ic St=ess Disorder (PTSD) is often the most 
accu:rate for vic~ims of in'timate violence.18'32'113 The "~st common 
t=aumata" sugges:ed in the DSM-IIIR for PTSD is "a serious threat to 
one's life er physical integ=it7, or a serious threat or ha::::i to 
one's c~ild=en ••• "; the disc~ssion suggests that the disorder is 
"apparently ~ore severe and longer lasting when the stressor is of 
ht:ma.n design." !urther, the presence of ongoi.:lg physical or sexual 
abuse is listed under the "Ex't:-e:ne Stressor" c:ategory--catego!"Y 
number five en 't~e Axis IV classificat:ions of severity.4l(pp247-250) 
(The only category mere severe is reserved for "Cat:as'trophic" events, 
and i:lcludes captivit:y as a hostage and conce~t:-ation camp 
expe=ie~ces.} Ec-wever, for behaviors to be seen as postt:=at::nat:~c 

stress reac~ions, the trauma nn.:.st: be k::iow-n--something that is not 
possible if a de~ailed victimi:ation history is not obtained and 
effects are int:e:-preted in isolation. 

Given t~e disruption of developmental tasks and s'tages, Axis II 
diagnoses are t::idoubtedly approp:-iat:e for some family violence 
victims. In ot~er cases, extre!lle st:ressors (e.g., violen't attack) 
may cont=ibcte to the emergence of a psychiat=ic disorder. 
Inclusiona:ry ctiteria for PTSD, struct~ed for situations in which 
the pr-f...mary s'tressor is no longer present:, do not always fit c~rrent 
reac~icns of vic~ims who are faced with ongoing threat or danger. 
New designations, now being field test:ed, may provide expanded 
classifications to better account for bocll the reactions of 
individuals who have been vict:i:nized in the past, as well as those 
who must res?ond to periodic a~sault and threat in th~ir present 
enviromnents. 

IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICY AND PRACTICE 

Physicians and other heal~ care providers rarely probe for the 
underlying causes of the injuries they treat.61,114 However, a 
treat:nent plan based primarily on the treatment of symptoms is 
ineffective for a victim of violence if assaults are ongoing and thus 
sequelae continually recur. Physicians and medical staff become 
frustrated w"'ith trauma patients who return frequen'Cly with uon­
specif ic and chronic complaints--symptoms that the best medical care 
seems unable to alleviate. Treating only the symptoms initiates a 
cycle of patient contacts with medical and mental health service 
providers; w"'ith the attendant risks of increasingly severe and 
debilitating sequelae for the patient, as well as the exhaustion of 
resources withi::i the system providing care. A more efficient 
response over time is for medical professionals to routinely screen 
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l for victi:ni:ation, including i:lt=.:nate physical and sexual assault, ij 
2 t~eir i:litial. as well as ongoi:lg assessments; and to develop 
3 treat:nent plans that address t~e cause of the trauma as well as its 
4 manifestations.62,115 Often, Ciowledge of a history of victimization 
5 provides a starting point fro~ •aich to disentangle a confusion of 
6 presenting complaints and symptoms. 
7 
8 Guidelines for Medical Settings 
9 

10 Struct~red resources wit~Jd a medical setting will greatly 
11 facilitate effective interventions. Basic components for targeted 
12 responses to violence agai:lst •c~en include: 
13 
14 Training - to develop se~si~ivity to these issues, i:lcluding an 
15 awareness of risk factors, i:lc~cators, estimated prevalence in the 
16 general and patient population, sequelae, and considerations for 
17 healtb. care providers. Traini:lg should include becoming familiar 
18 with assessment procedures anc i:lterviewing techniques as recorcmended 
19 in t~e set~ing; as well as wi~ risk assessment, safety planning and 
20 procedures for linking to resc~rces. Further, training on 
21 interpersonal violence should be incorporated into core Ci!rric..tlmns 
22 for underg=aduate, graduate, a:id continuing education for those in 
23 tb.e health professions. 
24 
25 Protocols - to assess for c~rrent or past victimization as a 
26 routine part of obtaining a mecical/psychiatric history. Procedu=es 
27 established for cases in whicb. victimization is identified should be 
28 adequate to give specific guiCa:ice, based on the type of abuse and 
29 the individuals at risk (e.g., protocols for the victims of stranger, 
30 versus marital or date rape; fer a woman victim where a child is also 
31 a~ risk). Procedures should also include a system.of tracking, in 
32 which the n~ers and types of cases seen can be tabulated and 
33 patients wno repeatedly evidence abuse can be identified. 
34 
35 Resuonse Staff - within t::ie medical setting if poss.ible, to 
36 whom victims can be referred. Tasks of response staff would i:iclude 
3 7 immediate safety planning, malc!.:ig victims aware of theit legal 
38 rights, area resources for safety and intervention, and services 
39 available ~within the hospital and their community. Staff would 
40 follow up •-ith patients, and ac~ as a link with both in-house and 
41 community resources. Other tasks of the response staff would include 
42 coordination of the tracking system, identification of high-risk (and 
43 repeat) cases, and coordination of triage efforts for intensive 
44 intervention with special risk cases. 
45 
46 Referral Sources - within the community or area for women 
4 7 victims of violence. Medical settings· should make themselves aware 
48 of and develop linkages with a variety of area resources including: 
49 battered women's shelters and c=isis services, rape crisis centers 
50 and services, services for adt!lt survivors of child sexual abuse, 
51 services for homeless women, legal services for women victims, 

New Jersey State t...lDrary 
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1 t=eat~ent. p=ogra.::is for men who abuse fe!nale partne=s, and services 
2 for abusive parents. A priority on the development of a .-:.de-ranging 
3 ref err al ner.;crk, and the maintenance of positive and reci?rocal 
4 relations wit!i the entities in this net:Work, will be of g=~t 
5 benefit--t.o patients and thei= families as well as to ~ecic~l 
6 personnel who would no longer be required to carry the full burden of 
7 intervention. 
8 
9 These cotm:m:nity resources could ~\Jrk collaboratively -~t:h 

10 hospitals or practices to see victims in the medical setti:lg or to 
11 train staff to become more k:nOYledgable in t~ese areas, At the same 
12 ti:e, the health care comzm::iity--hospitals and residency t=aining 
13 prograr.s as well as ind~vic~al physicians--might provide i.!l-k!nd 
14 services such as evaluations, scree:i!.:gs, and testing. s~~ services 
15 might best be provided on s~:e wherever t!ie con:nunity ~eso~=ces are 
16 located. 
li 
18 Eealt~ Care Goals fc~ women Victims of Vio~ence 
19 
2G 
21 
22 
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Trea't::lent goals for women v~ct:.:Z:s of violence i:lclude t.!ie 
attaim:nent of physical health, mental health, and saiety f=~m fu=ther 
har:n. At the Al'.A National Leadership Conference, Rebert ~~ee, MD, 
c~rrent vice c~rman of tlle Board of T:-~stees, stressed t=.at 
violence i:l America has become a "public health crisis.of epidemic 
proportions," and urged doc~ors to take an active role in finding 
solutions to the effects of violence on the patients 'tiiey serve 
("Doctors urged to act in 'crisis' of violence," American ~edical 
Ne~s, Mar. 4, 1991). Although the problem of violence aga!:lst women 
is pervasive and complex, Su:-geon General Novello has urgec that 
physicians not be deter:-ed i:J. fi:lding a role for the?tSelves in the 
solution, noting, "the h"t:man cost: alone more than justifies S"'wift 
action by physicians to red~ce these deaths and injuries." 

Recog:i:.tion of the prevalence and severity of violence against 
women can be overwhelming. Yet a place to begin is in. bc:>=porating 
this knowledge into routine auestions for assessment, sensitive 
responses t~ disclosure, and.effective referrals to resdurces. 

Routine screening leadin£ to identification of female ~atients 
who are or have been vict:!!ns of violence. llout!.ne screenings 
should be carried out at the entry points of contact between 
women and medical care: e.g., primary care, emergency services, 
obstetric and gynecologic services, psychiatric services, 
pediatric care, etc. Protocols to assess for victimization will 
vary somewhat, dependi:lg on the medical context, but should be 
based on assessment instruments in the scientific literature and 
address the various types of victimization women experience. 
G~idelines for obtaining infor:nation on a trauma history, 
identifying coping mechanisms, and assessi:lg the potential for 
furt:he= danger a=e provided by Mc1eer and .Anwarll5, P~:ten and 
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l collea~~es,116 and the Ame=ican College of Obstet=icia:ls and 
2 Gynecologists.73 
3 
4 Validation of the eroerience of victilJlization and of obse~ed 
5 svoutot=a.t:olon" as. uossible seauelae. An explanation mt many 
6 people expe=!ence physically aggressive actions f=om ~~eir 
7 i:lt::i.::iates; that often they are afraid to tell anyone ab.out it; 
8 and that st:.ch experiences can have painful and even cia.=1~erous 
9 sequelae shot:.ld accompany assessments for victimizatiOil and 

10 characte=i:e professional responses to disclosure. O::e of the 
11 greatest se=vices a physician can provide to a pa~ient is to 
12 acknowledge the trauma and validate it as a threat to physical 
13 a~d emc~!onal well-bei:l.g.32 In discussing physician's res?onses 
14 to abused women, Anne Flitcraft, MD, notes that "the ve-:y 
15 acknowledg:ent that domestic violence is goi:lg on, anc that you 
16 and she agree it is a serious problem, is a very powe=:::.l and 
17 therape~tic fi=st step. 1162 
18 
19 Record-kee~~n~ re£ardi~~ v~ctimization histo~. obse~ed 

20 trauma~a 'OOtentiallv linked to the Victimization, anc =efe==als 
21 made. A:'chival studies of medical records note ~at 
22 victim!zation histories, if noted at all, are typical:.y included 
23 with a list of symptoms or behavioral problems--e.g., "Patient 
24 presented wit~ bruises and minor lacerations. Co::rpla~~s of 
25 chronic back pain, sleeplessness, and menst~~al i==eg-.:larity. 
26 Reports marital difficulties with some hitting, some evidence of 
27 st:.bsta=.ce abuse. 1160, 113 More specific documentation, i:lcluding 
28 (a) incications of a trauma history from the initial screening, 
29 (b) wha~ the patient has disclosed about past or c~r=e:it 
30 victi~J:ation, (c) a desc=iption of symptomatology potentially 
31 linked to the victimization, and (d) referrals made, based on 
32 this h~story provides a basis for later review of treat:nent 
33 plans. Such a record is also useful to assess progress, or to 
34 indicate the need for more intensive intervention$ at a later 
35 contac~ with the patient. 
36 
37 Referral to within-settin£ and/or community trauma-suecific 
38 resour~es. After disclosure of victimization to a physician or 
39 other staff, referral should be·made as quickly as possible to 
40 specially trained staff within the setting or, if none are 
41 availa~le (e.g., in a private practice), to outside resources. 
42 Wb.eneve= possible, these resources should be "trauma-s'Oecific"--
43 e.g., rape victims would be referred to those with e.%?ertise in 
44 rape c=isis and/or marital or date rape; abused women would be 
45 referred to resources with expertise in domestic viole:ice, and 
46 so fort~.59 Consonant with the goals stated at the beginning of 
47 this section, referral and intervention procedures shottl.d take 
48 into account the safety of the woman victim. 
49 
50 Pa=tic::larly in cases of domestic violence where vict!.::s are 
51 still •-ith their abusers, protocols need to address: (a) the 
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handling of referrals when the assailant is on the pre.:lises, 
(b) procedures for response if the immediate need of the patient 
is for protection, and (c) the context within which the 
"problem" of ongoing abuse and threat is to be addressed. In a 
medical setting, such cases are most typically referred for 
family (or couples) counseling, but are almost never referred to 
resources designed to deal with women who are or have been 
victimized by intimates. Physicians and other medical personnel 
f reque:itly do not even knew what resources are available in 
their area vith expertise on wife abuse, rape and date rape, or 
shelter. Referring a cur=e~t victim to counseling with her 
assailant is potentially dangerous. If she has no opportunity 
to wo=k through some issues apart from him, a victim may resist 
discussing the issues, or completely deny that a problem exists, 
in an attempt not to ange= her par:~er and further encanger 
herself. 

RECOMME~1lAl'IONS FOR POLICY 

The Council on Scientific Affai=s recommends: 

1. T".:iat the American MeC.:..cal Association, working with me?llbers 
of the· Federation and other relevant organizations, 
undertake a campaign to alerc the health care community to 
t~e widespread prevalence of violence against women--t:~at 
the effects of such·violence are likely see:i on a regular 
basis--and to sensitize the?n to the needs of victims of 
violence; 

2. ~t the AMA encourage physicians to routinely incorporate 
sc=eening leading to identification of female patients who 
are or have been victims of violence; 

3. ~t the AMA encourage physicians to give due validation to 
the experience of victimization and of obserVed 
symptomatology as possible sequelae; 

4. That the AMA encourage physicians to record a patient's 
victimization history, observed traumata potentially linked 
to the victimization, and referrals made; 

S. That the AMA encourage physicians to refer patients to 
within-setting and/or community-based trauma-specific 
resources as soon as possible; 

6. That the AMA encourage the incorporation of training on 
interviewing techniques, risk ass·essment, safety pl ann1ng, 
and procedures for linking to resources into undergraduate, 
graduate and continuinmg medical education programs; 
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1 7. That t~e American Medical Association collect .and 
2 disseminate protocols an identifying and treating victiI:ls 
3 of violence and develop, in conjunction with other relevant 
4 organizations, guidelines for treat:nent where protocols are 
5 absent; and, 
6 
7 8. That these recommendations be adopted and the remainder of 
8 this report be filed. 
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Violence is one o! the major public health proble:is facing the 
United States today, a.:id its sequelae touch all segments a:ld age 
groups of our society .. Violence is broadly defined as the use of 
physical force to inflict injury or death upon oneself or 
another.l Approximately 20,000 deaths· per year are attributed to 
intentional violence perpetrated by one person on another,2 with 
12,000 of these deaths involving firearms.3 Another 30,000 people 
die each year as a res~lt of self-directed violence.2 In 
addition, almost 300,000 people are hospitalized every year 
secondary to intentional violence.2 According to the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation (FBI), there were 834,322 serious assaults 
in 1986;2 these FBI f:gures understate the problem, since not all 
assaults are reported.l 

According to the Centers for Disease Control, homicide and 
suicide are among the foremost causes of premature death in the 
United States. Toget~er, they are the fourth leading cause of years 
of potential life los: to Americans under the age of 65.1 
Violence is the majo~ cause of death among young black males,4 
vhose homicide rates •ithin extremely impoverished urban 
neighborhoods are as high as 142 per 100,000.1 However, violent 
injuries are not limited to males: betveen 4 and 6 million vomen 
are victims of violence every year,4 and rapes alone are estimated 
to occur at the rate of 12 per hour (Chicago Tribune, March 22, 
1991, Section l, p.11). Violence costs the American economy at 
least $45 billion an..~~ally.l 

Interpersonal violence is a broad term used to categorize any 
violence (be it physicai or mental) between individuals, and the 
relationship between these individuals is an important factor. When 
violence occurs betveen individuals vho are intimate, it is usually 
referred to as family violence. Violence among family members has 
reached epidemic proportions. For example, more than 2 million 
cases of child abuse and neglect are reported annually. Most sexual 
abuse of children is perpetrated by family members. Between 2 and 4 
million women are battered by their spouses each year. As much as 3 
perce~t of the elderly population is abused each year.l 
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1 precipi:ate or sustain violence. Further, meani:igful leadership 
2 must be provided to the medical and health communities and society 
3 at large as to hov these factors can be altered to decrease the 
4 freque.n:y cf violent beh~vior. 
5 
6 A syste.:atic approach must also be used to develop the AMA's 
7 specific role, and well-defined,.achievable, and measurable goals 
8 should be identified for at least a 3-5 year period. This 
9 structu=ed plan must be grounded solidly in science, si~ce the 

10 develop:ent of guidelines to aid physicians and other health 
11 professionals in the identification, treatment, and prevention of 
12 interpersonal violence must be built upon this foundat.ion. This 
13 information is also required to enable the development of a health 
14 policy ~genda to deal vith violence and its victims, and to develop 
15 and pro:ote legislation that provides for the care of its victims 1 
16 and the prevention of future violence. 
17 
18 A!l esse:itial component of this agenda is communication~ which 
19 must oc:ur at many levels: 1) the various organizations vith 
20 expertise in the area of family violence must commu::.icate with each 
21 other ~d share their experience and lcnovledge in order to maximize 
22 their e:forts; 2) scientific information and resear:!l-based 
23 inte:-ve:tio:is must be cocnunicated to physicians, health care 
24 provide=s, and the public health community; 3) the public must be 
25 educated on· the problem and the interventions that they can use to 
26 protec: the:iselves from this epidemic; 4) the public and the health 
27 care coc:i~nity need to be made aware of vhat communi:y resources are 
28 available, and what other resources are needed; 5) legislators need 
29 to unde~sta.nd the problem and develop practical solutions. 
30 
31 Conten: to~siderations and Implications for Policy 
32 
33 Unlike the child abuse movement vhere physicians have played a 
34 vital role, physicians have had minimal involvement in addressing 
35 other forms of family violence such as sexual abuse, domestic 
36 violence, and elder abuse. Yet, as they have in the area of child 
37 abuse, physicians can make significant contributions to the 
38 advance:ient of knowledge, practice, and policy. Rosalie Wolfs in 
39 a speci~l reviev article discussed the role of physicians in 
40 relation to the problem of elder abuse. Her recommendations1 
41 applica~le to all forms of abuse, outline the several vital roles 
42 demanci~g the attention and participation of the physician community: 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 
48 
49 
so 

1. 

2. 

Physicians must become aware and knovledgeable about the 
diagnosis and treatment of family violence. 

All physicians must become familiar vith applicable abuse 
reporting lavs and other legal requirements as vell as 
appropriate procedures for dealing vith and referring 
suspected cases of abuse. 
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1 include the development of local resource directories, distribution 
2 of guidelines, protocols, model programs or conducting educational 
3 programs (see Appendix). 
4 
5 Medical Resource Center: A resource center could be designed to 
6 provide. leadership, resource information and materials, technical 
7 assistance and professional consultation in the prevention, 
8 identification, diagnosis and treatment of family violence; train 
9 professionals in the field of family violence; and identify, verify, 

10 and disseminate treatment models (see Appendix). the resource 
11 center agenda and activities would be determined by an AMA national 
12 advisory group of experts in the field of family violence. The 
13 advisory group would periodically meet with a coalition of national 
14 organizations dedicated to addressing issues of· family violence. 
15 
16 Conference: In 1985, then Surgeon General C. Everett Koop, MD, 
17 convened the Surgeon General's Workshop on Violence and Public 
18 Health. the focus of the so-called Leesburg Conference was directed 
19 primarily at interpersonal violence within the family, placing 
20 emphasis on the need for a multidisciplinary approach to the proble:n 
21 and underscoring the fact that family violence is a public health 
22 problem. Dr. Koop hoped this meeting would be the first of many and 
23 recom:nended another workshop that would focus on the part:ie:-ship 
24 betve~ health and justice. 
25 
26 As a result of increasing interest in this topic, it is 
27 suggested that the Leesburg Conference be reconvened under the joint 
28 sponsorship of the American Medical Association, the Surgeon 
29 General, the Centers for Disease Control, and the American Bar 
30 Association. 
31 
32 Recoc:iendations for·Policy 
33 
34 Ihe Board of Trustees recommends that the folloving sta:e:lents 
35 be adopted and that the remainder of this report be filed. A 
36 detailed action plan addressing the implementation of these 
37 recommendations is attached as an appendix to this report. Io 
38 accomplish its goal, the American Medical Association should: 
39 
40 1. Develop a media campaign that announces and elaborates the AMA's 
41 efforts to address fami.ly violence; 
42 
43 2. Establish a national coalition of Physicians Against Violence; 
44 
45 3. Establish a national medical resource center or clearinghouse 
46 for the prevention of family violence; and, 
47 
48 4. Host a national conference to address family violence in 
49 conju.~ction with other relevant organizations. 
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APPE'NDIX 

NA!!ONAL COALITION OF PHYSICIANS AGAINST VIOL!Nct:. 
MEMBER ACTIVITIES AND BENEFITS 

Member Act!vities 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

provide leadership at national, state, and local levels in the 
diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of family violence 

support Al1A efforts to lobby for changes in federal and state 
legislation that supports children and families 

share i~formation on policies and practices desig~ed to diagnose, 
treat, and prevent family violence 

help disseminate practice guidelines, training materials, and other 
publications developed by the AMA.'s Resource Cente= on Family 
Viole.!lce 

assis: in designing and carrying out-a public info=:nation/ 
education campaign aimed at preventing family violence by 
displaying posters and distributing educational ma:erials 

• encou=age the development of state and local chapte:s on family 
violence 

Member Bene!its 

• access to the Resource Center's nevsletters and ot!ler publications 

• participation in. a national physicians' netvork that includes 
colleagues with similar interests and concerns 

• timely notification of AMA-sponsored training events and 
conferences on family violence, as well as related events and 
ccnfe=ences sponsored by other organizations and agencies 

• listing in the Resource Center's directory of physicians concerned 
with family violence 

• access to Resource Center information and services upon request 

• receipt of a poster and membership certificate that can be used to 
alert patients to the physician's interest in and concern for this 
problem 

• access to public education materials (pamphle:s, b=ochures) that 
can be displayed or handed to patients 
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Clea~inghouse Fl.~ctions 

• develops and maintains databases that contain bibliographic and 
programmatic information dealing with family violence 

• responds to vritten, telephone, a.nd in-person requests for 
materials and information, including standard requests for 
Clearinghouse materials and publications, as well as customized 
requests for information · 

• develops and disseminates publications and other resources for 
professionals and the general public, including bibliographies, 
state of the art papers, research briefs, directories of programs 
and people, catalogs of in-house materials, etc. 

• develops and maintains a computerized mailing list, including 
various special interest categories for targeted mailings 

• attends, presents, and exhibits at national conferences on family 
violence 

• provides support to the AMA Board and House of Delegates on issues 
of family violence; assists in preparing AMA responses to requests 
on this topic from the White House, various government agencies, 
and/or Congress 

• establishes netvorking relationships with government agencies, 
other resource centers and clearinghouses, professional 
associations, and other national organizations concerned with 
family violence 
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Establishing state and local 
medical society violence 
prevention com:nittees 

AMA Advisory Group on Family 
Violence 

Coalition of national 
organizations on family 
violence · 
AMA Work Groups on Family 
Violence 

Child.Abuse 
Domestic Violence 
Sexua.l Abuse 
Elder Abuse 
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Medical Society 
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Science* 

Science* 

Science* 

Family Violence & the Workplace (r...going 
Leesburg Conference planning group 

AMA. Kational ~esource Center/ 
Clearinghouse on Family Violence 

Providing technical assistance 
to state and county medical 
society violence prevention 
committees 

Collecting and disseminating 
guidelines and protocols for 
physicians and medical 
practice areas 

Newsletters to members of the 
National Coalition, Auxiliary 
members, state, county and 
specialty societies 

Council on 'scientific Affairs 
Activities 
Reporu; 

Violence Against Women 
Violence to and by Adolescents 
Neuroscience of Violence 
The Impact of Family Violence 

on Mental Health 
Substance Abuse and Violence 
Abuse of Pregnant Women and 

Adverse Birth Outcomes 
Relationship of family violence 

to the .workplace 

Science* 
A'tlXiliary 

Science* 

Science* 

Science* 

The media and violence - an update 
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TESTI~ONY FOR THE PUBLIC HEARING ON VIOLENCE AGAI~ST WOMEN 

Sponsored.by t~e State of Ne~ Jersey 
Commission on Sex Discrimination in the Statutes 
March 20, 1992 

Submitted by Courtney N. Esposito 
Womanspace, Inc. 
Lawrenceville, N.J. 

Senator Lipman, Ms. Griffin, Members and Staf~ of the Commissio~ 
and colleagues: 

Gooc afternoon. My name is Courtney Esposito. I am a domestic 
violence consultant and educator, have worked in the field of 
domestic violence prevention since 1978, am a survivor of abuse 
and serve on t~e Boards of Womanspace in Mercer County, the 
National Woman Abuse Prevention Center in Washington, DC, and o~ 

the New Jersey Advisory Council on Domestic Violence. 

I would like to begin my testimony with an excerpt from a letter 
to the edi~or of Ms. Magazine in response to that magazine's 
national readership survey on violence against women. Mary 
Bryant of Fulton, MO. wrote: 

" .... The fear is always there--on the street, in the 
workplace and at home. We avert our eyes, refuse 
ground floor hotel/motel rooms. We lock doors and 
windows. We stand to one side and act as if we're 
waiting for someone rather than get on an elevator 
alone with a man. We walk quickly through dim par­
king garages with keys gripped in one hand and a mace 
cartridge in the other. Sometimes we ridicule our­
selves for being paranoid. Then we read the morning 
paper." 

A broad definition of violence, or abuse, would be any behavior 
which treats a person like a thing. More specifically, violent 
or abusive behavior is behavior which physically harms, like 
battering, rape or incest; behavior which arouses fear, like 
threats of physical harm, threats to kidnap or kill the chil­
dren, sexual harassment on the street, on the job, in a bar or 
in an elevator; behavior which prevents a woman from doing what 
she wishes, like wearing a certain color, seeing family or 
friends, going to school, properly feeding and adequately 
clothing her children or herself, applying for a certain job or 
running for public office, having the right to choose to have an 
abortion, to preach a sermon or to lead a congregation; or 
behavior which forces a woman to behave in ways she does not 
want to, like only wearing one color, forcing her to have sex 
with his friends every Friday night in front of a video camera, 
or returning to live with an abusive husband because he can 
afford a good lawyer but she cannot, or because there is no 
decent affordable housing available for her and her children to 
move in to. 
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A prominent co~ic jokes that it's OK for men to have sex with 
their daughte~s because they pay for their tuition, and boasts 
on video that he'll burn a woman with a cigarette if she doesn't 
screw him with enough enthusiasm. This is violence against 
women. 
In 1980, whil~ commenting on pending marital rape legislation, 
California State Senator Bob Wilson asked "If you can't rape 
your own wife, who can you rape?" This is violence against 
women. 
Heavy metal a~~ rap musicians harmonize to the wo~ld and to our 
children about raping a woman with a flashlight, suggest that 
women be "smoked" with an Uzi submachinegun, and brag "I used 
to love her, but I had to kill her .... And now I'm happier this 
way." This is violence against women. 
A video game called "Custer's Revenge" shows a naked General 
Custer raping an Indian woman tied to a post. This is violence 
against women. 
Congresswoman Pat Schroeder maintains that most women are one 
man away from poverty. And this is violence agai~st women. 
25% of college ~~n in one survey experienced rape or attempted 
rape. 15i. of the college men in another study ad~itted they 
had forced a woman to have sex. 51% of college men in a third 
survey said t~ey would rape if they were certain t~ey could 
get away with it. This is violence against women. 

Dr. Gloria Bachman of Robert Wood Johnson Medical Center found 
that one in four women she surveyed had been sexually assaultec 
as children. This is violence against women. 
3li. of all female homicide victims in 1988 were killed by their 
husbands or boyfriends, and 25% of all pregnant women are being 
abused. In pregnant battered women, dominant targets of assault 
are the breats, abdomen and genitalia. This is violence against 
women. 

In 1987, approximately 375,000 women and children sought refuge 
in some 1,200 shelters and safe homes across the country. But 
nearly 40i. of women seeking immediate shelter were turned away 
because of a lack of space. The same dilemma is faced daily by 
New Jersey's do~~stic violence programs. And this is violence 
against women. 

I could go on and on and on with alarming statistics and horri­
fying examples of violence perpetrated against women in our 
society. Instead, I submit to the Commission the following 
documents: 

-Violence Against Women: A MS. Report on Life in Our Times 
-American Medical News, January 6, 1992 edition entitled 

2. 

"Seeing the Pain - America's Physicians Confront Family Violence" 
-The American Medical Association's Report on Violence Against 

Women, with statistical data and-study reviews concerning 
rape, physical and sexual assaults by marital or dating 
partners, and the long-term effects of child sexual moles­
tation in adult women. This report also contains recommen­
dations for policy for its individual members and state and 
local member organizations. 

-The American Medical Association's Policy and Planning Report 
for a National Campaign ·Against Family Violence 



I would like :o focus now on personal, professiorral and insti­
tutional mini::iization, avoidance and denial of the systematic 
violence agai~st women. I begin with victim-bla~i~g as a 
national pasttime. 

Most often, ex~ortations to women concerning their personal 
safe-ty are based on a "blame the victim" mentality. We are told 
not to go out alone at night ( a clear predicame~t if you work 

3. 

the 3P~ - llP~ shift at the hospital), not to wear attractive 
clothing, not to be friendly on the street or make eye contact 
with strangers. The underlying assumption is tha: what we do is 
decisive--our demeanor, our wardrobe, our carelessness, the 
visibility of our curves or the mere existence of our body parts-­
these invite violence or allow it to happen. Fro~ the flawed 
premise that being a woman must equal being vict:~ized comes the 
conclusion tha: it is up to us, by changing our behavior, to 
prevent our o~~ victimization. Truth be told, w~a~ we do does 
not decrease :~e incidence of men's attempts at v:oient acts 
against women. As one battered woman said of her husband's 
violence, "I ::iay be his excuse, but I have never !::een his reason." 

Men must stop committing violence against women, :ake away 
permission fro~ each other to commit it, stop co~:o~ing it in 
others and sto? blaming women for it. When Israeli legislators 
proposed a ccr:ew on women in order to lower the incidence of 
rape, Golda Meir protested, "But it is the !!!.~ w!:lo are attacking 
women . I f. th e ~ e i s t o b e a cur few , 1 e t th e !!!.!!! s : a y home . " 

I submit also for your consideration a summary s~eet of myths 
that support violence against women and contaminate our ability 
to help victins of violence. By assigning fault to the victim, 
we distance ourselves from the issue. The victi~, not the 
violence, becomes the problem--a problem we will never solve 
should we acce?t this falsehood. As a pattern of power and 
coercive control, violence works--and it works particularly 
well when our response of choice to it is to neglect, stigmatize 
and even punish its victims. Violent behavior against women 
and children both within the family and within the fabric of 
society has historically been accepted and tolerated as a 
natural and inevitable dynamic. It has thus been legitimated 
by the community and its social and legal institutions. I 
believe it's time for a major change. 

The process of change can only begin if we recognize violence 
against women as pervasive, redefine it as illegitimate and into­
lerable and provide safety and support for its victims. This 
is going to cost money, folks. Don't think for a moment that 
it isn't costing us more to not address violence and its preven­
tion. Family violence researchers alone, including the American 
Medical Association and the Centers for Disease Control, 
believe that domestic violence may in fact be the primary drain 
on the American economy. By denying that violence against women 
exists, minimizing the extent to which it occurs, avoiding the 
real fact that it can and has happened to any one of us who is 
female, we might be able to feel untouched, safe and healthy 
for a time. This self-protective technique, which plays itself 
out on both individual and institutional levels, initiates and 
perpetuates a dynamic which 'increases the isolation of every 
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4. 

vi ct i :n and u"l ti mate 1 y and in e vita b 1 e 1 ea d s to her entrapment - -
be it physica~, social, legal or financial. 

I offer you this definition of entrapment: Entrapment is ~~ 
repeated and consistent trauma (the rapist, the abusive husband, 
the incest per?etrator do that) coupled with negative outside 
treatment (~do that). When we refuse to recognize, hear or 
help ~omen victimized by any and all forms of violence, we 
ensur~ that t~eir lot will never change. 

I would like to give you two major national examples of Denial 
with a capital D. 

Des?ite the fact that we have known for a decade that as many 
as half of t~e women murdered in this country eac~ year are killed 
by a male par:~er or ex-part~er, and that batteri~g is the 
single major cause of injuries to women, the original draft of 
the U.S. Depa=tment of Healt~ and Human Services' document 
"Promoting Health/Preventing Disease: Year 2000 Objectives for 
the Nation" o:iitted the following four words: do::iestic violence, 
battered wome~. Although violent and abusive behavior was 
discussed, wo=en as its primary victims were neve= even mentio~ed. 

And the Hate Crimes Statistics Act, signed by President Bush, 
directs the U.S .. Department of Justice to collect statistics 
on cri~es motivated by a victim's race, religion, ethnicity, or 
sexual orientation. The Act purposefully ignored gender-biased 
crimes. Women as "lightning rods" for male abuse were again 
officially rendered invisible. 

As my mother used to say, there is simply no excuse for this. 
This is just not good enough. The costs to our society, to 
this state, to individual women and their families, of this far­
from-benign neglect are inestimable. It is time to talk 
prevention, to follow that talk Yith action, and to include 
dollar signs in the action. Survivors of violence against 
women want the beginnings of their fair share in the fiscal 
scheme of things. 

I implore you to move and to shake the powers that be in this 
state to do better by women: 

* Advocate for every effort that proposes to assist victims 
and educate and sensitize the general public and helping 
professionals about the prevalence and effects and pre­
vent ion of violence against women. 
The governing bodies of this state can and should, holis­
tically and in a coordinated fashion, formulate and create 
policies and programs around the issue of violence against 
women. The New Jersey Advisory Council on Domestic 
Violence has had not a penny allocated to its voluminous 
and crucial York over the past five years. The Division 
on Women in 1984 had $350,000 to conduct a public aware­
ness campaign, and to train health care professionals, 
educators and the clergy on domestic violence awareness 
and intervention. That dollar figure is new zeTo. I 



challenge the specious reasoni~g that our state cannot 
afford stationery, let alone staff, to deal effectively 
with this issue. 

* Move and approve every law that you can that will in 
any way ease the physical, emotional and financial ~~ 

devastation of women. 

5. 

The newly-amended Prevention of Domestic Violence Act is 
one of the best of its kind in the nation. Victims of 
family violence are being assisted greatly by the expanded 
provisions of this statute. Yet it was not easy to pass. 
The Mar~iage License Surcharge Bill never came to a vote. 
Domestic violence programs are forced to serve1imore and 
more clients at frozen funding levels. Additional re­
sources that could be provided by this legislation are 
desperately needed in every county in the state. 

* Encourage every study, stimulate every research effort 
that you can that will bring this problem out of the 
shadows and expose it to the light of public scrutiny. 

* Initiate and support every appropriationpossible to 
empowe~ women and their children to live lives free fro~ 

fear and violence. 

I can assure you that all of us who work to prevent violence against 
women will continue to bring opportunities to safeguard our clients 
to your attention. I appreciate the o~portunity to speak before you 
today, and I would be happy to answer any questions you may have. 
Thank you for your time and attention. 
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SUMMARY OF MYTHS THAT SUPPORT VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN 

,.,."' or ... ,. ... 

Victim-blaming. 

Not a common 
problem or not a 
real Issue. 

Male perpetrator 
l~n't rnponslblc for 
his actions. 

Racist assumptions. 

I low aa.e myth 1ee•• •ppllt:d lo each •reclfic fonn or violence 
ll•1•• 

Women invite by 
tl1eir dress or 
behavior; women 
lead men too lar; 
women want it 
and/or enjoy being 
raped. 

It's only done by 
perverts leaping 
from bushes. 

Rapists are 
psyclioJJoths; 
rapists arc 
provoked. 

Black men rape 
white women: 
blnck wumrn nre 
looser about their 
sexuality; Hispanic 
women arc hot 
lovers. 

lt•llHln1 Sexual hanumeul Child Mxual ••••ull 

Women invite by Women Invite by Little girls are 
their behavior: their dress or seductive; mothers 
women pick violent behavior; women set up incestuous 
partners; women sleep their way 10 relationships by 
stay so they must the top or for good lheir own failure as 
like ll. grades. sexual pannen. 

Wives are violent, It's just mutual It lsn 't harmful to 

too. attraction. girls. 

Batterers are Most harassers Male relatives had 
alienated at work don't Intend harm; no choice because 
or unemployed or they're just their sexual need.I 
grew up In violent complimcntln1 were unmet by 
homes, or are women. their wives, or 
alcoholic. they're 

psychopaths. 

Black and Hispanic Black women are Black and Hispanic 
families condone looser; Hispanic f amllies condone 
violence. women arc hot sc"ual activity 

lovcn. between adults and 
children. 

Copyright 1981, Freada Klein. Use with permission only . 
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THE UNTIMELY DEATHS OF WOMEN DUE TO AIDS 
IS VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN 

Testimony before the 
Commission on Sex Discrimination in the Statutes 

March 20, 1992 
Presented by Marion Banzhaf, Coordinator, NJWAN 

AIDS is the leading cause of death for New Jersey African-American 
wcmen and the second leading cause of death among all New Jersey wcmen 
between the ages of 18-44. If women were diagnosed with HIV disease 
earlier and had access to health care, women would have longer lives and 
a higher quality of life. Discrimination against women in the AIDS 
epidemic has resulted in undercount i ng of A IDS cases among women, 
misdiagnosis of AIDS in women, and exclusion from potentially 1ife 
saving treatments by virtue of having a uterus and/or by lack of access 
to primary health care. 

The New Jersey Women and AIDS Network was founded in May 1986 to 
advocate for the needs of women in the AIDS epidemic. NJWAN is a 
statewide, independent membership organization representing 350 agencies 
and individuals concerned with increasing women's visibility in the AIDS 
crisis and with qdvocatins for appropriate public policies specific to 
women. We have worked to educate health care providers, state officials, 
and the general public about AIDS prevention for women and care and 
treatment issues specific to women. In June 1990, NJWAN published 'Me 
First: Medical Manifestations of HIV in Women', directed to health care 
providers and educators, and a companion brochure, 'Me First', written 
for lay women. We have distributed over 23,000 of these publications 
across the country. 

New Jersey has the highest percentage of AIDS cases among women in 
the country: 23 percent compared to 11 percent nat iona 11 y. In Essex 
County, women are 35 percent of AIDS cases. Nationally, as many women 
were diagnosed with AIDS in the last two years as in the first eight 
years of the epidemic. Women are the fastest growing new group of people 
with AIDS, and the state is not prepared to meet their needs. 

The Department of Health estimates that 25,000 women in New Jersey 
may be infected with HIV. This number may be low since women have been 
under counted by be ins exc 1 uded from the A I OS case definition. The 
federal Centers for Disease Control continues to discriminate against 
women by refusing to add women-specific opportunistic infections and 
cancers to the AIDS case definition. The male-based AIDS case definition 
resu 1 ts in lack of education to hea 1th care providers about women­
spec if i c presentations of HIV disease and contributes to the untimely 
deaths of women. HIV disease in women usually presents itself first by 
chronic, recurring vaginal yeast infections. Women with HIV and cervical 
cancer may have died due to AIDS but were not counted as having AIDS. 

In New Jersey, 62% of the women with AIDS were infected through 
unsafe injection drug use; 32% contracted the disease through 
unprotected sexual behaviors. Heterosexual transmission of HIV is nearly 
equal to transmission by injection drug use in women in Essex County, 
and already accounts for over half of the AIDS cases among Hispanic 
women. 

S Elm Row, Suite 112 • New Brunswick, NJ 08901 • 908·846·4462 
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Warne~ of colcr and low income women have been ~isproportionately 
affected by the AIDS crisis: 63% of women with AIDS in New Jersey are 
African-American, 21% are white, and 11% are Latina. The majority of 
women with HIV have little access to the sparse network of available 
A I D S - r e 1 ate d educ at i on and he a 1 th programs . There are on l y two A I D S 
clinics for women in the state and although support groups for women 
have expanded, no support groups exist in many areas of the state. 
Institutionalized racism and sexism, as well as the gross inadequacy of 
health care services for low income people, are significant contributing 
factors to the incidence of AIDS and HIV infection in women. 

Severa 1 factors have impeded effective act ion on HIV disease in 
women. These include: 
o Women are grossly underre~resented in cohort studies and clinical 

drug trials. Women are excluded from experimental clinical trials 
based on pharmaceutical liability fears due to the potential risk 
to women's re~roduction. However, the same standard is not applied 
to fear of an adverse reaction to sperm and men's reproductive 
capacity. 

o The emphasis on women has been as vectors of transmission, 
especially to their infants, rather than as wcmen needing care 
themselves. 

o Worn en a r e gene r a 1 1 y h e 1 d r es pons i b 1 e for i n f : ct i on pr event i on 
during sexual encounters even if they do not have power in their 
relationships. 

o Many women are i so 1 ated in their homes or are in ether ways outside 
the mainstream of currently directed prevention efforts. 

o Women are the primary caretakers of infected men and children, 
often postponing their own health. Even if no one else in a woman's 
family is infe~ted, she is still the primary caretaker. 

o There is a paucity of research on the progression of HIV infection 
in women, and that which does exist is discounted because it is 
smaller than the body of research on men: a classic catch-22. 
Wh i 1 e services are beginning to address the needs of women and 

AIDS, most concern women only as potential transmitters of HIV infection 
and bearers of infected children. Services are needed for a 11 women, 
regardless of their reproductive capacity or intent. Due to continued 
emphasis on risk groups instead of risk behaviors, most women do not 
consider themselves at risk for HIV infection. Conducting non­
judgmental, thorough risk assessments are necessary if women are to be 
diagnosed early, therefore increasing life expectancy. Services for 
women must include comprehensive medical and psychosocial care, as well 
as the protection of their legal and human rights. 

Reconmendations 

1. Medi ca 1 Services: Medi ca 1 programs which address the HIV-re 1 ated 
needs of all women, regardless of childbearing status, must be 
established. Most family planning, sexually transmitted disease, and 
prenatal clinics now include some HIV risk assessment in their services. 
However, the elimination of anonymous testing in these sites restricts 
women's access to choice of medical services. Anonymous testing should 
be reinstated at all locations. These programs should include staff who 
are knowledgeable about the medical manifestations of HIV in women and 
who have been specifically trained to counsel and assist women. 



2. Comprehensive Care centers: Ideally, comprehensive treatment centers 
should be developed which offer medical, psychosocial, legal and mental 
health services tc HIV infected women. These facilities would provide 
direct care, in adcition to being a resource for other women's centers 
throughout the stat~. The Children's Hospital AIDS Program (CHAP), which 
offers direct care for children with AIDS and provides additional 
services for the family affected, is an example of a ccmprehensive care 
program. All Treat~ent and Assessment Programs should establish women's 
clinics so that women with HIV have access to gynecologic care. 
Gynecologists and infectious disease doctors must talk to each other. 
When desired by t~e woman, a 11 efforts shou 1 d be made to schedu 1 e 
pediatric visits a~d mothers' visits at the same time so that child care 
and transportation are lesser barriers to women's access to health care. 

3. Education and Prevention: Culturally sensitive prevention and 
education, couns e 1 ~ ng, and vo 1 untary HIV screening programs for women 
must be available. These programs need to reach poor, minority, and drug 
using women, particularly women who are uninfected but at risk. 
Education and counseling aimed at altering risky behaviors, such as the 
sharing of needles for injection drug use and unprctected sex, are 
critical. Drug trea:~ent programs must expand to be accessible to women, 
including pregnant women, and to allow women flexibilitJ in maintaining 
family relations. Threatened with losing their children, women may not 
seek out treatment they need. Po 1 i c i es must ref 1 ect support of the 
family unit, and net be punitive against a mother. 

Programs d i r e ct e d at t e en a g e g i r 1 s , co 1 l e g e s tu cents , d i v or c e es , 
women whose husbands engage in risky behaviors, and lesbians and 
bisexual women should also be developed and supported. Outreach efforts 
should be conductec in places women 90: beauty parlors, nail salons, 
aerobic and fitAess centers, bars, laundromats, and malls. 

4. Health Care Workers: restrictions on health care workers, as well as 
calls for mandatory testing of health care workers, disproportionately 
effect women as the majority of a 11 hea 1th care workers. Mandatory 
testing for any popu 1 at ion must be opposed as counter to the pub 1 i c 
health interest since mandatory testing only drives people away from 
being tested. 

All health care providers in the state should become familiar with 
HIV disease because of the continua 11 y expanding popu 1 at ion of men, 
women, and children infected with HIV. Training for gynecologists is 
essential. A protocol for the treatment of women with HIV disease should 
be developed (currently, only protocols for treating HIV+ men, pregnant 
women, and children have been developed by the State Department of 
Health). Training and education in HIV disease should be mandated for 
all health care providers. This education must be culturally sensitive 
and gender-specific. 

5. Reproductive Rights: The current pol icy of the CDC is for HIV­
pos it i ve women to postpone and avoid pregnancy. This policy results in 
limiting women's choices. HIV-positive women have the same rights to 
bear chi 1 dren as do a 11 other women. At the same time, HIV-women's 
access to abortion services are limited and/or denied based on hysteria 
and fear by some abortion providers. 
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New ~ersey's AIDS epidemic is a harbinger of things to come for the 
nation. We have the opportunity to lead the country in providing humane, 
compassionate and comprehensive care to women. The New Jersey Women and 
A I OS Network is committed to advocating for such 1 eadersh i p. We hope you 
will join us in our efforts. Thank you. 

11tx. 
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In The Statutes 

At ; Trenton, ~Tew Jersey 

Date: March 20, 1992 

Membe:-s of the Commission, ladies and gentleme~, I 
would like to thank you for the opportunity to contribute 
information and recommendations for new or revised legislation 
which would hel? to overcome existing obstacles to the legal 
equality of the sexes in the context of violence directed. 
primarily towa:'d women. As definrd by the Commission, these 
acts of violence include the crime of incest. This most 
heinous of crimes is often the first, but rarely the last act 
of violence directed primarily toward women as young girls, 
aschildren, and yes, as babies. 

Child sexual abuse is a sexuaJ. act imposed upon a 
child. Children lack the emotional, maturational and cog:litive 
development to consent to such acts. Sexual abuse is defined 
in most states as any non-consensual sexual contact, and in 
most states a child less than seventeen years old is held to be 
incapable of consent to such an act. 

Statistics indicate that one in four females is 
likety to be sexually victimized before she is eighteen years 
old. Reported cases of all types of child abuse increased 
from 416,000 in 1976 to 1. 7 million in 1984. The percen~age 
of child sexual abuse cases increased from 3% of all child 
abuse to 13% in 1984. Thus, the number of reported child 
sexual a~use cases rose from 12,480 cases i~ 1976 to 220,000 
in 1984. At least 90% of abusers are male.-'Fifty percent of 
the sexual abuse perpetrators in the 1984 sample were natural 
parents, and 32% were either step-parents, foster-parents or 
adopted parents. Therefore, 8~ of child ~exual abuse is 4 committed by parents, or parent-figures in the child's life. 



A large number of child sexual abuse cases a...""'e never re;orted to 
infer.nation ga:hering organiza:ions that produce statistics, such 
as the America.~ Humane A3socia:ion and the National Center For 
Child Abuse and Neglect, and the Ullreported incidents may 
compose the majority of the cases. 0 

Any act of alleged intrafamily sexual abuse is viewed 
by our society as inherently u.~believeable c€cause it is 
difficult to believe that any parent would seek sexual ~t­
ification by exploiting their own child. This choice not to 
.Jie:),.ieov~ i~ ~e.i n.forced by deeply rooted taboos against i::.cest. 7 
Most cases of child sexual abuse are processed through the 
criminal justice system, initiated by criminal complain~s, or 
through the juvenile justice system, initiated by abuse a...~d 
neglec: petitions. The majori~y of these cases can never be 
proven because there are no wi:nesses other than the child and 
the abuser. The truth is hard to detennine as well whe:. the 
alle~ations are raised in the context of ci".dl cases, s~ch 
as divorce, custody or vivitation disputee. 0 

A cr.ild who is sexually abused by a parent may be the 
most vulnerable of all victims. Most chilcL""'en are depe!;.d.ent 
upon their parents for virtually all phisical and emotio~ 
sustenance, In addition, they are subject to their pa.re~t's 
authority and control. A child is ill-equiped to defend herself 
from a parent's sexual abuse, therefore, the s§ciety and the 
legal system must provide adequate protection. The reported 
cases of child sexual abuse increased by the thousands, indicating 
recognition of the problem, and indicating that those wl:o 
become aware of the problem are turning to the legal system 
for relief. However, the rate at which the courts are making 
~in:Ungs of 0sexual abuse is disproportionally low to the actual 
incidence. 

When allegations of sexual abuse are raised during a 
divorce, custody or visitation dispute, the burden of proof is on 
the accuser. Since these allegations are so difficult to prove 
many such allegations are found to be unsubstantiated. This 
does not mean that the allegations are untrue, or fabricated, 
merely that there is not enough evidence to overcome the burden 
of evidentiary proof. The final result , however, is that the 
final finding is a finding of no abuse. 

As stated above, 90% of child sexual abuse is perpe­
trated by males, therefore, when allegations of. ·:,ad sexual abuse 
arise , they are nearly al ways raised by the mother. In these 
instances equal justice is denied to females as child victim.s, and 
as mothers of the victims seeking to protect them through the 
courts. Generally, these allegations are not believed by the 
courts. Even though there is not enough evidence to substantiate 
the allegations the abuse, in fact, may have occurred, In the 
ensuing custody or visitation litigation the child's rig~t to be 
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free from acuse is subsumed i~ the process. Sending a child who 
has actually been abused into a dangerous environment may 
merely be inciiental to a cou=:. order, instead of the child's 
interest being the primary foc~s of the court's decision. 

Mothers who other..dse would be awarded custody because 
they had been the primary carsgi vers of the children before the 
separation, geneft11Y lose cus~ody if they raise allegations 
of sexual abuse, These mothers bring their case to the legal 
system first, but the legal system does not believe them, and 
orle::-s them to turn the chilcL--=n over to the alleged ablser. 
Out of sheer f::::"Ustration and desperation, some m£~heI.fi place the 
children in hiding, or go underground with them, n i.nese 
eituations everyone loses, The protecting parent and the 
child=en become fugitives, the other parent, who might even be 
innocent, loses all contact wi:h the child, and the legal 
system is vie~ed by all as a failure. 

Judge Charles B. Sctdson, a Wisconsin Circuit Court 
judge, is a me~ber of the fact:.!.ties of the National Cotl.!lcil of 
Juvenile and Family Court Judges and the National Judicial 
College, and is considered the nation's foremost expert on new 
laws and tech.'!iques that affec:. children in the courtroom. 
In a book he recently co-autho:-ed with Billie Wright Dziech, 
entitled On Trial: America's Courts and their Treatment of 
Sexually kbused Children, he advocates for legislative reform. 
He states that the best defense against false allegations 
of sexual abuse is implementation of procedures that will 
increase child_~n' participation in the legal system, To those 
who claim that innocent defendants are being prosecuted because 
of malicious stories from devious children, Judge Schudson 
points out that one must first allow the children to tell their 
stories, even if it means telling that story while seated in the 
lap of the other parent's lap while testifying, using puppets 
in the courtroom, or television cameras, it is better than no 
testimony at all, because the child has frozen up at the sight o 
a crowded courtroom, the presence of her rapist , ans a man 
in a black robe towering over her. 

"There is no validity to the claim by VOCAL . 
and other opponents of legal reform that attention to child 
victim's rights somehow threatens the constitutional rights 
of defend.ants, Child advocates have not argued that American 
courts should abandone traditional protections for defendants. 
Responsible professionals have not advocated rejecting the· 
constitutional principle that the accused is innocent until 
proven gull ty, They have not maintained that def end.ants be 
denied the right to confront their accusers. They have argued 
only that sometimes in order to facilitate discovery of truth, con­
frontation of a child must occur in ways not usually employed in 
courtrooms. Child advocates have not maintained that that 
admittance of hearsay evidence should be the rule in sexual 
abuse trials, They have argued only that in special instances, 
certain hearsay statements by children should be considered 
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under the lor.g-accepted catego:-1 of exceptions to the hearsay 
rule. Respect :or the rights of child victims does not limit 
the rights of d.efendants; it helps balance the scales of

3
justice 

so that the sys:.em can foster tl:e quest for the truth." 

A co:iprehensi ve review of the :rules of evidence and 
court .!1lles a."1.d procedures should take place, wi-th an eye 
toward ref or.:ls ;.rhich could be implemented to augment the 
"quest for tru-t.h", and indeed better balance ' the scales 
of justice," Other refonns should require an immediate halt 
to a custody or visitation proceeding when allegations of 
sexual abuse a._"""c:? raised, and a.r..d an investigation initiated 
by the court. If a child alleges that a parent has abused her, 
the child should remain in the custody of the nonabusive parent 
during the investigation. We must stop punishing child_"""e:i for 
disclosing seX'~ abuse of a pa._"""c:?nt by tearing them from the 
only safe relat~onship they may have, Obviously, in weighing the 
conflicting ha.:::is, it is far more equitable that a parent only 
visit with the child in a supe:!:"'rised setting dll.;.."'i.ng the bves­
tigation, than that a child who has in fact been raped ce 
forced to submi~ to the control of her rapist. Custod.y o:= 
visitation should never be decided until t~a investigation 
has been conduc:.ed and a report submitted. 

In evei:y child sexual. abuse case an attorney should 
be appointed to represent the interests of the child as opposed 
to the interest of both or either of the parents. This appointment 
however should not be made as a meaningless gesture as it is 
in most cases today. Standards must be implemented in order 
that these Guardians Ad Litem know what is expected of them 
who they are accountable to, and the standards to which they 
are to be held. Judges must be encouraged to appoint qualified, 
neutral. attonieys and must enforce standards :requiring 
agressive representation of the interests of the child. It is 
imperative that these standards or guidelines be applicable 
throughout the State of New Jersey, and that they be enforced 
just as unifor.nly. 

Equal treatment of women in the courts, fair and 
unbiased investigation of allegations of child sexual abuse and 
procedural refozma in the way in which these cases are tried, 
would make parental abduction in civil child sexual abuse cases 
unnecessary. 

Other concerns exist in the area of gender bias in the 
courts. New Jersey was the first state to appoint a task force 
to study the issue, and is still the forerunner in evf5uating 
and making recommendations to alleviate the problems. 

It was not only detennined that gender bias did exist 
in the judicial system, but that it had a particular negative 
impact on women who were victims of domestic violence and women 
who were victims of rape. The study did not address civil 
child sexual abuse cases, but it does not take a large leap in 
logic to determL~e that women are not believed because first and 
foremost, they are women. It would help to remedy many problems 



in these cases if a study was u::dertaken to discover ex.a.c:ly how, 
and in what car.text gender bias in the courts has a nega.:i ve 
impact on this type of case. AS concluded in the evaluation, 
recommendations and implicatio~s of the task force study: 

~ 
Some judges appear to believe that once thy eli:d.nate 

gender bias in matters such as fonns of address and appointments 
to fee-generatL"lg cases, they have eliminated gender bias in the 
courts. They a...~ reluctant to ~ove beyond cou._-rt interac ion to the 
comp~exities of gender bias in substantive decision-ma.ki=.g. 
Al though reduci:ig gender bias b the court environment c:-eates 
conditions favo::rable to its reduction in the more difficult 
area of case outcome, an understanding of one aspect of the 
problem does not necessarily lead to an understanding of the other. 

" A second problem is that many judicial acts a::d 
omissions that are manifestations of gender bias are no: 
understood as sucho A primar1 duty of s tssk force is to explain 
why indifference to spouse abuse in custody awards, f ailu=e to 
enforce child support and ae m.i::imus awards to the famil., of a 
homemaker in a wrongful death suit, to cite three exampl~s, 
constitute gender bias, and why gender bias is inimical :o 
fundamental fai=ziess." 

Thus, equal justice cannot be achieved for vic~ims of child 
sexual abuse cases until the impact of gender bias is adcL.-essed 
as in integral part of the outcome of these cases. Our Center 
has just begun to analyze each of the components of civi-1 child 
sexual abuse cases, and to set our own objectives so that 
we may better sene ourclients. We are interested in a:ny 
refonns that will improve the current failures in the system. 

In closing I would like to quote Judge Schudson who 
states: 

"At the very heart of the American experience lies 
the conviction that that when laws and tra.di tions are unjust, 
they must be changed. That theme dominates our legal traditions 
from the Declaration of Independence to the Constitutional 
Convention to countless Supreme Court decisions and reminds us 
indeed requires us -- to re-examine our laws to assure that -
they provide justice for all. We cannot forsake that history, 
if in our passion to protect one individuals rights, we ignore 
those of another, especially those of a child, we cannot claim 
to be a just society." 
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The Division of Youth and Family Services (DYFS) is the public child 
protection and child welfare agency for New Jersey. It operates 24 hours a 
day, .seven days a week, to provide protective and supportive social 
services to all New Jersey children and families who request or require 
them. D YFS services are provided through a network of 45 field office 
sites, four residential treatment centers, four group care homes for older 
youths, and 15 child day care centers. 

DYFS receives some 86,000 referrals and requests for services each year. 
The majority of these referrals allege child abuse or neglect. For example, 
in Calendar Year 1990 -- the latest year for which complete information is 
available -- the Division received 54,366 reports alleging child abuse and 
neglect; 19,546 (36 per cent) were substantiated upon investigation. This 
substantiation rate has remained fairly staole at about one-third over the 
past several years. 

The most frequent sources of abuse and neglect referrals are: anonymous 
(17.7 per cent); schools (17.3 per cent); and friends and neighbors (12.3 
per cent). 

Most often, the report alleges neglect (52.6 per cent), followed by abuse 
(35 .3 per cent), sexual abuse (7 .6 per cent) and multiple types of 
maltreatment ( 4.5 per cent). The overwhelming majority -- over 96 per 
cent -- of child maltreatment that is reported to the Division is alleged to 
occur in the child's own home. 

The current DYFS caseload is 49,847 children. The majority of these 
children, 41,396 (or 83 per cent), live at home with their biological or 
adoptive families. The remaining 8,451 (17 per cent) reside in a variety of 
out-of-home placements, primarily foster family care. The Division's 
primary effort is to serve children, whenever possible, in their own homes 
and thus reduce its reliance on out-of-home placement. 

The Division also contracts with local public and private not-for-profit 
provider agencies to deliver a wide range of supportive services, including 
child care, legal services, community mental health services and advocacy, 
and services to victims of domestic violence. 
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Public child welfare agencies, such as DYFS, are concerned with the high 
overall incidence of domestic violence. It is not logic alone that indicates 
that there is evidence that a considerable relationship exists between 
domestic violence and child maltreatment or endangerment. Statistics 
from the New Jersey State Police Uniform Crime Reporting Unit bear this 
out. 

For example, in 1990, there were 50,823 domestic violence offenses 
reported by local police agencies. Children were involved or present in 
over one-half (53 per cent) of the reported offenses for this time frame. Of 
particular interest to the Commission is the fact that the Division of Youth 
and Family Services receives some 2,600 referrals on children each year 
who were living in a home where domestic violence was identified at the 
time of the referral. 

Recognizing that family violence is also a child welfare concern, the 
Division also performs a role in the provision of services to victims of 
domestic violence and their families. By contracting for domestic violence 
shelter and counselliqg services, the Division complements the community 
education and awareness efforts of the Division on Women's Domestic 
Violence Prevention Program. 

Specifically, for many years, DYFS has worked in cooperation with the New 
Jersey Coalition for Battered Women to develop 24-hour emergency 
shelters and related supportive services for victims of domestic violence 
throughout the State. At present, DYFS is funding emergency shelters for 
victims of domestic violence and their families in 19 of the 21 counties. 

In October, 1991, DYFS awarded grants to develop domestic violence 
shelters in the two remaining counties that do not now have these services: 
Cumberland and Cape May Counties. These grants were two-fold in nature: 
capital bond issue funds of approximately $450,000 each to cover facility 
costs, and operational funds of $50,000 each. The opening of these two 
shelters will complete the Division's commitment to funding and 
supporting a network of domestic violence shelters statewide. 

At the close of Calendar Year 1991, the Legislature and the Governor 
enacted legislation that takes a large step in recognizing even further the 
relationship between domestic violence and the risk of child abuse. The 
Prevention of Domestic Violence Act (Senate Bill 2230) attempts to 
decrease the incidence of domestic violence and to increase the 
enforcement of laws to protect victims. 
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Specifically, it expands the definition of domestic violence to apply to a 
person 18 years of age or older, or an emancipated minor, who has been 
subjected to violence by a spouse, former spouse, or any other person who 
is a present or former household member or a person with whom the 
victim has a child. The law also emphasizes that the primary duty of a law 
enforcement officer, when responding to a domestic violence call, is to 
enforce the laws allegedly violated and to protect the victim. 

Further, the measure expands the requirements for court orders to include 
consideration of certain information reflecting the safety and welfare of 
the victim and of any child(ren) involved in the incident. For example, in 
situations where a restraining order has been issued, the law requires the 
Court to consider a request by the victim for an evaluation by the 
appropriate agency to assess the risk of harm to the child before a 
visitation order is issued. To that end, the law requires that an assessment 
tool be developed. Counties are required to designate the agency 
responsible for developing a plan for an completing assessments related to 
v1s1tation. ·DYFS has been cooperating with staff of the judiciary al the 
county level by sharing information that may prove helpful in developing 
the required assessment tool. 

Finally, the law requires the Department of Law and Public Safety to 
ensure that all law enforcement officers receive training in domestic 
violence issues and its Division of Criminal Justice must develop and 
distribute to all local police agencies training courses and curricula on the 
handling, investigation, and response procedures concerning reports of 
domestic violence. 

Domestic violence presents a risk not only to the family members, but also 
to the police officers responding to complaints of domestic violence and to 
DYFS staff investigating child abuse referrals in a violent household. This 
is no better illustrated than by the oft-cited statistic wherein more than 
half of all police officer injuries occur during responses to domestic 
violence complaints. The training provisions of the new law will provide 
important skills to law enforcement officers that will, hopefully, assist in 
the initial stages of intervention. 

In closing, the Division of Youth and Family Services -- in pursuing its 
mandates of protecting children, preventing abuse, and strengthening 
family life -- supports the work of the Commission and will cooperate 
within the limits of its authority and resources to preventing violence 
against women and children. 
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